UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

			SECTION 13 OR 15(d	.) OF THE SECURITIES
	For the quar	terly period ended	September 30, 2000	
			OR	
			SECTION 13 OR 15(d) transition period	
		Commission 6	1	
			le number 1-13300	
	/E		NANCIAL CORPORATION	
	(EXACU	name of registrant	as specified in its	Charter)
	Delaware			54-1719854
	or other jur	isdiction of ganization)		(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
2980 Fa	irview Park		Falls Church, Virgini	
(Addres	s of princip	al executive office	s)	(Zip Code)
		(703)	205-1000	
	(Regi	strant's telephone	number, including are	
		(Not A	.pplicable)	
(Former report)		mer address and fo	rmer fiscal year, i	f changed since last
to be f the pr require	iled by Sect eceding 12 m d to file	ion 13 or 15(d) of onths (or for such	the Securities Exchan shorter period that d (2) has been sub	all reports required ge Act of 1934 during the registrant was ject to such filing
		000, there were 196 01 per share, outst		e registrant's Common
			NANCIAL CORPORATION RM 10-Q	
			INDEX	
		Septemb	er 30, 2000	
				Page
PART I.	FINANCIAL	INFORMATION		
	Item 1.	Condensed Cons Condensed Cons in Stockholde Condensed Cons	olidated Balance Shee olidated Statements o olidated Statements o rs' Equity olidated Statements o	5
		Notes to Conde	nsed Consolidated Fin	
	Item 2.		ndition and Results o	f11
PART II	. OTHER INF	'ORMATION		
	Item 6.	Exhibits and Repor	ts on Form 8-K	30
		Signatures		30

	S	eptember 30 2000		December 31 1999
Assets: Cash and due from banks Federal funds sold and resale agreements	\$	81,403 12,688	\$	134,065
Interest-bearing deposits at other banks		128,377		112,432
Cash and cash equivalents		222,468		246,497
Securities available for sale		1,652,330		1,856,421
Consumer loans		12,331,088		9,913,549
Less: Allowance for loan losses		(457,000)		(342,000)
Net loans		11,874,088		9,571,549
Premises and equipment, net		560,974		470,732
Interest receivable		93,817		64,637
Accounts receivable from securitizations		1,403,377		661 , 922
Other		571 , 771		464,685
Total assets	\$	16,378,825	\$	13,336,443
Liabilities:				
Interest-bearing deposits	\$	6,323,924	\$	3,783,809
Other borrowings		2,820,533		2,780,466
Senior notes		4,119,101		4,180,548
Interest payable		109,842		116,405
Other		1,230,037		959,608
Total liabilities		14,603,437		11,820,836
Stockholders' Equity:				
Preferred stock, par value \$.01 per share; authorized				
50,000,000 shares, none issued or outstanding				
Common stock, par value \$.01 per share; authorized				
1,000,000,000 and 300,000,000 shares, and 199,670,421 issued				
as of September 30, 2000 and December 31, 1999, respectively		1,997		1,997
Paid-in capital, net		559,595		613,590
Retained earnings		1,348,081		1,022,296
Cumulative other comprehensive loss		(25,337)		(31,262)
Less: Treasury stock, at cost; 2,944,210 and 2,624,006				
shares as of September 30, 2000 and December 31, 1999, respectively		(108,948)		(91,014)
Total stockholders' equity		1,775,388		1,515,607
			ć	
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	ې 	16,378,825	Ş	13,336,443

		Three Months I September				Nine Mont Septer				
		2000	-	1999	_	2000	-	1999		
Interest Income:										
Consumer loans, including fees	Ş	606,872	\$		Ş	1,607,695	Ş	1,064,987		
Securities available for sale Other		23,367 1,474		24,256 1,053		70,946 5,026		74,001 3,892		
		1,4/4	_	1,055	_		_	3,092		
Total interest income		631,713		412,036		1,683,667		1,142,880		
Interest Expense:										
Deposits		90,197		38,003		205,936		88,383		
Other borrowings		55 , 967		20,824		144,335		67 , 572		
Senior notes		72 , 679		76 , 980		203,071		230,129		
Total interest expense		218,843	-	135,807	_	553,342	-	386,084		
Net interest income		410 070	-	276 220	-	1 120 225	-	756 706		
Provision for loan losses		412,870 193,409		276,229		1,130,325		756,796 262,948		
		193,409	_	114,061	_	470,944	_	202,940		
Net interest income after provision for loan losses		219,461		162,168		659 , 381		493,848		
Non-Interest Income:										
Servicing and securitizations		307,343		311,217		860,741		876 , 777		
Service charges and other fees		424,087		275,900		1,140,025		743,227		
Interchange		65 , 039		33,946		161,570		97 , 732		
Total non-interest income		796,469	-	621,063	-	2,162,336	-	1,717,736		
Non-Interest Expense:										
Salaries and associate benefits		264,171		199,048		735,625		572,703		
Marketing		233,188		175,163		646,686		529,493		
Communications and data processing		78,064		68,755		221,819		189,305		
Supplies and equipment		66,325		48,076		176,766		127,083		
Occupancy		30,721		19,117		83,263		49,412		
Other		146,488		119,262		406,982		315,815		
Total non-interest expense		818,957	-	629,421	-	2,271,141	-	1,783,811		
Income before income taxes		196,973	-	153,810	-	550 , 576	-	427,773		
Income taxes		74,850		58,448		209,219		162,554		
			_		_		-			
Net income	\$	122,123	\$	95 , 362	\$ -	341,357	\$	265,219		
Basic earnings per share	\$	0.62	\$	0.48	\$	1.73	\$	1.34		
Diluted earnings per share	\$		\$	0.45	\$	1.63	\$	1.26		
Dividends paid per share	\$	0.03	\$	0.03	\$	0.08	\$	0.08		

		Stock Amount		aid-In ital, Net		Cumulative Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)		
Balance, December 31, 1998	199,670,376	\$1,997	\$ 5	598,167	\$ 679 , 838	\$ 60,655	\$ (70,251)\$	1,270,406
Comprehensive income: Net income					265,219			265,219
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income Unrealized losses on securities, net of	tax:				203,219			203,219
income tax benefit of \$58,019						(94,662)		(94,662)
Foreign currency translation adjustments						1,775		1,775
Other comprehensive loss						(92,887)		(92 , 887)
Comprehensive income								172,332
Cash dividends - \$.08 per share Purchases of treasury stock					(15,492))	(00 004)	(15,492) (80,004)
Issuances of common stock	45			(740)	20		8,228	7,508
Exercise of stock options				(22,614)			54,087	•
Common stock issuable under incentive plan				47,221				47,221
Other items, net				3,737				3,737
	199,670,421	\$1,997	\$ 6			\$ (32,232)		\$1,437,181
Balance, December 31, 1999	199,670,421	\$1,997	\$ 6	513,590	\$ 1,022,296	\$ (31,262)	\$ (91,014)	\$1,515,607
Comprehensive income: Net income Other comprehensive income, net of income tax:					341,357			341,357
Unrealized gains on securities, net of								
income taxes of \$5,549						9,053		9,053
Foreign currency translation adjustments						(3,128)		(3,128)
Other comprehensive income						5,925		5,925
Comprehensive income								347,282
Cash dividends - \$.08 per share					(15,572))		(15,572)
Purchases of treasury stock								(136,347)
Issuances of common stock				855			13,999	14,854
Exercise of stock options Common stock issuable under incentive plan				(73,415) 15,473			104,414	30,999 15,473
Other items, net				3,092				3,092
Balance, September 30, 2000	199,670,421	\$1 , 997	\$ 5	559 , 595	\$ 1,348,081	\$ (25,337)	\$(108,948)	\$1,775,388

Nine	Months	Ended
C.	n+ombo	~ 20

		Septemb	ber 30		
		2000		1999	
Operating Activities:					
Net income	Ś	341,357	Ś	265,219	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash	~	311,337	Ψ.	200/219	
provided by operating activities:					
Provision for loan losses		470,944		262,948	
Depreciation and amortization, net		174,573			
•				122,518 47,221	
Stock compensation plans		15,473		(10, 422)	
Increase in interest receivable		(29,180)		(12,433) 101,577	
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable from securitizations		(741,242)		101,5//	
Increase in other assets		(138,075)		(150,303) (3,949)	
Decrease in interest payable		(6,563)		(3,949)	
Increase in other liabilities		270,429	_	252,634	
Net cash provided by operating activities		357,716		885,432	
Investing Activities:					
Purchases of securities available for sale		(644,125)		(649,863)	
Proceeds from maturities of securities available for sale		83,759		178,884	
Proceeds from sales of securities available for sale		778,875 2,476,893 (5,447,755)		178,884 522,357	
Proceeds from securitizations of consumer loans		2.476.893		1.714.514	
Net increase in consumer loans		(5.447.755)		(4.136.573)	
Recoveries of loans previously charged off		175 151		87 676	
Additions of premises and equipment, net		(218, 454)		87,676 (273,532)	
Net cash used in investing activities		(2,795,656)		(2,556,537)	
Disagring Rebinibies.					
Financing Activities: Net increase in interest-bearing deposits		2,540,115		1,576,421	
Net increase (decrease) in other borrowings		39.874		(627.411)	
Issuances of senior notes		994.176		1,453,059	
Maturities of senior notes		/1 OFC 2071		(064 770)	
Dividends paid		(15 572)		(15 492)	
Purchases of treasury stock		(136,347)		(15,492) (80,004)	
		(±30,34/)		11 000	
Net proceeds from issuances of common stock		1/,003		11,098 31,473	
Proceeds from exercise of stock options		30,999 		31,4/3	
Net cash provided by financing activities		2,413,911		1,484,365	
		40.4 05.5		44.05. 174.0:	
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents		(24,029)		(186,740)	
		246,497		300 , 167	
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period					

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2000
(in thousands, except per share data) (unaudited)

Note A: Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Capital One Financial Corporation (the "Corporation") and its subsidiaries. The Corporation is a holding company whose subsidiaries provide a variety of products and services to consumers. The principal subsidiaries are Capital One Bank (the "Bank"), which offers credit card products, and Capital One, F.S.B. (the "Savings Bank"), which offers consumer lending (including credit cards) and deposit products. The Corporation and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the "Company."

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000 are not necessarily indicative of the results for the year ending December 31, 2000. The notes to the consolidated financial statements contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 should be read in conjunction with these condensed consolidated financial statements. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2000 presentation.

Note B: Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash paid for interest for the nine months ended September 30, 2000 and 1999 was \$559,905 and \$384,812, respectively. Cash paid for income taxes for the nine months ended September 30, 2000 and 1999 was \$182,100 and \$205,515, respectively.

Segments

The Company maintains three distinct business segments: lending, telecommunications and "other." Lending is the Company's only reportable business segment, based on the definitions provided in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information." Substantially all of the Company's reported assets, revenues and income are derived from the lending segment in all periods presented. All revenue is generated from external customers and is predominantly derived in the United States.

Note C: Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities." SFAS No. 133 was subsequently amended in June 1999 by SFAS No. 137, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133". SFAS No. 133, SFAS No. 137 and SFAS No. 138 (all together "SFAS 133 as amended") will require the Company to recognize all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not hedges must be adjusted to fair value through earnings. If the derivative is a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of derivatives will either be offset against the change in fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities or firm commitments through earnings or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivative's change in fair value will be immediately recognized in earnings. SFAS 133 as amended is effective for all fiscal quarters of all fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS 133 as amended, and based upon the FASB's interpretations to date does not expect it to have a material effect on the Company's financial position or results of operations.

In September 2000, the FASB issued SFAS No. 140, "Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities - a replacement of SFAS 125" ("SFAS 140"). SFAS 140 revises the standards for accounting for securitizations and other transfers of financial assets and collateral and requires certain additional disclosures. The disclosure requirements and collateral provisions of SFAS 140 are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2000, while the other provisions of the new standard apply prospectively to transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after March 31, 2001. The adoption of SFAS 140 is not expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial position or the results of operations.

Note D: Borrowings

In August 2000, the Bank entered into a multicurrency revolving credit facility (the "Multicurrency Facility"). The Multicurrency Facility is intended to finance the Company's business in the United Kingdom and is comprised of two Tranches, each in the amount of Euro 300,000 (\$270,800 equivalent based on the exchange rate at closing). The Tranche A facility is

intended for general corporate purposes whereas the Trabche B facility is intended to replace and extend the Corporation's prior credit facility for U.K. pounds sterling and Canadian dollars, which matured on August 29, 2000. The Corporation serves as guarantor of all borrowings under the Muticurrency Facility and the Bank's subsidiary, Capital One Bank Europe plc, is eligible to be added as a borrower under the Bank's guarantee. Tranche A of the commitment terminates on August 9, 2001, and Tranche B of the commitment terminates August 9, 2004.

In August 2000, the Company entered into four bilateral revolving credit facilities with different lenders (the "Bilateral Facilities"). The Bilateral Facilities are being used to finance the Company's business in Canada and for general corporate purposes. Two of the Bilateral Facilities are for Capital One, Inc., guarnateed by the Coporation, and are each in the amount of C\$100,000 (\$67,400 equivalent based on exchange rate at closing). The other two Bilateral Facilities are for the Corporation in the amount of \$70,000 and \$30,000. Each of the Bilateral Facilities will terminate on August 10, 2001.

Note E: Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income for the three months ended September 30, 2000 and 1999 was as follows:

Three	Months	Ended
Se	eptember	30

	september	30
	 2000	1999
Comprehensive Income:		
Net income	\$ 122,123 \$	95,362
Other comprehensive income (loss)	8,486	(44,950)
Total comprehensive income	\$ 130,609 \$	50,412

Note F: Associate Stock Plans

The Corporation's June 11, 1998 stock options grant to senior management vested in September 2000. This grant included approximately 2,500,000 performance-based options.

Note G: Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, excluding any dilutive effects of options. Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares, dilutive stock options or other dilutive securities outstanding during the year.

		ths Ended ber 30		
(shares in thousands)	2000	1999	2000	1999
Numerator: Net income	\$ 122,123	\$ 95,362	\$ 341,357	\$ 265,219
Denominator: Denominator for basic earnings per share - Weighted-average shares	196,255	197,424	196,303	197,562
Effect of dilutive securities: Stock options	13,800	12,718	12 , 829	13,108
Denominator for diluted earnings per share - Adjusted weighted-average shares	210,055	210,142	209,132	210,670
Basic earnings per share	\$0.62	\$0.48	\$ 1.73	\$ 1.34
Diluted earnings per share	\$ 0.58	\$ 0.45	\$ 1.63	\$ 1.26

Note H: Commitments and Contingencies

In connection with the transfer of substantially all of Signet Bank's credit card business to the Bank in November 1994, the Company and the Bank agreed to indemnify Signet Bank (which was acquired by First Union Bank on November 30, 1997) for certain liabilities incurred in litigation arising from that business, which may include liabilities, if any, incurred in the purported class action case described below.

During 1995, the Company and the Bank became involved in a purported class action suit relating to certain collection practices engaged in by Signet Bank and, subsequently, by the Bank. The complaint in this case alleges that Signet Bank and/or the Bank violated a variety of California state statutes and constitutional and common law duties by filing collection lawsuits, obtaining judgements and pursuing garnishment proceedings in the Virginia state courts against defaulted credit card customers who were not residents of Virginia. This case was filed in the Superior Court of California in the County of Alameda, Southern Division, on behalf of a class of California residents. The complaint in this case seeks unspecified statutory damages, compensatory damages, punitive damages, restitution, attorneys' fees and costs, a permanent injunction and

other equitable relief.

In early 1997, the California court entered judgement in favor of the Bank on all of the plaintiffs' claims. The plaintiffs appealed the ruling to the California Court of Appeals First Appellate District Division 4. In early 1999, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling in favor of the Bank on six counts, but reversed the trial court's ruling on two counts of the plaintiffs' complaint. The California Supreme Court rejected the Bank's Petition for Review of the remaining two counts and remitted them to the trial court for further proceedings. In August 1999, the trial court denied without prejudice plaintiffs' motion to certify a class on the one remaining common law claim. In November 1999, the United States Supreme Court denied the Bank's writ of certiorari on the remaining two counts, declining to exercise its discretionary power to review these issues.

Subsequently, the Bank moved for summary judgement on the two remaining counts and for a ruling that a class cannot be certified in this case. The motion for summary judgement was granted in favor of the Bank on both counts, but the plaintiffs were granted leave to amend the complaint. Plaintiff has filed an Amended Complaint and the Bank's Demurrer is pending.

Because no specific measure of damages is demanded in the complaint of the California case and the trial court entered judgement in favor of the Bank before the parties completed any significant discovery, an informed assessment of the ultimate outcome of this case cannot be made at this time. Management believes, however, that there are meritorious defenses to this lawsuit and intends to defend it vigorously.

The Company is commonly subject to various other pending and threatened legal actions arising from the conduct of its normal business activities. In the opinion of management, the ultimate aggregate liability, if any, arising out of any pending or threatened action will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition of the Company. At the present time, however, management is not in a position to determine whether the resolution of pending or threatened litigation will have a material effect on the Company's results of operations in any future reporting period.

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction

Capital One Financial Corporation (the "Corporation") is a holding company whose subsidiaries provide a variety of products and services to consumers using its Information-Based Strategy ("IBS"). The principal subsidiaries are Capital One Bank (the "Bank"), which offers credit card products, and Capital One, F.S.B. (the "Savings Bank"), which offers consumer lending (including credit cards) and deposit products. The Corporation and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the "Company." As of September 30, 2000, the Company had 29.4 million customers and \$24.2 billion in managed consumer loans outstanding and was one of the largest providers of MasterCard and Visa credit cards in the world. The Company's profitability is affected by the net interest income and non-interest income earned on earning assets, consumer usage patterns, credit quality, the level of marketing expense and operating efficiency.

Earnings Summary

Net income for the three months ended September 30, 2000 of \$122.1 million, or \$0.58 per share, compares to net income of \$95.4 million, or \$.45 per share, for the same period in 1999. The increase in net income is primarily a result of an increase in asset and account volumes and rates. Net interest income increased \$136.6 million, or 49%, as the net interest margin increased to 11.95% from 11.40% and average earning assets increased by 43%. The provision for loan losses increased \$79.3 million, or 70%, as average reported loans increased 55% and delinquencies increased. Non-interest income increased \$175.4 million, or 28%, primarily as a result of an increase in average accounts of 41% and an increase in the frequency of certain fees charged due to increased purchase volume. Marketing expense increased \$58.0 million, or 33%, to \$233.2 million as the Company continues to invest in new product opportunities. Increases in salaries and associate benefits expense of \$65.1 million, or 33%, and other non-interest expense (excluding marketing) of \$66.4 million, or 26%, primarily reflected increased staff and cost of operations, and the building of infrastructure to manage the growth in accounts and new product opportunities. Each component is discussed in further detail in subsequent sections of this analysis.

Net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2000 was \$341.4 million, or \$1.63 per share, compared to net income of \$265.2 million, or \$1.26 per share, for the same period in 1999. This increase in net income primarily reflected the increases in asset and account volumes accompanied by an increase in net interest margin as discussed above. Each component is discussed in further detail in subsequent sections of this analysis.

Managed Consumer Loan Portfolio

The Company analyzes its financial performance on a managed consumer loan portfolio basis. Managed consumer loan adds back the effect of off-balance sheet consumer loans. The Company also evaluates its interest rate exposure on a managed portfolio basis.

The Company's managed consumer loan portfolio is comprised of reported and off-balance sheet loans. Off-balance sheet loans are those which have been securitized and accounted for as sales in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 125, "Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities" ("SFAS 125"), and are not assets of the Company. Therefore, those loans are not shown on the balance sheet.

Table 1 - MANAGED CONSUMER	LOAN	PORTFOLIO					
	Three Months Ended September 30						
(in thousands)		2000		1999 			
Period-End Balances: Reported consumer loans Off-balance sheet consumer loans	\$			8,286,210 10,231,201			
Total managed consumer loan portfolio	\$ 	24,152,151	\$	18,517,411			
Average Balances: Reported consumer loans Off-balance sheet consumer loans	\$			7,790,933 10,371,042			
Total average managed consumer loan portfolio	\$	23,020,158	- \$ -	18,161,975			
		Nine Months Ended September 30					

(in thousands)	2000	1999	
Average Balances:			
Reported consumer loans	\$ 10,614,434	\$ 7,346,484	
Off-balance sheet consumer loans	10,763,801	10,387,868	
Total average managed consumer loan portfolio	\$ 21,378,235	\$ 17,734,352	

Since 1990, the Company has actively engaged in consumer loan securitization transactions. Securitization involves the transfer by the Company of a pool of loan receivables to an entity created for securitizations, generally a trust or other special purpose entity ("the trusts"). The credit quality of the receivables is supported by credit enhancements, which may be in various forms including a letter of credit, a cash collateral guaranty or account, or a subordinated interest in the receivables in the pool. Certificates representing undivided ownership interests in the receivables are sold to the public through an underwritten offering or to private investors in private placement transactions. The Company receives the proceeds of the sale. The Company retains an interest in the trusts ("seller's interest") equal to the amount of the receivables transferred to the trust in excess of the principal balance of the certificates. The Company's interest in the trusts varies as the amount of the excess receivables in the trusts fluctuates as the accountholders make principal payments and incur new charges on the selected accounts. The securitization generally results in the removal of the receivables, other than the seller's interest, from the Company's balance sheet for financial and regulatory accounting purposes.

The Company's relationship with its customers is not affected by the securitization. The Company acts as a servicing agent and receives a fee for doing so.

Collections received from securitized receivables are used to pay interest to certificateholders, servicing and other fees, and are available to absorb the investors' share of credit losses. Amounts collected in excess of that needed to pay the above amounts are remitted to the Company, as described in Servicing and Securitizations Income.

Certificateholders in the Company's securitization program are generally entitled to receive principal payments either through monthly payments during an amortization period or in one lump sum after an accumulation period. Amortization may begin sooner in certain circumstances, including if the annualized portfolio yield (consisting, generally, of interest and fees) for a three-month period drops below the sum of the certificate rate payable to investors, loan servicing fees and net credit losses during the period.

Prior to the commencement of the amortization or accumulation period, all principal payments received on the trusts' receivables are reinvested in new receivables to maintain the principal balance of certificates. During the amortization period, the investors' share of principal payments is paid to the certificateholders until they are paid in full. During the accumulation period, the investors' share of principal payments is paid into a principal funding account designed to accumulate amounts so that the certificates can be paid in full on the expected final payment date.

presented. The Company intends to continue to securitize consumer loans.

Table 2 - OPERATING DATA AND RATIOS

(dollars in thousands)	 2000	 1999	-	2000	_	1999
Reported: Average earning assets Net interest margin(1) Loan yield	\$ 13,822,750 11.95% 20.07	\$ 9,688,556 11.40% 19.86	\$	12,363,221 12.19% 20.20	\$	9,262,944 10.89% 19.33
Managed: Average earning assets Net interest margin(1) Loan yield	\$ 24,749,127 10.75% 18.06	\$ 20,059,598 11.14% 17.92	\$	23,127,022 10.94% 18.02	\$	19,650,812 10.86% 17.49

(1) Net interest margin is equal to net interest income divided by average earning assets.

Risk Adjusted Revenue and Margin

The Company's products are designed with the objective of maximizing revenue for the level of risk undertaken. Management believes that comparable measures for external analysis are the risk adjusted revenue and risk adjusted margin of the managed portfolio. Risk adjusted revenue is defined as net interest income and non-interest income less net charge-offs. Risk adjusted margin measures risk adjusted revenue as a percentage of average earning assets. It considers not only the loan yield and net interest margin, but also the fee income associated with these products. By deducting net charge-offs, consideration is given to the risk inherent in these differing products.

The Company markets its card products to specific consumer populations. The terms of each card product are actively managed in an effort to maximize return at the consumer level, reflecting the risk and expected performance of the account. For example, card product terms typically include the ability to reprice individual accounts upwards or downwards based on the consumer's performance. In addition, since 1998, the Company has aggressively marketed low non-introductory rate cards to consumers with the best established credit profiles to take advantage of the favorable risk return characteristics of this consumer type. Industry competitors have continuously solicited the Company's customers with similar interest rate strategies. Management believes the competition has put, and will continue to put, additional pressure on the Company's pricing strategies.

By applying its IBS and in response to dynamic competitive pressures, the Company also targets a significant amount of its marketing expense to other credit card product opportunities. Examples of such products include secured cards, lifestyle and co-branded cards, student cards and other cards targeted to certain markets that are underserved by the Company's competitors. These products do not have a significant, immediate impact on managed loan balances; rather they typically consist of lower credit limit accounts and balances that build over time. The terms of these customized card products tend to include annual membership fees and higher annual finance charge rates. The profile of the consumers targeted for these products, in some cases, may also tend to result in higher account delinquency rates and consequently higher past-due and overlimit fees as a percentage of loan receivables outstanding than the low non-introductory rate products.

Table 3 provides income statement data and ratios for the Company's managed consumer loan portfolio. The causes of increases and decreases in the various components of risk adjusted revenue are discussed in further detail in subsequent sections of this analysis.

_	Table	3	_	MANAGED	RISK	ADJUSTED	REVENUE

				ths Ended aber 30		Nine Months Ended September 30				
(dollars in thousands)	s in thousands) 2000			1999 	_	2000	_	1999		
Managed Income Statement:										
Net interest income	\$	665,059	\$	558,889	\$	1,898,265	\$	1,599,926		
Non-interest income		619,909		438,645		1,663,631		1,194,769		
Net charge-offs		(218,404)		(176,019)		(621,324)		(511,152)		
Risk adjusted revenue	\$	1,066,564	- \$ -	821,515	\$	2,940,572	- \$ -	2,283,543		
Ratios(1):										
Net interest margin		10.75%		11.14%		10.94%		10.86%		
Non-interest income		10.02		8.75		9.59		8.11		
Net charge-offs		(3.53)		(3.51)		(3.58)		(3.47)		
Risk adjusted margin		17.24%	_	16.38%		16.95%	_	15.49%		

(1) As a percentage of average managed earning assets.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income is interest and past-due fees earned from the Company's consumer loans and securities less interest expense on borrowings, which includes interest-bearing deposits, other borrowings and borrowings from senior notes.

Reported net interest income for the three months ended September 30, 2000 was \$412.9 million, compared to \$276.2 million for the same period in the prior year, representing an increase of \$136.6 million, or 49%. For the nine months ended September 30, 2000, net interest income was \$1.1 billion compared to \$756.8 million for the same period in 1999, representing an increase of \$373.5 million, or 49%. Net interest margin increased 55 and 130 basis points to 11.95% and 12.19% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. These increases were primarily a result of the increases in the yield on earning assets of 127 and 171 basis points for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, to 18.28% from 17.01% and to 18.16% from 16.45%, respectively, as compared to the same periods in the prior year. The increase in the yield on earning assets was primarily attributable to an increase in the average balance in the reported consumer loan portfolio of 55% and 44% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, as well as an increase in the yield on those consumer loans. The yield on consumer loans increased 21 and 87 basis points, respectively as a result of a slight shift in the mix of the portfolio to higher yielding assets and an increase in the frequency of past-due fees charged as compared to the same periods in the prior year.

Managed net interest income increased \$106.2 million, or 19%, and \$298.3 million, or 19%, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. The increases in managed net interest income were the result of managed average earning assets increasing 18% and the managed net interest margin increasing 8 basis points to 10.94% for the nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively. The increase in managed net interest margin principally reflects increases in average earning asset composition and earning asset yields discussed above.

Table 4 provides average balance sheet data, an analysis of net interest income, net interest spread (the difference between the yield on earning assets and the cost of interest-bearing liabilities) and net interest margin for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000 and 1999.

Table 4 - STATEMENTS OF AVERAGE BALANCES, INCOME AND EXPENSE, YIELDS AND RATES Three Months Ended September 30 2000 Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/
(dollars in thousands) Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate (dollars in thousands) Assets: Earning assets

 Consumer loans(1)
 \$ 12,093,781
 \$ 606,872
 20.07%
 \$ 7,790,933
 \$ 386,727
 19.86%

 Securities available for sale
 1,557,088
 23,367
 6.00
 1,683,839
 24,256
 5.76

 Other
 171,881
 1,474
 3.43
 213,784
 1,053
 1.97

 19.86% _____ 9,688,556 \$ 412,036 17.01% 13,822,750 \$ 631,713 18.28% Total earning assets Cash and due from banks 110,126 44,732 Allowance for loan losses (415, 333)(272,667)Premises and equipment, net 563,388 399,289 2,025,685 1,359,173 Other assets _ _____ -----\$ 16,106,616 \$ 11.219.083 Total assets Liabilities and Equity: Interest-bearing liabilities \$ 5,787,748 \$ 90,197 6.23% \$ 3,001,711 \$ 38,003 5.06% 3,084,407 55,967 7.26 1,333,434 20,824 6.25 4,139,665 72,679 7.02 4,494,440 76,980 6.85 Deposits Other borrowings Senior notes Total interest-bearing liabilities 13,011,820 \$ 218,843 6.73% 8,829,585 \$ 135,807 6.15% 1,351,476 928,919 Other Total liabilities 14,363,296 9,758,504 1,743,320 1,460,579 Equity Total liabilities and equity \$ 16,106,616 \$ 11,219,083 Net interest spread Interest income to 17.01% average earning assets 18.28% Interest expense to 6.33 average earning assets 5.61 11.40%

11.95%

Net interest margin

⁽¹⁾ Interest income includes past-due fees on loans of approximately \$206,880 and \$122,409 for the three months ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

			2000				1999	
(dollars in thousands)	Average Balance		Income/ Expense	Yield/ Rate	Average Balance		Income/ Expense	Yield/ Rate
Assets: Earning assets Consumer loans(1) Securities available for sale Other	\$ 10,614,433 1,585,89 162,89	3	1,607,695 70,946 5,026	20.20% 5.96 4.11	\$ 7,346,484 1,743,930 172,530		1,064,987 74,001 3,892	19.33% 5.66 3.01
Total earning assets Cash and due from banks Allowance for loan losses Premises and equipment, net Other assets	12,363,22 97,51 (380,05 532,50 1,672,99	9 5) 1	1,683,667	18.16%	9,262,944 18,133 (255,167) 331,584 1,303,482		1,142,880	16.45%
Total assets	\$ 14,286,18	4			\$ 10,660,976	_		
Liabilities and Equity: Interest-bearing liabilities Deposits Other borrowings Senior notes	\$ 4,729,62 2,760,08 3,940,31	7	205,936 144,335 203,071	5.81% 6.97 6.87	\$ 2,461,154 1,568,835 4,436,182		88,383 67,572 230,129	4.79% 5.74 6.92
Total interest-bearing liabilities Other liabilities	11,430,02		553,342	6.45%	8,466,171 815,606		386,084	6.08%
Total liabilities Equity	12,640,31 1,645,86				9,281,777 1,379,199	_		
Total liabilities and equity					\$ 10,660,976	_		
Net interest spread				11.71%		_		10.37%
Interest income to average earning assets Interest expense to average earning assets				18.16%		_		16.45% 5.56
Net interest margin				12.19%		-		10.89%

⁽¹⁾ Interest income includes past-due fees on loans of approximately \$554,245 and \$341,470 for the nine months ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Net interest income is affected by changes in the average interest rate earned on earning assets and the average interest rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities. In addition, net interest income is affected by changes in the volume of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. Table 5 sets forth the dollar amount of the increases (decreases) in interest income and interest expense resulting from changes in the volume of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and from changes in yields and rates.

	 Table	5 -	INTEREST V	/AR	RIANCE ANAL	YSIS				
			e Months Er				N Septemi	ine Mor ber 30,		1999
(in thousands)			Change of Volume				Increase Decrease)		_	
Interest Income: Consumer loans Securities available for sale Other	\$ (889)		215,874 (5,784) (1,218)		4,895		542,708 \$ (3,055) 1,134			5,553
Total interest income	 219,677	_	186,985	-	32,692	-	540,787	41	12,815	 127,972
Interest Expense: Deposits Other borrowings Senior notes	35,143		41,795 31,286 (14,973)		3,857		117,553 76,763 (27,058)	Ę	95,530 59,878 25,565)	22,023 16,885 (1,493)
Total interest expense	 83,036	_	69,349	-	13,687		167,258	14	12,239	 25,019
Net interest income(1)	\$ 136,641	\$	122,919	\$	13,722	\$	373,529 \$	27	75 , 538	\$ 97 , 991

(1) The change in interest due to both volume and rates has been allocated in proportion to the relationship of the absolute dollar amounts of the change in each. The changes in income and expense are calculated independently for each line in the table. The totals for the volume and yield/rate columns are not the sum of the individual lines.

Servicing and Securitizations Income

Net interest income(1)

Servicing and securitization income represents servicing fees, excess spread and other fees relating to consumer loan receivables sold through securitization transactions, as well as gains and losses recognized as a result of the securitization transactions. Servicing and securitizations income decreased \$3.9 million, or 1%, to \$307.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2000, from \$311.2 million in the same period in the prior year. Servicing and securitizations income decreased \$16.0 million, or 2%, to \$860.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2000, from \$876.8 million in the same period in the prior year. These decreases were primarily due to the decrease in net spread on the off-balance sheet loan portfolio as a result of the increase in interest paid to certificateholders driven by higher interest rates

In accordance with SFAS 125, the Company records gains or losses on the securitizations of consumer loan receivables on the date of sale based on the estimated fair value of assets sold and retained and liabilities incurred in the sale. Gains represent the present value of estimated excess cash flows the Company has retained over the estimated outstanding period of the receivable and are included in servicing and securitization income. This excess cash flow essentially represents an "interest only" ("I/O") strip, consisting of the excess of finance charges and past-due fees over the sum of the return paid to certificateholders, estimated contractual servicing fees and credit losses. However, exposure to credit losses on the securitized loans is contractually limited to these cash flows.

Certain estimates inherent in the determination of the fair value of the I/O strip are influenced by factors outside the Company's control, and as a result, such estimates could materially change in the near term. Any future gains that will be recognized in accordance with SFAS 125 will be dependent on the timing and amount of future securitizations. The Company will continuously assess the performance of new and existing securitization transactions as estimates of future cash flows change.

Other Non-Interest Income

Interchange income increased to \$65.0 million and \$161.6 million, or 92% and 65%, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, compared to \$33.9 million and \$97.7 million for the same periods in the prior year. These increases are primarily attributable to increased purchase volume and new account growth in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. Service charges and other fees increased to \$424.1 million and \$1.1 billion, or 54% and 53%, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, compared to \$275.9 million and \$743.2 million for the same periods in the prior year. These increases were primarily due to the increase in average accounts of 41% and 40% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, compared to the same period in the prior year.

Non-interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000 was \$819.0 million and \$2.3 billion, respectively, an increase of 30% and 27% over \$629.4 million and \$1.8 billion, respectively, for the same periods in the prior year. Contributing to the increase in non-interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000 was salaries and associate benefits expense which increased \$65.1 million, or 33%, and \$162.9 million, or 28%, respectively. Marketing expense increased \$58.0 million and \$117.2 million, or 33% and 22%, to \$233.2 million and \$646.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, as the Company continued to invest in new and existing product opportunities. All other non-interest expenses increased \$66.4 million and \$207.2 million, or 26% and 30%, to \$321.6 million and \$888.8 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, from \$255.2 million and \$681.6 million for the same periods in the prior year. These increases were primarily a result of the 41% and 40% increases in the average number of accounts for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, as compared to the same periods in the prior year, as well as the Company's continued expansion into new product and geographic markets, which resulted in a corresponding increase in all operational costs.

Income Taxes

The Company's income tax rate was 38% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000 and 1999 and includes both state and federal income tax components.

Asset Quality

The asset quality of a portfolio is generally a function of the initial underwriting criteria used, seasoning of the accounts, levels of competition, account management activities and demographic concentration, as well as general economic conditions. The seasoning of the accounts is also an important factor in the delinquency and loss levels of the portfolio. Accounts tend to exhibit a rising trend of delinquency and credit losses as they season.

Delinquencies

Table 6 shows the Company's consumer loan delinquency trends for the periods presented on a reported and managed basis. The entire balance of an account is contractually delinquent if the minimum payment is not received by the payment due date. Delinquencies not only have the potential to impact earnings if the account charges off, they also are costly in terms of the personnel and other resources dedicated to resolving the delinquencies.

			Septemb	per 30	0	
		200	00		19	99
(dollars in thousands)		Loans	Percent of Total Loans		Loans	Percent of Total Loans
Reported:						
Loans outstanding Loans delinquent:	\$	12,331,088	100.00%	\$	8,286,210	100.00%
30-59 days		324,006	2.63		193,051	2.33
60-89 days		198,832	1.61		106,666	1.29
90 or more days		362,726	2.94		167,812	2.02
 Total 	\$	885,564	7.18%	\$ \$	467,529	5.64%
Managed:						
Loans outstanding Loans delinquent:	\$	24,152,151	100.00%	\$	18,517,411	100.00%
30-59 days		483,595	2.00		379,764	2.05
60-89 days		289,636	1.20		211,022	1.14
90 or more days		512,717	2.12		345,630	1.87
 Total	: \$	1,285,948	5.32%	;	936,416	5.06%

The 30-plus day delinquency rate for the reported consumer loan portfolio was 7.18% as of September 30, 2000, up 154 basis points from 5.64% as of September 30, 1999 and up 36 basis points from 6.82% as of June 30, 2000. The delinquency rate for the managed consumer loan portfolio was 5.32% as of September 30, 2000, up 26 basis points from 5.06% as of September 30, 1999 and down 3 basis points from 5.35% as of June 30, 2000. Both the reported and managed consumer loan delinquency rate increases as of September 30, 2000 from the same period in the prior year principally reflected more seasoned accounts. In addition, the mix of the reported loan portfolio in the current period includes more accounts that tend to have higher delinquencies than the portfolio average.

Net Charge-Offs

Net charge-offs include the principal amount of losses (excluding accrued and unpaid finance charges, fees and fraud losses) less current period recoveries. Table 7 shows the Company's net charge-offs for the periods presented on a reported and managed basis.

Table 7 - NET CHARGE-OFFS									
		Three Months September	Ended 30	Nine Months Ended September 30					
(dollars in thousands)		2000	1999	2000	1999 				
Reported:									
Average loans outstanding Net charge-offs Net charge-offs as a percentage	\$	12,093,781 \$ 142,759		10,614,434 \$ 352,173					
of average loans outstanding		4.72%	3.89%	4.42%	3.46%				
Managed:									
Average loans outstanding Net charge-offs Net charge-offs as a percentage	\$.,,		21,378,235 \$ 621,324					
of average loans outstanding		3.80%	3.88%	3.88%	3.84%				

Net charge-offs of managed loans increased \$42.4 million and \$110.2 million, or 24% and 22%, while average managed consumer loans grew 27% and 21% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. For the three and nine months ended September 2000, the Company's net charge-offs as a percentage of average managed loans outstanding were 3.80% and 3.88%, respectively, compared to 3.88% and 3.84% for the same periods in the prior year.

Provision and Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is maintained at an amount estimated to be sufficient to absorb probable future losses, net of recoveries recovery of collateral), inherent in the existing reported loan portfolio. The provision for loan losses is the periodic cost of maintaining an adequate allowance. Management believes that the allowance for loan losses is adequate to cover anticipated losses in the reported homogeneous consumer loan portfolio under current conditions. There can be no assurance as to future credit losses that may be incurred in connection with the Company's consumer loan portfolio, nor can there be any assurance that the loan loss allowance that has been established by the Company will be sufficient to absorb such future credit losses. The allowance is a general allowance applicable to the reported homogeneous consumer loan portfolio. The amount of allowance necessary is determined primarily based on a migration analysis of delinquent and current accounts. In evaluating the sufficiency of the allowance for loan losses, management also takes into consideration the following factors: recent trends in delinquencies and charge-offs including bankrupt, deceased and recovered amounts; historical trends in loan volume; forecasting uncertainties and size of credit risks; the degree of risk inherent in the composition of the loan portfolio; economic conditions; credit evaluations and underwriting policies.

Table 8 sets forth the activity in the allowance for loan losses for the periods indicated. See "Asset Quality," "Delinquencies" and "Net Charge-Offs" for a more complete analysis of asset quality.

Table 8 - SUMMARY OF ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

	 Three Mor Septen				Nine Months Septembe	
(dollars in thousands)	 2000		1999	_	2000	1999
Balance at beginning of period Provision for loan losses Other Charge-offs Recoveries	\$ 407,000 193,409 (650) (211,099) 68,340	\$	266,000 114,061 1,676 (107,447) 31,710	\$	342,000 470,944 (3,771) (527,324) 175,151	\$ 231,000 262,948 2,844 (278,469) 87,677
Net charge-offs	 (142,759)	-	(75,737)	-	(352,173)	(190,792)
Balance at end of period	\$ 457,000	\$	306,000	\$	457,000	\$ 306,000
Allowance for loan losses to loans at period-end	 3.71%	-	3.69%	_	3.71%	3.69%

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, the provision for loan losses increased to \$193.4 million and \$470.9 million or 70% and 79%, respectively, from \$114.1 million and \$262.9 million for the comparable periods in the prior year.

Funding

The Company has established access to a variety of funding alternatives, in addition to securitization of its consumer loans. In June 2000, the Company established a \$5.0 billion global senior and subordinated bank note program, of which \$994 million was outstanding as of September 30, 2000 with original terms of three to five years. The Company has historically issued senior unsecured debt of the Bank through its \$8.0 billion domestic bank note program, of which \$2.6 billion was outstanding as of September 30, 2000, with original terms of one to ten years. Internationally, the Company has funding programs designed for foreign investors or to raise funds in foreign currencies allowing the bank to borrow from both U.S. and non-U.S. lenders. In addition, the Company has multiple committed revolving credit facilities offering foreign currency funding options. Furthermore, the Bank has a \$1.0 billion Euro Medium Term Note program that is targeted specifically to non-U.S. investors. The Company funds its foreign assets by directly or synthetically borrowing or securitizing in the local currency to mitigate the financial statement effect of currency translation.

The Company continues to expand its retail deposit gathering efforts through both direct and broker marketing channels. The Company uses its IBS capabilities to test and market a variety of retail deposit origination strategies, as well as to develop customized account management programs. As of September 30, 2000, the Company had \$6.3 billion in interest-bearing deposits, with original maturities of up to ten years.

Table 9 shows the maturity distribution of certificates of deposit in denominations of \$100,000 or greater ("large denomination CDs") as of September 30, 2000.

Table 9 - MATURITEIS OF LARGE DENOMINATION CERTIFICATES-\$100,000 OR MORE

	September 30	, 2000
(dollars in thousands)	Balance	Percent

(dollars in thousands)		Balance	Percent
	_		
3 months or less Over 3 through 6 months Over 6 through 12 months Thereafter	\$	387,725 276,412 769,893 1,145,919	15.03% 10.71 29.84 44.42
Total	\$	2,579,949	100.00%

The Company's other borrowings portfolio consists of \$2.2 billion in borrowings maturing within one year and \$599.4 million in borrowings maturing after one year.

Table 10 shows the Company's unsecured funding availability and outstandings as of September 30, 2000.

- ------

Table 10 - FUNDING AVAILABILITY								
September 30, 2000								
(dollars or dollar equivalents in millions)	Effective/ Issue Date	Availability(1)	Ou	tstanding	Final Maturity(4)			
Domestic revolving credit facility Multicurrency credit facility	5/99 8/00	\$1,200 541			5/03 8/04			
Bilateral revolving credit facilities	8/00	205			8/01			
Senior global bank note program	6/00	5,000	\$	994	_			
Senior domestic bank note program(2)	4/97	8,000		2,571	_			
Non-U.S. bank note program	10/97	1,000		5	_			
Corporation Shelf Registration	8/99	1,550		549	_			
Capital securities (3)	1/97	100		98	2/27			

- (1) All funding sources are revolving except for the Corporation Shelf Registration and the Capital Securities. Funding availability under the credit facilities is subject to compliance with certain representations, warranties and covenants. Funding availability under all other sources is subject to market conditions.
- (2) Includes availability to issue up to \$200 million of subordinated bank notes, none outstanding as of September 30, 2000.
- (3) Qualifies as Tier 1 capital at the Corporation and Tier 2 capital at the Bank.
- (4) Maturity date refers to the date the facility terminates, where applicable.

In August 2000, the Bank entered into a multicurrency revolving credit facility (the "Multicurrency Facility"). The Multicurrency Facility is intended to finance the Company's business in the United Kingdom and is comprised of two Tranches, each in the amount of Euro 300 million (\$270.8 million equivalent based on the exchange rate at closing). The Tranche A facility is intended for general corporate purposes whereas the Tranche B facility is intended to replace and extend the Corporation's prior credit facility for U.K. pounds sterling and Canadian dollars, which matured on August 29, 2000. The Corporation serves as guarantor of all borrowings under the Muticurrency Facility and the Bank's subsidiary, Capital One Bank Europe plc, is eligible to be added as a borrower under the Bank's guarantee. Tranche A of the commitment terminates on August 9, 2001, and Tranche B of the commitment terminates August 9, 2004.

In August 2000, the Company entered into four bilateral revolving credit facilities with different lenders (the "Bilateral Facilities"). The Bilateral Facilities are being used to finance the Company's business in Canada and for general corporate purposes. Two of the Bilateral Facilities are for Capital One, Inc., guaranteed by the Corporation, and are each in the amount of C\$100.0 million (\$67.4 million equivalent based on exchange rate at closing). The other two Bilateral Facilities are for the Corporation in the amount of \$70 million and \$30 million. Each of the Bilateral Facilities will terminate on August 10, 2001.

In May 1999, the Company entered into a four-year, \$1.2 billion unsecured revolving credit arrangement (the "Credit Facility"). The Credit Facility is comprised of two tranches: a \$810 million Tranche A facility available to the Bank and the Savings Bank, including an option for up to \$250 million in multicurrency availability, and a \$390 million Tranche B facility available to the Corporation, the Bank and the Savings Bank, including an option for up to \$150 million in multicurrency availability. Each tranche under the facility is structured as a four-year commitment and is available for general corporate purposes. All borrowings under the Credit Facility are based on varying terms of LIBOR. The Bank has irrevocably undertaken to honor any demand by the lenders to repay any borrowings which are due and payable by the Savings Bank but have not been paid. Any borrowings under the Credit Facility will

mature on May 24, 2003; however, the final maturity of each tranche may be extended for three additional one-year periods with the lenders' consent.

The Corporation has three shelf registration statements under which the Corporation from time to time may offer and sell (i) senior or subordinated debt securities, consisting of debentures, notes and/or other unsecured evidences, (ii) preferred stock, which may be issued in the form of depository shares evidenced by depository receipts and (iii) common stock. The amount of securities registered is limited to a \$1.6 billion aggregate public offering price or its equivalent (based on the applicable exchange rate at the time of sale) in one or more foreign currencies, currency units or composite currencies as shall be designated by the Corporation. As of September 30, 2000, the Corporation had existing unsecured senior debt outstanding under the shelf registrations of \$550 million including \$125 million maturing in 2003, \$225 million maturing in 2006, and \$200 million maturing in 2008.

Liquidity

Liquidity refers to the Company's ability to meet its cash needs. The Company meets its cash requirements by securitizing assets, gathering deposits and through issuing debt. As discussed in "Managed Consumer Loan Portfolio," a significant source of liquidity for the Company has been the securitization of consumer loans. Maturity terms of the existing securitizations vary from 1999 to 2008 and typically have accumulation periods during which principal payments are aggregated to make payments to investors. As payments on the loans are accumulated and are no longer reinvested in new loans, the Company's funding requirements for such new loans increase accordingly. The occurrence of certain events may cause the securitization transactions to amortize earlier than scheduled, which would accelerate the need for funding.

As such loans amortize or are otherwise paid, the Company believes it can securitize consumer loans, purchase federal funds and establish other funding sources to fund the amortization or other payment of the securitizations in the future, although no assurance can be given to that effect. Additionally, the Company maintains a portfolio of high-quality securities such as U.S. Treasuries and other U.S. government obligations, commercial paper, interest-bearing deposits with other banks, federal funds and other cash equivalents in order to provide adequate liquidity and to meet its ongoing cash needs. As of September 30, 2000, the Company held \$1.8 billion in such securities.

Capital Adequacy

The Bank and the Savings Bank are subject to capital adequacy guidelines adopted by the Federal Reserve Board (the "Federal Reserve") and the Office of Thrift Supervision (the "OTS") (collectively, the "regulators"), respectively. The capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action require the Bank and the Savings Bank to maintain specific capital levels based upon quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items.

The most recent notifications received from the regulators categorized the Bank and the Savings Bank as "well-capitalized." To be categorized as "well-capitalized," the Bank and the Savings Bank must maintain minimum capital ratios as set forth in Table 11. As of September 30, 2000, there were no conditions or events since the notifications discussed above that management believes would have changed either the Bank or the Savings Bank's capital category.

Table 11 - REGULATORY CAPITAL RATIOS

		Minimum for Capital Adequacy Purposes	
September 30, 2000			
Capital One Bank			
Tier 1 Capital			6.00%
Total Capital	11.02	8.00	10.00
Tier 1 Leverage	9.53	4.00	5.00
Capital One, F.S.B.			
Tier 1 Capital	9.25%	4.00%	6.00%
Total Capital	12.47	8.00	10.00
Tier 1 Leverage	6.33	4.00	5.00
September 30, 1999			
Capital One Bank			
Tier 1 Capital	11.58%	4.00%	6.00%
Total Capital	14.31	8.00	10.00
Tier 1 Leverage	10.75	4.00	5.00
Capital One, F.S.B.			
Tier 1 Capital	8.84%	4.00%	6.00%
Total Capital	10.51	8.00	10.00
Tier 1 Leverage	7.61	4.00	5.00

In August 2000, the Bank received regulatory approval and established a subsidiary bank in the United Kingdom. In connection with the approval of its former branch office in the United Kingdom, the Company committed to the Federal Reserve that, for so long as the Bank maintains a branch or subsidiary bank in the United Kingdom, the Company will maintain a minimum Tier 1 leverage ratio of 3.0%. As of September 30, 2000, the Company's Tier 1 leverage ratio was 11.39%.

Additionally, certain regulatory restrictions exist which limit the ability of the Bank and the Savings Bank to transfer funds to the Corporation. As of September 30, 2000, retained earnings of the Bank and the Savings Bank of \$141.9 million and \$55.4 million, respectively, were available for payment of dividends to the Corporation, without prior approval by the Federal Reserve and the OTS. The Savings Bank, however, is required to give the OTS at least 30 days' advance notice of any proposed dividend and the OTS, in its discretion, may object to such dividend.

Off-Balance Sheet Risk

The Company is subject to off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business including commitments to extend credit, reduce the interest rate sensitivity of its securitization transactions and its off-balance sheet financial instruments. The Company enters into interest rate swap agreements in the management of its interest rate exposure. The Company also enters into forward foreign currency exchange contracts and currency swaps to reduce its sensitivity to changing foreign currency exchange rates. These off-balance sheet financial instruments involve elements of credit, interest rate or foreign currency exchange rate risk in excess of the amount recognized on the balance sheet. These instruments also present the Company with certain credit, market, legal and operational risks. The Company has established credit policies for off-balance sheet instruments as it has for on-balance sheet instruments. Interest Rate Sensitivity

Interest rate sensitivity refers to the change in earnings that may result from changes in the level of interest rates. To the extent that managed interest income and expense do not respond equally to changes in interest rates, or that all rates do not change uniformly, earnings could be affected. The Company's managed net interest income is affected by changes in short-term interest rates, primarily LIBOR, as a result of its issuance of interest-bearing deposits, variable rate loans and variable rate securitizations. The Company manages and mitigates its interest rate sensitivity through several techniques which include, but are not limited to, changing the maturity, repricing and distribution of assets and liabilities and entering into interest rate swaps.

The Company measures exposure to its interest rate risk through the use of a simulation model. The model generates a distribution of possible twelve-month managed net interest income outcomes based on (i) a set of plausible interest rate scenarios, as determined by management based upon historical trends and market expectations, (ii) all existing financial instruments, including swaps, and (iii) an estimate of ongoing business activity over the coming twelve months. The Company's asset/liability management policy requires that based on this distribution there be at least a 95% probability that managed net interest income achieved over the coming twelve months will be no more than 3% below the mean managed net interest income of the distribution. As of September 30, 2000, the Company was in compliance with the policy; more than 98% of the outcomes generated by the model produced a managed net interest income of no more than 1.0% below the mean outcome. The interest rate scenarios evaluated as of September 30, 2000, included scenarios in which short-term interest rates rose by over 400 basis points or fell by as much as 250 basis points over twelve months.

The analysis does not consider the effects of the changed level of overall economic activity associated with various interest rate scenarios.

Further, in the event of a rate change of large magnitude, management would likely take actions to further mitigate its exposure to any adverse impact. For example, management may reprice interest rates on outstanding credit card loans subject to the right of the consumers in certain states to reject such repricing by giving timely written notice to the Company and thereby relinquishing charging privileges. However, the repricing of credit card loans may be limited by competitive factors as well as certain legal constraints.

Interest rate sensitivity at a point in time can also be analyzed by measuring the mismatch in balances of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities that are subject to repricing in future periods.

Earnings, Goals and Strategies

This business outlook section summarizes Capital One's expectations for earnings for the years ending December 31, 2000 and 2001, and our primary goals and strategies for continued growth. The statements contained in this section are based on management's current expectations. Certain statements are forward looking and, therefore, actual results could differ materially. Factors which could materially influence results are set forth throughout this section and in Capital One's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 (Part I, Item 1, Risk Factors).

We have set targets, dependent on the factors set forth below, to achieve a 25% return on equity in 2000 and to increase Capital One's earnings per share by approximately 30% in each of 2000 and 2001 over the prior year's earnings per share. As discussed elsewhere in this report and below, Capital One's actual earnings are a function of our revenues (net interest income and non-interest income on our earning assets), consumer usage and payment patterns, credit quality of our earning assets (which affects fees and charge-offs), marketing expenses and operating expenses.

Product and Market Opportunities

Our strategy for future growth has been, and is expected to continue to be, to apply our proprietary IBS to our lending business as well as to other businesses, both financial and non-financial, including telecommunications and Internet services. We will seek to identify new product opportunities and to make informed investment decisions regarding new and existing products. Our lending and other financial and non-financial products are subject to competitive pressures, which management anticipates will increase as these markets mature.

Lending. Lending includes credit card and other consumer lending products, including automobile financing. Credit card opportunities include, and are expected to continue to include, a wide variety of highly customized products with interest rates, credit lines and other features specifically tailored for numerous consumer segments. We expect continued growth across a broad spectrum of new and existing customized products, which are distinguished by a range of credit lines, pricing structures and other characteristics. For example, our low introductory and non-introductory rate products, which are marketed to consumers with the best established credit profiles, are characterized by higher credit lines, lower yields and an expectation of low delinquencies and credit loss rates. On the other hand, certain other customized card products are characterized by lower credit lines, higher yields (including fees) and in some cases, higher delinquencies and credit loss rates. These products also involve higher operational costs but exhibit better response rates, less adverse selection, less attrition and a greater ability to reprice than traditional products. More importantly, as a whole, all of these customized products continue to have less volatile returns than traditional products in recent market conditions. Based in part on the success of this range of products and growth in the superprime and prime markets, we are currently on track to attain our fifth consecutive year of approximately 40% net account growth, together with strong growth in our managed loan balances during the fourth quarter of 2000. We believe that leveraging our customer relationships will be a key to our future growth.

International Expansion. We have expanded our existing operations outside of the United States and have experienced growth in the number of accounts and loan balances in our international business. To date, our principal operations outside of the United States have been in the United Kingdom, with additional operations in Canada, South Africa and France. To support the continued growth of our United Kingdom business and any future business in Europe, we recently launched a bank in the United Kingdom with authority to conduct full-service operations. We anticipate entering and doing business in additional countries from time to time as opportunities arise.

Internet Services and Products. Our Internet services include account decisioning, real-time account numbering, retail deposit-taking and account servicing. We have set targets to originate one million accounts and service two million accounts online by the end of 2000, provided that we can continue to limit fraud and safeguard our customers' privacy.

Telecommunications. Capital One and Sprint PCS LP have entered into an agreement to jointly test new product and marketing innovations in the wireless industry. Through our subsidiary, America One Communications, Inc., we will use our IBS and direct marketing competencies to identify and test market segments for Sprint PCS, which will own all accounts generated under this testing agreement. America One is also in the process of selling its existing accounts to other telecommunications network service providers. Management does not expect either the testing arrangement with Sprint PCS or the sale of existing customer accounts to have a material effect on our financial statements in the near term.

We will continue to apply our IBS in an effort to balance the mix of credit card products with other financial and non-financial products and services to optimize profitability within the context of acceptable risk. We continually test new product offerings and pricing combinations, using IBS, to target different consumer groups. The number of tests we conduct has increased each year since 1994 and we expect further increases in 2000. Our growth through expansion and product diversification, however, will be affected by our ability to build internally or acquire the necessary operational and organizational infrastructure, recruit experienced personnel, fund these new businesses and manage expenses. Although we believe we have the personnel, financial resources and business strategy necessary for continued success, there can be no assurance that our results of operations and financial condition in the future will

Marketing Investment

We expect our 2000 marketing expenses to exceed 1999's expense level and to increase through the first quarter of 2001, as we continue to invest in various credit card products and services, brand management and other financial and non-financial products and services. We caution, however, that an increase in marketing expenses does not necessarily equate to a comparable increase in outstanding balances or accounts based on historical results. As our portfolio continues to grow, generating balances and accounts to offset attrition requires increasing amounts of marketing. Although we are one of the leading direct mail marketers in the credit card industry, increased mail volume throughout the industry indicates that competition has been accelerating. This intense competition in the credit card market has resulted in a decrease in credit card response rates and has reduced the productivity of marketing dollars invested in that line of business. In addition, the cost to acquire new accounts varies across product lines and is expected to rise as we move beyond the domestic card business. With competition affecting the profitability of traditional card products, we have been allocating, and expect to continue to allocate, a greater portion of our marketing expense to other customized credit card products and other financial and non-financial products. We intend to continue a flexible approach in our allocation of marketing expenses. We are also developing a brand marketing strategy to supplement current strategies. The actual amount of marketing investment is subject to a variety of external and internal factors, such as competition in the consumer credit and wireless service industries, general economic conditions affecting consumer credit performance, the asset quality of our portfolio and the identification of market opportunities across product lines that exceed our targeted rates of return on investment.

The amount of marketing expense allocated to various products or businesses will influence the characteristics of our portfolio as various products or businesses are characterized by different account growth, loan growth and asset quality characteristics. We currently expect continued strong account growth and loan growth in 2000, particularly in prime customer markets. Actual growth, however, may vary significantly depending on our actual product mix and the level of attrition in our managed portfolio, which is primarily affected by competitive pressures.

Impact of Delinquencies, Charge-Offs and Attrition

Our earnings are particularly sensitive to delinquencies and charge-offs on our portfolio and to the level of attrition due to competition in the credit card industry. As delinquency levels fluctuate, the resulting amount of past due and overlimit fees, which are significant sources of our revenue, will also fluctuate. Further, the timing of revenues from increasing or decreasing delinquencies precedes the related impact of higher or lower charge-offs that ultimately result from varying levels of delinquencies. Delinquencies and net charge-offs are impacted by general economic trends in consumer credit performance, including bankruptcies, the degree of seasoning of our portfolio and the product mix.

As of September 30, 2000, we had one of the lowest net charge-off rates among the top ten credit card issuers in the United States. We expect delinquencies and charge-offs to remain steady in the fourth quarter of 2000 but to increase in 2001. We caution that delinquency and charge-off levels are not always predictable and may vary from projections. In the case of an economic downturn or recession, delinquencies and charge-offs are likely to increase more quickly. In addition, competition in the credit card industry, as measured by the volume of mail solicitations, remains very high. Competition can affect our earnings by increasing attrition of our outstanding loans (thereby reducing interest and fee income) and by making it more difficult to retain and attract profitable customers.

Cautionary Factors

The strategies and objectives outlined above, and the other forward-looking statements contained in this section, involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Capital One cautions readers that any forward-looking information is not a guarantee of future performance and that actual results could differ materially. In addition to the factors discussed above, among the other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially are the following: continued intense competition from numerous providers of products and services which compete with our businesses; with respect to financial and other products, changes in our aggregate accounts or consumer loan balances and the growth rate thereof, including changes resulting from factors such as shifting product mix, amount of our actual marketing expenses and attrition of accounts and loan balances; an increase in credit losses (including increases due to a worsening of general economic conditions); our ability to continue to securitize our credit cards and consumer loans and to otherwise access the capital markets attractive rates and terms to fund our operations and future growth; difficulties or delays in the development, production, testing and marketing of new products or services; losses associated with new products or services or expansion internationally; financial, legal, regulatory or other difficulties that may affect investment in, or the overall performance of, a product or business, including changes in existing laws to regulate further the credit card and consumer loan industry and the financial services industry, in general, including the flexibility of financial services companies to obtain, use and share consumer data; the amount of, and rate of growth in, our expenses (including salaries and associate benefits and marketing expenses) as our business develops or changes or as we expand into new market areas; the availability of capital necessary to fund our new businesses; our ability to build the operational and organizational infrastructure necessary to engage in new businesses or to expand internationally; our ability to recruit experienced personnel to assist in the management and operations of new products and services; and other factors listed from time to time in the our SEC reports, including, but not limited to, the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 (Part I, Item 1, Risk Factors).

Item 6. Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Exhibits

Index	οf	Exhibits
Deale die d	_	Dagas

Index of Exn	lDits
Exhibit	Description of Exhibit
10.1	Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of August 10, 2000 by and between Capital One Inc., as borrower, Capital One Financial Corporation, as guarantor, and Bank Montreal, as lender.
10.2	Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of August 10, 2000 by and between Capital One Inc., as borrower, Capital One Financial Corporation, as guarantor, and Bank One Canada, as lender.
10.3	Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of August 10, 2000 by and between Capital One Financial Corporation, as borrower, and Citibank, N.A., as lender.
10.4	Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of August 10, 2000 by and between Capital One Financial Corporation, as borrower, and First Union National Bank, as lender.
10.5	Multicurrency Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of August 11, 2000 by and between Capital One Bank, as borrower, Capital One Financial Corporation, as guarantor, and Chase Manhattan PLC, as lender.
27	Financial Data Schedule

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K, dated July 12, 2000, Commission File No. 1-13300, enclosing its press release dated July 12,

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION (Registrant)

/s/ David M. Willey Date: November 8, 2000

David M. Willey Senior Vice President, Corporate Financial Management (Chief Accounting Officer and duly authorized officer of the Registrant)

\$100,000,000

REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY AGREEMENT

between

CAPITAL ONE INC. as borrower

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION as guarantor

and

BANK OF MONTREAL as lender

August 10, 2000

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part 1
1. Interpretation
Part 2
2. Grant of Facility2
3. Purpose
4. Conditions Precedent2
Part 3
5. Utilisation of Facility2
Part 4
6. Making of Advances2
7. Payment of Interest
8. Calculation of Interest
9. Repayment of Advances
Part 5 10. Cancellation
11. Prepayment
12. Taxes
13. Tax Receipts
14. Tax Undertaking by the Bank and Tax Refunds
15. Increased Costs
16. Illegality
17. Mitigation
Part 7
18. Representations
19. Financial Information.
20. Financial Condition.
21. Covenants
22. Events of Default
Part 8
23. Default Interest and Indemnity
Part 9
24. Currency of Account and Payment2
25. Payments
26. Set-Off
Part 10
27. Commitment Commission and Arranging Fee
28. Costs and Expenses
Part 11
29. Benefit of Agreement
30. Assignments and Transfers by the Obligors
32. Disclosure of Information
33. Calculations and Evidence of Debt
34. Amendments and Waivers
35. Remedies and Waivers
36. Partial Invalidity
37. Maximum Rate of Return.
38. Notices
39. Counterparts
Part 12
40. Law
41. Jurisdiction2

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the 10th day of August, 2000

BETWEEN

- (1) CAPITAL ONE INC. (the "Borrower");
- (2) CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION as quarantor (the "Guarantor"); and
- (3) BANK OF MONTREAL (the "Bank").

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows:

Part 1

INTERPRETATION

- Interpretation
- 1.1 Definitions In this Agreement:
- "Advance" means any advance made or to be made pursuant to the terms hereof;
- "Affiliate" means any person which, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, another person or any Subsidiary of such other person. The term "control" (including the terms "controlled by" or "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such person, whether through ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise;
- "Available Commitment" means, at any time, the Commitment less the Outstandings at such time;
- "Bank Regulatory Authority" shall mean the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Minister of Finance, Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions, Bank of Canada, the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation and all other relevant bank and provincial regulatory authorities (including, without limitation, relevant state and provincial bank regulatory authorities);
- "Canadian Prime Rate" means, in relation to any Advance or unpaid sum and any date, the higher of (i) the rate announced from time to time by the Bank as its prime lending rate on such date for Canadian Dollar denominated commercial loans made in Canada and in force on such date and (ii) the rate at which the Bank is offering at or about 10:00 a.m. (Toronto, Ontario, Canada time) to purchase bankers' acceptances on such date in respect of a bankers' acceptance with a term of 30 days, plus 1.00 percent;
- "Canadian Qualified Lender" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-Up);
- "Commitment" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 2 (Grant of Facility);
- "Compliance Certificate" means a certificate demonstrating compliance with the covenants set forth in Clause 20 (Financial Condition) as of the date specified in such certificate, substantially in the form set out in the Fourth Schedule (Form of Compliance Certificate);
- "Cost of Funds Rate" means the rate of interest, expressed as an annual percentage, quoted by the Bank to the Borrower from time to time and at any time as the Bank's cost in making available an amount of Canadian Dollars equal to the amount of the relevant Utilisation for the relevant Term;
- "Event of Default" means any of those events specified in Clause 22 (Events of Default);
- "Facility" means the revolving credit facility granted to the Borrower hereunder ;
- "Facility Office" means, in respect of the Bank, the office in Canada set forth opposite the Bank's name in the signature page below (or, in the case of a Transferee, at the end of the Transfer Certificate to which it is a party as Transferee) or such other office in Canada as it may from time to time notify to the Borrower;
- "Final Maturity Date" means the day which is 364 days after the date hereof; provided that if the Final Maturity Date determined as aforesaid would fall on a day which is not a business day, it shall be the immediately preceding business day which is a business day in Toronto, Canada and Falls Church, Virginia;
- "Finance Documents" means each of this Agreement, the Guarantee, any Compliance Certificate, any notice delivered in connection herewith or therewith and any other agreement or document designated as such by the Bank and the Borrower;
- "Group" means, at any time, the Guarantor and each of its Subsidiaries at such time;
- "Guarantee" means the guarantee of even date herewith to be given by the Guarantor in favour of the Bank in substantially the form set out in the Sixth Schedule (Form of Guarantee);
- "Lien" means, with respect to any property, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such property. For purposes of this Agreement, a person shall be deemed to own subject to a Lien

any property that it has acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or other title retention agreement (other than an operating lease) relating to such property;

"Margin" means, at any time, 0.75% per annum;

"Material Adverse Effect" means with respect to an Obligor, a material adverse effect on (a) the property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalization of such Obligor and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the ability of such Obligor to perform its obligations under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (c) the validity or enforceability of the obligations of such Obligor under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (d) the rights and remedies of the Bank against such Obligor or (e) the timely payment of the principal of or interest on or in connection with any Advance or other amounts payable by such Obligor in connection therewith;

"Obligors" means, collectively, the Borrower and the Guarantor and "Obligor" means either one of the Borrower and the Guarantor;

"Original Financial Statements" means:

- (i) in relation to the Guarantor, its audited consolidated financial statements for its financial year ended 31 December, 1999 together with its consolidated management accounts for its financial period ended 31 March, 2000;
- (ii) in relation to the Borrower, a statement of such financial information concerning the Borrower included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December, 1999 supplied pursuant to paragraph (i) so certified by an officer of the Guarantor together with its consolidated management accounts for its financial period ended 30 June, 2000.

"Outstandings" means, at any time, the aggregate of each outstanding $\mbox{Advance}$ at such time;

"Permitted Disposal" means any of the following:

- (i) the merger or consolidation of any Affiliate of any Obligor with or into, or the transfer by such Affiliate of all or substantially all of its business or property to (x) such Obligor if such Obligor is the continuing, surviving or transferee corporation or (y) any other Affiliate of such Obligor;
- (ii) the merger or consolidation of any Obligor with or into, or the transfer by any Obligor of all or substantially all of its business or property, to any Affiliate of such Obligor if such Affiliate is the continuing, surviving or transferee entity, such Affiliate expressly assumes the obligations of the Obligor hereunder and such Affiliate, following such merger, consolidation or transfer, has a Tangible Net Worth (as defined in Clause 20.3 (Definitions of Financial Terms) at least equal to that of the Obligor immediately prior thereto;
- (iii) the merger or consolidation of any Obligor with or into any other person, or the transfer by any such person of all or substantially all of its business or property to any Obligor, or the transfer by an Obligor of all or substantially all of its business or property to any such person so long as (x) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or transfer or would result therefrom, (y) such person, if the continuing, surviving or transferee entity, expressly assumes the obligations of such Obligor hereunder and (z) such Obligor or such person, as appropriate, following such merger, consolidation or transfer, has a Tangible Net Worth (as defined in Clause 20.3 (Definitions of Financial Terms) at least equal to that of such Obligor immediately prior thereto;
- (iv) the merger or consolidation of any Affiliate of any Obligor with or into, or the transfer by any such person of all or substantially all of its business or property to any other person so long as no Event of Default (other than pursuant to Clause 21.4 (Disposals)) has occurred and is continuing immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or transfer or would result therefrom; and
- (v) the sale by any Obligor or any Affiliate of any Obligor of credit card loans and other finance receivables pursuant to securitizations.

"Potential Event of Default" means any event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become an Event of Default;

"Receivables" means, with respect to any Obligor, any amount owing, from time to time, with respect to a credit card, consumer revolving or consumer installment loan account, home equity line of credit or residential mortgage loan account or other consumer receivable owned by such Obligor, including, without limitation, amounts owing for payment of goods and services, cash advances, convenience checks, annual membership fees, finance charges, late charges, credit insurance premiums and cash advance fees and fees relating to additional consumer products, and any other receivables arising out of financing transactions by such Obligor; provided that the term "Receivables" shall not include any of the foregoing that is subject to a securitization effected in the ordinary course of business;

"Repayment Date" means, in relation to any Advance, the last day of the Term thereof or, if such day is not a business day, the next business day following;

"Requested Amount" means, in relation to any Utilisation Request, the aggregate principal amount of the Advance requested;

"Restricted Shares" means, with respect to any Obligor, shares of stock of or other ownership interests in such Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof engaged primarily in the extension of consumer credit to third parties or securitizations of receivables related to such extension of consumer credit, excluding without limitation any such ownership interests of any Obligor in America One Communications, Inc.;

"Rollover Advance" means an Advance which is used to refinance an existing Advance and which is the same amount as such maturing Advance and is to be drawn on the day such maturing Advance is to be repaid;

"Schedule I Bank" means a banking entity which is named in Schedule I of the Bank Act (Canada) S.C. 1991 C.46, as such schedule may be amended from time to time:

"Schedule II Bank" means a Canadian Subsidiary of a non-resident banking entity, which Subsidiary is named in Schedule II of the Bank Act (Canada) S.C. 1991 C.46, as such schedule may be amended from time to time;

"Subsidiary" of any corporation (the "Parent") means any other corporation of which more than 50% of the outstanding capital stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the Board of Directors of such other corporation (irrespective of whether or not at the time capital stock of any other class or classes of such corporation shall or might have voting power upon the occurrence of any contingency) is at the time directly or indirectly owned by the Parent or by the Parent and/or one or more Subsidiaries of the Parent, and shall include any corporation that is a direct or indirect Subsidiary of any such first mentioned Subsidiary;

"Term" means, in relation to any Advance, the period for which such Advance is borrowed as specified in the Utilisation Request relating thereto;

"Termination Date" means the day falling one month prior to the Final Maturity Date:

"Transfer Certificate" means a certificate substantially in the form set out in the First Schedule (Form of Transfer Certificate) signed by the Bank and a Transferee whereby:

- (i) the Bank seeks to procure the transfer to such Transferee of all or a part of the Bank's rights and obligations hereunder upon and subject to the terms and conditions set out in Clause 31 (Assignments and Transfers by Bank); and
- (ii) such Transferee undertakes to perform the obligations it will assume as a result of delivery of such certificate to the Bank as is contemplated in Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank);

"Transfer Date" means, in relation to any Transfer Certificate, the date for the making of the transfer as specified in the schedule to such Transfer Certificate:

"Transferee" means a bank or other financial institution to which the Bank seeks to transfer or, as the case may be, has transferred all or part of the Bank's rights and obligations hereunder; "Utilisation" means a utilisation of the Facility hereunder;

"Utilisation Date" means the date of a Utilisation, being the date on which the Advance in respect thereof is to be made; and

"Utilisation Request" means a notice given to the Bank pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) in the form set out in the Third Schedule (Utilisation Request).

1.2 Interpretation. Any reference in this Agreement to:

the "Bank" shall be construed so as to include its and any subsequent successors, permitted Transferees and permitted assigns in accordance with their respective interests;

a document is in an "agreed form" when it has been initialled or signed by or on behalf of the Borrower, the Guarantor and the Bank;

- a "business day" shall be construed as a reference to a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are generally open for business in Toronto, Ontario, Canada and Falls Church, Virginia;
- a "Clause" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a clause hereof;

"financial indebtedness" shall be construed, with respect to any person, as a reference to any indebtedness of such person for or in respect of:

- (i) obligations created, issued or incurred by such person for borrowed money (whether by loan, the issuance and sale of debt securities or the sale of property to another person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to repurchase such property from such person);
- (ii) obligations of such person to pay the deferred purchase or acquisition price of property or services, other than trade accounts payable (other than for borrowed money) arising, and accrued expenses incurred, in the ordinary course of business so long as such trade accounts payable are payable within 90 days of the date the respective goods are delivered or the respective services are rendered;
- (iii)indebtedness of others secured by an encumbrance on the property of such person, whether or not the respective indebtedness so secured has

been assumed by such person;

- (iv) contingent and non-contingent obligations of such person in respect of letters of credit, bankers' acceptances or similar instruments issued or accepted by banks and other financial institutions for account of such person;
- (v) capital lease obligations of such person (being all obligations of such person to pay rent or other amounts under a lease of (or other agreement conveying the right to use) property to the extent such obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as a capital lease on a balance sheet of such person under GAAP (as defined in Clause 20.3 (Definition of Financial Terms) or in any similar or equivalent manner under the relevant generally accepted accounting principles applicable to the preparation of such person's financial statements if these are other than GAAP) and, for the purposes of this Agreement, the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalised amount thereof, determined in accordance with GAAP (as so defined); and
- (vi) financial indebtedness of others guaranteed by such person;
- a "holding company" of a person shall be construed as a reference to any person of which the first-mentioned person is a Subsidiary;
- "indebtedness" shall be construed so as to include any obligation (whether incurred as principal or as surety) for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or contingent;
- a "Part" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a part hereof;
- a "person" shall be construed as a reference to any person, firm, company, corporation, government, state or province or agency of a state or province or any association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality) of two or more of the foregoing;
- a "Schedule" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a schedule hereto;
- "tax" shall be construed so as to include any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge of a similar nature (including, without limitation, any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any delay in paying any of the same);
- "VAT" shall be construed as a reference to any goods and services tax under Canadian law and any other similar tax under any other jurisdiction, including, in each case, similar tax which may be imposed in place thereof from time to time:
- a "wholly-owned subsidiary" of a person shall be construed as a reference to any person which has no other members or shareholders except that other person and that other person's wholly-owned Subsidiaries or persons acting on behalf of that other person or its wholly-owned Subsidiaries; and
- the "winding-up", "dissolution" or "administration" of a company or corporation shall be construed so as to include any equivalent or analogous proceedings under the law of the jurisdiction in which such company or corporation is incorporated or any jurisdiction in which such company or corporation carries on business including, without limitation, being subject to or the seeking of liquidation, bankruptcy, winding-up, reorganisation, dissolution, administration, arrangement, adjustment, protection or relief of debtors or compromise, arrangement or proposals with creditors.
- 1.3 Currency "C\$" and "Canadian Dollars" denote the lawful currency of Canada from time to time.
- 1.4 "US\$" and "United States Dollars" denote the lawful currency of the United States of America from time to time.
- 1.5 References Save where the contrary is indicated, any reference in this Agreement to:
 - (i) this Agreement or any other agreement or document shall be construed as a reference to this Agreement or, as the case may be, such other agreement or document as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended, restated, varied, novated or supplemented;
 - (ii) a statute shall be construed as a reference to such statute as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended or re-enacted;
- (iii) a time of day $% \left(1\right) =\left(1\right) +\left(1\right) =\left(1\right) +\left(1\right) +\left(1\right) =\left(1\right) +\left(1\right)$
- (iv) a person, shall mean that person's successor, permitted transferee or assignee.
- 1.6 Headings Clause, Part and Schedule headings are for ease of reference only.

Part 2

THE FACILITY

Grant of Facility

The Bank grants to the Borrower upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof, a revolving credit facility in a total aggregate amount of

C\$100,000,000 (the "Commitment").

Purpose

- 3.1 Purpose The Facility is intended for the general corporate purposes of the Borrower, and, accordingly, the Borrower shall apply all amounts borrowed by it hereunder in or towards satisfaction of such purposes.
- 3.2 Application Without prejudice to the obligations of the Borrower under Clause 3.1 (Purpose), the Bank shall not be obliged to concern itself with the application of amounts raised by the Borrower hereunder.

4. Conditions Precedent

- 4.1 Save as the Bank may otherwise agree, the Bank shall be under no obligation hereunder unless the Bank has received (or waived receipt of) all of the documents listed in the Second Schedule (Condition Precedent Documents) and that each is, in form and substance, satisfactory to the Bank.
- 4.2 The Bank shall, on request by the Borrower, certify in writing whether or not it has received or waived receipt of any of the documents listed in the Second Schedule (Condition Precedent Documents) and whether each is in form and substance satisfactory to it.

Part 3

UTILISATION OF FACILITY

Utilisation of Facility

- 5.1 Delivery of a Utilisation Request The Borrower may from time to time utilise the Facility by delivering to the Bank, by no later than 10:30 a.m. on the proposed Utilisation Date, a duly completed Utilisation Request. The Bank shall, upon receipt of a duly completed Utilisation Request, advance the Requested Amount to the Borrower by no later than 3:00 p.m. on the Utilisation Date.
- 5.2 Utilisation Request Each Utilisation Request delivered to the Bank pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) shall be irrevocable and shall specify:
 - (i) the proposed Utilisation Date;
- - (iii) the Term in question which will begin on the proposed Utilisation Date and end on a business day, will not exceed 90 days in duration and will expire on or before the Final Maturity Date; and
- (iv) the account to which the proceeds of the proposed Utilisation are to be paid.
- 5.3 Requested Amount The Requested Amount to be specified in a Utilisation Request delivered pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) shall be in a minimum amount of C\$100,000 and an integral multiple of C\$100,000.

Part 4

THE ADVANCES

6. Making of Advances

If the Borrower notifies the Bank that it is to make an Advance, and if on the proposed Utilisation Date relating to such an Advance:

- (i) no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred and has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 34 (Amendments and Waivers); and
- (ii) each of the representations which are to be deemed repeated at any time after the date hereof in accordance with Clause 18.15 (Repetition of Representations) are true and correct on and as of such Utilisation Date by reference to the facts and circumstances existing at the time (or, if any such representation is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific date, as of such specific date), except to any extent waived pursuant to Clause 34 (Amendments and Waivers),

then, on such Utilisation Date, the Bank shall, subject to all the terms of this Agreement, make such Advance through its Facility Office.

7. Payment of Interest

On the Repayment Date relating to each Advance the Borrower shall pay to the Bank all unpaid accrued interest on that Advance.

Calculation of Interest

- 8.1 Interest Applicable to Advances The rate of interest applicable to an Advance from time to time during the Term of such Advance shall be the rate per annum determined by the Bank to be the sum of:
 - (i) the Cost of Funds Rate for such Advance; and
 - (ii) the Margin from time to time.

8.2 Bank to Notify The Bank shall not later than the time specified in the applicable part of the Third Schedule notify the Borrower of each determination of the rate of interest made by it pursuant to Clause 8.1 (Interest Applicable to Advances)

9. Repayment of Advances

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Borrower shall repay each Advance made to it in full on the Repayment Date relating thereto and the Borrower shall not repay or prepay all or any part of any Advance outstanding hereunder except at the times and in the manner expressly provided herein.

Part 5

CANCELLATION

10. Cancellation

10.1 Cancellation At any time prior to the day falling one month before the Final Maturity Date the Borrower may, by giving to the Bank not less than 15 days' prior notice to that effect, cancel the whole or any part (being a minimum amount of C\$5,000,000, or equal to the amount of the Available Commitment, if less) of the Available Commitment.

10.2 Notice of Cancellation Any notice of cancellation given by the Borrower pursuant to Clause 10.1 (Cancellation) shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date upon which such cancellation is to be made and the amount of such cancellation.

11. Prepayment

The Borrower may, on any business day, prepay all (or any part thereof being in aggregate at least C\$100,000 and an integral multiple of C\$100,000) of any Advance made to it without premium or penalty but without prejudice to such Borrower's obligations under Clause 23.4 (Broken Periods), by giving to the Bank not less than 5 days' notice of the date of the prepayment. Any such notice shall be irrevocable and shall oblige the Borrower to make the prepayment on the date therein stated.

Part 6

CHANGES IN CIRCUMSTANCES

12. Taxes

12.1 Tax Gross-up All payments to be made by any Obligor to any person under any Finance Document shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for or on account of tax unless such Obligor is required to make such a payment subject to the deduction or withholding of tax, in which case the sum payable by such Obligor in respect of which such deduction or withholding is required to be made shall be increased to the extent necessary to ensure that, after the making of the required deduction or withholding, such person receives and retains (free from any liability in respect of any such deduction or withholding) a net sum equal to the sum which it would have received and so retained had no such deduction or withholding been made or required to be made, provided however if on the due date of an interest payment to the Bank on an Advance, the Bank is not a Canadian Qualified Lender; and as a result the applicable Obligor is required to deduct or withhold Canadian withholding tax pursuant to Part XIII of the Income Tax Act (Canada) from that payment of interest, the applicable Obligor shall not be so required to pay an additional amount in respect of that deduction or withholding unless it results from the introduction of or change in, or in the interpretation or application of, any relevant law or any relevant practice of a Canadian taxing authority after this Agreement is entered into or such Obligor would have been required to make a deduction or withholding on account irrespective of whether the Bank is or is not a Canadian Qualified Lender.

For the purposes of this Clause,

"Canadian Qualified Lender" means a Schedule I Bank or a Schedule II Bank or other person not being a "non-resident person" for the purposes of Section 212 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) except that, if any of those statutory provisions are repealed, modified, extended or re-enacted, the Bank may at any time and from time to time amend the relevant definition in such manner as it may determine to be appropriate by giving notice of the amended definition or definitions to the Borrower.

- 12.2 Tax Indemnity Without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-Up), if any person or an agent on its behalf is required to make any payment on account of tax (not being a tax imposed on the overall net income including profits and gains of its Facility Office by the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or in which its Facility Office is located) or otherwise on or in relation to any sum received or receivable under any Finance Document by such person (including, without limitation, any sum received or receivable under this Clause 12) or any liability in respect of any such payment is asserted, imposed, levied or assessed against such person, the Obligor by whom such sum is paid or payable shall, upon demand by the Bank, promptly indemnify such person against such payment or liability, together with any interest, penalties and reasonable expenses payable or incurred in connection therewith but not to the extent that such liability, interest, penalties and reasonable expenses have arisen as a result of undue delay in all the circumstances by any person or any agent on its behalf in the filing or the submission of tax returns, computations or claims or the default of any person or any agent on its behalf in doing anything contemplated by the Finance Documents.
- 12.3 Notification The Bank will notify the applicable Obligor as soon as it is reasonably practicable of any circumstances arising as a result of which it is reasonably likely that it will be making a claim under Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) and if it intends to make a claim under such Clause it shall notify

the applicable Obligor of the event by reason of which it is entitled to do so and shall deliver to the applicable Obligor a certificate to that effect setting out in reasonable detail the basis and computation of such claim; provided that nothing herein shall require the Bank to disclose any confidential information relating to the organisation of its affairs.

12.4 Double Taxation Relief If, and to the extent that, the effect of Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-up) or Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) can be mitigated by virtue of the provisions of any applicable double tax convention entered into between the United States of America and Canada, (whether by a claim to repayment of any taxes referred to in Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-up) or Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) or otherwise) the Bank agrees to co-operate with the Borrower with a view to filing or providing any tax claims, forms, affidavits, declarations or other like documents which the Borrower has requested and which are required for the purpose of ensuring the application of such double tax convention so far as relevant. To the extent that the effect of Clause 12.1 and Clause 12.2 can be mitigated and the Bank fails to co-operate to the extent required hereby to so mitigate the effect of such clauses, the provisions of Clause 12.1 and Clause 12.2 shall not be applicable in relation to payments of interest to the Bank.

13. Tax Receipts

- 13.1 Notification of Requirement to Deduct Tax If, at any time, any Obligor is required by law to make any deduction or withholding from any sum payable by it under any Finance Document (or if thereafter there is any change in the rates at which or the manner in which such deductions or withholdings are calculated), such Obligor shall as soon as reasonably practicable after becoming aware of the same, notify the Bank.
- 13.2 Evidence of Payment of Tax If any Obligor makes any payment under any Finance Document in respect of which it is required to make any deduction or withholding, it shall pay or otherwise account for the full amount required to be deducted or withheld to the relevant taxation or other authority within the time allowed for such payment under applicable law and shall deliver to the Bank, within thirty days after the due date of such payment, withholding or deduction, evidence satisfactory to the Bank of that deduction, withholding or payment and (where remittance is required) of the remittance thereof to the relevant taxing or other authority.
- 14. Tax Undertaking by the Bank and Tax Refunds
- 14.1 Bank The Bank undertakes, promptly upon its Facility Office becoming aware of the same, to notify the Borrower if it shall cease to be a Canadian Qualified Lender
- 14.2 Tax Credit Clawback If:
 - (1) an Obligor makes a payment under Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-Up) (a
 "Tax Payment") in respect of a payment to the Bank under this
 Agreement; and
 - (2) the Bank determines in its absolute discretion and in good faith that it has obtained a refund of tax or obtained and used a credit against tax on its overall net income (a "Tax Credit") which the Bank in its absolute discretion and in good faith is able to identify as attributable to that Tax Payment

then, if in its absolute discretion and in good faith it can do so without prejudicing the amount of any Tax Credit for the Bank, the Bank shall reimburse the applicable Obligor such amount as the Bank in its absolute discretion determines, but in good faith, to be such proportion of that Tax Credit as will leave the Bank (after that reimbursement) in no better or worse position than it would have been in if no Tax Payment had been required. The Bank shall not be obliged to arrange its business or tax affairs in any particular way in order to be eligible for a Tax Credit (and, if it does make a claim, shall have absolute discretion as to the extent, order and manner in which it does so) and whether any amount is due from it under this Clause 14.2 (and, if so, what amount and when). The Bank shall not be obliged to disclose any information regarding its tax affairs and computations.

15. Increased Costs

- 15.1 Changes in Circumstances If, by reason of (i) any change in law in any jurisdiction or in its interpretation or administration and/or (ii) compliance with any request from or requirement of any central bank or other fiscal, monetary or other authority (including, without limitation, a request or requirement (x) which affects the manner in which the Bank or any holding company of the Bank is required to or does maintain capital resources having regard to the Bank's obligations under any Finance Document and to amounts owing to it under any Finance Document but excluding the implementation, as contemplated on the signing of this Agreement, of any of the matters set out in the July 1988 report of the Basle Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices entitled "International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards" (the "Cooke Report"), (y) which implements any change after the signing of this Agreement in, or in the interpretation or application of, such matters or any increase in the requirements of the Cooke Report after the date hereof:
 - (a) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank incurs a cost as a result of the Bank's having entered into and/or performing its obligations under any Finance Document and/or assuming or maintaining a commitment under any Finance Document and/or its making one or more Advances;
 - (b) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank suffers a reduction in the rate of return on its overall capital (not being a reduction by reason of the imposition of, or increase in the rates of tax payable on its overall profits or net income) as a result of a change in the manner in which the

Bank is required to allocate resources to its obligations under any Finance Document;

- (c) there is any increase in the cost to the Bank or any holding company of the Bank of funding or maintaining all or any of the advances comprised in a class of advances formed by or including the Advances made or to be made by the Bank hereunder; or
- (d) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank becomes liable to make any payment on account of tax or otherwise (not being a tax imposed on the net income of the Bank's Facility Office by the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or in which its Facility Office is located) on or calculated by reference to the amount of the Advances made or to be made by the Bank hereunder and/or to any sum received or receivable by it hereunder.

then the Borrower shall, provided that the Bank has notified the Borrower of such claim pursuant to Clause 15.2 (Increased Costs Claim), within 10 business days of receipt of a demand of the Bank, pay to the Bank amounts sufficient to indemnify the Bank or any such holding company against, as the case may be, (1) such cost, (2) such reduction in such rate of return (or such proportion of such reduction as is, in the opinion of the Bank, attributable to its obligations hereunder), (3) such increased cost (or such proportion of such increased cost as is, in the opinion of the Bank, attributable to its funding or maintaining Advances) or (4) such liability (save and to the extent that the Bank has been compensated for such liability pursuant to Clause 12 (Taxes)).

- 15.2 Increased Costs Claim If the Bank intends to make a claim pursuant to Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances), it shall notify the Borrower thereof by delivery of a certificate setting out in reasonable detail the basis and computation of such claim; provided that nothing herein shall require the Bank to disclose any confidential information relating to the organisation of its affairs.
- 15.3 Option to repay in relation to increased costs claim If the Borrower is required to pay any amount to the Bank under Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances), then subject to that Borrower giving the Bank not less than 10 days prior notice:
 - (i) the Borrower may prepay all, but not part, of Advances together with accrued interest on the amount prepaid. On any such prepayment the Commitment shall be automatically cancelled; and/or
 - (ii) the Borrower shall have the right at any time thereafter to locate a new lender to which all the rights and obligations of the Bank hereunder may be transferred. If such new lender has been located then the Bank and such new lender shall execute and deliver a Transfer Certificate pursuant to which all of the rights and obligations of the Bank hereunder shall be transferred to such new lender with effect from the Transfer Date specified in such Transfer Certificate.

16. Illegality

If, at any time, it is unlawful for the Bank to make, fund or allow to remain outstanding all or any of the Advances made or to be made by it hereunder or for it, then the Bank shall, promptly after becoming aware of the same, deliver to the Borrower and the Guarantor a certificate to that effect and, unless such illegality is avoided in accordance with Clause 17 (Mitigation), to the extent of such illegality:

- (i) the Bank shall not thereafter be obliged to participate in the making of such Advances and the amount of the Commitment shall be immediately reduced accordingly; and
- (ii) if the Bank so requires, the Borrower shall on such date as the Bank shall have specified as being necessary to comply with the relevant law repay such Advance together with accrued interest thereon and all other amounts owing to the Bank.

17. Mitigation

If, in respect of the Bank, circumstances arise which would, or would upon the giving of notice, result in:

- (i) the reduction of the Commitment to zero pursuant to Clause 16 (Illegality);
- (ii) an increase in the amount of any payment to be made to it or for its account pursuant to Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-Up); or
- (iii)a claim for indemnification pursuant to Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) or 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances).

then, without in any way limiting, reducing or otherwise qualifying the obligations of the Borrower under any of the Clauses referred to in (i), (ii) or (iii) above, the Bank shall, in consultation with the Borrower, take such reasonable steps as the Bank acting in good faith considers appropriate to mitigate the effects of such circumstances including the transfer of its Facility Office to another jurisdiction or the transfer of its rights and obligations hereunder to another financial institution acceptable to the Borrower willing to participate in the Facility provided that the Bank shall be under no obligation to take any such action if, in the bona fide opinion of the Bank, to do so would or might have an adverse effect upon its business, operations or financial condition.

18. Representations

Each of the Obligors makes the representations and warranties in respect of itself only set out in Clause 18.1 to Clause 18.14 and acknowledges that the Bank entered into this Agreement in reliance on those representations and warranties.

- 18.1 Status and Due Authorization It is a corporation duly organised, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of:
 - (i) in the case of the Guarantor, Delaware; or
 - (ii) in the case of the Borrower, Ontario.

with all requisite corporate or other power to execute and deliver the Finance Documents to which it is a party and to exercise its rights and perform its obligations thereunder and all corporate and other action required to authorise its execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its performance of its obligations thereunder has been duly taken.

- 18.2 Validity and Admissibility in Evidence All acts, conditions and things required to be done, fulfilled and performed in order (a) to enable it lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights under and perform and comply with the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (b) to ensure that the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party are legal, valid and binding and (c) to make each Finance Document to which it is a party admissible in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation have been done, fulfilled and performed and all material governmental licences, authorizations, consents and approvals under the laws of any jurisdiction necessary to own its assets and carry on its business as now being or as proposed to be conducted have been obtained.
- 18.3 Most Recent Financial Statements The most recent financial statements of the Guarantor and the Borrower delivered in accordance with the terms of this Agreement were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the relevant jurisdiction of incorporation and consistently applied and in the case of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor give (in conjunction with the notes thereto) a true and fair view of the financial condition of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, and in the case of the financial statements of the Borrower delivered in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, show with reasonable accuracy the financial condition of the Borrower, in each case, at the date as of which they were prepared, and the results of the Borrower's, the Guarantor's or, as the case may be, the Group's operations during the financial year then ended.
- 18.4 No Material Adverse Change Since publication of the Original Financial Statements of the Borrower, there has been no material adverse change in the property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalization of the Borrower and, since publication of the Original Financial Statements of the Guarantor, there has been no material adverse change in the property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalization of the Group taken as a whole.
- 18.5 No Undisclosed Liabilities As at the date as of which the Original Financial Statements of each Obligor were prepared such Obligor had no, or, in the case of the Guarantor, no member of the Group had any, liabilities (contingent or otherwise) which were not disclosed thereby (or by notes thereto) or reserved against therein nor any unrealised or anticipated losses arising from commitments entered into by it which were not so disclosed or reserved against, in each case, as required under GAAP (as defined in Clause 20.3 (Definitions of Financial Terms)).
- 18.6 Litigation Other than as disclosed to the Bank prior to the date hereof, there are no legal or arbitral proceedings, or any proceedings by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, now pending or (to the knowledge of any Obligor) threatened against or affecting the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries as to which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination that could (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 18.7 Execution of the Finance Documents Its execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its exercise of its rights and performance of its obligations thereunder do not and will not:
 - (i) conflict with any agreement, mortgage, bond or other instrument or treaty to which it is a party or which is binding upon it or any of its assets;
 - (ii) conflict with its charter, by-laws or any other constitutive documents and rules and regulations; or
 - (iii) conflict with any applicable law, regulation or official or judicial order, writ, injunction or decree,

which, in each case, is reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect and could subject the Bank to liability.

- 18.8 Full Disclosure All of the written information supplied by any member of the Group to the Bank in connection herewith is true and accurate in all material respects.
- 18.9 Claims Pari Passu The claims of the Bank against it under the Finance Documents will rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured creditors save those whose claims are preferred solely by any

bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar laws of general application.

- 18.10 No Immunity In the case of any Obligor incorporated in Canada, in any proceedings taken in Canada in relation to any of the Finance Documents, no Obligor will be entitled to claim for itself or any of its assets immunity from suit, execution, attachment or other legal process.
- 18.11 No Winding-up It has not taken any corporate action nor have any other steps been taken or legal proceedings been started or (to the best of its knowledge and belief) threatened against it for its winding-up, dissolution, administration or re-organisation or for the appointment of a receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, trustee or similar officer of it or of any or all of its assets or revenues.
- 18.12 Encumbrances Save as permitted by Clause 21.5 (Negative Pledge), no encumbrance exists over all or any of its present or future revenues or assets.
- 18.13 No Obligation to Create Security Its execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its exercise of its rights and performance of its obligations thereunder will not result in the existence of nor oblige any Obligor to create any encumbrance over all or any of its present or future revenues or assets.
- 18.14 Ownership of the Borrower The Borrower is a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Guarantor.
- 18.15 Repetition of Representations The representations contained in this Clause 18 (other than those made under Clauses 18.4, 18.5, 18.6 (but only with respect to proceedings that could have a Material Adverse Effect of the type referred to in clause (a) of the definition thereof), 18.8, and 18.13) by any Obligor shall be deemed to be repeated by such Obligor on each date upon which an Advance is made (other than Rollover Advances) by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing.

Financial Information

Each Obligor shall deliver or cause to be delivered or otherwise made available through electronic media (provided that the Bank shall be given prior written notice of such availability) to the Bank the following financial statements and information:

- 19.1 Annual Statements Each Obligor shall as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 120 days after the end of its financial year, deliver to the Bank its unaudited financial statements (or, in the case of the Guarantor, the consolidated audited financial statements of the Group) for such financial year.
- 19.2 Semi-annual and Quarterly Statements The Guarantor shall, as soon as same become available, but in any event within 60 days after the end of each of its quarters ending three months, six months and nine months after the end of its financial years, deliver to the Bank its consolidated unaudited financial statements of the Group for such period. The Borrower shall as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 90 days after the end of the half of its financial years ending six months after the end of its financial year, deliver to the Bank its unaudited financial statements for such period.
- 19.3 Other Financial Information Each Obligor shall from time to time on the request of the Bank, furnish the Bank with such information about the business and financial condition of the Group as the Bank may reasonably require.
- 19.4 Requirements as to Financial Statements Each Obligor shall ensure that:
 - (i) each set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to this Clause 19 is prepared on the same basis as was used in the preparation of its Original Financial Statements and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in its jurisdiction of incorporation and consistently applied;
 - (ii) each set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to Clause 19.1 is certified by a duly authorised officer of such Obligor as giving a true and fair view of its financial condition (or, in the case of financial statements of the Guarantor, the financial condition of the Group) as at the end of the period to which those financial statements relate and of the results of its (or, as the case may be, the Group's) operations during such period;
 - (iii) in respect of the Guarantor each set of financial statements delivered by the Guarantor pursuant to Clause 19.1 (Annual Statements) has been audited by an internationally recognised firm of independent auditors licensed to practise in its jurisdiction of incorporation; and
 - (iv) each set of consolidated financial statements and accounts delivered to the Bank pursuant to Clause 19.1 (Annual Statements) or Clause 19.2 (Semi-annual and Quarterly Statements) shall be accompanied by a compliance certificate signed by a duly authorised officer of the Guarantor, substantially in the form set out in the Fourth Schedule (Form of Compliance Certificate), together with any other information required to determine whether or not the financial condition of the Group satisfies the provisions of Clause 20 (Financial Condition).

20. Financial Condition

20.1 Financial Condition of the Borrower The Guarantor shall procure that, and the Borrower from time to time shall ensure in relation to itself that, as

evidenced by the most recent set of financial statements delivered by the Borrower pursuant to Clause 19 (Financial Information):

- (i) Minimum Net Worth

 Its Net Worth shall not on any date be less than
 U.S.\$23,000,000 plus 25% of Cumulative Net Income as of the
 last day of each six month period of the Borrower (the first
 such six month period ending June 30, 2000 and thereafter
 every six month period).
- (ii) Maximum Debt to Total Capital The ratio of its Debt to Total Capital shall not on any date be more than 9 to 1.
- (iii) Minimum Equity to Total Assets
 Its Equity shall not on any date be less than 7.5% of its
 Total Assets.
- (iv) Minimum Eligible Assets to Debt The ratio of its Eligible Assets to Debt shall not on any date be less than 1.10 to 1.
- 20.2 Financial Condition of the Guarantor The Guarantor shall ensure that, as evidenced by the most recent set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to Clause 19 (Financial Information):
 - (i) Maximum Delinquency Ratio Its Delinquency Ratio shall not on the last day of any calendar month be more than 6.0%.
 - (ii) Minimum Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio The ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables shall not on any date be less than 4.0 % and remain so for more than 90 days and the ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables shall not on any date be less than 3.5%.
 - (iii) Minimum Tangible Net Worth
 The Tangible Net Worth of the Guarantor shall not on any date
 be less than US\$1,250,000,000 plus 40% of Cumulative Net
 Income as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the
 Guarantor most recently ended (being June 30, 2000) plus 40%
 of Cumulative Equity Proceeds as of such date of
 determination.
 - (iv) Leverage Ratio $\hbox{ Its Leverage Ratio shall not on any date exceed 10.0 to 1.}$
 - (v) Double Leverage Ratio
 Its Double Leverage Ratio shall not on any date exceed 1.25 to

20.3 Definitions of Financial Terms In this Agreement:

"Cumulative Equity Proceeds" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the aggregate amount of all cash received on or prior to such date of determination by the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries in respect of any Equity Issuance effected after 30 June 2000, net of reasonable expenses incurred by the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries in connection therewith;

"Cumulative Net Income" shall mean, as of any date of determination, (i) in respect to the Guarantor, the net income of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) for each fiscal quarter of the Guarantor (a) commencing with the fiscal quarter ended 30 June 2000 and (b) ending with the fiscal quarter most recently ended on or prior to such date of determination; provided that the Guarantor's Cumulative Net Income shall be determined exclusive of any fiscal quarter of the Guarantor for which the consolidated net income of the Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) is less than zero; and (ii) in respect of the Borrower the net income of the Borrower (determined in accordance with GAAP) for each six month period of the Borrower (a) commencing with the six month period ending June 30, 2000 and (b) ending with the six month period most recently ended on or prior to such date of determination;

"Debt" means at any time and in relation to any person, indebtedness of such person owed to the Bank under any Finance Document and any indebtedness of such person owed to any person which is not Subordinated Indebtedness, not including securitization liability;

"Delinquency Ratio" shall mean, on any date and with respect to the Guarantor, the ratio of (a) all Past Due Receivables with respect to the Guarantor on such date to (b) the aggregate amount of all Managed Receivables with respect to the Guarantor on such date;

"Double Leverage Ratio" shall mean, on any date, the ratio of (a) the sum of the Guarantor's Intangibles calculated on an unconsolidated basis on such date plus the amount of the aggregate investment of the Guarantor in the capital stock of its Subsidiaries to (b) the Guarantor's Net Worth on such date;

"Eligible Assets" means the consolidated cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of the Borrower which are unrestricted or unpledged plus reported loan receivables of the Borrower less any (a) Past Due Receivables or (b) reported loan receivables that are restricted, pledged or subordinated;

"Equity" means on any date and with respect to any person, the aggregate at such time of such person's called up share capital, any credit balance on such person's share premium account or consolidated profit and loss account and such person's consolidated reserves less any debit balance on the consolidated profit and loss account of such person;

"Equity Issuance" shall mean (a) any issuance or sale by the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries of (i) any of its capital stock, (ii) any warrants or options exercisable in respect of its capital stock (other than any warrants or options issued to directors, officers or employees of the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to employee benefit plans established in the ordinary course of business and any capital stock of the Guarantor issued upon the exercise of such warrants or options) or (iii) any other security or instrument representing an equity interest (or the right to obtain any equity interest) in the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries or (b) the receipt by the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries from any person not a shareholder of the Guarantor of any capital contribution (whether or not evidenced by any equity security issued by the recipient of such contribution); provided that Equity Issuance shall not include (i) any such issuance or sale by any Subsidiary of the Guarantor to the Guarantor or any wholly owned Subsidiary of the Guarantor to any Subsidiary of the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of the Guarantor to any Subsidiary of

"GAAP" shall mean on any date and with respect to any person, generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America applied on a consistent basis with those used in the preparation of the latest annual or quarterly financial statements furnished by on behalf of such person to the Bank pursuant hereto.

"Intangibles" means as at any date and with respect to any person, the aggregate amount (to the extent reflected in determining the consolidated stockholders' equity of such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries) of (a) all write-ups (other than write-ups resulting from foreign currency translations and write-ups of assets of a going concern business made within 12 months after the acquisition of such business) subsequent to 30 June 2000 in the book value of any asset by any such person or any of its consolidated Subsidiaries, (b) all Investments in unconsolidated Subsidiaries and all equity investments in persons that are not Subsidiaries and (c) all unamortized debt discount and expense, unamortized deferred charges, goodwill, patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, anticipated future benefit of tax loss carry-forwards, copyrights, organisation or developmental expense and other intangible assets;

"Investments" means for any person (a) the acquisition (whether for cash, Property, services or securities or otherwise) of capital stock, bonds, notes, debentures, partnership or other ownership interests or other securities of any other person or any agreement to make any such acquisition (including, without limitation, any "short sale" or any sale of any securities at a time when such securities are not owned by the person entering into such sale); (b) the making of any deposit with, or advance, loan or other extension of credit to, any other person (including the purchase of Property from another person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to resell such Property to such person), but excluding any such advance, loan or extension of credit having a term not exceeding 90 days arising in connection with the sale of inventory or supplies by such person in the ordinary course of business; or (c) the entering into of any guarantee of, or other contingent obligation with respect to, indebtedness or other liability of any other person and (without duplication) any amount committed to be advanced, lent or extended to such person;

"Leverage Ratio" means on any date, the ratio of (a) the indebtedness (as determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of the Guarantor with respect to the Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries at such date minus the aggregate amount of all on-balance sheet loans held for securitization at such date to (b) the Guarantor's Tangible Net Worth at such date;

"Managed Receivables" means on any date and with respect to any person, the sum for such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of (a) all on-balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables plus (b) all on balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables held for securitization plus (c) all securitized credit card loans and other finance receivables of such person; provided that, as the term "Managed Receivables" is used in the Tier I Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio calculation, clauses (a), (b) and (c) above shall be determined exclusive of securitized, non-revolving finance receivables;

"Net Worth" means on any date the consolidated stockholders' equity of the Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries, all determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP;

"Past Due Receivables" means on any date and with respect to any person, (i) with respect to the definition of Delinquency Ratio, Managed Receivables and (ii) with respect to the definition of Eligible Assets, reported loan receivables, in each case contractually past due 90 days or more plus all other non performing assets provided however that receivables which are loans, whether or not contractually past due 90 days or more, shall not constitute Past Due Receivables to the extent of any cash balance of the account debtor on such loan on deposit with the creditor (but only to the extent such creditor is entitled under an agreement governing such loan to set-off such cash balances against the obligations of the account debtor under such loan and to the extent such cash balances are not subject to any other set-off or deduction by such creditor or any of its affiliates against a matured obligation owing by such debtor);

"Property" shall mean any right or interest in or to property of any kind whatsoever, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible;

"Subordinated Indebtedness" means at any time and in relation to any person, indebtedness of such person fully subordinated to the indebtedness of the Borrower under any Finance Document by a subordination agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank or if the lender of such indebtedness is an Affiliate of the Borrower in a form which includes provisions providing for the relevant subordination in an agreed form;

"Tangible Net Worth" means on any date and with respect to any person, the consolidated stockholders' equity of such person and its consolidated

Subsidiaries less Intangibles of such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries, all determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP;

"Tier 1 Capital" means on any date and with respect to any person, the amount, for such person and its Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis) on such date of "Tier 1 Capital", within the meaning given to such term in the Capital Adequacy Guidelines for State Member Banks published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 208, Appendix A, as amended, modified and supplemented, and in effect from time to time and any replacement thereof);

"Total Assets" means on any date and with respect to any person the amount, for such person, and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis) of "average total consolidated assets" within the meaning given to such term in the Capital Adequacy Guidelines for State Member Banks published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 208, Appendix A, as amended, modified and supplemented, and in effect from time to time and any replacement thereof);

"Total Capital" means on any date and with respect to any person, the Equity of such person plus Subordinated Indebtedness of such person;

20.4 Accounting Terms All accounting expressions which are not otherwise defined herein shall be construed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

21. Covenants

- 21.1 Litigation Each Obligor shall promptly give to the Bank notice of all legal or arbitral proceedings, and of all investigations or proceedings by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, and any material development in respect of such legal or other proceedings, against or affecting such Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries, except investigations or proceedings (a) as to which there is no reasonable possibility of an adverse determination or (b) that, if adversely determined, would not (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 21.2 Maintenance of Legal Validity Each Obligor shall obtain, comply with the terms of and do all that is necessary to maintain in full force and effect all authorizations, approvals, licences and consents required in or by the laws and regulations of its jurisdiction of incorporation to enable it lawfully to enter into and perform its obligations under each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and to ensure the legality, validity, enforceability or admissibility in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation of each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party.
- 21.3 Insurance The Guarantor shall procure that each Obligor maintains insurances on and in relation to its business and assets with reputable underwriters or insurance companies against such risks and to such extent as is usual for companies carrying on a business such as that carried on by such Obligor.
- 21.4 Disposals The Guarantor shall ensure that no Obligor shall, without the prior written consent of the Bank, enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation or amalgamation or liquidate, wind-up or dissolve itself or convey, sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of, by one or more transactions or series of transactions (whether related or not), all or substantially all of its revenues or its assets other than by way of a Permitted Disposal.
- 21.5 Negative Pledge The Guarantor shall ensure that no Obligor shall, without the prior written consent of the Bank, create or permit to subsist any Lien over any (1) Receivables of any Obligor or (2) Restricted Shares owned by it, in each case whether now owned or hereafter acquired, except:
 - (a) Liens for taxes not yet due or Liens for taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves (in the good faith judgment of the management of the relevant Obligor) have been established;
 - (b) Liens imposed by law (i) which are incurred in the ordinary course of business and (x) which do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of such Receivables or Restricted Shares or materially impair the use thereof in the operation of the business of any Obligor or (y) which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, which proceedings have the effect of preventing the forfeiture or sale of the Receivables or Restricted Shares subject to such Lien or (ii) which do not relate to material liabilities of any Obligor and do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of the Receivables or Restricted Shares of the Group taken as a whole; provided that no Lien permitted under this clause (b) may secure any obligation in an amount exceeding US\$10,000,000; and
 - (c) Any pledge of Receivables to a Federal Reserve Bank made in the ordinary course of business to secure advances or other transactions and manage the liquidity position of an Obligor.
- 21.6 Claims Pari Passu Each Obligor shall ensure that at all times the claims of the Bank against it under each of the Finance Documents rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured creditors save those whose claims are preferred by any bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar laws of general application or granted a super-priority or deemed trust by reason of statute.
- 21.7 Notification of Events of Default Each Obligor shall promptly after becoming aware of the same inform the Bank of the occurrence of any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default and upon receipt of a written request to

that effect from the Bank acting reasonably in circumstances which give reasonable grounds for belief that an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default may have occurred, confirm to the Bank that, save as previously notified to the Bank or as notified in such confirmation, no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred.

22. Events of Default

Each of Clause 22.1 to Clause 22.17 describes circumstances which constitute an Event of Default for the purposes of this Agreement. Clause 22.18 and Clause 22.19 deal with the rights of the Bank after the occurrence of an Event of Default.

- 22.1 Failure to Pay Any Obligor fails to pay any sum due from it under any Finance Document at the time, in the currency and in the manner specified therein and such failure is not remedied within five business days.
- 22.2 Cross Default Any financial indebtedness of any member of the Group in excess of an aggregate of US\$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) is not paid when due, any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group is declared to be or otherwise becomes due and payable prior to its specified maturity, any commitment for, or underwriting of, any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group is cancelled or suspended or any creditor or creditors of any member of the Group become entitled to declare any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group due and payable prior to its specified maturity.
- 22.3 Misrepresentation Any representation or statement made or deemed to be made by any Obligor in any of the Finance Documents to which it is a party or in any notice or other document, certificate or statement delivered by it pursuant hereto is or proves to have been incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed to be made.
- 22.4 Specific Covenants Any Obligor fails duly to perform or comply with any of the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in Clause 19 (Financial Information) or Clause 21 (Covenants) and, if such breach is capable of remedy, such breach has not been remedied within 30 days after notice of such breach has been given by the Bank to the relevant Obligor.
- 22.5 Financial Condition At any time any of the requirements of Clause 20 (Financial Condition) is not satisfied.
- 22.6 Other Obligations Any Obligor fails duly to perform or comply with any other obligation expressed to be assumed by it in any Finance Document and such failure, if capable of remedy, is not remedied within 30 days after the Bank has given notice thereof to such Obligor.

22.7 Insolvency and Rescheduling

(b)

- (a) An Obligor:
- (i) voluntarily commences any proceeding or files any proposal or petition, or notice thereof, including, without limitation, a notice of intention under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (the "BIA"), seeks relief under the BIA, the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada), the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or any other federal, state, provincial or other bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law;
- (ii) consents to the institution of, or fails to controvert in a timely and appropriate manner, any such proceeding, or the filing of any such petition;
- (iii) applies for or consents to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator or similar official for such Obligor or any Subsidiary or such Obligor, or for a substantial part of its property;
- (iv) files an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it at any such proceeding;
- (v) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors;
- (vi) becomes unable, admits in writing its inability or fails generally, to pay its debts as they become due, or
- (vii) takes action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing.
- Any involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed in a court of competent jurisdiction seeking:
 - (a) relief in respect of any Obligor or any Subsidiary of any Obligor, or a substantial part of its property, under the BIA, the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada), the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or any other federal, state, provincial or other bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law;
 - (b) the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator or similar official for either any Obligor or any Subsidiary of any Obligor, or for a substantial part of its property, or an encumbrancer or lienor takes possession of any substantial part of its property; or
 - (c) the winding up or liquidation of any Obligor or any Subsidiary of any Obligor; and such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for 90 days or an order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall continue unstayed and in effect for 90 days.

- 22.8 Winding-up Any Obligor takes any corporate action or other steps are taken or legal proceedings are started for its winding-up, dissolution, administration or re-organisation or for the appointment of a liquidator, receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, conservator, custodian, trustee or similar officer of it or of all or substantially all of its revenues and assets other than (a) in connection with a solvent reconstruction, the terms of which have been previously approved by the Bank, or (b) a winding up petition which is proved to the satisfaction of the Bank to be frivolous or vexatious and which is, in any event, discharged within 21 days of its presentation.
- 22.9 Analogous Events Any event occurs which under the laws of any jurisdiction has a similar or analogous effect to any of those events mentioned in Clause 22.7 (Insolvency and Rescheduling), Clause 22.8 (Winding-up) or Clause 22.17 (Judgement Defaults).
- 22.10 Governmental Intervention By or under the authority of any government, (a) the management of the Guarantor is wholly or partially displaced or the authority of the Guarantor in the conduct of its business is wholly or partially curtailed which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or (b) all or a majority of the issued shares of the Guarantor or the whole or any part (the book value of which is twenty percent or more of the book value of the whole) of its revenues or assets is seized, nationalised, expropriated or compulsorily acquired which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 22.11 Ownership of the Guarantor Any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13 or 14 of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act) of 20% or more of the issued and outstanding shares of voting common stock issued by the Guarantor or the Guarantor shall at any time fail to own and control, beneficially and of record (free and clear of all encumbrances), at least 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each class of voting securities issued by Capital One Bank or the Guarantor shall at any time fail to own and control, beneficially and of record (free and clear of all encumbrances), at least 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each class of voting securities issued by Capital One, F.S.B.
- 22.12 Ownership of the Borrower The Borrower is no longer a wholly owned Subsidiary of the Guarantor.
- 22.13 The Group's Business Any Obligor (i) ceases to carry on the business it carries on at the date hereof the cession of which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) enters into any unrelated business the entry into which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 22.14 Repudiation Any Obligor repudiates any Finance Document.
- 22.15 Illegality At any time it is or becomes unlawful for any Obligor to perform or comply with any or all of its obligations under any of the Finance Documents or any of the obligations of any Obligor under any of the Finance Documents are not or cease to be legal, valid and binding.
- 22.16 Performance of Obligations Any Obligor becomes unable to perform any of its obligations under any of the Finance Documents and such inability has a Material Adverse Effect on the ability of the Borrower to perform its payment obligations under any of the Finance Documents.
- 22.17 Judgment Defaults A final judgment or judgments for the payment of money of US\$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies) or more in the aggregate shall be rendered by one or more courts, administrative tribunals or other bodies having jurisdiction against the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries and the same shall not be discharged (or provision shall not be made for such discharge), or a stay of execution thereof shall not be procured, within 30 days from the date of entry thereof and the Guarantor or Subsidiary shall not, within said period of 30 days, or such longer period during which execution of the same shall have been stayed, appeal therefrom and cause the execution thereof to be stayed during such appeal.
- 22.18 Acceleration and Cancellation Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and at any time thereafter, the Bank may, by written notice to the Borrower:
 - (i) declare the Advances to be immediately due and payable (whereupon the same shall become so payable together with accrued interest thereon and any other sums then owed by the Borrower hereunder) or declare the Advances to be due and payable on demand of the Bank; and/or
 - (ii) declare that the Facility shall be cancelled, whereupon the same shall be cancelled and the Commitment shall be reduced to zero.
- 22.19 Advances Due on Demand If, pursuant to Clause 22.18 (Acceleration and Cancellation), the Bank declares the Advances to be due and payable on demand of the Bank, then, and at any time thereafter, the Bank may by written notice to the Borrower require repayment of the Advances on such date as it may specify in such notice (whereupon the same shall become due and payable on such date together with accrued interest thereon and any other sums then owed by the Borrower hereunder) or withdraw its declaration with effect from such date as it may specify in such notice.

Part 8

DEFAULT INTEREST AND INDEMNITY

- 23. Default Interest and Indemnity
- 23.1 Default Interest Period If any sum due and payable by any Obligor under any

Finance Document to which it is a party is not paid on the due date therefor in accordance with the provisions of Clause 25 (Payments) or if any sum due and payable by any Obligor under any judgment of any court in connection herewith is not paid on the date of such judgment, the period beginning on such due date or, as the case may be, the date of such judgment and ending on the date upon which the obligation of such Obligor to pay such sum (the balance thereof for the time being unpaid being herein referred to as an "unpaid sum") is discharged shall be divided into successive periods, each of which (other than the first) shall start on the last day of the preceding such period and the duration of each of which shall (except as otherwise provided in this Clause 23) be selected by the Bank.

- 23.2 Default Interest During each such period relating thereto as is mentioned in Clause 23.1 (Default Interest Period) an unpaid sum shall bear interest at the rate per annum which is the sum from time to time of one percent and the Canadian Prime Rate.
- 23.3 Payment of Default Interest Any interest which shall have accrued under Clause 23.2 (Default Interest) in respect of an unpaid sum shall be due and payable and shall be paid by the Obligor owing such unpaid sum at the end of the period by reference to which it is calculated or on such other date or dates as the Bank may specify by written notice to such Obligor.
- 23.4 Broken Periods If the Bank receives or recovers all or any part of an Advance made by the Bank otherwise than on the last day of the Term thereof, the Borrower shall pay to the Bank on demand an amount equal to the amount (if any) by which (i) the additional interest which would have been payable on the amount so received or recovered had it been received or recovered on the last day of the Term thereof exceeds (ii) the amount of interest which in the opinion of the Bank would have been payable to the Bank on the last day of the Term thereof in respect of a deposit in the currency of the amount so received or recovered equal to the amount so received or recovered placed by it with a Schedule I Bank in Toronto for a period starting on the first business day following the date of such receipt or recovery and ending on the last day of the Term thereof. In addition the Borrower shall also pay to the Bank a breakage fee in respect to any such receipt of all or any part of an Advance in accordance with the Bank's usual practice.
- 23.5 Indemnities Each Obligor undertakes to indemnify:
 - (i) the Bank and the Bank's officers, directors, employees, agents, and delegates against any cost, claim, loss, expense (including legal fees) or liability (other than any cost, claim, loss, expense or liability incurred as a result of the Bank's own wilful misconduct or gross negligence) together with any VAT thereon, which any of them may reasonably sustain or incur as a consequence of the occurrence of any Event of Default or any default by such Obligor in the performance of any of the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in the Finance Documents (or any of them); and
 - (ii) the Bank against any loss (other than any loss incurred as a result of the Bank's own wilful misconduct or gross negligence) it may suffer as a result of its funding an Advance requested by the Borrower hereunder but not made by reason of the operation of any one or more of the provisions hereof.
- 23.6 Unpaid Sums or Advances Any unpaid sum shall (for the purposes of this Clause 23 and Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances)) be treated as an Advance and accordingly in this Clause 23 and Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) the term "Advance" includes any unpaid sum and "Term", in relation to an unpaid sum, includes each such period relating thereto as is mentioned in Clause 23.1 (Default Interest Periods).

Part 9

PAYMENTS

24. Currency of Account and Payment

- 24.1 Currency of Account Canadian Dollars is the currency of account and payment in respect of the Facility, for each and every sum at any time due from any of the Obligors under the Facility and, in connection therewith, in the other Finance Documents provided that:
 - (i) each payment pursuant to Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) or Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) shall be made in the currency specified by the party acting reasonably and claiming thereunder; and
 - (ii) any amount expressed to be payable in a currency other than Canadian Dollar shall be paid in that other currency.
- 24.2 Currency Indemnity If any sum due from any Obligor under the Finance Documents or any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto has to be converted from the currency (the "first currency") in which the same is payable thereunder or under such order or judgment into another currency (the "second currency") for the purpose of (i) making or filing a claim or proof against such Obligor, (ii) obtaining an order or judgment in any court or other tribunal or (iii) enforcing any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto, such Obligor shall indemnify and hold harmless each of the persons to whom such sum is due from and against any loss suffered as a result of any discrepancy between (a) the rate of exchange used for such purpose to convert the sum in question from the first currency into the second currency and (b) the rate or rates of exchange at which such person may in the ordinary course of business purchase the first currency with the second currency upon receipt of a sum paid to it in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of any such order, judgment, claim or proof.

- 25.1 Payments to the Bank On each date on which any Finance Document requires an amount to be paid by any Obligor under any of the Finance Documents in respect of the Facility or otherwise to the Bank, such Obligor shall make the same available to the Bank:
 - (i) where such amount is denominated in Canadian Dollars, by payment in Canadian Dollars for value on the day in question to the Bank via: (or such other account or bank as the Bank may have specified for this purpose);
 - (ii) where such amount is denominated in United States Dollars, by payment in United States Dollars for value on the day in question to the Bank at the Facility Office unless the Bank has specified another address or account by written notice to the Borrower at least two business days prior to such payment.
 - (iii) where such amount is denominated in any other currency, by payment in such currency for value on the day in question to the Bank's account number specified for such purpose.
- 25.2 Alternative Payment Arrangements If, at any time, it shall become impracticable (by reason of any action of any governmental authority or any change in law, exchange control regulations or any similar event) for any or all of the Obligors to make any payments hereunder in the manner specified in Clause 25.1 (Payments to the Bank), then such Obligor may agree with the Bank's alternative arrangements for the payment direct to the Bank of amounts due to the Bank hereunder provided that, in the absence of any such agreement with the Bank, such Obligor shall be obliged to make all payments due to the Bank in the manner specified herein.
- 25.3 No Set-off All payments required to be made by any Obligor under the Finance Documents shall be calculated without reference to any set-off or counterclaim and shall be made free and clear of and without any deduction for or on account of any set-off or counterclaim.
- 25.4 Interest Act (Canada) For the purposes of the Interest Act (Canada) and disclosure thereunder, whenever interest to be paid hereunder or in connection herewith is to be calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days or any other period of time that is less than a calendar year, the yearly rate of interest to which the rate determined pursuant to such calculation is equivalent is the rate so determined multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year in which the same is to be ascertained and divided by either 365 or such other period of time, as the case may be. The rates of interest under this Agreement are nominal rates, and not effective rates or yields. The principal of deemed reinvestment of interest does not apply to any interest calculation under this Agreement.
- 25.5 Suspense Accounts Where and for so long as reasonably deemed necessary by the Bank for the purpose of maximising its recoveries in any winding-up, dissolution or administration then taking place or reasonably likely to occur, all moneys received, recovered or realised by the Bank by virtue of the Guarantee may, in that Bank's discretion, be credited to a suspense or impersonal account and may be held in such account for so long as the Bank thinks reasonably fit pending the application from time to time (as the Bank may think fit) of such moneys in or towards the payment and discharge of any amounts owing by any of the Obligors to the Bank hereunder.
- 25.6 Non-Business Days In the event that any payment required to be made under any Finance Document falls to be made on a day which is not a business day it shall be made on the next business day.

26. Set-Off

Each Obligor authorises the Bank to apply any credit balance to which such Obligor is entitled on any account of such Obligor with the Bank in satisfaction of any sum due and payable from such Obligor to the Bank hereunder but unpaid; for this purpose, the Bank is authorised to purchase with the moneys standing to the credit of any such account such other currencies as may be necessary to effect such application. The Bank shall not be obliged to exercise any right given to it by this Clause 26. Nothing in this Clause 26 shall constitute an encumbrance.

Part 10

FEES, COSTS AND EXPENSES

- 27. Commitment Commission and Arranging Fee
- 27.1 The Borrower shall pay to the Bank a commitment commission of 0.35 percent per annum on the amount of the Bank's Available Commitment from day to day during the period beginning on the date hereof and ending on the Termination Date and payable quarterly in arrears on the last day of each quarter or, if not a business day, then the next business day immediately thereafter.
- 27.2 The Borrower shall pay to the Bank an arrangement fee in respect to the Commitment in the amount of 0.10 percent of the Commitment (being C\$100,000), which fee has been fully earned by the Bank as a result of the Bank entering into of this Agreement whether or not any Advance is made by the Bank hereunder and is payable at closing.
- 28. Costs and Expenses
- 28.1 Costs and Expenses The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees, not to exceed C\$25,000 plus disbursements) together with any VAT thereon incurred by it in connection with the negotiation, preparation and execution of the Finance Documents and the completion of the

transactions therein contemplated except, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any transfer or assignment by the Bank of its rights or obligations hereunder.

- 28.2 Preservations and Enforcement of Rights The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees) together with any VAT thereon reasonably incurred in or in connection with the preservation and/or enforcement of any of their rights under any of the Finance Documents except, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any transfer or assignment by the Bank of its rights or obligations hereunder.
- 28.3 Stamp Taxes The Borrower shall pay all stamp, registration and other taxes to which any of the Finance Documents or any judgment given in connection therewith is or at any time may be subject and shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank, indemnify the Bank against any liabilities, costs, claims and expenses resulting from any failure to pay or any delay in paying any such tax.
- 28.4 Guarantor's Liabilities for Costs If the Borrower fails to perform any of its obligations under this Clause 28, the Guarantor shall indemnify the Bank against any loss incurred by it as a result of such failure.
- 28.5 Waivers and Consents The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank (and without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 28.2 (Preservations and Enforcements of Rights) and Clause 34.2 (Amendment Costs) compensate the Bank for all reasonable costs and expenses (including telephone, fax, copying and travel costs) incurred by the Bank in connection with its taking such action as it may deem appropriate in complying with any request by any Obligor in connection with:
 - (a) the granting or proposed granting of any waiver or consent requested hereunder by any Obligor;
 - (b) any actual breach by any Obligor of its obligations hereunder;
 - (c) the occurrence of any event which is an Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default; or
 - (d) any amendment or proposed amendment hereto requested by any Obligor.

Part 11

ASSIGNMENTS AND TRANSFERS

29. Benefit of Agreement

This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of each party hereto and its or any subsequent successors and permitted Transferees and assigns.

30. Assignments and Transfers by the Obligors

None of the Obligors shall be entitled to assign or transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder except pursuant to a Permitted Disposal.

- 31. Assignments and Transfers by the Bank
- 31.1 Assignments and Transfers The Bank may assign all or any of its rights and benefits hereunder or transfer in accordance with Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank) all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder or transfer its Facility Office provided that (save in the case of an assignment of rights and benefits to any Affiliate of the Bank) no such assignment or transfer may be of an amount of less than C\$5,000,000 or may be made without the prior written consent of the Borrower such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed (and, for the avoidance of doubt, it shall not be unreasonable for the Borrower to withhold or delay its consent in the case of an assignment of rights and benefits to any proposed assignee whose long-term debt obligations are then rated below Baa3 by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or below BBB- by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services). Notwithstanding the foregoing, no consent from any Obligor shall be required with respect to any such assignment or transfer at any time after any notice has been delivered pursuant to Clause 22.18 (Acceleration and Cancellation).
- 31.2 Transfers by Bank If the Bank wishes to transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and/or obligations hereunder as contemplated in Clause 31.1 (Assignments and Transfers), then such transfer may be effected by the delivery to the Bank of a duly completed and duly executed Transfer Certificate in which event, on the later of the Transfer Date specified in such Transfer Certificate and the fifth business day after (or such earlier business day endorsed by the Bank on such Transfer Certificate falling on or after) the date of delivery of such Transfer Certificate to the Bank:
 - (i) to the extent that in such Transfer Certificate the Bank party thereto seeks to transfer its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder, each Obligor and the Bank shall be released from further obligations towards one another hereunder and their respective rights against one another shall be cancelled (such rights, benefits and obligations being referred to in this Clause 31.2 as "discharged rights and obligations"); and
 - (ii) each Obligor and the Transferee party thereto shall assume obligations towards one another and/or acquire rights against one another which differ from such discharged rights and obligations only insofar as such Obligor and such Transferee have assumed and/or acquired the same in place of such Obligor

Disclosure of Information

32.

The Bank may disclose to any actual or potential assignee or Transferee or to any sub-participant in relation to any of the Finance Documents such information about the Obligors and the Group as the Bank shall consider appropriate provided that, prior to the disclosure of such information, it has obtained a duly completed confidentiality undertaking (substantially in the form set out in the Fifth Schedule (Form of Confidentiality Undertaking)) from such potential assignee, Transferee or sub-participant.

33. Calculations and Evidence of Debt

- 33.1 Basis of Accrual Subject to Clause 25.4 (Interest Act (Canada)), interest and commitment commission shall accrue from day to day and shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days (or, in any case where market practice differs, in accordance with market practice) and the actual number of days elapsed. Each rate of interest stipulated as an annual rate of interest pursuant to any Finance Document which is calculated with reference to a period (the "deemed interest period") that is less than the actual number of days in the calendar year of calculation is, for the purposes of disclosure required pursuant to the Interest Act (Canada), equivalent to such annual rate multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year of calculation and divided by the number of days in the deemed interest period.
- 33.2 Evidence of Debt The Bank shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice accounts evidencing the amounts from time to time lent by and owing to it hereunder.
- 33.3 Prima Facie Evidence In any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with any of the Finance Documents, the entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to Clause 33.2 (Evidence of Debt) shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations of the Obligors therein recorded
- 33.4 Certificates of Bank A certificate of the Bank as to (i) the amount by which a sum payable to it hereunder is to be increased under Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-Up) or (ii) the amount for the time being required to indemnify it against any such cost, payment or liability as is mentioned in Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) or 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive for the purposes of any of the Finance Documents and prima facie evidence in any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with any of the Finance Documents. A certificate of the Bank as to the amount at any time due from the Borrower hereunder or the amount which, but for any of the obligations of the Borrower hereunder being or becoming void, voidable, unenforceable or ineffective, at any time would have been due from the Borrower hereunder shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive for the purposes of any of the Finance Documents.

34. Amendments and Waivers

- 34.1 Amendments and Waivers Save as otherwise provided herein, any provision of any of the Finance Documents may be amended or supplemented only if the Borrower and the Bank so agree in writing.
- 34.2 Amendment Costs If any Obligor requests any amendment, supplement, modification or waiver in accordance with Clause 34.1 (Amendments and Waivers) then that Obligor shall within five business days of demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all reasonable costs and expenses (including legal fees) together with any VAT thereon incurred by the Bank in the negotiation, preparation and execution of any written instrument contemplated by Clause 34.1 (Amendments and Waivers).

35. Remedies and Waivers

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Bank any right or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy. The rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

36. Partial Invalidity

If, at any time, any provision of any Finance Document is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of the Finance Documents nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction shall in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

38. Maximum Rate of Return

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall the aggregate "interest" (as defined in Section 347 of the Criminal Code, Statutes of Canada, 1985, C.46 as the same may be amended, replaced or re-enacted from time to time) payable hereunder exceed the effective annual rate of interest on the "credit advanced" (as defined in that section) hereunder lawfully permitted under that section and, if any payment, collection or demand pursuant to the Finance Documents in respect of "interest" (as defined in that section) is determined to be contrary to the provisions of that section, such payment, collection or demand shall be deemed to have been made by mutual mistake of the Obligors and the Bank and the amount of such payment or collection shall be refunded to the applicable Obligor; for purposes hereof the effective annual rate of interest shall be determined in accordance with generally accepted actuarial practices and principles over the term of the loan on the basis of annual compounding of the lawfully permitted rate of interest and, in the event of dispute, a certificate of a Fellow of the Canadian

Institute of Actuaries appointed by the Bank will be conclusive for the purposes of such determination.

38. Notices

- 38.1 Communications in writing Each communication to be made under any Finance Document shall, unless otherwise stated, be made in writing but, unless otherwise stated, may be made by fax, telex or letter.
- 38.2 Delivery Any communication or document to be made or delivered by one person to another pursuant to any of the Finance Documents shall (unless that other person has by fifteen days' written notice to each Obligor or the Bank, as appropriate, specified another address) be made or delivered to that other person at the address identified with its signature below (or, in the case of a Transferee, at the end of the Transfer Certificate to which it is a party as Transferee) and shall be deemed to have been made or delivered when dispatched and the appropriate answer back received in the case of any communication made by telex) or (in the case of any communication made by telex) or (as the case may be) ten days after being deposited in the post postage prepaid in an envelope addressed to it at that address or (in the case of any communication made by fax) transmission has been completed and, in the case of the Bank, when received by the department or officer identified with the Bank's signature below (or such other department or officer as the Bank shall from time to time specify for this purpose).
- 38.3 English Language Each communication and document made or delivered by one party to another pursuant to any of the Finance Documents shall be in the English language or accompanied by a translation thereof into English certified (by an officer of the person making or delivering the same) as being a true and accurate translation thereof.
- 38.4 Notices Effective Each communication or document to be made or delivered to any Obligor hereunder shall be effective if made or delivered to the Guarantor.

39. Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto on separate counterparts each of which, when executed and delivered, shall constitute an original, but all the counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

Part 12

LAW AND JURISDICTION

40. Law

This Agreement shall be governed by and shall be construed in accordance $% \left(1\right) =\left(1\right) +\left(1\right) =\left(1\right) +\left(1\right) +\left$

41. Jurisdiction

- 41.1 Ontario Courts Each of the parties hereto irrevocably agrees for the benefit of each other party hereto that any competent court in the Province of Ontario shall have jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceeding, and to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with the Finance Documents (respectively "Proceedings" and "Disputes") and, for such purposes, irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts.
- 41.2 Appropriate Forum Each Obligor irrevocably waives any objection which it might now or hereafter have to the courts referred to in Clause 41.1 (Ontario Courts) being nominated as the forum to hear and determine any Proceedings and to settle any Disputes and agrees not to claim that any such court is not a convenient or appropriate forum.
- 41.3 Service of Process Each Obligor agrees that the process by which any Proceedings are begun may be served on it by being delivered in connection with any Proceedings in Ontario, to the Borrower at its principal place of business in Ontario. If the appointment of the person mentioned in this Clause 41.3 ceases to be effective in respect of any or all of the Obligors, such Obligor or Obligors shall immediately appoint a further person in Ontario to accept service of process on its behalf in Ontario and, failing such appointment within 15 days, the Bank shall be entitled to appoint such a person by notice to such Obligor or Obligors. Nothing contained herein shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.
- 41.4 Non-exclusive Submissions The submission to the jurisdiction of the courts referred to in Clause 41.1 (Ontario Courts) shall not (and shall not be construed so as to) limit the right of the Bank to take Proceedings against any Obligor in any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in any one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) if and to the extent permitted by applicable law.
- 41.5 Consent to Enforcement Each Obligor hereby consents generally in respect of any proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with such proceedings including, without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment which may be made or given in such proceedings.
- 41.6 Waiver of Immunity To the extent that any Obligor may in any jurisdiction claim for itself or its assets immunity from suit, execution, attachment (whether in aid of execution, before judgment or otherwise) or other legal process and to the extent that in any such jurisdiction there may be attributed to itself or its assets such immunity (whether or not claimed), such Obligor hereby irrevocably agrees not to claim and hereby irrevocably waives such immunity to the full extent permitted by the laws of such jurisdiction.

 $\,$ AS WITNESS the hands of the duly authorised representatives of the parties hereto the day and year first before written.

The Borrower

CAPITAL ONE INC.

By:

Address for Notices: Suite 5800

40 King Street West Toronto, Ontario

With a copy to:

Director of Corporate Funding Capital One Services, Inc. 8000 Jones Branch Drive McLean, Virginia 22102 Fax: 703-875-1099

Email: Steve.Linehan@capitalone.com

The Guarantor

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Address for Notices: c/o Capital One Services, Inc.

8000 Jones Branch Drive McLean, Virginia 22102

Attention: Director of Corporate Funding Fax: 703-875-1099

Email: Steve.Linehan@capitalone.com

The Bank

BANK OF MONTREAL

By:

Name: Title:

Wiring Instructions:

Bank of Montreal, Montreal, for further payment to Bank of Montreal, Transit:0002 Main Branch, First Canadian Place,

Toronto, Ontario, M5XIA1 Account number: TR:0002,-1042-242 Re: Capital One, Inc.

Attn: Sattee Goonsammy 416-867-6978

If any questions: Rebecca Scharffe

Deal Specialist (312) 750-3806 (312) 750-1790 -fax

Address for Notices:

U.S. Financial Institutions

115 South LaSalle Street

12th Floor West

Chicago, IL 60603

Attention: Inba Ponnusamy

THE FIRST SCHEDULE

Form of Transfer Certificate

To: Bank of Montreal

TRANSFER CERTIFICATE

Relating to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 whereby a C\$100,000,000 revolving credit facility was made available to Capital One Inc. as borrower under the guarantee of Capital One Financial Corporation as guarantor by Bank of Montreal.

- 1. Terms defined in the Facility Agreement shall, subject to any contrary indication, have the same meanings herein. The term Transferee is defined in the schedule hereto.
- 2. The Bank (i) confirms that the details in the schedule hereto under the heading "Commitment" and "Advance(s)" accurately summarises its Commitment and/or, as the case may be, the Term and Repayment Date of one or more existing Advances made by it and (ii) requests the Transferee to accept and procure the transfer to the Transferee of the portion specified in the schedule hereto of, as the case may be, its Commitment and/or such Advance(s) by counter-signing and delivering this Transfer Certificate to the Bank at its address for the service of notices specified in the Facility Agreement.
- 3. The Transferee hereby requests the Bank to accept this Transfer Certificate as being delivered to the Bank pursuant to and for the purposes of Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank) of the Facility Agreement so as to take effect in accordance with the terms thereof on the Transfer Date or on such later date as may be determined in accordance with the terms thereof.
- 4. The Transferee confirms that it has received a copy of the Facility Agreement together with such other information as it has required in connection with this transaction and that it has not relied and will not hereafter rely on the Bank to check or enquire on its behalf into the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy, accuracy or completeness of any such information and further agrees that it has not relied and will not rely on the Bank to assess or keep under review on its behalf the financial condition, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status or nature of the Borrower or the Guarantor.
- 5. The Transferee hereby undertakes with the Bank and each of the other parties to the Facility Agreement that it will perform in accordance with their terms all those obligations which by the terms of the Facility Agreement will be assumed by it after delivery of this Transfer Certificate to the Bank and satisfaction of the conditions (if any) subject to which this Transfer Certificate is expressed to take effect.
- 6. The Bank makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of the Facility Agreement or any document relating thereto and assumes no responsibility for the financial condition of the Borrower or the Guarantor or for the performance and observance by the Borrower or the Guarantor of any of its obligations under the Facility Agreement or any document relating thereto and any and all such conditions and warranties, whether express or implied by law or otherwise, are hereby excluded.
- 7. The Bank hereby gives notice that nothing herein or in the Facility Agreement (or any document relating thereto) shall oblige the Bank to (i) accept a re-transfer from the Transferee of the whole or any part of its rights, benefits and/or obligations under the Facility Agreement transferred pursuant hereto or (ii) support any losses directly or indirectly sustained or incurred by the Transferee for any reason whatsoever including, without limitation, the nonperformance by the Borrower, the Guarantor or any other party to the Facility Agreement (or any document relating thereto) of its obligations under any such document. The Transferee hereby acknowledges the absence of any such obligation as is referred to in (i) or (ii) above.

THE SCHEDULE

- Transferee:
- Transfer Date:
- 3. Commitment Portion Transferred
- 4. Advance(s):

Term and Repayment Date Portion Transferred

Administrative Details of Transferee

Address:

Contact Name:

Account for Payments

Facsimile:

Telephone:

THE SECOND SCHEDULE

Condition Precedent Documents

1. In relation to each Obligor:

- (i) a copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of such Obligor, of the Memorandum and Articles of Association (or equivalent documents) of such Obligor;
- (ii) a copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of such Obligor, of a Board Resolution (or, as appropriate, a resolution of the Executive Committee, but in such case accompanied by the authorization of such Executive Committee so to act) of such Obligor approving the execution, delivery and performance of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and the terms and conditions hereof and authorising a named person or persons to sign the Finance Documents to which it is a party and any documents to be delivered by such Obligor pursuant hereto;
- (iii) a certificate of a duly authorised officer of such Obligor setting out the names and signatures of the persons authorised to sign, on behalf of such Obligor, the Finance Documents to which it is a party and any documents to be delivered by such Obligor pursuant hereto.
- 2. An opinion of Smith Lyons, Canadian counsel to the Borrower, in substantially the form distributed to the Bank prior to the execution hereof.
- 3. A copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of the Guarantor, of the Original Financial Statements of such Obligor.
- The Guarantee.
- 5. Evidence that the credit facility for Capital One Finance Company and Capital One Inc. provided pursuant to the credit facility agreement dated 29 August 1997 has been repaid in full and cancelled.

THE THIRD SCHEDULE

Utilisation Request

Please see attached

[Intrader Printout]

THE FOURTH SCHEDULE

Form of Compliance Certificate

ľo:	Bank	of	Montrea:
	Dank	OT	MOHELEA.

Dear Sirs

Capital One - Compliance Certificate

We refer to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 and made between Capital One Inc. as borrower, Capital One Financial Corporation as guarantor and Bank of Montreal as the Bank. Terms defined in the Facility Agreement shall bear the same meanings in this Certificate.

I, [], a duly authorized officer of Capital One Financial Corporation hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge, information and belief as at [insert date]:

A. the Borrower's Net Worth is as follows:

[amount of Net Worth] \$U.S. o

- B. In the case of the Borrower:-
 - (a) the ratio of its Debt to Total Capital is []
 - (b) the ratio of its Equity to Total Assets is []
 - (c) the ratio of its Eligible Assets to Debt is []
- C. In the case of the Guarantor:-
 - (a) its Delinquency Ratio is []%
 - (b) the ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables is []

Yours faithfully

- (c) its Tangible Net Worth is [] \$U.S. o
- (d) its Leverage Ratio is []
- (e) its Double Leverage Ratio is []

I confirm that to the best of my knowledge and belief, having made due enquiry no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred (which has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 33 (Amendments and Waivers) and the Group was in compliance with all of the covenants contained in Clause 19 (Financial Condition) of the Facility Agreement as at [].

Name: Title:

Capital One Financial Corporation

THE FIFTH SCHEDULE

Form of Confidentiality Undertaking

From: Bank of Montreal

[Address]

and

Capital One Financial Corporation

[Address]

To: [Prospective Recipient]

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

Capital One - Confidentiality Agreement

We refer to our conversations about the facility for Capital One Inc. ("COI") (the "Transaction") and to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 and made between COI as borrower, Capital One Financial Corporation as guarantor and Bank of Montreal as the Bank. Following our receipt of a copy of this letter countersigned by you, we may give you certain structural concepts, information and documents relating to the Transaction (together the "Information").

In this letter, the "Bank Group" means Bank of Montreal and its subsidiary undertakings, parent undertakings and fellow subsidiary undertaking and the "Capital One Group" means Capital One Financial Corporation and its subsidiaries and affiliates.

In return for us agreeing to provide you with certain Information, you agree as follows:

- (a) You shall hold in strict confidence all Information disclosed to you by us or on our behalf and agree that such Information is supplied solely to help you in deciding whether you want to participate in the Transaction and will solely be used by you for that purpose. Despite this obligation, you may disclose Information:
 - (i) to your advisers who need to know such Information for the purpose of evaluating the Transaction;
 - (ii) which, except through a failure by you or any adviser to comply with an undertaking as to confidentiality, is in the public domain; and
 - (iii) to bank supervisory authorities, statutory auditors or examining authorities, if you are obliged by law or regulation to disclose the Information to them.

If you have to disclose any Information under sub-paragraph (iii) above, you will give us such prior notice of that disclosure as is reasonably practicable.

- (b) You shall get your advisers to give us an undertaking in the form of this letter before letting them see any of the Information. You shall be responsible for any breach by your advisors of any such undertaking.
- (c) At our request, you shall provide us with details of all advisers to whom any Information has been, or is to be, disclosed.
- (d) You acknowledge that no member of the Bank Group is responsible for the accuracy and/or completeness of any Information. You shall be solely responsible for making your own independent appraisal and investigation of the Transaction and all parties connected with the Transaction (the "Transaction Parties"). You shall not rely upon any member of the Bank Group (now or hereafter) (1) to check the accuracy and/or completeness of any Information, or (2) to assess or review any aspect of the Transaction or any Transaction Party. Accordingly, except in the case of fraud, the Bank Group accepts no responsibility or liability to you (whether for negligence or otherwise).
- (e) You acknowledge that:
- (i) members of the Bank Group may, now and in the future, have other investment and commercial banking, trust and other relationships with Transaction Parties and with other parties ("Other Parties");
- (ii) as a result of these other relationships, members of the Bank Group may have or get information about Other Parties, Transaction Parties and/or the Transaction or which may be relevant to any of these. Despite this, no member of the Bank Group will have to disclose such information, or the fact that it is in possession of such information, to you;
- (iii) members of the Bank Group may, now and in the future, have fiduciary or other relationships under which it, or they, may exercise voting power over securities of various persons. Those securities may, from time to time, include securities of Transaction Parties; and
- (iv) each member of the Bank Group may exercise such voting powers, and otherwise perform its functions in connection with such fiduciary or other relationships, without regard to its relationship to the Transaction Parties and/or the Transaction.
- (f) You will return to us all documents evidencing the Information together with any copies of the Information, promptly upon either (1) your decision not to participate in the Transaction or (2) a request by us to do so.

(g) You agree that the delivery to you of Information does not constitute any representation or warranty by Bank Group as to the accuracy or completeness of that Information.

This letter embodies the entire agreement between you and us relating to the Information. It supersedes any prior agreement or understanding (oral or in writing) relating to the Information. It may not be amended or waived except in writing.

You acknowledge that you have not relied on any representation other than those set out in this letter. We are not liable to you for any representation (other than any fraudulent representation) that is not set out in this letter.

You acknowledge that, except where otherwise indicated, your obligations under this letter are for the benefit of both the Capital One Group and the Bank Group and can be enforced by either.

and all alaim arising fro governed ince of courts

confirm

by, and are to be construed in accordance with the laws of the Provi. Ontario. You submit, for our benefit, to the jurisdiction of the Ontario for the resolution of any dispute arising in connection with this letter.
Please sign, date and return to us the enclosed copy of this letter to your agreement to the above,
Yours faithfully
for and on behalf of Bank of Montreal
for and on behalf of Capital One Financial Corporation
[On Copy]:
Agreed and Accepted
for and on behalf of [Prospective Recipient]
Dated []

THE SIXTH SCHEDULE Form of Guarantee

GUARANTEE dated as of August 10, 2000 made by CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Guarantor"), in favour of Bank of Montreal (including any and all branches or offices thereof, the "Bank").

WHEREAS, Capital One Inc., a direct wholly owned Canadian subsidiary of the Guarantor has entered into a Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of the date hereof (as from time to time amended, the "Facility Agreement") providing a revolving facility by the Bank to the Borrower (as defined in the Facility Agreement) (the "Facility") in a principal amount up to but not exceeding C\$100,000,000; and

WHEREAS, the Guarantor has determined that the making of the Facility to the Borrower will be financially beneficial to the Borrower and the Guarantor;

NOW, THEREFORE, to induce the Bank to enter into the Facility Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Guarantor agrees as follows:

1. Definitions Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, terms defined in the Facility Agreement are used herein as defined therein.

The Guarantee

2.1

- The Guarantee The Guarantor hereby:
 - (a) guarantees to the Bank and its successors and assigns the prompt payment in full when due of all obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under the Facility Agreement, whether for principal, interest, fees, expenses or otherwise (such obligations being the "Guaranteed Obligations"); and
 - (b) agrees as a primary obligation to indemnify the Bank from time to time on demand from and against any loss incurred by it as a result of the Facility Agreement being or becoming void, voidable or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, whether or not known to the Bank, the amount of such loss being the amount which the Bank would otherwise have been entitled to recover from the Borrower.
- 2.2 Obligations Unconditional The Guarantor acknowledges that the obligations undertaken by it under this Guarantee are absolute, irrevocable and unconditional under any and all circumstances. In full recognition and in furtherance of the foregoing, the Guarantor agrees that:
 - (a) Without affecting the enforceability or effectiveness of this Guarantee in accordance with its terms and without affecting, limiting, reducing, discharging or terminating the liability of the Guarantor, or the rights, remedies, powers and privileges of the Bank under this Guarantee, the Bank may, at any time and from time to time and without notice or demand of any kind or nature whatsoever except as expressly required by applicable law:
 - (i) amend, supplement, modify, extend, renew, waive, accelerate or otherwise change the time for payment or performance of, or the terms of, all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (including any increase or decrease in the rate or rates of interest on all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations);
 - (ii) amend, supplement, modify, extend, renew, waive or otherwise change, or enter into or give, any Finance Document or any agreement, security document, guarantee, approval, consent or other instrument with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, any Finance Document or any such other instrument or any term or provision of the foregoing;
 - (iii) accept or enter into new or additional agreements, security documents, guarantees (including letters of credit) or other instruments in addition to, any Finance Document, any existing security in relation to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any collateral now or in the future constituting security for the Guaranteed Obligations;
 - (iv) accept or receive (including from any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, if any) partial payments or performance of the Guaranteed Obligations (whether as a result of the exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege or otherwise):
 - (v) settle, compromise, release, liquidate or enforce upon such terms and in such manner as the Bank may determine or as applicable law may dictate all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any collateral for or guarantee of (including without limitation any letter of credit, if any, issued with respect to) all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;

- (vi) consent to the merger or consolidation of, the sale of substantial assets by, or other restructuring or termination of the corporate existence of the Borrower or any other person (including without limitation any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, if any);
- (vii) proceed against the Borrower or the Guarantor or any collateral in such order and such manner as the Bank may, in its discretion, determine;
- (viii) enter into such other transactions or business dealings with the Borrower, any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Borrower or the Guarantor or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations as the Bank may desire; and
- (ix) do all or any combination of the actions set forth in this Section 2.2(a) or take any other actions or fail to take any actions to the fullest extent permissible under applicable law in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations.
- (b) The enforceability and effectiveness of this Guarantee and the liability of the Guarantor, and the rights, remedies, powers and privileges of the Bank, under this Guarantee shall not be affected, limited, reduced, discharged or terminated, and the Guarantor hereby expressly waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any defense now or in the future arising, by reason of:
 - (i) the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, any Finance Document or any other agreement relative to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;
 - (ii) any disability or other defense with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations of the Borrower or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (including without limitation any issuer of any letter of credit), including the effect of any statute of limitations that may bar the enforcement of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or the obligations of any such other guarantor;
 - (iii) the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of any security or guarantee (including without limitation any letter of credit) for all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or the lack of perfection or continuing perfection or failure of the priority of any lien on any collateral for all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;
 - (iv) the cessation, for any cause whatsoever, of the liability of the Borrower or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (other than, subject to Section 2.5 hereof, by reason of the full payment and performance of all Guaranteed Obligations);
 - (v) any failure of the Bank to pursue or exhaust any right, remedy, power or privilege it may have against the Borrower or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any other person or to take any action whatsoever to mitigate or reduce such or any other guarantor's liability under this Guarantee, the Bank being under no obligation to take any such action notwithstanding the fact that all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations may be due and payable and that the Borrower may be in default of its obligations under any Finance Document;
 - (vi) any counterclaim, set-off or other claim which the Guarantor or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations has or alleges to have with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;
 - (vii) any failure of the Bank to file or enforce a claim in any bankruptcy or other proceeding with respect to any person;
 - (viii) any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, readjustment of debt, liquidation or dissolution proceeding commenced by or against any Obligor, including any discharge of, or bar or stay against collecting, all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (or any interest on all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations) in or as a result of any such proceeding;
 - (ix) any action taken by the Bank that is authorized by this Section 2.2 or otherwise in this Guarantee or by any other provision of any Finance Document or any omission to take any such action;
 - (x) any change in the direct or indirect ownership or

control of the Borrower or of any shares or ownership interests thereof; or

- (xi) any other circumstance whatsoever that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations.
- (c) The Guarantor expressly waives, for the benefit of the Bank, all set-offs and counterclaims and all diligence, presentment, demand for payment or performance, notices of nonpayment or nonperformance, protest, notices of protest, notices of dishonor and all other notices or demands of any kind or nature whatsoever, and any requirement that the Bank, exhaust any right, power or remedy or proceed against the Borrower under the Facility Agreement or any other agreement referred to herein or therein, or against any other person under any other guarantee of, or security for, any of the Guaranteed Obligations, and all notices of acceptance of this Guarantee or of the existence, creation, incurring or assumption of new or additional Guaranteed Obligations. The Guarantor further expressly waives the benefit of any and all statutes of limitation to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.
- (d) The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Bank that it has established adequate means of obtaining financial and other information pertaining to the business, operations and condition (financial and otherwise) of the Borrower and its properties on a continuing basis and that the Guarantor is now and will in the future remain fully familiar with the business , operations and condition (financial and otherwise) of the Borrower and its properties. The Guarantor further represents and warrants that it has reviewed and approved each of the Finance Documents and is fully familiar with the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents and that it will in the future remain fully familiar with such transaction and with any new agreements relating to the Facility. The Guarantor hereby expressly waives and relinquishes any duty on the part of the Bank (should any such duty exist) to disclose to such or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations any matter of fact or other information related to the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrower or its properties or to any Finance Document or the transactions under-taken pursuant to, or contemplated by, any such Finance Document, whether now or in the future known by the Bank.
- (e) The Guarantor intends that its rights and obligations shall be those expressly set forth in this Guarantee and that its obligations shall not be affected, limited, reduced, discharged or terminated by reason of any principles or provisions of law which conflict with the terms of this Guarantee.
- 2.3 Understanding With Respect to Waivers and Consents The Guarantor represents, warrants and agrees that each of the waivers and consents set forth in this Guarantee is made voluntarily and unconditionally. If, notwithstanding the intent of the parties that the terms of this Guarantee shall control in any and all circumstances, any such waivers or consents are determined to be unenforceable under applicable law, such waivers and consents shall be effective to the fullest extent permitted by law.
- 2.4 Taxes The provisions of Clauses 12, 13 and 14 of the Facility Agreement shall apply mutatis mutandis to this Guarantee to the extent that such provisions relate to payment obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee.
- 2.5 Reinstatement The obligations of the Guarantor under this Section 2 shall be automatically reinstated if and to the extent that for any reason any payment by or on behalf of the Borrower in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations is rescinded or must be otherwise restored by any holder of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, whether as a result of any proceedings in bankruptcy or reorganization or otherwise, and the Guarantor agrees that it will indemnify the Bank on demand for all reasonable costs and expenses (including, without limitation, fees of counsel) incurred by the Bank in connection with such rescission or restoration, including any such costs and expenses incurred in defending against any claim alleging that such payment constituted a preference, fraudulent transfer or the like under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law.
- 2.6 Subrogation The Guarantor hereby agrees that, until the final payment and satisfaction in full of all Guaranteed Obligations and the expiration or termination of the Commitment of the Bank under the Facility Agreement, it shall not exercise any right or remedy arising by reason of any performance by it of its guarantee in Section 2.1 hereof, whether by subrogation or otherwise, against the Borrower or any other guarantor of any of the Guaranteed Obligations or any security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations.
- 2.7 Remedies The Guarantor agrees that, as between the Guarantor and the Bank, the obligations of the Borrower under the Facility Agreement may be declared to be forthwith due and payable as provided in Part 7 of the Facility Agreement (and shall be deemed to have become automatically due and payable in the circumstances provided in said Part 7) for purposes of Section 2.1 hereof notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such declaration (or such obligations from becoming automatically due and payable) as against the Borrower and that, in the event of such declaration (or such obligations being deemed to have become automatically due and payable), such obligations (whether or not due and payable by the Borrower) shall forthwith become due and payable by the Guarantor for purposes of said Section 2.1.
- 2.8 Manner of Payment The Guarantor shall make any payment required to be made

hereunder in lawful money as specified in Clause 24 of the Facility Agreement and in same day funds to the Bank at the place specified for payments in the Facility Agreement, without set-off, counterclaim or other defense and free and clear of and without deduction for any present or future income, stamp or other taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, fees, withholdings, liabilities, restrictions or conditions of any nature whatsoever now or hereafter imposed, levied, collected, assessed or withheld by any jurisdiction or by any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein (whether pursuant to Delaware law or otherwise).

3. Representations and Warranties The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Bank that all the representations and warranties pertaining to the Guarantor contained in the Facility Agreement are true and correct as of the date the same are deemed to be made or repeated under Clause 18.15 of the Facility Agreement by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing.

Covenants

- 4.1 General Covenants The Guarantor agrees that until the final payment in full of the Guaranteed Obligations it will comply with each of the covenants pertaining to the Guarantor under Clauses 19 to 21 of the Facility Agreement.
- 4.2 Regulatory Capital The Guarantor will cause each of its Insured Subsidiaries to be (and each of Capital One Bank and Capital One, F.S.B. so long as it is an Insured Subsidiary to be) at all times "adequately capitalized" for purposes of 12 U.S.C. ss. 1831o, as amended, re-enacted or redesignated from time to time, and at all times to maintain such amount of capital as may be prescribed from time to time, whether by regulation, agreement or order, by each Bank Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction over such Insured Subsidiary.

For the purposes of this Clause 4.2, "Insured Subsidiary" shall mean any insured depositary institution (as defined in 12 U.S.C. ss.1813(c) (or any successor provision), as amended, re-enacted or redesignated from time to time), that is controlled (within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. ss.1841 (or any successor provision), as amended, re-enacted or redesignated from time to time), by the Guarantor.

4.3 Further Assurances The Guarantor shall from time to time upon the written request of the Bank, execute and deliver such further documents and do such other acts and things as the Bank may reasonably request in order fully to effect the purposes of this Agreement.

- Miscellaneous
- 5.1 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction
- (a) This Guarantee shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the Province of Ontario.
- (b) The Guarantor hereby submits to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario for the purposes of all legal proceedings arising out of or relating to this Guarantee or the transactions contemplated hereby. The Guarantor hereby irrevocably appoints Smith Lyons, Suite 5800, Scotia Plaza, 40 King Street West, M5H 3Z7 (the "Process Agent") as its true and lawful attorney-in-fact to receive service of all writs, summons and other process in connection with any such legal proceedings in Ontario and agrees that the failure of the Process Agent to convey any such process to the Guarantor shall not impair or affect the validity thereof or of any judgment based thereon.
- (c) The Guarantor irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such proceeding brought in such a court and any claim that any such proceeding brought in such a court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.
- 5.2 Waiver of Jury Trial THE GUARANTOR AND THE BANK HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS GUARANTEE OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
- 5.3 Notices All notices, requests, consents and demands hereunder shall be in writing and telecopied or delivered to the intended recipient at the "Address for Notices" specified beneath its name on the signature pages hereof or, as to any party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a notice to each other party. Except as otherwise provided in this Guarantee, all such communications shall be deemed to have been duly given when transmitted by telex or telecopier or personally delivered or, in the case of a mailed notice, upon receipt, in each case given or addressed as aforesaid.
- 5.4 Waivers, Etc. The terms of this Guarantee may be waived, altered or amended only by an instrument in writing duly executed by the Guarantor and the Bank.
- 5.5 Successors and Assigns This Guarantee shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns (provided, however, that the Guarantor shall not assign or transfer any of its rights hereunder without the prior written consent of the Bank).
- 5.6 Counterparts This Guarantee may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument and any of the parties hereto may execute this Guarantee by signing any such counterpart.
- 5.7 Severability If any provision hereof is invalid and unenforceable in any jurisdiction, then, to the fullest extent permitted by law, (i) the other provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect in such jurisdiction and shall be liberally construed in favour of the Bank in order to carry out the intentions of the parties hereto as nearly as may be possible and (ii) the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision hereof in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.
- IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this G Guarantee to be duly executed and delivered as of the day and year first above written.

Ву:	
Address for Notices:	c/o Capital One Services, Inc. 8000 Jones Branch Drive McLean, Virginia 22102
Attention:	Director of Corporate Funding
The Bank	
BANK OF MONTREAL	
Ву:	

Address for Notices:

The Guarantor

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By:

Exhibit 10.2

\$100,000,000

REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY AGREEMENT

between

CAPITAL ONE INC. as borrower

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION as guarantor

anc

BANK ONE CANADA as lender

August 10, 2000

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part 1
1. Interpretation
Part 2
2. Grant of Facility8
3. Purpose
4. Conditions Precedent8
Part 3
5. Utilisation of Facility9
Part 4
6. Making of Advances9
7. Payment of Interest10
8. Calculation of Interest10
9. Repayment of Advances10
Part 5
10. Cancellation
11. Prepayment
Part 6
12. Taxes
13. Tax Receipts
14. Tax Undertaking by the Bank and Tax Refunds
15. Increased Costs
16. Illegality
17. Mitigation
Part 7
18. Representations
19. Financial Information
20. Financial Condition
21. Covenants
22. Events of Default
Part 8
23. Default Interest and Indemnity
Part 9
24. Currency of Account and Payment
25. Payments
26. Set-Off33
Part 10
27. Commitment Commission and Arranging Fee
28. Costs and Expenses
Part 11
29. Benefit of Agreement
30. Assignments and Transfers by the Obligors
31. Assignments and Transfers by Bank
32. Disclosure of Information
33. Calculations and Evidence of Debt
34. Amendments and Waivers
35. Remedies and Waivers
36. Partial Invalidity
37. Maximum Rate of Return
38. Notices
39. Counterparts
Part 12
40. Law
41. Jurisdiction

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the 10th day of August, 2000

BETWEEN

- (1) CAPITAL ONE INC. (the "Borrower");
- (2) CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION as quarantor (the "Guarantor"); and
- (3) BANK ONE CANADA (the "Bank").

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows:

Part 1

INTERPRETATION

- Interpretation
- 1.1 Definitions In this Agreement:
- "Advance" means any advance made or to be made pursuant to the terms hereof;
- "Affiliate" means any person which, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, another person or any Subsidiary of such other person. The term "control" (including the terms "controlled by" or "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such person, whether through ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise;
- "Available Commitment" means, at any time, the Commitment less the Outstandings at such time;
- "Bank Regulatory Authority" shall mean the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Minister of Finance, Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions, Bank of Canada, the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation and all other relevant bank and provincial regulatory authorities (including, without limitation, relevant state and provincial bank regulatory authorities);
- "Canadian Prime Rate" means, in relation to any Advance or unpaid sum and any date, the higher of (i) the rate announced from time to time by the Bank as its prime lending rate on such date for Canadian Dollar denominated commercial loans made in Canada and in force on such date and (ii) the rate at which the Bank is offering at or about 10:00 a.m. (Toronto, Ontario, Canada time) to purchase bankers' acceptances on such date in respect of a bankers' acceptance with a term of 30 days, plus 1.00 percent;
- "Canadian Qualified Lender" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-Up);
- "Commitment" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 2 (Grant of Facility);
- "Compliance Certificate" means a certificate demonstrating compliance with the covenants set forth in Clause 20 (Financial Condition) as of the date specified in such certificate, substantially in the form set out in the Fourth Schedule (Form of Compliance Certificate);
- "Cost of Funds Rate" means the rate of interest, expressed as an annual percentage, quoted by the Bank to the Borrower from time to time and at any time as the Bank's cost in making available an amount of Canadian Dollars equal to the amount of the relevant Utilisation for the relevant Term;
- "Event of Default" means any of those events specified in Clause 22 (Events of Default);
- "Facility" means the revolving creditfacility granted to the Borrower hereunder;
- "Facility Office" means, in respect of the Bank, the office in Canada set forth opposite the Bank's name in the signature page below (or, in the case of a Transferee, at the end of the Transfer Certificate to which it is a party as Transferee) or such other office in Canada as it may from time to time notify to the Borrower;
- "Final Maturity Date" means the day which is 364 days after the date hereof; provided that if the Final Maturity Date determined as aforesaid would fall on a day which is not a business day, it shall be the immediately preceding business day which is a business day in Toronto, Canada and Falls Church, Virginia;
- "Finance Documents" means each of this Agreement, the Guarantee, any Compliance Certificate, any notice delivered in connection herewith or therewith and any other agreement or document designated as such by the Bank and the Borrower;
- "Group" means, at any time, the Guarantor and each of its Subsidiaries at such time;
- "Guarantee" means the guarantee of even date herewith to be given by the Guarantor in favour of the Bank in substantially the form set out in the Sixth Schedule (Form of Guarantee);
- "Lien" means, with respect to any property, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such property. For purposes of this Agreement, a person shall be deemed to own subject to a Lien

any property that it has acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or other title retention agreement (other than an operating lease) relating to such property;

"Margin" means, at any time, % per annum;

"Material Adverse Effect" means with respect to an Obligor, a material adverse effect on (a) the property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalization of such Obligor and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the ability of such Obligor to perform its obligations under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (c) the validity or enforceability of the obligations of such Obligor under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (d) the rights and remedies of the Bank against such Obligor or (e) the timely payment of the principal of or interest on or in connection with any Advance or other amounts payable by such Obligor in connection therewith;

"Obligors" means, collectively, the Borrower and the Guarantor and "Obligor" means either one of the Borrower and the Guarantor;

"Original Financial Statements" means:

- (i) in relation to the Guarantor, its audited consolidated financial statements for its financial year ended 31 December, 1999 together with its consolidated management accounts for its financial period ended 31 March, 2000;
- (ii) in relation to the Borrower, a statement of such financial information concerning the Borrower included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December, 1999 supplied pursuant to paragraph (i) so certified by an officer of the Guarantor together with its consolidated management accounts for its financial period ended 30 June, 2000.
- "Outstandings" means, at any time, the aggregate of each outstanding Advance at such time:

"Permitted Disposal" means any of the following:

- (i) the merger or consolidation of any Affiliate of any Obligor with or into, or the transfer by such Affiliate of all or substantially all of its business or property to (x) such Obligor if such Obligor is the continuing, surviving or transferee corporation or (y) any other Affiliate of such Obligor;
- (ii) the merger or consolidation of any Obligor with or into, or the transfer by any Obligor of all or substantially all of its business or property, to any Affiliate of such Obligor if such Affiliate is the continuing, surviving or transferee entity, such Affiliate expressly assumes the obligations of the Obligor hereunder and such Affiliate, following such merger, consolidation or transfer, has a Tangible Net Worth (as defined in Clause 20.3 (Definitions of Financial Terms) at least equal to that of the Obligor immediately prior thereto;
- the merger or consolidation of any Obligor with or into any other person, or the transfer by any such person of all or substantially all of its business or property to any Obligor, or the transfer by an Obligor of all or substantially all of its business or property to any such person so long as (x) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or transfer or would result therefrom, (y) such person, if the continuing, surviving or transferee entity, expressly assumes the obligations of such Obligor hereunder and (z) such Obligor or such person, as appropriate, following such merger, consolidation or transfer, has a Tangible Net Worth (as defined in Clause 20.3 (Definitions of Financial Terms) at least equal to that of such Obligor immediately prior thereto;
- (iv) the merger or consolidation of any Affiliate of any Obligor with or into, or the transfer by any such person of all or substantially all of its business or property to any other person so long as no Event of Default (other than pursuant to Clause 21.4 (Disposals) has occurred and is continuing immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or transfer or would result therefrom; and
- (v) the sale by any Obligor or any Affiliate of any Obligor of credit card loans and other finance receivables pursuant to securitizations.

"Potential Event of Default" $\,$ means any event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become an Event of Default;

"Receivables" means, with respect to any Obligor, any amount owing, from time to time, with respect to a credit card, consumer revolving or consumer installment loan account, home equity line of credit or residential mortgage loan account or other consumer receivable owned by such Obligor, including, without limitation, amounts owing for payment of goods and services, cash advances, convenience checks, annual membership fees, finance charges, late charges, credit insurance premiums and cash advance fees and fees relating to additional consumer products, and any other receivables arising out of financing transactions by such Obligor; provided that the term "Receivables" shall not include any of the foregoing that is subject to a securitization effected in the ordinary course of business;

"Repayment Date" means, in relation to any Advance, the last day of the Term thereof or, if such day is not a business day, the next business day following;

"Requested Amount" means, in relation to any Utilisation Request, the aggregate principal amount of the Advance requested;

"Restricted Shares" means, with respect to any Obligor, shares of stock of or other ownership interests in such Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof engaged primarily in the extension of consumer credit to third parties or securitizations of receivables related to such extension of consumer credit, excluding without limitation any such ownership interests of any Obligor in America One Communications, Inc.;

"Rollover Advance" means an Advance which is used to refinance an existing Advance and which is the same amount as such maturing Advance and is to be drawn on the day such maturing Advance is to be repaid;

"Schedule I Bank" means a banking entity which is named in Schedule I of the Bank Act (Canada) S.C. 1991 C.46, as such schedule may be amended from time to time;

"Schedule II Bank" means a Canadian Subsidiary of a non-resident banking entity, which Subsidiary is named in Schedule II of the Bank Act (Canada) S.C. 1991 C.46, as such schedule may be amended from time to time;

"Subsidiary" of any corporation (the "Parent") means any other corporation of which more than 50% of the outstanding capital stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the Board of Directors of such other corporation (irrespective of whether or not at the time capital stock of any other class or classes of such corporation shall or might have voting power upon the occurrence of any contingency) is at the time directly or indirectly owned by the Parent or by the Parent and/or one or more Subsidiaries of the Parent, and shall include any corporation that is a direct or indirect Subsidiary of any such first mentioned Subsidiary;

"Term" means, in relation to any Advance, the period for which such Advance is borrowed as specified in the Utilisation Request relating thereto;

"Termination Date" means the day falling one month prior to the Final Maturity Date;

"Transfer Certificate" means a certificate substantially in the form set out in the First Schedule (Form of Transfer Certificate) signed by the Bank and a Transferee whereby:

- (i) the Bank seeks to procure the transfer to such Transferee of all or a part of the Bank's rights and obligations hereunder upon and subject to the terms and conditions set out in Clause 31 (Assignments and Transfers by Bank); and
- (ii) such Transferee undertakes to perform the obligations it will assume as a result of delivery of such certificate to the Bank as is contemplated in Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank);

"Transfer Date" means, in relation to any Transfer Certificate, the date for the making of the transfer as specified in the schedule to such Transfer Certificate;

"Transferee" means a bank or other financial institution to which the Bank seeks to transfer or, as the case may be, has transferred all or part of the Bank's rights and obligations hereunder; "Utilisation" means a utilisation of the Facility hereunder;

"Utilisation Date" means the date of a Utilisation, being the date on which the Advance in respect thereof is to be made; and

"Utilisation Request" means a notice given to the Bank pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) in the form set out in the Third Schedule (Utilisation Request).

1.2 Interpretation. Any reference in this Agreement to:

the "Bank" shall be construed so as to include its and any subsequent successors, permitted Transferees and permitted assigns in accordance with their respective interests;

a document is in an "agreed form" when it has been initialled or signed by or on behalf of the Borrower, the Guarantor and the Bank;

- a "business day" shall be construed as a reference to a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are generally open for business in Toronto, Ontario, Canada;
- a "Clause" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a clause hereof;
- "financial indebtedness" shall be construed, with respect to any person, as a reference to any indebtedness of such person for or in respect of:
- (i) obligations created, issued or incurred by such person for borrowed money (whether by loan, the issuance and sale of debt securities or the sale of property to another person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to repurchase such property from such person);
- (ii) obligations of such person to pay the deferred purchase or acquisition price of property or services, other than trade accounts payable (other than for borrowed money) arising, and accrued expenses incurred, in the ordinary course of business so long as such trade accounts payable are payable within 90 days of the date the respective goods are delivered or the respective services are

- (iii) indebtedness of others secured by an encumbrance on the property of such person, whether or not the respective indebtedness so secured has been assumed by such person;
- (iv) contingent and non-contingent obligations of such person in respect of letters of credit, bankers' acceptances or similar instruments issued or accepted by banks and other financial institutions for account of such person;
- (v) capital lease obligations of such person (being all obligations of such person to pay rent or other amounts under a lease of (or other agreement conveying the right to use) property to the extent such obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as a capital lease on a balance sheet of such person under GAAP (as defined in Clause 20.3 (Definition of Financial Terms) or in any similar or equivalent manner under the relevant generally accepted accounting principles applicable to the preparation of such person's financial statements if these are other than GAAP) and, for the purposes of this Agreement, the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalised amount thereof, determined in accordance with GAAP (as so defined); and
 - (vi) financial indebtedness of others guaranteed by such person;
- a "holding company" of a person shall be construed as a reference to any person of which the first-mentioned person is a Subsidiary;
- "indebtedness" shall be construed so as to include any obligation (whether incurred as principal or as surety) for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or contingent;
- a "Part" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a part hereof;
- a "person" shall be construed as a reference to any person, firm, company, corporation, government, state or province or agency of a state or province or any association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality) of two or more of the foregoing;
- a "Schedule" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a schedule hereto;
- "tax" shall be construed so as to include any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge of a similar nature (including, without limitation, any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any delay in paying any of the same);
- "VAT" shall be construed as a reference to any goods and services tax under Canadian law and any other similar tax under any other jurisdiction, including, in each case, similar tax which may be imposed in place thereof from time to time:
- a "wholly-owned subsidiary" of a person shall be construed as a reference to any person which has no other members or shareholders except that other person and that other person's wholly-owned Subsidiaries or persons acting on behalf of that other person or its wholly-owned Subsidiaries; and
- the "winding-up", "dissolution" or "administration" of a company or corporation shall be construed so as to include any equivalent or analogous proceedings under the law of the jurisdiction in which such company or corporation is incorporated or any jurisdiction in which such company or corporation carries on business including, without limitation, being subject to or the seeking of liquidation, bankruptcy, winding-up, reorganisation, dissolution, administration, arrangement, adjustment, protection or relief of debtors or compromise, arrangement or proposals with creditors.
- 1.3 Currency "C\$" and "Canadian Dollars" denote the lawful currency of Canada from time to time.
- 1.4 "US\$" and "United States Dollars" denote the lawful currency of the United States of America from time to time.
- 1.5 References Save where the contrary is indicated, any reference in this Agreement to:
 - this Agreement or any other agreement or document shall be construed as a reference to this Agreement or, as the case may be, such other agreement or document as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended, restated, varied, novated or supplemented;
 - (ii) a statute shall be construed as a reference to such statute as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended or re-enacted;
 - (iii) a time of day shall be construed as a reference to Toronto; Ontario time; and
 - (iv) a person, shall mean that person's successor, permitted transferee or assignee.
- 1.6 Headings Clause, Part and Schedule headings are for ease of reference only.

Part 2

THE FACILITY

2. Grant of Facility

The Bank grants to the Borrower upon the terms and subject to the

conditions hereof, a revolving credit facility in a total aggregate amount of C\$100,000,000 (the "Commitment").

Purpose

- 3.1 Purpose The Facility is intended for the general corporate purposes of the Borrower, and, accordingly, the Borrower shall apply all amounts borrowed by it hereunder in or towards satisfaction of such purposes.
- 3.2 Application Without prejudice to the obligations of the Borrower under Clause 3.1 (Purpose), the Bank shall not be obliged to concern itself with the application of amounts raised by the Borrower hereunder.

4. Conditions Precedent

- 4.1 Save as the Bank may otherwise agree, the Bank shall be under no obligation hereunder unless the Bank has received (or waived receipt of) all of the documents listed in the Second Schedule (Condition Precedent Documents) and that each is, in form and substance, satisfactory to the Bank.
- 4.2 The Bank shall, on request by the Borrower, certify in writing whether or not it has received or waived receipt of any of the documents listed in the Second Schedule (Condition Precedent Documents) and whether each is in form and substance satisfactory to it.

Part 3

UTILISATION OF FACILITY

Utilisation of Facility

- 5.1 Delivery of a Utilisation Request The Borrower may from time to time utilise the Facility by delivering to the Bank, by no later than 10:30 a.m. on the proposed Utilisation Date, a duly completed Utilisation Request. The Bank shall, upon receipt of a duly completed Utilisation Request, advance the Requested Amount to the Borrower by no later than 3:00 p.m. on the Utilisation Date.
- 5.2 Utilisation Request Each Utilisation Request delivered to the Bank pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) shall be irrevocable and shall specify:
 - (i) the proposed Utilisation Date;
 - (ii) the Requested Amount (to be determined in accordance with Clause 5.3 (Requested Amount));
 - (iii) the Term in question which will begin on the proposed Utilisation Date and end on a business day, will not exceed 90 days in duration and will expire on or before the Final Maturity Date; and
 - (iv) the account to which the proceeds of the proposed Utilisation are to be paid.
- 5.3 Requested Amount The Requested Amount to be specified in a Utilisation Request delivered pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) shall be in a minimum amount of C\$100,000 and an integral multiple of C\$100,000.

Part 4

THE ADVANCES

6. Making of Advances

If the Borrower notifies the Bank that it is to make an Advance, and if on the proposed Utilisation Date relating to such an Advance:

- (i) no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred and has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 34 (Amendments and Waivers); and
- (ii) each of the representations which are to be deemed repeated at any time after the date hereof in accordance with Clause 18.15 (Repetition of Representations) are true and correct on and as of such Utilisation Date by reference to the facts and circumstances existing at the time (or, if any such representation is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific date, as of such specific date), except to any extent waived pursuant to Clause 34 (Amendments and Waivers), then, on such Utilisation Date, the Bank shall, subject to all the terms of this Agreement, make such Advance through its Facility Office.

7. Payment of Interest

On the Repayment Date relating to each Advance the Borrower shall pay to the Bank all unpaid accrued interest on that Advance.

8. Calculation of Interest

- 8.1 Interest Applicable to Advances The rate of interest applicable to an Advance from time to time during the Term of such Advance shall be the rate per annum determined by the Bank to be the sum of:
 - (i) the Cost of Funds Rate for such Advance; and
 - (ii) the Margin from time to time.
- 8.2 Bank to Notify The Bank shall not later than the time specified in the

applicable part of the Third Schedule notify the Borrower of each determination of the rate of interest made by it pursuant to Clause 8.1 (Interest Applicable to Advances).

9. Repayment of Advances

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Borrower shall repay each Advance made to it in full on the Repayment Date relating thereto and the Borrower shall not repay or prepay all or any part of any Advance outstanding hereunder except at the times and in the manner expressly provided herein.

Part 5

CANCELLATION

10. Cancellation

10.1 Cancellation At any time prior to the day falling one month before the Final Maturity Date the Borrower may, by giving to the Bank not less than 15 days' prior notice to that effect, cancel the whole or any part (being a minimum amount of C\$5,000,000, or equal to the amount of the Available Commitment, if less) of the Available Commitment.

10.2 Notice of Cancellation Any notice of cancellation given by the Borrower pursuant to Clause 10.1 (Cancellation) shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date upon which such cancellation is to be made and the amount of such cancellation.

11. Prepayment

The Borrower may, on any business day, prepay all (or any part thereof being in aggregate at least C\$100,000 and an integral multiple of C\$100,000) of any Advance made to it without premium or penalty but without prejudice to such Borrower's obligations under Clause 23.4 (Broken Periods), by giving to the Bank not less than 5 days' notice of the date of the prepayment. Any such notice shall be irrevocable and shall oblige the Borrower to make the prepayment on the date therein stated.

Part. 6

CHANGES IN CIRCUMSTANCES

12. Taxes

12.1 Tax Gross-up All payments to be made by any Obligor to any person under any Finance Document shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for or on account of tax unless such Obligor is required to make such a payment subject to the deduction or withholding of tax, in which case the sum payable by such Obligor in respect of which such deduction or withholding is required to be made shall be increased to the extent necessary to ensure that, after the making of the required deduction or withholding, such person receives and retains (free from any liability in respect of any such deduction or withholding) a net sum equal to the sum which it would have received and so retained had no such deduction or withholding been made or required to be made, provided however if on the due date of an interest payment to the Bank on an Advance, the Bank is not a Canadian Qualified Lender; and as a result the applicable Obligor is required to deduct or withhold Canadian withholding tax pursuant to Part XIII of the Income Tax Act (Canada) from that payment of interest, the applicable Obligor shall not be so required to pay an additional amount in respect of that deduction or withholding values in the control of the control deduction or withholding unless it results from the introduction of or change in, or in the interpretation or application of, any relevant law or any relevant practice of a Canadian taxing authority after this Agreement is entered into or such Obligor would have been required to make a deduction or withholding on account irrespective of whether the Bank is or is not a Canadian Qualified Lender.

For the purposes of this Clause,

"Canadian Qualified Lender" means a Schedule I Bank or a Schedule II Bank or other person not being a "non-resident person" for the purposes of Section 212 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) except that, if any of those statutory provisions are repealed, modified, extended or re-enacted, the Bank may at any time and from time to time amend the relevant definition in such manner as it may determine to be appropriate by giving notice of the amended definition or definitions to the Borrower.

- 12.2 Tax Indemnity Without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-Up), if any person or an agent on its behalf is required to make any payment on account of tax (not being a tax imposed on the overall net income including profits and gains of its Facility Office by the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or in which its Facility Office is located) or otherwise on or in relation to any sum received or receivable under any Finance Document by such person (including, without limitation, any sum received or receivable under this Clause 12) or any liability in respect of any such payment is asserted, imposed, levied or assessed against such person, the Obligor by whom such sum is paid or payable shall, upon demand by the Bank, promptly indemnify such person against such payment or liability, together with any interest, penalties and reasonable expenses payable or incurred in connection therewith but not to the extent that such liability, interest, penalties and reasonable expenses have arisen as a result of undue delay in all the circumstances by any person or any agent on its behalf in the filing or the submission of tax returns, computations or claims or the default of any person or any agent on its behalf in doing anything contemplated by the Finance Documents.
- 12.3 Notification The Bank will notify the applicable Obligor as soon as it is reasonably practicable of any circumstances arising as a result of which it is reasonably likely that it will be making a claim under Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) and if it intends to make a claim under such Clause it shall notify the applicable Obligor of the event by reason of which it is entitled to do so

and shall deliver to the applicable Obligor a certificate to that effect setting out in reasonable detail the basis and computation of such claim; provided that nothing herein shall require the Bank to disclose any confidential information relating to the organisation of its affairs.

12.4 Double Taxation Relief If, and to the extent that, the effect of Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-up) or Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) can be mitigated by virtue of the provisions of any applicable double tax convention entered into between the United States of America and Canada, (whether by a claim to repayment of any taxes referred to in Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-up) or Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) or otherwise) the Bank agrees to co-operate with the Borrower with a view to filing or providing any tax claims, forms, affidavits, declarations or other like documents which the Borrower has requested and which are required for the purpose of ensuring the application of such double tax convention so far as relevant. To the extent that the effect of Clause 12.1 and Clause 12.2 can be mitigated and the Bank fails to co-operate to the extent required hereby to so mitigate the effect of such clauses, the provisions of Clause 12.1 and Clause 12.2 shall not be applicable in relation to payments of interest to the Bank.

13. Tax Receipts

- 13.1 Notification of Requirement to Deduct Tax If, at any time, any Obligor is required by law to make any deduction or withholding from any sum payable by it under any Finance Document (or if thereafter there is any change in the rates at which or the manner in which such deductions or withholdings are calculated), such Obligor shall as soon as reasonably practicable after becoming aware of the same, notify the Bank.
- 13.2 Evidence of Payment of Tax If any Obligor makes any payment under any Finance Document in respect of which it is required to make any deduction or withholding, it shall pay or otherwise account for the full amount required to be deducted or withheld to the relevant taxation or other authority within the time allowed for such payment under applicable law and shall deliver to the Bank, within thirty days after the due date of such payment, withholding or deduction, evidence satisfactory to the Bank of that deduction, withholding or payment and (where remittance is required) of the remittance thereof to the relevant taxing or other authority.
- 14. Tax Undertaking by the Bank and Tax Refunds
- 14.1 Bank The Bank undertakes, promptly upon its Facility Office becoming aware of the same, to notify the Borrower if it shall cease to be a Canadian Qualified Lender.
- 14.2 Tax Credit Clawback If:

 - (2) the Bank determines in its absolute discretion and in good faith that it has obtained a refund of tax or obtained and used a credit against tax on its overall net income (a "Tax Credit") which the Bank in its absolute discretion and in good faith is able to identify as attributable to that Tax Payment

then, if in its absolute discretion and in good faith it can do so without prejudicing the amount of any Tax Credit for the Bank, the Bank shall reimburse the applicable Obligor such amount as the Bank in its absolute discretion determines, but in good faith, to be such proportion of that Tax Credit as will leave the Bank (after that reimbursement) in no better or worse position than it would have been in if no Tax Payment had been required. The Bank shall not be obliged to arrange its business or tax affairs in any particular way in order to be eligible for a Tax Credit (and, if it does make a claim, shall have absolute discretion as to the extent, order and manner in which it does so) and whether any amount is due from it under this Clause 14.2 (and, if so, what amount and when). The Bank shall not be obliged to disclose any information regarding its tax affairs and computations.

15. Increased Costs

15.1 Changes in Circumstances If, by reason of (i) any change in law in any jurisdiction or in its interpretation or administration and/or (ii) compliance with any request from or requirement of any central bank or other fiscal, monetary or other authority (including, without limitation, a request or requirement (x) which affects the manner in which the Bank or any holding company of the Bank is required to or does maintain capital resources having regard to the Bank's obligations under any Finance Document and to amounts owing to it under any Finance Document but excluding the implementation, as contemplated on the signing of this Agreement, of any of the matters set out in the July 1988 report of the Basle Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices entitled "International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards" (the "Cooke Report"), (y) which implements any change after the signing of this Agreement in, or in the interpretation or application of, such matters or any increase in the requirements of the Cooke Report after the date hereof:

- (a) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank incurs a cost as a result of the Bank's having entered into and/or performing its obligations under any Finance Document and/or assuming or maintaining a commitment under any Finance Document and/or its making one or more Advances;
- (b) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank suffers a reduction in the rate of return on its overall capital (not being a reduction by reason of the imposition of, or increase in the rates of tax payable on its overall profits or net income) as a result of a change in the manner in which the Bank is required to allocate resources to its obligations

under any Finance Document;

- (c) there is any increase in the cost to the Bank or any holding company of the Bank of funding or maintaining all or any of the advances comprised in a class of advances formed by or including the Advances made or to be made by the Bank hereunder; or
- (d) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank becomes liable to make any payment on account of tax or otherwise (not being a tax imposed on the net income of the Bank's Facility Office by the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or in which its Facility Office is located) on or calculated by reference to the amount of the Advances made or to be made by the Bank hereunder and/or to any sum received or receivable by it hereunder,

then the Borrower shall, provided that the Bank has notified the Borrower of such claim pursuant to Clause 15.2 (Increased Costs Claim), within 10 business days of receipt of a demand of the Bank, pay to the Bank amounts sufficient to indemnify the Bank or any such holding company against, as the case may be, (1) such cost, (2) such reduction in such rate of return (or such proportion of such reduction as is, in the opinion of the Bank, attributable to its obligations hereunder), (3) such increased cost (or such proportion of such increased cost as is, in the opinion of the Bank, attributable to its funding or maintaining Advances) or (4) such liability (save and to the extent that the Bank has been compensated for such liability pursuant to Clause 12 (Taxes)).

15.2 Increased Costs Claim If the Bank intends to make a claim pursuant to Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances), it shall notify the Borrower thereof by delivery of a certificate setting out in reasonable detail the basis and computation of such claim; provided that nothing herein shall require the Bank to disclose any confidential information relating to the organisation of its affairs.

15.3 Option to repay in relation to increased costs claim If the Borrower is required to pay any amount to the Bank under Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances), then subject to that Borrower giving the Bank not less than 10 days prior notice:

- (i) the Borrower may prepay all, but not part, of Advances together with accrued interest on the amount prepaid. On any such prepayment the Commitment shall be automatically cancelled; and/or
- (ii) the Borrower shall have the right at any time thereafter to locate a new lender to which all the rights and obligations of the Bank hereunder may be transferred. If such new lender has been located then the Bank and such new lender shall execute and deliver a Transfer Certificate pursuant to which all of the rights and obligations of the Bank hereunder shall be transferred to such new lender with effect from the Transfer Date specified in such Transfer Certificate.

16. Illegality

If, at any time, it is unlawful for the Bank to make, fund or allow to remain outstanding all or any of the Advances made or to be made by it hereunder or for it, then the Bank shall, promptly after becoming aware of the same, deliver to the Borrower and the Guarantor a certificate to that effect and, unless such illegality is avoided in accordance with Clause 17 (Mitigation), to the extent of such illegality:

- (i) the Bank shall not thereafter be obliged to participate in the making of such Advances and the amount of the Commitment shall be immediately reduced accordingly; and
- (ii) if the Bank so requires, the Borrower shall on such date as the Bank shall have specified as being necessary to comply with the relevant law repay such Advance together with accrued interest thereon and all other amounts owing to the Bank.

17. Mitigation

If, in respect of the Bank, circumstances $\,$ arise which would, or would upon the giving of notice, result in:

- (i) the reduction of the Commitment to zero pursuant to Clause 16 (Illegality);
- (ii) an increase in the amount of any payment to be made to it or for its account pursuant to Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-Up); or
- (iii) a claim for indemnification pursuant to Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) or 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances).

then, without in any way limiting, reducing or otherwise qualifying the obligations of the Borrower under any of the Clauses referred to in (i), (ii) or (iii) above, the Bank shall, in consultation with the Borrower, take such reasonable steps as the Bank acting in good faith considers appropriate to mitigate the effects of such circumstances including the transfer of its Facility Office to another jurisdiction or the transfer of its rights and obligations hereunder to another financial institution acceptable to the Borrower willing to participate in the Facility provided that the Bank shall be under no obligation to take any such action if, in the bona fide opinion of the Bank, to do so would or might have an adverse effect upon its business, operations or financial condition.

18. Representations

Each of the Obligors makes the representations and warranties in respect of itself only set out in Clause 18.1 to Clause 18.14 and acknowledges that the Bank entered into this Agreement in reliance on those representations and warranties.

- 18.1 Status and Due Authorization It is a corporation duly organised, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of:
 - (i) in the case of the Guarantor, Delaware; or
 - (ii) in the case of the Borrower, Ontario,

with all requisite corporate or other power to execute and deliver the Finance Documents to which it is a party and to exercise its rights and perform its obligations thereunder and all corporate and other action required to authorise its execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its performance of its obligations thereunder has been duly taken.

- 18.2 Validity and Admissibility in Evidence All acts, conditions and things required to be done, fulfilled and performed in order (a) to enable it lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights under and perform and comply with the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (b) to ensure that the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party are legal, valid and binding and (c) to make each Finance Document to which it is a party admissible in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation have been done, fulfilled and performed and all material governmental licences, authorizations, consents and approvals under the laws of any jurisdiction necessary to own its assets and carry on its business as now being or as proposed to be conducted have been obtained.
- 18.3 Most Recent Financial Statements The most recent financial statements of the Guarantor and the Borrower delivered in accordance with the terms of this Agreement were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the relevant jurisdiction of incorporation and consistently applied and in the case of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor give (in conjunction with the notes thereto) a true and fair view of the financial condition of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, and in the case of the financial statements of the Borrower delivered in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, show with reasonable accuracy the financial condition of the Borrower, in each case, at the date as of which they were prepared, and the results of the Borrower's, the Guarantor's or, as the case may be, the Group's operations during the financial year then ended.
- 18.4 No Material Adverse Change Since publication of the Original Financial Statements of the Borrower, there has been no material adverse change in the property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalization of the Borrower and, since publication of the Original Financial Statements of the Guarantor, there has been no material adverse change in the property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalization of the Group taken as a whole.
- 18.5 No Undisclosed Liabilities As at the date as of which the Original Financial Statements of each Obligor were prepared such Obligor had no, or, in the case of the Guarantor, no member of the Group had any, liabilities (contingent or otherwise) which were not disclosed thereby (or by notes thereto) or reserved against therein nor any unrealised or anticipated losses arising from commitments entered into by it which were not so disclosed or reserved against, in each case, as required under GAAP (as defined in Clause 20.3 (Definitions of Financial Terms)).
- 18.6 Litigation Other than as disclosed to the Bank prior to the date hereof, there are no legal or arbitral proceedings, or any proceedings by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, now pending or (to the knowledge of any Obligor) threatened against or affecting the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries as to which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination that could (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 18.7 Execution of the Finance Documents Its execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its exercise of its rights and performance of its obligations thereunder do not and will not:
 - (i) conflict with any agreement, mortgage, bond or other instrument or treaty to which it is a party or which is binding upon it or any of its assets;
 - (ii) conflict with its charter, by-laws or any other constitutive documents and rules and regulations; or
 - (iii) conflict with any applicable law, regulation or official or judicial order, writ, injunction or decree,

which, in each case, is reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect and could subject the Bank to liability.

- 18.8 Full Disclosure All of the written information supplied by any member of the Group to the Bank in connection herewith is true and accurate in all material respects.
- 18.9 Claims Pari Passu The claims of the Bank against it under the Finance Documents will rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured creditors save those whose claims are preferred solely by any bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar laws of general

- 18.10 No Immunity In the case of any Obligor incorporated in Canada, in any proceedings taken in Canada in relation to any of the Finance Documents, no Obligor will be entitled to claim for itself or any of its assets immunity from suit, execution, attachment or other legal process.
- 18.11 No Winding-up It has not taken any corporate action nor have any other steps been taken or legal proceedings been started or (to the best of its knowledge and belief) threatened against it for its winding-up, dissolution, administration or re-organisation or for the appointment of a receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, trustee or similar officer of it or of any or all of its assets or revenues.
- 18.12 Encumbrances Save as permitted by Clause 21.5 (Negative Pledge), no encumbrance exists over all or any of its present or future revenues or assets.
- 18.13 No Obligation to Create Security Its execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its exercise of its rights and performance of its obligations thereunder will not result in the existence of nor oblige any Obligor to create any encumbrance over all or any of its present or future revenues or assets.
- 18.14 Ownership of the Borrower The Borrower is a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Guarantor.
- 18.15 Repetition of Representations The representations contained in this Clause 18 (other than those made under Clauses 18.4, 18.5, 18.6 (but only with respect to proceedings that could have a Material Adverse Effect of the type referred to in clause (a) of the definition thereof), 18.8, and 18.13) by any Obligor shall be deemed to be repeated by such Obligor on each date upon which an Advance is made (other than Rollover Advances) by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing.

19. Financial Information

Each Obligor shall deliver or cause to be delivered or otherwise made available through electronic media (provided that the Bank shall be given prior written notice of such availability) to the Bank the following financial statements and information:

- 19.1 Annual Statements Each Obligor shall as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 120 days after the end of its financial year, deliver to the Bank its unaudited financial statements (or, in the case of the Guarantor, the consolidated audited financial statements of the Group) for such financial year.
- 19.2 Semi-annual and Quarterly Statements The Guarantor shall, as soon as same become available, but in any event within 60 days after the end of each of its quarters ending three months, six months and nine months after the end of its financial years, deliver to the Bank its consolidated unaudited financial statements of the Group for such period. The Borrower shall as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 90 days after the end of the half of its financial years ending six months after the end of its financial year, deliver to the Bank its unaudited financial statements for such period.
- 19.3 Other Financial Information Each Obligor shall from time to time on the request of the Bank, furnish the Bank with such information about the business and financial condition of the Group as the Bank may reasonably require.
- 19.4 Requirements as to Financial Statements Each Obligor shall ensure that:
 - (i) each set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to this Clause 19 is prepared on the same basis as was used in the preparation of its Original Financial Statements and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in its jurisdiction of incorporation and consistently applied;
 - (ii) each set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to Clause 19.1 is certified by a duly authorised officer of such Obligor as giving a true and fair view of its financial condition (or, in the case of financial statements of the Guarantor, the financial condition of the Group) as at the end of the period to which those financial statements relate and of the results of its (or, as the case may be, the Group's) operations during such period;
 - (iii) in respect of the Guarantor each set of financial statements delivered by the Guarantor pursuant to Clause 19.1 (Annual Statements) has been audited by an internationally recognised firm of independent auditors licensed to practise in its jurisdiction of incorporation; and
 - (iv) each set of consolidated financial statements and accounts delivered to the Bank pursuant to Clause 19.1 (Annual Statements) or Clause 19.2 (Semi-annual and Quarterly Statements) shall be accompanied by a compliance certificate signed by a duly authorised officer of the Guarantor, substantially in the form set out in the Fourth Schedule (Form of Compliance Certificate), together with any other information required to determine whether or not the financial condition of the Group satisfies the provisions of Clause 20 (Financial Condition).

20. Financial Condition

20.1 Financial Condition of the Borrower The Guarantor shall procure that, and the Borrower from time to time shall ensure in relation to itself that, as evidenced by the most recent set of financial statements delivered by the

- (i) Minimum Net Worth

 Its Net Worth shall not on any date be less than
 U.S.\$23,000,000 plus 25% of Cumulative Net Income as of the
 last day of each six month period of the Borrower (the first
 such six month period ending June 30, 2000 and thereafter
 every six month period).
- (ii) Maximum Debt to Total Capital The ratio of its Debt to Total Capital shall not on any date be more than 9 to 1.
- (iii) Minimum Equity to Total Assets Its Equity shall not on any date be less than 8.0% of its Total Assets.
- (iv) Minimum Eligible Assets to Debt The ratio of its Eligible Assets to Debt shall not on any date be less than 1.10 to 1.

20.2 Financial Condition of the Guarantor The Guarantor shall ensure that, as evidenced by the most recent set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to Clause 19 (Financial Information):

- (i) Maximum Delinquency Ratio Its Delinquency Ratio shall not on the last day of any calendar month be more than 6.0%.
- (ii) Minimum Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio
 The ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables shall
 not on any date be less than 4.0 % and remain so for more than
 90 days and the ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed
 Receivables shall not on any date be less than 3.5%.
- (iii) Minimum Tangible Net Worth
 The Tangible Net Worth of the Guarantor shall not on any date
 be less than US\$1,250,000,000 plus 40% of Cumulative Net
 Income as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the
 Guarantor most recently ended (being June 30, 2000) plus 40%
 of Cumulative Equity Proceeds as of such date of
 determination.
- (iv) Leverage Ratio $\hbox{ Its Leverage Ratio shall not on any date exceed 10.0 to 1.}$
- (v) Double Leverage Ratio Its Double Leverage Ratio shall not on any date exceed 1.25 to 1.

20.3 Definitions of Financial Terms In this Agreement:

"Cumulative Equity Proceeds" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the aggregate amount of all cash received on or prior to such date of determination by the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries in respect of any Equity Issuance effected after 30 June 2000, net of reasonable expenses incurred by the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries in connection therewith;

"Cumulative Net Income" shall mean, as of any date of determination, (i) in respect to the Guarantor, the net income of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) for each fiscal quarter of the Guarantor (a) commencing with the fiscal quarter ended 30 June 2000 and (b) ending with the fiscal quarter most recently ended on or prior to such date of determination; provided that the Guarantor's Cumulative Net Income shall be determined exclusive of any fiscal quarter of the Guarantor for which the consolidated net income of the Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) is less than zero; and (ii) in respect of the Borrower the net income of the Borrower (determined in accordance with GAAP) for each six month period of the Borrower (a) commencing with the six month period ending June 30, 2000 and (b) ending with the six month period most recently ended on or prior to such date of determination;

"Debt" means at any time and in relation to any person, indebtedness of such person owed to the Bank under any Finance Document and any indebtedness of such person owed to any person which is not Subordinated Indebtedness, not including securitization liability;

"Delinquency Ratio" shall mean, on any date and with respect to the Guarantor, the ratio of (a) all Past Due Receivables with respect to the Guarantor on such date to (b) the aggregate amount of all Managed Receivables with respect to the Guarantor on such date;

"Double Leverage Ratio" shall mean, on any date, the ratio of (a) the sum of the Guarantor's Intangibles calculated on an unconsolidated basis on such date plus the amount of the aggregate investment of the Guarantor in the capital stock of its Subsidiaries to (b) the Guarantor's Net Worth on such date;

"Eligible Assets" means the consolidated cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of the Borrower which are unrestricted or unpledged plus reported loan receivables of the Borrower less any (a) Past Due Receivables or (b) reported loan receivables that are restricted, pledged or subordinated;

"Equity" means on any date and with respect to any person, the aggregate at such time of such person's called up share capital, any credit balance on such person's share premium account or consolidated profit and loss account and such person's consolidated reserves less any debit balance on the consolidated profit and loss account of such person;

"Equity Issuance" shall mean (a) any issuance or sale by the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries of (i) any of its capital stock, (ii) any warrants or options exercisable in respect of its capital stock (other than any warrants or options issued to directors, officers or employees of the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to employee benefit plans established in the ordinary course of business and any capital stock of the Guarantor issued upon the exercise of such warrants or options) or (iii) any other security or instrument representing an equity interest (or the right to obtain any equity interest) in the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries or (b) the receipt by the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries from any person not a shareholder of the Guarantor of any capital contribution (whether or not evidenced by any equity security issued by the recipient of such contribution); provided that Equity Issuance shall not include (i) any such issuance or sale by any Subsidiary of the Guarantor to the Guarantor or any wholly owned Subsidiary of the Guarantor to any Subsidiary of the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of the Guarantor to any Subsidiary of

"GAAP" shall mean on any date and with respect to any person, generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America applied on a consistent basis with those used in the preparation of the latest annual or quarterly financial statements furnished by on behalf of such person to the Bank pursuant hereto:

"Intangibles" means as at any date and with respect to any person, the aggregate amount (to the extent reflected in determining the consolidated stockholders' equity of such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries) of (a) all write-ups (other than write-ups resulting from foreign currency translations and write-ups of assets of a going concern business made within 12 months after the acquisition of such business) subsequent to 30 June 2000 in the book value of any asset by any such person or any of its consolidated Subsidiaries, (b) all Investments in unconsolidated Subsidiaries and all equity investments in persons that are not Subsidiaries and (c) all unamortized debt discount and expense, unamortized deferred charges, goodwill, patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, anticipated future benefit of tax loss carry-forwards, copyrights, organisation or developmental expense and other intangible assets;

"Investments" means for any person (a) the acquisition (whether for cash, Property, services or securities or otherwise) of capital stock, bonds, notes, debentures, partnership or other ownership interests or other securities of any other person or any agreement to make any such acquisition (including, without limitation, any "short sale" or any sale of any securities at a time when such securities are not owned by the person entering into such sale); (b) the making of any deposit with, or advance, loan or other extension of credit to, any other person (including the purchase of Property from another person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to resell such Property to such person), but excluding any such advance, loan or extension of credit having a term not exceeding 90 days arising in connection with the sale of inventory or supplies by such person in the ordinary course of business; or (c) the entering into of any guarantee of, or other contingent obligation with respect to, indebtedness or other liability of any other person and (without duplication) any amount committed to be advanced, lent or extended to such person;

"Leverage Ratio" means on any date, the ratio of (a) the indebtedness (as determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of the Guarantor with respect to the Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries at such date minus the aggregate amount of all on-balance sheet loans held for securitization at such date to (b) the Guarantor's Tangible Net Worth at such date;

"Managed Receivables" means on any date and with respect to any person, the sum for such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of (a) all on-balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables plus (b) all on balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables held for securitization plus (c) all securitized credit card loans and other finance receivables of such person; provided that, as the term "Managed Receivables" is used in the Tier I Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio calculation, clauses (a), (b) and (c) above shall be determined exclusive of securitized, non-revolving finance receivables;

"Net Worth" means on any date the consolidated stockholders' equity of the Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries, all determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP;

"Past Due Receivables" means on any date and with respect to any person, (i) with respect to the definition of Delinquency Ratio, Managed Receivables and (ii) with respect to the definition of Eligible Assets, reported loan receivables, in each case contractually past due 90 days or more plus all other non performing assets provided however that receivables which are loans, whether or not contractually past due 90 days or more, shall not constitute Past Due Receivables to the extent of any cash balance of the account debtor on such loan on deposit with the creditor (but only to the extent such creditor is entitled under an agreement governing such loan to set-off such cash balances against the obligations of the account debtor under such loan and to the extent such cash balances are not subject to any other set-off or deduction by such creditor or any of its affiliates against a matured obligation owing by such debtor);

"Property" shall mean any right or interest in or to property of any kind whatsoever, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible;

"Subordinated Indebtedness" means at any time and in relation to any person, indebtedness of such person fully subordinated to the indebtedness of the Borrower under any Finance Document by a subordination agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank or if the lender of such indebtedness is an Affiliate of the Borrower in a form which includes provisions providing for the relevant subordination in an agreed form;

"Tangible Net Worth" means on any date and with respect to any person, the consolidated stockholders' equity of such person and its consolidated

Subsidiaries less Intangibles of such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries, all determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP;

"Tier 1 Capital" means on any date and with respect to any person, the amount, for such person and its Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis) on such date of "Tier 1 Capital", within the meaning given to such term in the Capital Adequacy Guidelines for State Member Banks published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 208, Appendix A, as amended, modified and supplemented, and in effect from time to time and any replacement thereof);

"Total Assets" means on any date and with respect to any person the amount, for such person, and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis) of "average total consolidated assets" within the meaning given to such term in the Capital Adequacy Guidelines for State Member Banks published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 208, Appendix A, as amended, modified and supplemented, and in effect from time to time and any replacement thereof);

"Total Capital" means on any date and with respect to any person, the Equity of such person plus Subordinated Indebtedness of such person;

20.4 Accounting Terms All accounting expressions which are not otherwise defined herein shall be construed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

21. Covenants

- 21.1 Litigation Each Obligor shall promptly give to the Bank notice of all legal or arbitral proceedings, and of all investigations or proceedings by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, and any material development in respect of such legal or other proceedings, against or affecting such Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries, except investigations or proceedings (a) as to which there is no reasonable possibility of an adverse determination or (b) that, if adversely determined, would not (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 21.2 Maintenance of Legal Validity Each Obligor shall obtain, comply with the terms of and do all that is necessary to maintain in full force and effect all authorizations, approvals, licences and consents required in or by the laws and regulations of its jurisdiction of incorporation to enable it lawfully to enter into and perform its obligations under each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and to ensure the legality, validity, enforceability or admissibility in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation of each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party.
- 21.3 Insurance The Guarantor shall procure that each Obligor maintains insurances on and in relation to its business and assets with reputable underwriters or insurance companies against such risks and to such extent as is usual for companies carrying on a business such as that carried on by such Obligor.
- 21.4 Disposals The Guarantor shall ensure that no Obligor shall, without the prior written consent of the Bank, enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation or amalgamation or liquidate, wind-up or dissolve itself or convey, sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of, by one or more transactions or series of transactions (whether related or not), all or substantially all of its revenues or its assets other than by way of a Permitted Disposal.
- 21.5 Negative Pledge The Guarantor shall ensure that no Obligor shall, without the prior written consent of the Bank, create or permit to subsist any Lien over any (1) Receivables of any Obligor or (2) Restricted Shares owned by it, in each case whether now owned or hereafter acquired, except:
- (a) Liens for taxes not yet due or Liens for taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves (in the good faith judgment of the management of the relevant Obligor) have been established;
- (b) Liens imposed by law (i) which are incurred in the ordinary course of business and (x) which do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of such Receivables or Restricted Shares or materially impair the use thereof in the operation of the business of any Obligor or (y) which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, which proceedings have the effect of preventing the forfeiture or sale of the Receivables or Restricted Shares subject to such Lien or (ii) which do not relate to material liabilities of any Obligor and do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of the Receivables or Restricted Shares of the Group taken as a whole; provided that no Lien permitted under this clause (b) may secure any obligation in an amount exceeding US\$10,000,000; and
- (c) Any pledge of Receivables to a Federal Reserve Bank made in the ordinary course of business to secure advances or other transactions and manage the liquidity position of an Obligor.
- 21.6 Claims Pari Passu Each Obligor shall ensure that at all times the claims of the Bank against it under each of the Finance Documents rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured creditors save those whose claims are preferred by any bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar laws of general application or granted a super-priority or deemed trust by reason of statute.
- 21.7 Notification of Events of Default Each Obligor shall promptly after becoming aware of the same inform the Bank of the occurrence of any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default and upon receipt of a written request to that effect from the Bank acting reasonably in circumstances which give reasonable grounds for belief that an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default may have occurred, confirm to the Bank that, save as previously notified

to the Bank or as notified in such confirmation, no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred.

22. Events of Default

Each of Clause 22.1 to Clause 22.17 describes circumstances which constitute an Event of Default for the purposes of this Agreement. Clause 22.18 and Clause 22.19 deal with the rights of the Bank after the occurrence of an Event of

- 22.1 Failure to Pay Any Obligor fails to pay any sum due from it under any Finance Document at the time, in the currency and in the manner specified therein and such failure is not remedied within five business days.
- 22.2 Cross Default Any financial indebtedness of any member of the Group in excess of an aggregate of US\$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) is not paid when due, any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group is declared to be or otherwise becomes due and payable prior to its specified maturity, any commitment for, or underwriting of, any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group is cancelled or suspended or any creditor or creditors of any member of the Group become entitled to declare any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group due and payable prior to its specified maturity.
- 22.3 Misrepresentation Any representation or statement made or deemed to be made by any Obligor in any of the Finance Documents to which it is a party or in any notice or other document, certificate or statement delivered by it pursuant hereto is or proves to have been incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed to be made.
- 22.4 Specific Covenants Any Obligor fails duly to perform or comply with any of the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in Clause 19 (Financial Information) or Clause 21 (Covenants) and, if such breach is capable of remedy, such breach has not been remedied within 30 days after notice of such breach has been given by the Bank to the relevant Obligor.
- 22.5 Financial Condition At any time any of the requirements of Clause 20 (Financial Condition) is not satisfied.
- 22.6 Other Obligations Any Obligor fails duly to perform or comply with any other obligation expressed to be assumed by it in any Finance Document and such failure, if capable of remedy, is not remedied within 30 days after the Bank has given notice thereof to such Obligor.
- 22.7 Insolvency and Rescheduling
- (a) An Obligor:
- (i) voluntarily commences any proceeding or files any proposal or petition, or notice thereof, including, without limitation, a notice of intention under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (the "BIA"), seeks relief under the BIA, the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada), the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or any other federal, state, provincial or other bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law;
- (ii) consents to the institution of, or fails to controvert in a timely and appropriate manner, any such proceeding, or the filing of any such petition;
- (iii) applies for or consents to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator or similar official for such Obligor or any Subsidiary or such Obligor, or for a substantial part of its property;
 (iv) files an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it at any such proceeding;
 - (v) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors;
- (vi) becomes unable, admits in writing its inability or fails generally, to pay its debts as they become due, or
 - (vii) takes action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing.
- (b) Any involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed in a court of competent jurisdiction seeking:
- (i) relief in respect of any Obligor or any Subsidiary of any Obligor, or a substantial part of its property, under the BIA, the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada), the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or any other federal, state, provincial or other bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law;
- (ii) the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator or similar official for either any Obligor or any Subsidiary of any Obligor, or for a substantial part of its property, or an emcumbrancer or lienor takes possession of any substantial part of its property; or
- (iii) the winding up or liquidation of any Obligor or any Subsidiary of any Obligor; and such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for 90 days or an order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall continue unstayed and in effect for 90 days.
- 22.8 Winding-up Any Obligor takes any corporate action or other steps are taken or legal proceedings are started for its winding-up, dissolution, administration or re-organisation or for the appointment of a liquidator, receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, conservator, custodian, trustee or similar officer of it or of all or substantially all of its revenues and assets other than (a) in connection with a solvent reconstruction, the terms of which have been previously approved by the Bank, or (b) a winding up petition which is proved to the satisfaction of the Bank to be frivolous or vexatious and which is, in any event, discharged within 21 days of its presentation.

- 22.9 Analogous Events Any event occurs which under the laws of any jurisdiction has a similar or analogous effect to any of those events mentioned in Clause 22.7 (Insolvency and Rescheduling), Clause 22.8 (Winding-up) or Clause 22.17 (Judgement Defaults).
- 22.10 Governmental Intervention By or under the authority of any government, (a) the management of the Guarantor is wholly or partially displaced or the authority of the Guarantor in the conduct of its business is wholly or partially curtailed which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or (b) all or a majority of the issued shares of the Guarantor or the whole or any part (the book value of which is twenty percent or more of the book value of the whole) of its revenues or assets is seized, nationalised, expropriated or compulsorily acquired which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 22.11 Ownership of the Guarantor Any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13 or 14 of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act) of 20% or more of the issued and outstanding shares of voting common stock issued by the Guarantor or the Guarantor shall at any time fail to own and control, beneficially and of record (free and clear of all encumbrances), at least 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each class of voting securities issued by Capital One Bank or the Guarantor shall at any time fail to own and control, beneficially and of record (free and clear of all encumbrances), at least 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each class of voting securities issued by Capital One, F.S.B.
- $22.12\,$ Ownership of the Borrower The Borrower is no longer a wholly owned Subsidiary of the Guarantor.
- 22.13 The Group's Business Any Obligor (i) ceases to carry on the business it carries on at the date hereof the cession of which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) enters into any unrelated business the entry into which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 22.14 Repudiation Any Obligor repudiates any Finance Document.
- 22.15 Illegality At any time it is or becomes unlawful for any Obligor to perform or comply with any or all of its obligations under any of the Finance Documents or any of the obligations of any Obligor under any of the Finance Documents are not or cease to be legal, valid and binding.
- 22.16 Performance of Obligations Any Obligor becomes unable to perform any of its obligations under any of the Finance Documents and such inability has a Material Adverse Effect on the ability of the Borrower to perform its payment obligations under any of the Finance Documents.
- 22.17 Judgment Defaults A final judgment or judgments for the payment of money of US\$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies) or more in the aggregate shall be rendered by one or more courts, administrative tribunals or other bodies having jurisdiction against the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries and the same shall not be discharged (or provision shall not be made for such discharge), or a stay of execution thereof shall not be procured, within 30 days from the date of entry thereof and the Guarantor or Subsidiary shall not, within said period of 30 days, or such longer period during which execution of the same shall have been stayed, appeal therefrom and cause the execution thereof to be stayed during such appeal.
- 22.18 Acceleration and Cancellation Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and at any time thereafter, the Bank may, by written notice to the Borrower:
 - (i) declare the Advances to be immediately due and payable (whereupon the same shall become so payable together with accrued interest thereon and any other sums then owed by the Borrower hereunder) or declare the Advances to be due and payable on demand of the Bank; and/or
 - (ii) declare that the Facility shall be cancelled, whereupon the same shall be cancelled and the Commitment shall be reduced to zero.
- 22.19 Advances Due on Demand If, pursuant to Clause 22.18 (Acceleration and Cancellation), the Bank declares the Advances to be due and payable on demand of the Bank, then, and at any time thereafter, the Bank may by written notice to the Borrower require repayment of the Advances on such date as it may specify in such notice (whereupon the same shall become due and payable on such date together with accrued interest thereon and any other sums then owed by the Borrower hereunder) or withdraw its declaration with effect from such date as it may specify in such notice.

Part 8

DEFAULT INTEREST AND INDEMNITY

23. Default Interest and Indemnity

23.1 Default Interest Period If any sum due and payable by any Obligor under any Finance Document to which it is a party is not paid on the due date therefor in accordance with the provisions of Clause 25 (Payments) or if any sum due and payable by any Obligor under any judgment of any court in connection herewith is not paid on the date of such judgment, the period beginning on such due date or, as the case may be, the date of such judgment and ending on the date upon which the obligation of such Obligor to pay such sum (the balance thereof for the time being unpaid being herein referred to as an "unpaid sum") is discharged shall be divided into successive periods, each of which (other than the first) shall start on the last day of the preceding such period and the duration of each of which shall (except as otherwise provided in this Clause 23) be selected by the Bank.

- 23.2 Default Interest During each such period relating thereto as is mentioned in Clause 23.1 (Default Interest Period) an unpaid sum shall bear interest at the rate per annum which is the sum from time to time of one percent and the Canadian Prime Rate.
- 23.3 Payment of Default Interest Any interest which shall have accrued under Clause 23.2 (Default Interest) in respect of an unpaid sum shall be due and payable and shall be paid by the Obligor owing such unpaid sum at the end of the period by reference to which it is calculated or on such other date or dates as the Bank may specify by written notice to such Obligor.
- 23.4 Broken Periods If the Bank receives or recovers all or any part of an Advance made by the Bank otherwise than on the last day of the Term thereof, the Borrower shall pay to the Bank on demand an amount equal to the amount (if any) by which (i) the additional interest which would have been payable on the amount so received or recovered had it been received or recovered on the last day of the Term thereof exceeds (ii) the amount of interest which in the opinion of the Bank would have been payable to the Bank on the last day of the Term thereof in respect of a deposit in the currency of the amount so received or recovered equal to the amount so received or recovered placed by it with a Schedule I Bank in Toronto for a period starting on the first business day following the date of such receipt or recovery and ending on the last day of the Term thereof. In addition the Borrower shall also pay to the Bank a breakage fee in respect to any such receipt of all or any part of an Advance in accordance with the Bank's usual practice.
- 23.5 Indemnities Each Obligor undertakes to indemnify:
 - the Bank and the Bank's officers, directors, employees, agents, and delegates against any cost, claim, loss, expense (including legal fees) or liability (other than any cost, claim, loss, expense or liability incurred as a result of the Bank's own wilful misconduct or gross negligence) together with any VAT thereon, which any of them may reasonably sustain or incur as a consequence of the occurrence of any Event of Default or any default by such Obligor in the performance of any of the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in the Finance Documents (or any of them); and
 - (ii) the Bank against any loss (other than any loss incurred as a result of the Bank's own wilful misconduct or gross negligence) it may suffer as a result of its funding an Advance requested by the Borrower hereunder but not made by reason of the operation of any one or more of the provisions hereof.
- 23.6 Unpaid Sums or Advances Any unpaid sum shall (for the purposes of this Clause 23 and Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances)) be treated as an Advance and accordingly in this Clause 23 and Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) the term "Advance" includes any unpaid sum and "Term", in relation to an unpaid sum, includes each such period relating thereto as is mentioned in Clause 23.1 (Default Interest Periods).

Part 9

PAYMENTS

24. Currency of Account and Payment

- 24.1 Currency of Account Canadian Dollars is the currency of account and payment in respect of the Facility, for each and every sum at any time due from any of the Obligors under the Facility and, in connection therewith, in the other Finance Documents provided that:
 - (i) each payment pursuant to Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) or Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) shall be made in the currency specified by the party acting reasonably and claiming thereunder; and
 - (ii) any amount expressed to be payable in a currency other than Canadian Dollar shall be paid in that other currency.
- 24.2 Currency Indemnity If any sum due from any Obligor under the Finance Documents or any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto has to be converted from the currency (the "first currency") in which the same is payable thereunder or under such order or judgment into another currency (the "second currency") for the purpose of (i) making or filing a claim or proof against such Obligor, (ii) obtaining an order or judgment in any court or other tribunal or (iii) enforcing any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto, such Obligor shall indemnify and hold harmless each of the persons to whom such sum is due from and against any loss suffered as a result of any discrepancy between (a) the rate of exchange used for such purpose to convert the sum in question from the first currency into the second currency and (b) the rate or rates of exchange at which such person may in the ordinary course of business purchase the first currency with the second currency upon receipt of a sum paid to it in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of any such order, judgment, claim or proof.

25. Payments

- 25.1 Payments to the Bank On each date on which any Finance Document requires an amount to be paid by any Obligor under any of the Finance Documents in respect of the Facility or otherwise to the Bank, such Obligor shall make the same available to the Bank:
 - (i) where such amount is denominated in Canadian Dollars, by payment in Canadian Dollars for value on the day in question to the Bank via

Royal Bank of Canada Correspondent Bank Division Toronto, Ontario

Transit Routing Number: 07172-003 For Credit To: Bank One Canada Account Number: 000-047-1

For Further Credit To: Capital One Inc. Account Number: o

(or such other account or bank as the Bank may have specified for this purpose);

(ii) where such amount is denominated in United States Dollars, by payment in United States Dollars for value on the day in question to the Bank via:

> Federal Reserve Bank of Detroit For Account of: Bank One Michigan ABA Number: 072 000 326, in favour of Bank One Canada

For Further Credit To: Capital One Inc. Account Number: ;

- (iii) where such amount is denominated in any other currency, by payment in such currency for value on the day in question to the Bank's account number specified for such purpose.
- 25.2 Alternative Payment Arrangements If, at any time, it shall become impracticable (by reason of any action of any governmental authority or any change in law, exchange control regulations or any similar event) for any or all of the Obligors to make any payments hereunder in the manner specified in Clause 25.1 (Payments to the Bank), then such Obligor may agree with the Bank's alternative arrangements for the payment direct to the Bank of amounts due to the Bank hereunder provided that, in the absence of any such agreement with the Bank, such Obligor shall be obliged to make all payments due to the Bank in the manner specified herein.
- 25.3 No Set-off All payments required to be made by any Obligor under the Finance Documents shall be calculated without reference to any set-off or counterclaim and shall be made free and clear of and without any deduction for or on account of any set-off or counterclaim.
- 25.4 Interest Act (Canada) For the purposes of the Interest Act (Canada) and disclosure thereunder, whenever interest to be paid hereunder or in connection herewith is to be calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days or any other period of time that is less than a calendar year, the yearly rate of interest to which the rate determined pursuant to such calculation is equivalent is the rate so determined multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year in which the same is to be ascertained and divided by either 365 or such other period of time, as the case may be. The rates of interest under this Agreement are nominal rates, and not effective rates or yields. The principal of deemed reinvestment of interest does not apply to any interest calculation under this Agreement.
- 25.5 Suspense Accounts Where and for so long as reasonably deemed necessary by the Bank for the purpose of maximising its recoveries in any winding-up, dissolution or administration then taking place or reasonably likely to occur, all moneys received, recovered or realised by the Bank by virtue of the Guarantee may, in that Bank's discretion, be credited to a suspense or impersonal account and may be held in such account for so long as the Bank thinks reasonably fit pending the application from time to time (as the Bank may think fit) of such moneys in or towards the payment and discharge of any amounts owing by any of the Obligors to the Bank hereunder.
- 25.6 Non-Business Days In the event that any payment required to be made under any Finance Document falls to be made on a day which is not a business day it shall be made on the next business day.

26. Set-Off

Each Obligor authorises the Bank to apply any credit balance to which such Obligor is entitled on any account of such Obligor with the Bank in satisfaction of any sum due and payable from such Obligor to the Bank hereunder but unpaid; for this purpose, the Bank is authorised to purchase with the moneys standing to the credit of any such account such other currencies as may be necessary to effect such application. The Bank shall not be obliged to exercise any right given to it by this Clause 26. Nothing in this Clause 26 shall constitute an encumbrance.

Part 10

FEES, COSTS AND EXPENSES

- 27. Commitment Commission and Arranging Fee
- 27.1 The Borrower shall pay to the Bank a commitment commission of _____ percent per annum on the amount of the Bank's Available Commitment from day to day during the period beginning on the date hereof and ending on the Termination Date and payable quarterly in arrears on the last day of each quarter, or if not a business day, then the next business day immediately thereafter.
- 27.2 The Borrower shall pay to the Bank an arrangement fee in respect to the Commitment in the amount of ____ percent of the Commitment (being C\$___), which fee has been fully earned by the Bank as a result of the Bank entering into of this Agreement whether or not any Advance is made by the Bank hereunder and is payable at closing and a further fee in the amount of ____ percent of the Commitment (being C\$____) if all Advances have not be repaid in full and if

the Facility has not been terminated by January 1, 2001.

28. Costs and Expenses

- 28.1 Costs and Expenses The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees, not to exceed C\$25,000 plus disbursements) together with any VAT thereon incurred by it in connection with the negotiation, preparation and execution of the Finance Documents and the completion of the transactions therein contemplated except, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any transfer or assignment by the Bank of its rights or obligations becaused
- 28.2 Preservations and Enforcement of Rights The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees) together with any VAT thereon reasonably incurred in or in connection with the preservation and/or enforcement of any of their rights under any of the Finance Documents except, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any transfer or assignment by the Bank of its rights or obligations hereunder.
- 28.3 Stamp Taxes The Borrower shall pay all stamp, registration and other taxes to which any of the Finance Documents or any judgment given in connection therewith is or at any time may be subject and shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank, indemnify the Bank against any liabilities, costs, claims and expenses resulting from any failure to pay or any delay in paying any such tax.
- 28.4 Guarantor's Liabilities for Costs If the Borrower fails to perform any of its obligations under this Clause 28, the Guarantor shall indemnify the Bank against any loss incurred by it as a result of such failure.
- 28.5 Waivers and Consents The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank (and without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 28.2 (Preservations and Enforcements of Rights) and Clause 34.2 (Amendment Costs) compensate the Bank for all reasonable costs and expenses (including telephone, fax, copying and travel costs) incurred by the Bank in connection with its taking such action as it may deem appropriate in complying with any request by any Obligor in connection with:
 - (a) the granting or proposed granting of any waiver or consent requested hereunder by any Obligor;
 - (b) any actual breach by any Obligor of its obligations hereunder;
 - (c) the occurrence of any event which is an $\mbox{\bf Event}$ of Default or a Potential $\mbox{\bf Event}$ of Default; or
 - (d) any amendment or proposed amendment hereto requested by any Obligor.

Part 11

ASSIGNMENTS AND TRANSFERS

29. Benefit of Agreement

This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of each party hereto and its or any subsequent successors and permitted Transferees and assigns.

30. Assignments and Transfers by the Obligors

None of the Obligors shall be entitled to assign or transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder except pursuant to a Permitted Disposal.

- 31. Assignments and Transfers by Bank
- 31.1 Assignments and Transfers The Bank may assign all or any of its rights and benefits hereunder or transfer in accordance with Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank) all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder or transfer its Facility Office provided that (save in the case of an assignment of rights and benefits to any Affiliate of the Bank) no such assignment or transfer may be of an amount of less than C\$5,000,000 or may be made without the prior written consent of the Borrower such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed (and, for the avoidance of doubt, it shall not be unreasonable for the Borrower to withhold or delay its consent in the case of an assignment of rights and benefits to any proposed assignee whose long-term debt obligations are then rated below Baa3 by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or below BBB- by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services). Notwithstanding the foregoing, no consent from any Obligor shall be required with respect to any such assignment or transfer at any time after any notice has been delivered pursuant to Clause 22.18 (Acceleration and Cancellation).
- 31.2 Transfers by Bank If the Bank wishes to transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and/or obligations hereunder as contemplated in Clause 31.1 (Assignments and Transfers), then such transfer may be effected by the delivery to the Bank of a duly completed and duly executed Transfer Certificate in which event, on the later of the Transfer Date specified in such Transfer Certificate and the fifth business day after (or such earlier business day endorsed by the Bank on such Transfer Certificate falling on or after) the date of delivery of such Transfer Certificate to the Bank:
 - (i) to the extent that in such Transfer Certificate the Bank party thereto seeks to transfer its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder, each Obligor and the Bank shall be released from further obligations towards one another hereunder and their respective rights against one another shall be cancelled (such

rights, benefits and obligations being referred to in this Clause 31.2 as "discharged rights and obligations"); and

(ii) each Obligor and the Transferee party thereto shall assume obligations towards one another and/or acquire rights against one another which differ from such discharged rights and obligations only insofar as such Obligor and such Transferee have assumed and/or acquired the same in place of such Obligor and the transferring Bank.

32. Disclosure of Information

The Bank may disclose to any actual or potential assignee or Transferee or to any sub-participant in relation to any of the Finance Documents such information about the Obligors and the Group as the Bank shall consider appropriate provided that, prior to the disclosure of such information, it has obtained a duly completed confidentiality undertaking (substantially in the form set out in the Fifth Schedule (Form of Confidentiality Undertaking)) from such potential assignee, Transferee or sub-participant.

33. Calculations and Evidence of Debt

- 33.1 Basis of Accrual Subject to Clause 25.4 (Interest Act (Canada)), interest and commitment commission shall accrue from day to day and shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days (or, in any case where market practice differs, in accordance with market practice) and the actual number of days elapsed. Each rate of interest stipulated as an annual rate of interest pursuant to any Finance Document which is calculated with reference to a period (the "deemed interest period") that is less than the actual number of days in the calendar year of calculation is, for the purposes of disclosure required pursuant to the Interest Act (Canada), equivalent to such annual rate multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year of calculation and divided by the number of days in the deemed interest period.
- 33.2 Evidence of Debt The Bank shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice accounts evidencing the amounts from time to time lent by and owing to it hereunder.
- 33.3 Prima Facie Evidence In any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with any of the Finance Documents, the entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to Clause 33.2 (Evidence of Debt) shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations of the Obligors therein recorded.
- 33.4 Certificates of Bank A certificate of the Bank as to (i) the amount by which a sum payable to it hereunder is to be increased under Clause 12.1 (Tax Gross-Up) or (ii) the amount for the time being required to indemnify it against any such cost, payment or liability as is mentioned in Clause 12.2 (Tax Indemnity) or 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive for the purposes of any of the Finance Documents and prima facie evidence in any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with any of the Finance Documents. A certificate of the Bank as to the amount at any time due from the Borrower hereunder or the amount which, but for any of the obligations of the Borrower hereunder being or becoming void, voidable, unenforceable or ineffective, at any time would have been due from the Borrower hereunder shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive for the purposes of any of the Finance Documents.

34. Amendments and Waivers

- 34.1 Amendments and Waivers Save as otherwise provided herein, any provision of any of the Finance Documents may be amended or supplemented only if the Borrower and the Bank so agree in writing.
- 34.2 Amendment Costs If any Obligor requests any amendment, supplement, modification or waiver in accordance with Clause 34.1 (Amendments and Waivers) then that Obligor shall within five business days of demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all reasonable costs and expenses (including legal fees) together with any VAT thereon incurred by the Bank in the negotiation, preparation and execution of any written instrument contemplated by Clause 34.1 (Amendments and Waivers).

35. Remedies and Waivers

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Bank any right or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy. The rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

36. Partial Invalidity

If, at any time, any provision of any Finance Document is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of the Finance Documents nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction shall in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

37. Maximum Rate of Return

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall the aggregate "interest" (as defined in Section 347 of the Criminal Code, Statutes of Canada, 1985, C.46 as the same may be amended, replaced or re-enacted from time to time) payable hereunder exceed the effective annual rate of interest on the "credit advanced" (as defined in that section) hereunder lawfully permitted under that section and, if any payment, collection or demand pursuant to the Finance Documents in respect of "interest" (as defined in that

section) is determined to be contrary to the provisions of that section, such payment, collection or demand shall be deemed to have been made by mutual mistake of the Obligors and the Bank and the amount of such payment or collection shall be refunded to the applicable Obligor; for purposes hereof the effective annual rate of interest shall be determined in accordance with generally accepted actuarial practices and principles over the term of the loan on the basis of annual compounding of the lawfully permitted rate of interest and, in the event of dispute, a certificate of a Fellow of the Canadian Institute of Actuaries appointed by the Bank will be conclusive for the purposes of such determination.

38. Notices

- 38.1 Communications in writing Each communication to be made under any Finance Document shall, unless otherwise stated, be made in writing but, unless otherwise stated, may be made by fax, telex or letter.
- 38.2 Delivery Any communication or document to be made or delivered by one person to another pursuant to any of the Finance Documents shall (unless that other person has by fifteen days' written notice to each Obligor or the Bank, as appropriate, specified another address) be made or delivered to that other person at the address identified with its signature below (or, in the case of a Transferee, at the end of the Transfer Certificate to which it is a party as Transferee) and shall be deemed to have been made or delivered when dispatched and the appropriate answer back received in the case of any communication made by telex) or (in the case of any communication made by telex) or (as the case may be) ten days after being deposited in the post postage prepaid in an envelope addressed to it at that address or (in the case of any communication made by fax) transmission has been completed and, in the case of the Bank, when received by the department or officer identified with the Bank's signature below (or such other department or officer as the Bank shall from time to time specify for this purpose).
- 38.3 English Language Each communication and document made or delivered by one party to another pursuant to any of the Finance Documents shall be in the English language or accompanied by a translation thereof into English certified (by an officer of the person making or delivering the same) as being a true and accurate translation thereof.
- 38.4 Notices Effective Each communication or document to be made or delivered to any Obligor hereunder shall be effective if made or delivered to the Guarantor.

39. Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto on separate counterparts each of which, when executed and delivered, shall constitute an original, but all the counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

Part 12

LAW AND JURISDICTION

40. Law

This Agreement shall be governed by and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario.

41. Jurisdiction

- 41.1 Ontario Courts Each of the parties hereto irrevocably agrees for the benefit of each other party hereto that any competent court in the Province of Ontario shall have jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceeding, and to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with the Finance Documents (respectively "Proceedings" and "Disputes") and, for such purposes, irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts.
- 41.2 Appropriate Forum Each Obligor irrevocably waives any objection which it might now or hereafter have to the courts referred to in Clause 41.1 (Ontario Courts) being nominated as the forum to hear and determine any Proceedings and to settle any Disputes and agrees not to claim that any such court is not a convenient or appropriate forum.
- 41.3 Service of Process Each Obligor agrees that the process by which any Proceedings are begun may be served on it by being delivered in connection with any Proceedings in Ontario, to the Borrower at its principal place of business in Ontario. If the appointment of the person mentioned in this Clause 41.3 ceases to be effective in respect of any or all of the Obligors, such Obligor or Obligors shall immediately appoint a further person in Ontario to accept service of process on its behalf in Ontario and, failing such appointment within 15 days, the Bank shall be entitled to appoint such a person by notice to such Obligor or Obligors. Nothing contained herein shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.
- 41.4 Non-exclusive Submissions The submission to the jurisdiction of the courts referred to in Clause 41.1 (Ontario Courts) shall not (and shall not be construed so as to) limit the right of the Bank to take Proceedings against any Obligor in any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in any one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) if and to the extent permitted by applicable law.
- 41.5 Consent to Enforcement Each Obligor hereby consents generally in respect of any proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with such proceedings including, without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment which may be made or given in such proceedings.

41.6 Waiver of Immunity To the extent that any Obligor may in any jurisdiction claim for itself or its assets immunity from suit, execution, attachment (whether in aid of execution, before judgment or otherwise) or other legal process and to the extent that in any such jurisdiction there may be attributed to itself or its assets such immunity (whether or not claimed), such Obligor hereby irrevocably agrees not to claim and hereby irrevocably waives such immunity to the full extent permitted by the laws of such jurisdiction.

AS WITNESS the hands of the duly authorised $\,$ representatives of the parties hereto the day and year first before written.

The Borrower

CAPITAL ONE INC.

By:

Address for Notices:

Suite 5800

40 King Street West Toronto, Ontario

M5H 3Z7

With a copy to:

Director of Corporate Funding Capital One Services, Inc. 8000 Jones Branch Drive McLean, Virginia 22102 Fax: 703-875-1099

Email: Steve.Linehan@capitalone.com

The Guarantor

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By:

Address for Notices:

c/o Capital One Services, Inc. 8000 Jones Branch Drive McLean, Virginia 22102 Attention: Director of Corporate Funding

Fax: 703-875-1099 Email: Steve.Linehan@capitalone.com

The Bank

BANK ONE CANADA

By:

Name: Title:

By:

Name: Title:

Address for Notices:

Canada Trust Tower, BCE Place 161 Bay Street, Suite 4240 Toronto, Ontario

Canada M5J 2S1

Attention:

Jeremiah Hynes

With a copy to:

Steven D. Franklin

U. S. Financial Institutions Division

Bank One Capital Markets Inc.

Hank One Plaza
Mail Code 1L1-0162
Chicago, Illinois
U.S.A. 60670
E-mail address: Steven_D_Franklin@em.fcnbd.com

THE FIRST SCHEDULE

Form of Transfer Certificate

To: Bank One Canada

TRANSFER CERTIFICATE

Relating to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 whereby a C\$100,000,000 revolving credit facility was made available to Capital One Inc. as borrower under the guarantee of Capital One Financial Corporation as guarantor by Bank One Canada.

- 1. Terms defined in the Facility Agreement shall, subject to any contrary indication, have the same meanings herein. The term Transferee is defined in the schedule hereto.
- 2. The Bank (i) confirms that the details in the schedule hereto under the heading "Commitment" and "Advance(s)" accurately summarises its Commitment and/or, as the case may be, the Term and Repayment Date of one or more existing Advances made by it and (ii) requests the Transferee to accept and procure the transfer to the Transferee of the portion specified in the schedule hereto of, as the case may be, its Commitment and/or such Advance(s) by counter-signing and delivering this Transfer Certificate to the Bank at its address for the service of notices specified in the Facility Agreement.
- 3. The Transferee hereby requests the Bank to accept this Transfer Certificate as being delivered to the Bank pursuant to and for the purposes of Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank) of the Facility Agreement so as to take effect in accordance with the terms thereof on the Transfer Date or on such later date as may be determined in accordance with the terms thereof.
- 4. The Transferee confirms that it has received a copy of the Facility Agreement together with such other information as it has required in connection with this transaction and that it has not relied and will not hereafter rely on the Bank to check or enquire on its behalf into the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy, accuracy or completeness of any such information and further agrees that it has not relied and will not rely on the Bank to assess or keep under review on its behalf the financial condition, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status or nature of the Borrower or the Guarantor.
- 5. The Transferee hereby undertakes with the Bank and each of the other parties to the Facility Agreement that it will perform in accordance with their terms all those obligations which by the terms of the Facility Agreement will be assumed by it after delivery of this Transfer Certificate to the Bank and satisfaction of the conditions (if any) subject to which this Transfer Certificate is expressed to take effect.
- 6. The Bank makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of the Facility Agreement or any document relating thereto and assumes no responsibility for the financial condition of the Borrower or the Guarantor or for the performance and observance by the Borrower or the Guarantor of any of its obligations under the Facility Agreement or any document relating thereto and any and all such conditions and warranties, whether express or implied by law or otherwise, are hereby excluded.
- 7. The Bank hereby gives notice that nothing herein or in the Facility Agreement (or any document relating thereto) shall oblige the Bank to (i) accept a re-transfer from the Transferee of the whole or any part of its rights, benefits and/or obligations under the Facility Agreement transferred pursuant hereto or (ii) support any losses directly or indirectly sustained or incurred by the Transferee for any reason whatsoever including, without limitation, the nonperformance by the Borrower, the Guarantor or any other party to the Facility Agreement (or any document relating thereto) of its obligations under any such document. The Transferee hereby acknowledges the absence of any such obligation as is referred to in (i) or (ii) above.
- $8.\ \, {
 m This}\ \, {
 m Transfer}\ \, {
 m Certificate}\ \, {
 m and}\ \, {
 m the}\ \, {
 m rights}\ \, {
 m and}\ \, {
 m obligations}\ \, {
 m of}\ \, {
 m the}\ \, {
 m parties}\ \, {
 m hereunder}\ \, {
 m shall}\ \, {
 m be}\ \, {
 m governed}\ \, {
 m by}\ \, {
 m and}\ \, {
 m construed}\ \, {
 m in}\ \, {
 m accordance}\ \, {
 m with}\ \, {
 m the}\ \, {
 m laws}\ \, {
 m of}\ \, {
 m the}\ \, {
 m Province}\ \, {
 m of}\ \, {
 m Ontario}.$

THE SCHEDULE

- Transferee:
- 2. Transfer Date:
- 3. Commitment Portion Transferred
- 4. Advance(s):

Term and Repayment Date Portion Transferred

Administrative Details of Transferee

Address:

Contact Name:

Account for Payments

Facsimile:

Telephone:

THE SECOND SCHEDULE

Condition Precedent Documents

1. In relation to each Obligor:

- (i) a copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of such Obligor, of the Memorandum and Articles of Association (or equivalent documents) of such Obligor;
- (ii) a copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of such Obligor, of a Board Resolution (or, as appropriate, a resolution of the Executive Committee, but in such case accompanied by the authorization of such Executive Committee so to act) of such Obligor approving the execution, delivery and performance of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and the terms and conditions hereof and authorising a named person or persons to sign the Finance Documents to which it is a party and any documents to be delivered by such Obligor pursuant hereto; and
- (iii) a certificate of a duly authorised officer of such Obligor setting out the names and signatures of the persons authorised to sign, on behalf of such Obligor, the Finance Documents to which it is a party and any documents to be delivered by such Obligor pursuant hereto.
- 2. An opinion of Smith Lyons, Canadian counsel to the Borrower, in substantially the form distributed to the Bank prior to the execution hereof.
- 3. A copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of the Guarantor, of the Original Financial Statements of such Obligor.
- The Guarantee.

THE THIRD SCHEDULE

Utilisation Request

Please see attached

[Intrader Printout]

THE FOURTH SCHEDULE

Form of Compliance Certificate

To: Bank One Canada

Dear Sirs

Capital One - Compliance Certificate

We refer to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 and made between Capital One Inc. as borrower, Capital One Financial Corporation as guarantor and Bank One Canada as the Bank. Terms defined in the Facility Agreement shall bear the same meanings in this Certificate.

I, [], a duly authorized officer of Capital One Financial Corporation hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge, information and belief as at [insert date]:

A. the Borrower's Net Worth is as follows:

[amount of Net Worth] \$U.S.

- In the case of the Borrower:-
 - (a) the ratio of its Debt to Total Capital is []
 - (b) the ratio of its Equity to Total Assets is []
 - (c) the ratio of its Eligible Assets to Debt is []
- C. In the case of the Guarantor:-
 - (a) its Delinquency Ratio is []%
 - (b) the ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables is []
 - (c) its Tangible Net Worth is [] \$U.S.
 - (d) its Leverage Ratio is []
 - (e) its Double Leverage Ratio is []

I confirm that to the best of my knowledge and belief, having made due enquiry no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred (which has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 33 (Amendments and Waivers) and the Group was in compliance with all of the covenants contained in Clause 19 (Financial Condition) of the Facility Agreement as at [].

Yours faithfully

Title:

Capital One Financial Corporation

10573728.05

THE FIFTH SCHEDULE

Form of Confidentiality Undertaking

From: Bank One Canada
[Address]
and
Capital One Financial Corporation
[Address]

To: [Prospective Recipient]

Dear Sirs,

Capital One - Confidentiality Agreement

We refer to our conversations about the facility for Capital One Inc. ("COI") (the "Transaction") and to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 and made between COI as borrower, Capital One Financial Corporation as guarantor and Bank One Canada as the Bank. Following our receipt of a copy of this letter countersigned by you, we may give you certain structural concepts, information and documents relating to the Transaction (together the "Information").

In this letter, the "Bank Group" means Bank One Canada and its subsidiary undertakings, parent undertakings and fellow subsidiary undertaking and the "Capital One Group" means Capital One Financial Corporation and its subsidiaries and affiliates.

In return for us agreeing to provide you with certain Information, you agree as follows:

- (a) You shall hold in strict confidence all Information disclosed to you by us or on our behalf and agree that such Information is supplied solely to help you in deciding whether you want to participate in the Transaction and will solely be used by you for that purpose. Despite this obligation, you may disclose Information:
- (i) to your advisers who need to know such Information for the purpose of evaluating the Transaction;
- (ii) which, except through a failure by you or any adviser to comply with an undertaking as to confidentiality, is in the public domain; and
- (iii) to bank supervisory authorities, statutory auditors or examining authorities, if you are obliged by law or regulation to disclose the Information to them.
- If you have to disclose any Information under sub-paragraph (iii) above, you will give us such prior notice of that disclosure as is reasonably practicable.
- (b) You shall get your advisers to give us an undertaking in the form of this letter before letting them see any of the Information. You shall be responsible for any breach by your advisors of any such undertaking.
- (c) At our request, you shall provide us with details of all advisers to whom any Information has been, or is to be, disclosed.
- (d) You acknowledge that no member of the Bank Group is responsible for the accuracy and/or completeness of any Information. You shall be solely responsible for making your own independent appraisal and investigation of the Transaction and all parties connected with the Transaction (the "Transaction Parties"). You shall not rely upon any member of the Bank Group (now or hereafter) (1) to check the accuracy and/or completeness of any Information, or (2) to assess or review any aspect of the Transaction or any Transaction Party. Accordingly, except in the case of fraud, the Bank Group accepts no responsibility or liability to you (whether for negligence or otherwise).
- (e) You acknowledge that:
- (i) members of the Bank Group may, now and in the future, have other investment and commercial banking, trust and other relationships with Transaction Parties and with other parties ("Other Parties");
- (ii) as a result of these other relationships, members of the Bank Group may have or get information about Other Parties, Transaction Parties and/or the Transaction or which may be relevant to any of these. Despite this, no member of the Bank Group will have to disclose such information, or the fact that it is in possession of such information, to you;
- (iii) members of the Bank Group may, now and in the future, have fiduciary or other relationships under which it, or they, may exercise voting power over securities of various persons. Those securities may, from time to time, include securities of Transaction Parties; and
- (iv) each member of the Bank Group may exercise such voting powers, and otherwise perform its functions in connection with such fiduciary or other relationships, without regard to its relationship to the Transaction Parties and/or the Transaction.
- (f) You will return to us all documents evidencing the Information together with

any copies of the Information, promptly upon either (1) your decision not to participate in the Transaction or (2) a request by us to do so.

(g) You agree that the delivery to you of Information does not constitute any representation or warranty by Bank Group as to the accuracy or completeness of that Information.

This letter embodies the entire agreement between you and us relating to the Information. It supersedes any prior agreement or understanding (oral or in writing) relating to the Information. It may not be amended or waived except in writing.

You acknowledge that you have not relied on any representation other than those set out in this letter. We are not liable to you for any representation (other than any fraudulent representation) that is not set out in this letter.

You acknowledge that, except where otherwise indicated, your obligations under this letter are for the benefit of both the Capital One Group and the Bank Group and can be enforced by either.

This letter and all claims arising from or in connection with it are governed by, and are to be construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario. You submit, for our benefit, to the jurisdiction of the Ontario courts for the resolution of any dispute arising in connection with this letter.

Please sign, date and return to us the enclosed copy of this letter to confirm your agreement to the above,

for and on behalf of
Bank One Canada

for and on behalf of
Capital One Financial Corporation

[On Copy]:
Agreed and Accepted
for and on behalf of
[Prospective Recipient]

Dated []

Yours faithfully

THE SIXTH SCHEDULE Form of Guarantee

GUARANTEE dated as of August 10, 2000 made by CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Guarantor"), in favour of Bank One Canada (including any and all branches or offices thereof, the "Bank").

WHEREAS, Capital One Inc., a direct wholly owned Canadian subsidiary of the Guarantor has entered into a Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of the date hereof (as from time to time amended, the "Facility Agreement") providing a revolving facility by the Bank to the Borrower (as defined in the Facility Agreement) (the "Facility") in a principal amount up to but not exceeding C\$100,000,000; and

WHEREAS, the Guarantor has determined that the making of the Facility to the Borrower will be financially beneficial to the Borrower and the Guarantor;

NOW, THEREFORE, to induce the Bank to enter into the Facility Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Guarantor agrees as follows:

1. Definitions Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, terms defined in the Facility Agreement are used herein as defined therein.

2. The Guarantee

- 2.1 The Guarantee The Guarantor hereby:
 - (a) guarantees to the Bank and its successors and assigns the prompt payment in full when due of all obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under the Facility Agreement, whether for principal, interest, fees, expenses or otherwise (such obligations being the "Guaranteed Obligations"); and
 - (b) agrees as a primary obligation to indemnify the Bank from time to time on demand from and against any loss incurred by it as a result of the Facility Agreement being or becoming void, voidable or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, whether or not known to the Bank, the amount of such loss being the amount which the Bank would otherwise have been entitled to recover from the Borrower.
- 2.2 Obligations Unconditional The Guarantor acknowledges that the obligations undertaken by it under this Guarantee are absolute, irrevocable and unconditional under any and all circumstances. In full recognition and in furtherance of the foregoing, the Guarantor agrees that:
- (a) Without affecting the enforceability or effectiveness of this Guarantee in accordance with its terms and without affecting, limiting, reducing, discharging or terminating the liability of the Guarantor, or the rights, remedies, powers and privileges of the Bank under this Guarantee, the Bank may, at any time and from time to time and without notice or demand of any kind or nature whatsoever except as expressly required by applicable law:
 - (i) amend, supplement, modify, extend, renew, waive, accelerate or otherwise change the time for payment or performance of, or the terms of, all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (including any increase or decrease in the rate or rates of interest on all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations);
 - (ii) amend, supplement, modify, extend, renew, waive or otherwise change, or enter into or give, any Finance Document or any agreement, security document, guarantee, approval, consent or other instrument with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, any Finance Document or any such other instrument or any term or provision of the foregoing;
 - (iii) accept or enter into new or additional agreements, security documents, guarantees (including letters of credit) or other instruments in addition to, any Finance Document, any existing security in relation to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any collateral now or in the future constituting security for the Guaranteed Obligations;
 - (iv) accept or receive (including from any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, if any) partial payments or performance of the Guaranteed Obligations (whether as a result of the exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege or otherwise);
 - (v) settle, compromise, release, liquidate or enforce upon such terms and in such manner as the Bank may determine or as applicable law may dictate all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any collateral for or guarantee of (including without limitation any letter of credit, if any, issued with respect to) all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;
 - (vi) consent to the merger or consolidation of, the sale

of substantial assets by, or other restructuring or termination of the corporate existence of the Borrower or any other person (including without limitation any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, if any);

- (vii) proceed against the Borrower or the Guarantor or any collateral in such order and such manner as the Bank may, in its discretion, determine;
- (viii) enter into such other transactions or business
 dealings with the Borrower, any Subsidiary or
 Affiliate of the Borrower or the Guarantor or any
 other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed
 Obligations as the Bank may desire; and
- (ix) do all or any combination of the actions set forth in this Section 2.2(a) or take any other actions or fail to take any actions to the fullest extent permissible under applicable law in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations.
- (b) The enforceability and effectiveness of this Guarantee and the liability of the Guarantor, and the rights, remedies, powers and privileges of the Bank, under this Guarantee shall not be affected, limited, reduced, discharged or terminated, and the Guarantor hereby expressly waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any defense now or in the future arising, by reason of:
 - (i) the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, any Finance Document or any other agreement relative to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;
 - (ii) any disability or other defense with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations of the Borrower or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (including without limitation any issuer of any letter of credit), including the effect of any statute of limitations that may bar the enforcement of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or the obligations of any such other guarantor;
 - (iii) the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of any security or guarantee (including without limitation any letter of credit) for all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or the lack of perfection or continuing perfection or failure of the priority of any lien on any collateral for all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;
 - (iv) the cessation, for any cause whatsoever, of the liability of the Borrower or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (other than, subject to Section 2.5 hereof, by reason of the full payment and performance of all Guaranteed Obligations);
 - (v) any failure of the Bank to pursue or exhaust any right, remedy, power or privilege it may have against the Borrower or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any other person or to take any action whatsoever to mitigate or reduce such or any other guarantor's liability under this Guarantee, the Bank being under no obligation to take any such action notwithstanding the fact that all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations may be due and payable and that the Borrower may be in default of its obligations under any Finance Document;
 - (vi) any counterclaim, set-off or other claim which the Guarantor or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations has or alleges to have with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;
 - (vii) any failure of the Bank to file or enforce a claim in any bankruptcy or other proceeding with respect to any person;
 - (viii) any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, readjustment of debt, liquidation or dissolution proceeding commenced by or against any Obligor, including any discharge of, or bar or stay against collecting, all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (or any interest on all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations) in or as a result of any such proceeding;
 - (ix) any action taken by the Bank that is authorized by this Section 2.2 or otherwise in this Guarantee or by any other provision of any Finance Document or any omission to take any such action;
 - (x) any change in the direct or indirect ownership or control of the Borrower or of any shares or ownership interests thereof: or

- (xi) any other circumstance whatsoever that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations.
- (c) The Guarantor expressly waives, for the benefit of the Bank, all set-offs and counterclaims and all diligence, presentment, demand for payment or performance, notices of nonpayment or nonperformance, protest, notices of protest, notices of dishonor and all other notices or demands of any kind or nature whatsoever, and any requirement that the Bank, exhaust any right, power or remedy or proceed against the Borrower under the Facility Agreement or any other agreement referred to herein or therein, or against any other person under any other guarantee of, or security for, any of the Guaranteed Obligations, and all notices of acceptance of this Guarantee or of the existence, creation, incurring or assumption of new or additional Guaranteed Obligations. The Guarantor further expressly waives the benefit of any and all statutes of limitation to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.
- (d) The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Bank that it has established adequate means of obtaining financial and other information pertaining to the business, operations and condition (financial and otherwise) of the Borrower and its properties on a continuing basis and that the Guarantor is now and will in the future remain fully familiar with the business, operations and condition (financial and otherwise) of the Borrower and its properties. The Guarantor further represents and warrants that it has reviewed and approved each of the Finance Documents and is fully familiar with the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents and that it will in the future remain fully familiar with such transaction and with any new agreements relating to the Facility. The Guarantor hereby expressly waives and relinquishes any duty on the part of the Bank (should any such duty exist) to disclose to such or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations any matter of fact or other information related to the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrower or its properties or to any Finance Document or the transactions under-taken pursuant to, or contemplated by, any such Finance Document, whether now or in the future known by the Bank.
- (e) The Guarantor intends that its rights and obligations shall be those expressly set forth in this Guarantee and that its obligations shall not be affected, limited, reduced, discharged or terminated by reason of any principles or provisions of law which conflict with the terms of this Guarantee.
- 2.3 Understanding With Respect to Waivers and Consents The Guarantor represents, warrants and agrees that each of the waivers and consents set forth in this Guarantee is made voluntarily and unconditionally. If, notwithstanding the intent of the parties that the terms of this Guarantee shall control in any and all circumstances, any such waivers or consents are determined to be unenforceable under applicable law, such waivers and consents shall be effective to the fullest extent permitted by law.
- 2.4 Taxes The provisions of Clauses 12, 13 and 14 of the Facility Agreement shall apply mutatis mutandis to this Guarantee to the extent that such provisions relate to payment obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee.
- 2.5 Reinstatement The obligations of the Guarantor under this Section 2 shall be automatically reinstated if and to the extent that for any reason any payment by or on behalf of the Borrower in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations is rescinded or must be otherwise restored by any holder of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, whether as a result of any proceedings in bankruptcy or reorganization or otherwise, and the Guarantor agrees that it will indemnify the Bank on demand for all reasonable costs and expenses (including, without limitation, fees of counsel) incurred by the Bank in connection with such rescission or restoration, including any such costs and expenses incurred in defending against any claim alleging that such payment constituted a preference, fraudulent transfer or the like under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law.
- 2.6 Subrogation The Guarantor hereby agrees that, until the final payment and satisfaction in full of all Guaranteed Obligations and the expiration or termination of the Commitment of the Bank under the Facility Agreement, it shall not exercise any right or remedy arising by reason of any performance by it of its guarantee in Section 2.1 hereof, whether by subrogation or otherwise, against the Borrower or any other guarantor of any of the Guaranteed Obligations or any security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations.
- 2.7 Remedies The Guarantor agrees that, as between the Guarantor and the Bank, the obligations of the Borrower under the Facility Agreement may be declared to be forthwith due and payable as provided in Part 7 of the Facility Agreement (and shall be deemed to have become automatically due and payable in the circumstances provided in said Part 7) for purposes of Section 2.1 hereof notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such declaration (or such obligations from becoming automatically due and payable) as against the Borrower and that, in the event of such declaration (or such obligations being deemed to have become automatically due and payable), such obligations (whether or not due and payable by the Borrower) shall forthwith become due and payable by the Guarantor for purposes of said Section 2.1.
- 2.8 Manner of Payment The Guarantor shall make any payment required to be made hereunder in lawful money as specified in Clause 24 of the Facility Agreement and in same day funds to the Bank at the place specified for payments in the Facility Agreement, without set-off, counterclaim or other defense and free and clear of and without deduction for any present or future income, stamp or other taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, fees, withholdings, liabilities, restrictions or conditions of any nature whatsoever now or hereafter imposed, levied, collected, assessed or withheld by any jurisdiction or by any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein (whether pursuant to Delaware law or otherwise).
- 3. Representations and Warranties The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Bank that all the representations and warranties pertaining to the Guarantor

contained in the Facility Agreement are true and correct as of the date the same are deemed to be made or repeated under Clause 18.15 of the Facility Agreement by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing.

4 Covenants

- 4.1 General Covenants The Guarantor agrees that until the final payment in full of the Guaranteed Obligations it will comply with each of the covenants pertaining to the Guarantor under Clauses 19 to 21 of the Facility Agreement.
- 4.2 Regulatory Capital The Guarantor will cause each of its Insured Subsidiaries to be (and each of Capital One Bank and Capital One, F.S.B. so long as it is an Insured Subsidiary to be) at all times "adequately capitalized" for purposes of 12 U.S.C. ss. 1831o, as amended, re-enacted or redesignated from time to time, and at all times to maintain such amount of capital as may be prescribed from time to time, whether by regulation, agreement or order, by each Bank Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction over such Insured Subsidiary.

For the purposes of this Clause 4.2, "Insured Subsidiary" shall mean any insured depositary institution (as defined in 12 U.S.C. ss.1813(c) (or any successor provision), as amended, controlled (within the provision), as amended, Guarantor.

4.3 Further Assurances The Guarantor shall from time to time upon the written request of the Bank, execute and deliver such further documents and do such other acts and things as the Bank may reasonably request in order fully to effect the purposes of this Agreement.

- Miscellaneous
- 5.1 Governing Law: Submission to Jurisdiction
- (a) This Guarantee shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the Province of Ontario.
- (b) The Guarantor hereby submits to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario for the purposes of all legal proceedings arising out of or relating to this Guarantee or the transactions contemplated hereby. The Guarantor hereby irrevocably appoints Smith Lyons, Suite 5800, Scotia Plaza, 40 King Street West, M5H 3Z7 (the "Process Agent") as its true and lawful attorney-in-fact to receive service of all summons and other process in connection with any such proceedings in Ontario and agrees that the failure of the Process Agent to convey any such process to the Guarantor shall not impair or affect the validity thereof or of any judgment based thereon.
- (c) The Guarantor irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such proceeding brought in such a court and any claim that any such proceeding brought in such a court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.
- 5.2 Waiver of Jury Trial THE GUARANTOR AND THE BANK HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS GUARANTEE OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
- 5.3 Notices All notices, requests, consents and demands hereunder shall be in writing and telecopied or delivered to the intended recipient at the "Address for Notices" specified beneath its name on the signature pages hereof or, as to any party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a notice to each other party. Except as otherwise provided in this Guarantee, all such communications shall be deemed to have been duly given when transmitted by telex or telecopier or personally delivered or, in the case of a mailed notice, upon receipt, in each case given or addressed as aforesaid.
- 5.4 Waivers, Etc. The terms of this Guarantee may be waived, altered or amended only by an instrument in writing duly executed by the Guarantor and the Bank.
- 5.5 Successors and Assigns This Guarantee shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns (provided, however, that the Guarantor shall not assign or transfer any of its rights hereunder without the prior written consent of the Bank).
- 5.6 Counterparts This Guarantee may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument and any of the parties hereto may execute this Guarantee by signing any such counterpart.
- 5.7 Severability If any provision hereof is invalid and unenforceable in any jurisdiction, then, to the fullest extent permitted by law, (i) the other provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect in such jurisdiction and shall be liberally construed in favour of the Bank in order to carry out the intentions of the parties hereto as nearly as may be possible and (ii) the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision hereof in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.
- used this Guarantee to be duly IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have can

	of the day and year first above written.
The Guarantor	
CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPO	ORATION
ву:	
Address for Notices:	c/o Capital One Services, Inc. 8000 Jones Branch Drive McLean, Virginia 22102
Attention:	Director of Corporate Funding
The Bank	
BANK ONE CANADA	
Ву:	
Ву:	
Address for Notices:	Canada Trust Tower, BCE Place

161 Bay Street, Suite 4240 Toronto, Ontario

M5J 2S1 Attention: [0]

Exhibit 10.3

\$70,000,000

REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY AGREEMENT

between

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION as borrower

and

CITIBANK, N.A. as lender

August 10, 2000

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part 1	
1. Interpretation	. 2
Part 2	
2. Grant of Facility	. 2
3. Purpose	
4. Conditions Precedent	. 2
Part 3	
5. Utilisation of Facility	2
Part 4	• -
6. Making of Advances	2
7. Payment of Interest	
8. Calculation of Interest	
9. Repayment of Advances	• 2
Part 5	_
10. Cancellation	
11. Prepayment	. 2
Part 6	
12. Reserved	
13. [Reserved]	
14. [Reserved]	
15. Increased Costs	
16. Illegality	. 2
17. Mitigation	2
Part 7	
18. Representations	. 2
19. Financial Information	
20. Financial Condition	
21. Covenants.	
22. Events of Default	
Part 8	
23. Default Interest and Indemnity	2
Part 9	• -
24. Currency of Account and Payment	2
25. Payments	
26. Set-Off.	
	. 4
Part 10	_
27. Facility Fee, Utilization Fee and Arranging Fee	
28. Costs and Expenses	. 2
Part 11 29. Benefit of Agreement	_
30. Assignments and Transfers by the Borrower	
31. Assignments and Transfers by Bank	
32. Disclosure of Information	. 2
33. Calculations and Evidence of Debt	
34. Amendments and Waivers	
35. Remedies and Waivers	. 2
36. Partial Invalidity	
37. [Reserved]	. 2
38. Notices	. 2
39. Counterparts	2
Part 12	
40. Law	2
41. Jurisdiction	2

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the 10th day of August, 2000

BETWEEN

- (1) CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION (the "Borrower"); and
- (2) CITIBANK, N.A. (the "Bank").

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows:

Part 1

INTERPRETATION

- Interpretation
- 1.1 Definitions In this Agreement:
- "Advance" means any advance made or to be made pursuant to the terms hereof;
- "Affiliate" means any person which, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, another person or any Subsidiary of such other person. The term "control" (including the terms "controlled by" or "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such person, whether through ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise;
- "Available Commitment" means, at any time, the Commitment less the Outstandings at such time;
- "Bank Regulatory Authority" shall mean the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and all other relevant bank regulatory authorities (including, without limitation, relevant state bank regulatory authorities);
- "Commitment" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 2 (Grant of Facility);
- "Compliance Certificate" means a certificate demonstrating compliance with the covenants set forth in Clause 20 (Financial Condition) as of the date specified in such certificate, substantially in the form set out in the Fourth Schedule (Form of Compliance Certificate);
- "Event of Default" $\,$ means any of those events $\,$ specified in Clause 22 (Events of Default).
- "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;
- "Facility" means the revolving credit facility granted to the Borrower hereunder;
- "Facility Office" means, in respect of the Bank, the office in the United States set forth opposite the Bank's name in the signature page below (or, in the case of a Transferee, at the end of the Transfer Certificate to which it is a party as Transferee) or such other office in United States as it may from time to time notify to the Borrower;
- "Final Maturity Date" means the day which is 364 days after the date hereof; provided that if the Final Maturity Date determined as aforesaid would fall on a day which is not a business day, it shall be the immediately preceding business day which is a business day in New York, New York, and Falls Church, Virginia;
- "Finance Documents" means each of this Agreement, any Compliance Certificate, any notice delivered in connection herewith or therewith and any other agreement or document designated as such by the Bank and the Borrower;
- "Group" means, at any time, the Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries at such time;

"LIBO Rate" means for the Term of each Advance, a per annum interest rate equal

to the per annum rate determined by the Bank on the basis of the offered rates for deposits in dollars for a period of time corresponding to such Term (and commencing on the first day of such Term), which appear on the Reuters Screen (London time) two (2) business days before the first LIBO Page as of 11:00 a.m. day of such Term (provided that, if at least two such offered rates appear on the Reuters Screen LIBO Page, the rate in respect of such Term will be the arithmetic mean of such offered rates). As used herein, "Reuters Screen LIBO Page" means the display designated as page "LIBO" on the Reuters Monitor Money Rates Service (or such other page as may replace the LIBO page on that service for the purpose of displaying London interbank offered rates of major banks) ("RMMRS"). In the event the RMMRS is not then quoting such offered rates, "LIBO Rate" shall mean for the Term of each Advance, the average (rounded upward to the nearest one-sixteenth (1/16) of one percent) per annum rate of interest determined by the office of the Bank (each such determination to be conclusive and binding) as of two business days prior to the first day of such Term, as the effective rate at which deposits in immediately available funds in United States dollars are being, have been, or would be offered or quoted by the Bank to major banks in the applicable interbank market for dollar deposits at any time during the business day which is the second business day immediately preceding the first day of such Term, for a term comparable to such Term and in the amount of the requested Advance. If no such offers or quotes are generally available for such amount, then the Bank shall be entitled to determine the LIBO Rate by estimating in its reasonable judgment the per annum rate (as described above) that would be applicable if such quote or offers were generally available;

"Lien" means, with respect to the property of the Borrower, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such property;

"Managed Receivables" shall mean, on any date, all of the Borrower's (a) on-balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables, (b) on-balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables held for securitization and (c) securitized credit card loans and other finance receivables;

"Margin" means, at any time, 0.85% per annum;

"Margin Stock" means "margin stock" within the meaning of Regulations T, U and X;

"Material Adverse Effect" means with respect to the Borrower, a material adverse effect on (a) the property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalization of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the ability of the Borrower to perform its obligations under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (c) the validity or enforceability of the obligations of the Borrower under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (d) the rights and remedies of the Bank against the Borrower or (e) the timely payment of the principal of or interest on or in connection with any Advance or other amounts payable by the Borrower in connection therewith;

"Original Financial Statements" means, in relation to the Borrower, its audited consolidated financial statements for its financial year ended December 31, 1999 together with its consolidated management accounts for its financial period ended March 31, 2000;

"Outstandings" means, at any time, the aggregate of each outstanding Advance at such time;

"Permitted Disposal" means any of the following:

- (vi) the merger or consolidation of any Affiliate of the Borrower with or into, or the transfer by such Affiliate of all or substantially all of its business or property to (x) the Borrower if the Borrower is the continuing, surviving or transferee corporation or (y) any other Affiliate of the Borrower;
- (vii) the merger or consolidation of the Borrower with or into, or the transfer by the Borrower of all or substantially all of its business or property, to any Affiliate of the Borrower if such Affiliate is the continuing, surviving or transferee entity, such Affiliate expressly assumes the obligations of the Borrower hereunder and such Affiliate, following such merger, consolidation or transfer, has a Tangible Net Worth (as defined in Clause 20.2 (Definitions of Financial Terms)) at least equal to that of the Borrower immediately prior thereto;
- (viii) the merger or consolidation of any Affiliate of the Borrower with or into, or the transfer by any such person of all or substantially all of its business or property to any other person so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or transfer or would result therefrom; provided that a merger, consolidation or transfer under this clause (iii) shall not be deemed to cause a breach of Clause 21.4 (Disposals) unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, or will occur as a result of such merger, consolidation or transfer, due to violation of a provision of this Agreement other than Clause 21.4 (Disposals); and
- (ix) the sale by the Borrower or any Affiliate of the Borrower of credit card loans and other finance receivables pursuant to securitizations.

"Potential Event of Default" means any event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become an Event of Default;

"Prime Rate" means, in relation to any Advance or unpaid sum and any date, the rate of interest from time to time announced by the Bank at the Facility Office as its prime commercial lending rate;

"Receivables" means, with respect to the Borrower, any amount owing, from time to time, with respect to a credit card, consumer revolving or consumer installment loan account, home equity line of credit or residential mortgage loan account or other consumer receivable owned by the Borrower, including, without limitation, amounts owing for payment of goods and services, cash advances, convenience checks, annual membership fees, finance charges, late charges, credit insurance premiums and cash advance fees and fees relating to additional consumer products, and any other receivables arising out of financing transactions by the Borrower; provided that the term "Receivables" shall not include any of the foregoing that is subject to a securitization effected in the ordinary course of business;

"Regulations A, D, T, U and X" shall mean, respectively, Regulations A, D, T, U and X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor), as the same may be modified and supplemented and in effect from time to time;

"Repayment Date" means, in relation to any Advance, the last day of the Term thereof or, if such day is not a business day, the next business day following;

"Requested Amount" means, in relation to any Utilisation Request, the aggregate principal amount of the Advance requested;

"Restricted Shares" means, with respect to the Borrower, shares of stock of or other ownership interests in the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof engaged primarily in the extension of consumer credit to third parties or securitizations of receivables related to such extension of consumer credit, excluding without limitation any such ownership interests of the Borrower in America One Communications, Inc.;

"Rollover Advance" means an Advance which is used to refinance an existing Advance and which is the same amount as such maturing Advance and is to be drawn on the day such maturing Advance is to be repaid;

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

"Subsidiary" of any corporation (the "Parent") means any other corporation of which more than 50% of the outstanding capital stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the Board of Directors of such other corporation (irrespective of whether or not at the time capital stock of any other class or classes of such corporation shall or might have voting power upon the occurrence of any contingency) is at the time directly or indirectly owned by the Parent or by the Parent and/or one or more Subsidiaries of the Parent, and shall include any corporation that is a direct or indirect Subsidiary of any such first mentioned Subsidiary;

"Term" means, in relation to any Advance, the period for which such Advance is borrowed as specified in the Utilisation Request relating thereto;

"Termination Date" means the day falling one month prior to the Final Maturity Date;

"Transfer Certificate" means a certificate substantially in the form set out in the First Schedule (Form of Transfer Certificate) signed by the Bank and a Transferee whereby:

- (i) the Bank seeks to procure the transfer to such Transferee of all or a part of the Bank's rights and obligations hereunder upon and subject to the terms and conditions set out in Clause 31 (Assignments and Transfers by Bank); and
- (ii) such Transferee undertakes to perform the obligations it will assume as a result of delivery of such certificate to the Bank as is contemplated in Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank);

"Transfer Date" means, in relation to any Transfer Certificate, the date for the making of the transfer as specified in the schedule to such Transfer Certificate;

"Transferee" means a bank or other financial institution to which the Bank seeks to transfer or, as the case may be, has transferred all or part of the Bank's rights and obligations hereunder;

"Utilisation" means a utilisation of the Facility hereunder;

"Utilisation Date" means the date of a Utilisation, being the date on which the Advance in respect thereof is to be made; and

"Utilisation Request" means a notice given to the Bank pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) in the form set out in the Third Schedule (Utilisation Request).

- 1.2 Interpretation. Any reference in this Agreement to: the "Bank" shall be construed so as to include its and any subsequent successors, permitted Transferees and permitted assigns in accordance with their respective interests;
- a document is in an "agreed form" when it has been initialled or signed by or on behalf of the Borrower and the Bank;
- a "business day" shall be construed as a reference to a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in Falls Church, Virginia or the jurisdiction where the Facility Office is located are authorized or required by law to close, excluding any day on which banks are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in the London interbank market;
- a "Clause" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a clause hereof;
- "financial indebtedness" shall be construed, with respect to any person, as a reference to any indebtedness of such person for or in respect of:
- (i) obligations created, issued or incurred by such person for borrowed money (whether by loan, the issuance and sale of debt securities or the sale of property to another person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to repurchase such property from such person);
- (ii) obligations of such person to pay the deferred purchase or acquisition price of property or services, other than trade accounts payable (other than for borrowed money) arising, and accrued expenses incurred, in the ordinary course of business so long as such trade accounts payable are payable within 90 days of the date the respective goods are delivered or the respective services are rendered;
- (iii) indebtedness of others secured by an encumbrance on the property of such person, whether or not the respective indebtedness so secured has been assumed by such person;
- (iv) contingent and non-contingent obligations of such person in respect of letters of credit, bankers' acceptances or similar instruments issued or accepted by banks and other financial institutions for account of such person;
- (v) capital lease obligations of such person (being all obligations of such person to pay rent or other amounts under a lease of (or other agreement conveying the right to use) property to the extent such obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as a capital lease on a balance sheet of such person under GAAP (as defined in Clause 20.2 (Definition of Financial Terms) or in any similar or equivalent manner under the relevant

generally accepted accounting principles applicable to the preparation of such person's financial statements if these are other than GAAP) and, for the purposes of this Agreement, the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalised amount thereof, determined in accordance with GAAP (as so defined); and

- (vi) financial indebtedness of others guaranteed by such person;
- a "holding company" of a person shall be construed as a reference to any person of which the first-mentioned person is a Subsidiary;
- "indebtedness" shall be construed so as to include any obligation (whether incurred as principal or as surety) for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or contingent;
- a "Part" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a part hereof;
- a "person" shall be construed as a reference to any person, firm, company, corporation, government, state or province or agency of a state or province or any association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality) of two or more of the foregoing;
- a "Schedule" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a schedule hereto;
- "tax" shall be construed so as to include any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge of a similar nature (including, without limitation, any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any delay in paying any of the same);
- a "wholly-owned subsidiary" of a person shall be construed as a reference to any person which has no other members or shareholders except that other person and that other person's wholly-owned Subsidiaries or persons acting on behalf of that other person or its wholly-owned Subsidiaries; and
- the "winding-up", "dissolution" or "administration" of a company or corporation shall be construed so as to include any equivalent or analogous proceedings under the law of the jurisdiction in which such company or corporation is incorporated or any jurisdiction in which such company or corporation carries on business including, without limitation, being subject to or the seeking of liquidation, bankruptcy, winding-up, reorganisation, dissolution, administration, arrangement, adjustment, protection or relief of debtors or compromise, arrangement or proposals with creditors.
- 1.6 "\$" and "United States Dollars" denote the lawful currency of the United States of America from time to time.
- 1.7 References Save where the contrary is indicated, any reference in this Agreement to:
 - (i) this Agreement or any other agreement or document shall be construed as a reference to this Agreement or, as the case may be, such other agreement or document as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended, restated, varied, novated or supplemented;
 - (ii) a statute shall be construed as a reference to such statute as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended or re-enacted:
- (iii) a time of day shall be construed as a reference to Falls Church, Virginia, time; and
- (iv) a person, shall mean that person's successor, permitted transferee or assignee.
- 1.5 Headings Clause, Part and Schedule headings are for ease of reference only.

Part 2

THE FACILITY

Grant of Facility

The Bank grants to the Borrower upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof, a revolving credit facility in a total aggregate amount of \$70,000,000\$ (the "Commitment").

- Purpose
- 3.1 Purpose The Facility is intended for the general corporate purposes of the Borrower (in compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements, including, without limitation, Regulations T, U and X and the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the regulations thereunder), and, accordingly, the Borrower shall apply all amounts borrowed by it hereunder in or towards satisfaction of such purposes.
- 3.2 Application Without prejudice to the obligations of the Borrower under Clause 3.1 (Purpose), the Bank shall not be obliged to concern itself with the application of amounts raised by the Borrower hereunder.
- Conditions Precedent
- 4.1 Save as the Bank may otherwise agree, the Bank shall be under no obligation hereunder unless the Bank has received (or waived receipt of) all of the documents listed in the Second Schedule (Condition Precedent Documents) and that each is, in form and substance, satisfactory to the Bank.

4.2 The Bank shall, on request by the Borrower, certify in writing whether or not it has received or waived receipt of any of the documents listed in the Second Schedule (Condition Precedent Documents) and whether each is in form and substance satisfactory to it.

Part 3

UTILISATION OF FACILITY

5. Utilisation of Facility

- 5.1 Delivery of a Utilisation Request The Borrower may from time to time utilise the Facility by delivering to the Bank, by no later than 10:30 a.m. on the proposed Utilisation Date, a duly completed Utilisation Request. The Bank shall, upon receipt of a duly completed Utilisation Request, advance the Requested Amount to the Borrower by no later than 3:00 p.m. on the Utilisation Date.
- 5.2 Utilisation Request Each Utilisation Request delivered to the Bank pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) shall be irrevocable and shall specify:
 - (i) the proposed Utilisation Date;
- (ii) the Requested Amount (to be determined in accordance $% \left(1,0\right) =0$ with Clause 5.3 (Requested Amount));
 - (iii) the Term in question which will begin on the proposed Utilisation Date and end on a business day, will not exceed 90 days in duration and will expire on or before the Final Maturity Date; and
- $\mbox{(iv)}$ the account to which the proceeds of the proposed $\mbox{Utilisation}$ are to be paid.
- 5.3 Requested Amount The Requested Amount to be specified in a Utilisation Request delivered pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) shall be in a minimum amount of \$100,000 and an integral multiple of \$100,000.

Part 4

THE ADVANCES

Making of Advances

If the Borrower notifies the Bank that it is to make an Advance, and if on the proposed Utilisation Date relating to such an Advance:

- (i) no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred and has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 34 (Amendments and Waivers); and
- (ii) each of the representations which are to be deemed repeated at any time after the date hereof in accordance with Clause 18.14 (Repetition of Representations) are true and correct on and as of such Utilisation Date by reference to the facts and circumstances existing at the time (or, if any such representation is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific date, as of such specific date), except to any extent waived pursuant to Clause 34 (Amendments and Waivers),

then, on such Utilisation Date, the Bank shall, subject to all the terms of this Agreement, make such Advance through its Facility Office.

Payment of Interest

On the Repayment Date relating to each Advance the Borrower shall pay to the Bank all unpaid accrued interest on that Advance.

Calculation of Interest

8.1 Interest Applicable to Advances The rate of interest applicable to an Advance from time to time during the Term of such Advance shall be the rate per annum determined by the Bank to be the sum of the LIBO Rate for such Advance and the Margin and reflected on the Utilisation Request.

Repayment of Advances

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Borrower shall repay each Advance made to it in full on the Repayment Date relating thereto and the Borrower shall not repay or prepay all or any part of any Advance outstanding hereunder except at the times and in the manner expressly provided herein.

Part 5

CANCELLATION

10. Cancellation

- 10.1 Cancellation At any time prior to the day falling one month before the Final Maturity Date the Borrower may, by giving to the Bank not less than 15 days' prior notice to that effect, cancel the whole or any part (being a minimum amount of \$3,000,000, or equal to the amount of the Available Commitment, if less) of the Available Commitment.
- 10.2 Notice of Cancellation Any notice of cancellation given by the Borrower pursuant to Clause 10.1 (Cancellation) shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date upon which such cancellation is to be made and the amount of such cancellation.

11. Prepayment

The Borrower may, on any business day, prepay all (or any part thereof being in aggregate at least \$100,000 and an integral multiple of \$100,000) of any Advance made to it without premium or penalty but without prejudice to such Borrower's obligations under Clause 23.4 (Broken Periods), by giving to the Bank not less than 5 days' notice of the date of the prepayment. Any such notice shall be irrevocable and shall oblige the Borrower to make the prepayment on the date therein stated.

Part 6

CHANGES IN CIRCUMSTANCES

- 12. [Reserved]
- 13. [Reserved]
- 14. [Reserved]
- Increased Costs
- 15.1 Changes in Circumstances If, by reason of (i) any change in law in any jurisdiction or in its interpretation or administration and/or (ii) compliance with any request from or requirement of any central bank or other fiscal, monetary or other authority (including, without limitation, a request or requirement (x) which affects the manner in which the Bank or any holding company of the Bank is required to or does maintain capital resources having regard to the Bank's obligations under any Finance Document and to amounts owing to it under any Finance Document but excluding the implementation, as contemplated on the signing of this Agreement, of any of the matters set out in the July 1988 report of the Basle Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices entitled "International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards" (the "Cooke Report"), (y) which implements any change after the signing of this Agreement in, or in the interpretation or application of, such matters or any increase in the requirements of the Cooke Report after the date hereof:
 - (a) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank incurs a cost as a result of the Bank's having entered into and/or performing its obligations under any Finance Document and/or assuming or maintaining a commitment under any Finance Document and/or its making one or more Advances;
 - (b) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank suffers a reduction in the rate of return on its overall capital (not being a reduction by reason of the imposition of, or increase in the rates of tax payable on its overall profits or net income) as a result of a change in the manner in which the Bank is required to allocate resources to its obligations under any Finance Document;
 - (c) there is any increase in the cost to the Bank or any holding company of the Bank of funding or maintaining all or any of the advances comprised in a class of advances formed by or including the Advances made or to be made by the Bank hereunder; or
 - (d) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank becomes liable to make any payment on account of tax or otherwise (not being a tax imposed on the net income of the Bank's Facility Office by the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or in which its Facility Office is located) on or calculated by reference to the amount of the Advances made or to be made by the Bank hereunder and/or to any sum received or receivable by it hereunder.

then the Borrower shall, provided that the Bank has notified the Borrower of such claim pursuant to Clause 15.2 (Increased Costs Claim), within 10 business days of receipt of a demand of the Bank, pay to the Bank amounts sufficient to indemnify the Bank or any such holding company against, as the case may be, (1) such cost, (2) such reduction in such rate of return (or such proportion of such reduction as is, in the opinion of the Bank, attributable to its obligations hereunder), (3) such increased cost (or such proportion of such increased cost as is, in the opinion of the Bank, attributable to its funding or maintaining Advances) or (4) such liability.

- 15.2 Increased Costs Claim If the Bank intends to make a claim pursuant to Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances), it shall notify the Borrower thereof by delivery of a certificate setting out in reasonable detail the basis and computation of such claim; provided that nothing herein shall require the Bank to disclose any confidential information relating to the organisation of its affairs.
- 15.3 Option to repay in relation to increased costs claim If the Borrower is required to pay any amount to the Bank under Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances), then subject to that Borrower giving the Bank not less than 10 days prior notice:
 - (i) the Borrower may prepay all, but not part, of Advances together with accrued interest on the amount prepaid. On any such prepayment the Commitment shall be automatically cancelled; and/or
 - (ii) the Borrower shall have the right at any time thereafter to locate a new lender to which all the rights and obligations of the Bank hereunder may be transferred. If such new lender has been located then the Bank and such new lender shall execute and deliver a Transfer Certificate pursuant to which all of

the rights and obligations of the Bank hereunder shall be transferred to such new lender with effect from the Transfer Date specified in such Transfer Certificate.

16. Illegality

If, at any time, it is unlawful for the Bank to make, fund or allow to remain outstanding all or any of the Advances made or to be made by it hereunder or for it, then the Bank shall, promptly after becoming aware of the same, deliver to the Borrower a certificate to that effect and, unless such illegality is avoided in accordance with Clause 17 (Mitigation), to the extent of such illegality:

- (i) the Bank shall not thereafter be obliged to participate in the making of such Advances and the amount of the Commitment shall be immediately reduced accordingly; and
- (ii) if the Bank so requires, the Borrower shall on such date as the Bank shall have specified as being necessary to comply with the relevant law repay such Advance together with accrued interest thereon and all other amounts owing to the Bank.

17. Mitigation

If, in respect of the Bank, circumstances $\,$ arise which would, or would upon the giving of notice, result in:

- (i) the reduction of the Commitment to zero pursuant to Clause 16 (Illegality); or
- (ii) a claim for indemnification pursuant to Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances);

then, without in any way limiting, reducing or otherwise qualifying the obligations of the Borrower under any of the Clauses referred to in (i) or (ii) above, the Bank shall, in consultation with the Borrower, take such reasonable steps as the Bank acting in good faith considers appropriate to mitigate the effects of such circumstances including the transfer of its rights and obligations hereunder to another financial institution acceptable to the Borrower willing to participate in the Facility provided that the Bank shall be under no obligation to take any such action if, in the sole discretion of the Bank, to do so would or might have a material adverse effect upon its business, operations or financial condition.

Part 7

REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS AND EVENTS OF DEFAULT

18. Representations

The Borrower makes the representations and warranties set out in Clause 18.1 to Clause 18.14 and acknowledges that the Bank entered into this Agreement in reliance on those representations and warranties.

- 18.1 Status and Due Authorization The Borrower is a corporation duly organised, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Delaware, with all requisite corporate or other power to execute and deliver the Finance Documents to which it is a party and to exercise its rights and perform its obligations thereunder and all corporate and other action required to authorise its execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its performance of its obligations thereunder has been duly taken.
- 18.2 Validity and Admissibility in Evidence All acts, conditions and things required to be done, fulfilled and performed in order (a) to enable the Borrower lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights under and perform and comply with the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (b) to ensure that the obligations expressed to be assumed by the Borrower in each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party are legal, valid and binding and (c) to make each Finance Document to which the Borrower is a party admissible in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation have been done, fulfilled and performed and all material governmental licences, authorizations, consents and approvals under the laws of any jurisdiction necessary to own its assets and carry on its business as now being or as proposed to be conducted have been obtained.
- 18.3 Most Recent Financial Statements The most recent financial statements of the Borrower delivered in accordance with the terms of this Agreement were prepared in accordance with GAAP (as defined in Clause 20.2 (Definitions of Financial Terms)) and consistently applied and give (in conjunction with the notes thereto) a true and fair view of the financial condition of the Group at the date as of which they were prepared and the results of the Group's operations during the financial year then ended.
- 18.4 No Material Adverse Change Since publication of the Original Financial Statements of the Borrower, there has been no material adverse change in the property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalization of the Group taken as a whole.
- 18.5 No Undisclosed Liabilities As at the date as of which the Original Financial Statements of the Borrower were prepared no member of the Group had any liabilities (contingent or otherwise) which were not disclosed thereby (or by notes thereto) or reserved against therein nor any unrealised or anticipated losses arising from commitments entered into by it which were not so disclosed or reserved against, in each case, as required under GAAP.
- 18.6 Litigation Other than as disclosed to the Bank prior to the date hereof, there are no legal or arbitral proceedings, or any proceedings by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, now pending or (to the knowledge of the Borrower) threatened against or affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries as to which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse

determination that could (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.

18.7 Execution of the Finance Documents The Borrower's execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its exercise of its rights and performance of its obligations thereunder do not and will not:

- conflict with any agreement, mortgage, bond or other instrument or treaty to which it is a party or which is binding upon it or any of its assets;
- (ii) conflict with its charter, by-laws or any other constitutive documents and rules and regulations; or
- (iii) conflict with any applicable law, regulation or official or judicial order, writ, injunction or decree;

which, in each case, is reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect and could subject the Bank to liability.

18.8 Full Disclosure All of the written information supplied by the Borrower to the Bank in connection herewith is true and accurate in all material respects.

18.9 Claims Pari Passu The claims of the Bank against the Borrower under the Finance Documents will rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured creditors save those whose claims are preferred solely by any bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar laws of general application.

18.10 No Winding-up The Borrower has not taken any corporate action nor have any other steps been taken or legal proceedings been started or (to the best of its knowledge and belief) threatened against it for its winding-up, dissolution, administration or re-organisation or for the appointment of a receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, trustee or similar officer of it or of any or all of its assets or revenues.

18.11 Liens Save as permitted by Clause 21.5 (Negative Pledge), no Lien exists over all or any of the Borrower's present or future revenues or assets.

18.12 No Obligation to Create Security The Borrower's execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its exercise of its rights and performance of its obligations thereunder will not result in the existence of nor oblige it to create any encumbrance over all or any of its present or future revenues or assets.

18.13 Use of Credit No part of the proceeds of the Advances hereunder will be used to buy or carry any Margin Stock.

18.14 Repetition of Representations The representations contained in this Clause 18 (other than those made under Clauses 18.4, 18.5, 18.6, 18.8, 18.10, 18.11 and 18.12) shall be deemed to be repeated by the Borrower on each date upon which an Advance is made (other than Rollover Advances) by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing.

Financial Information

The Borrower shall deliver or cause to be delivered or otherwise made available through electronic media (provided that the Bank shall be given prior written notice of such availability) to the Bank the following financial statements and information:

19.1 Annual Statements The Borrower shall as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 120 days after the end of its financial year, deliver to the Bank the consolidated audited financial statements of the Group for such financial year.

19.2 Semi-annual and Quarterly Statements The Borrower shall as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 60 days after the end of each of its quarters ending three months, six months and nine months after the end of its financial years, deliver to the Bank its consolidated unaudited financial statements of the Group for such period.

19.3 Other Financial Information The Borrower shall from time to time on the request of the Bank, furnish the Bank with such information about the business and financial condition of the Group as the Bank may reasonably require.

19.4 Requirements as to Financial Statements The Borrower shall ensure that:

- (i) each set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to this Clause 19 is prepared on the same basis as was used in the preparation of its Original Financial Statements and in accordance with GAAP and consistently applied;
- (ii) each set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to Clause 19.1 is certified by a duly authorised officer of the Borrower as giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial condition as at the end of the period to which those financial statements relate and of the results of the Group's operations during such period;
- (iii) each set of financial statements delivered pursuant to Clause 19.1 (Annual Statements) has been audited by an internationally recognised firm of independent auditors licensed to practise in the Borrower's jurisdiction of incorporation; and
- (iv) each set of consolidated financial statements and accounts delivered to the Bank pursuant to Clause 19.1 (Annual Statements) or Clause 19.2 (Semi-annual and Quarterly

Statements) shall be accompanied by a compliance certificate signed by a duly authorised officer of the Borrower, substantially in the form set out in the Fourth Schedule (Form of Compliance Certificate), together with any other information required to determine whether or not the financial condition of the Borrower satisfies the provisions of Clause 20 (Financial Condition).

20. Financial Condition

20.1 Financial Condition of the Borrower The Borrower shall ensure that, as evidenced by the most recent set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to Clause 19 (Financial Information):

- (i) Maximum Delinquency Ratio Its Delinquency Ratio shall not on the last day of any calendar month be more than 6.0%.
- (ii) Minimum Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio
 The ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables shall
 not on any date be less than 4.0 % and remain so for more than
 90 days and the ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed
 Receivables shall not on any date be less than 3.5%.
- (iii) Minimum Tangible Net Worth
 The Tangible Net Worth of the Borrower shall not on any date
 be less than US\$1,250,000,000 plus 40% of Cumulative Net
 Income as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the
 Borrower most recently ended (being June 30, 2000) plus 40% of
 Cumulative Equity Proceeds as of such date of determination.
- (iv) Leverage Ratio $\hbox{ Its Leverage Ratio shall not on any date exceed 10.0 to 1.}$
- (v) Double Leverage Ratio Its Double Leverage Ratio shall not on any date exceed 1.25 to

20.2 Definitions of Financial Terms In this Agreement:

"Cumulative Equity Proceeds" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the aggregate amount of all cash received on or prior to such date of determination by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in respect of any Equity Issuance effected after June 30, 2000, net of reasonable expenses incurred by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in connection therewith;

"Cumulative Net Income" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the net income of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) for each fiscal quarter of the Borrower (a) commencing with the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2000 and (b) ending with the fiscal quarter most recently ended on or prior to such date of determination; provided that the Borrower's Cumulative Net Income shall be determined exclusive of any fiscal quarter of the Borrower for which the consolidated net income of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) is less than zero;

"Delinquency Ratio" shall mean, on any date and with respect to the Borrower, the ratio of (a) all Past Due Receivables with respect to the Borrower on such date to (b) the aggregate amount of all Managed Receivables with respect to the Borrower on such date;

"Double Leverage Ratio" shall mean, on any date, the ratio of (a) the sum of the Borrower's Intangibles calculated on an unconsolidated basis on such date plus the amount of the aggregate investment of the Borrower in the capital stock of its Subsidiaries to (b) the Borrower's Net Worth on such date;

"Equity" means on any date and with respect to any person, the aggregate at such time of such person's called up share capital, any credit balance on such person's share premium account or consolidated profit and loss account and such person's consolidated reserves less any debit balance on the consolidated profit and loss account of such person;

"Equity Issuance" shall mean (a) any issuance or sale by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of (i) any of its capital stock, (ii) any warrants or options exercisable in respect of its capital stock (other than any warrants or options issued to directors, officers or employees of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to employee benefit plans established in the ordinary course of business and any capital stock of the Borrower issued upon the exercise of such warrants or options) or (iii) any other security or instrument representing an equity interest (or the right to obtain any equity interest) in the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or (b) the receipt by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries from any person not a shareholder of the Borrower of any capital contribution (whether or not evidenced by any equity security issued by the recipient of such contribution); provided that Equity Issuance shall not include (i) any such issuance or sale by any Subsidiary of the Borrower to the Borrower or any wholly owned Subsidiary of the Borrower or (ii) any capital contribution by the Borrower or any wholly owned Subsidiary of the Borrower to any Subsidiary of the Borrower to any Subsidiary of the Borrower;

"GAAP" shall mean on any date and with respect to any person, generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America applied on a consistent basis with those used in the preparation of the latest annual or quarterly financial statements furnished by on behalf of such person to the Bank pursuant hereto;

"Intangibles" means as at any date and with respect to any person, the aggregate amount (to the extent reflected in determining the consolidated stockholders' equity of such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries) of (a) all write-ups

(other than write-ups resulting from foreign currency translations and write-ups of assets of a going concern business made within 12 months after the acquisition of such business) subsequent to June 30, 2000 in the book value of any asset by any such person or any of its consolidated Subsidiaries, (b) all Investments in unconsolidated Subsidiaries and all equity investments in persons that are not Subsidiaries and (c) all unamortized debt discount and expense, unamortized deferred charges, goodwill, patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, anticipated future benefit of tax loss carry-forwards, copyrights, organisation or developmental expense and other intangible assets;

"Investments" means for any person (a) the acquisition (whether for cash, Property, services or securities or otherwise) of capital stock, bonds, notes, debentures, partnership or other ownership interests or other securities of any other person or any agreement to make any such acquisition (including, without limitation, any "short sale" or any sale of any securities at a time when such securities are not owned by the person entering into such sale); (b) the making of any deposit with, or advance, loan or other extension of credit to, any other person (including the purchase of Property from another person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to resell such Property to such person), but excluding any such advance, loan or extension of credit having a term not exceeding 90 days arising in connection with the sale of inventory or supplies by such person in the ordinary course of business; or (c) the entering into of any guarantee of, or other contingent obligation with respect to, indebtedness or other liability of any other person and (without duplication) any amount committed to be advanced, lent or extended to such person;

"Leverage Ratio" means on any date, the ratio of (a) the indebtedness (as determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of the Borrower with respect to the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries at such date minus the aggregate amount of all on-balance sheet loans held for securitization at such date to (b) the Borrower's Tangible Net Worth at such date;

"Managed Receivables" means on any date and with respect to any person, the sum for such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of (a) all on-balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables plus (b) all on balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables held for securitization plus (c) all securitized credit card loans and other finance receivables of such person; provided that, as the term "Managed Receivables" is used in the Tier I Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio calculation, clauses (a), (b) and (c) above shall be determined exclusive of securitized, non-revolving finance receivables;

"Net Worth" means on any date the consolidated stockholders' equity of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries, all determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP;

"Past Due Receivables" means on any date and with respect to any person, Managed Receivables contractually past due 90 days or more plus all other non performing assets provided however that receivables which are loans, whether or not contractually past due 90 days or more, shall not constitute Past Due Receivables to the extent of any cash balance of the account debtor on such loan on deposit with the creditor (but only to the extent such creditor is entitled under an agreement governing such loan to set-off such cash balances against the obligations of the account debtor under such loan and to the extent such cash balances are not subject to any other set-off or deduction by such creditor or any of its affiliates against a matured obligation owing by such debtor);

"Property" shall mean any right or interest in or to property of any kind whatsoever, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible;

"Tangible Net Worth" means on any date and with respect to any person, the consolidated stockholders' equity of such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries less Intangibles of such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries, all determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP;

"Tier 1 Capital" means on any date and with respect to any person, the amount, for such person and its Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis) on such date of "Tier 1 Capital", within the meaning given to such term in the Capital Adequacy Guidelines for State Member Banks published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 208, Appendix A, as amended, modified and supplemented, and in effect from time to time and any replacement thereof).

20.3 Accounting Terms All accounting expressions which are not otherwise defined herein shall be construed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

21. Covenants

- 21.1 Litigation The Borrower shall promptly give to the Bank notice of all legal or arbitral proceedings, and of all investigations or proceedings by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, and any material development in respect of such legal or other proceedings, against or affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except investigations or proceedings (a) as to which there is no reasonable possibility of an adverse determination or (b) that, if adversely determined, would not (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 21.2 Maintenance of Legal Validity The Borrower shall obtain, comply with the terms of and do all that is necessary to maintain in full force and effect all authorizations, approvals, licences and consents required in or by the laws and regulations of its jurisdiction of incorporation to enable it lawfully to enter into and perform its obligations under each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and to ensure the legality, validity, enforceability or admissibility in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation of each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party.

21.3 Insurance The Borrower shall maintain insurances on and in relation to its business and assets with reputable underwriters or insurance companies against such risks and to such extent as is usual for companies carrying on a business such as that carried on by the Borrower.

- 21.4 Disposals The Borrower shall not, without the prior written consent of the Bank, enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation or amalgamation or liquidate, wind-up or dissolve itself or convey, sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of, by one or more transactions or series of transactions (whether related or not), all or substantially all of its revenues or its assets other than by way of a Permitted Disposal.
- 21.6 Negative Pledge The Borrower shall not, without the prior written consent of the Bank, create or permit to subsist any Lien over any (1) Receivables of the Borrower or (2) Restricted Shares owned by it, in each case whether now owned or hereafter acquired, except:
- (d) Liens for taxes not yet due or Liens for taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves (in the good faith judgement of the management of the Borrower) have been established;
- (e) Liens imposed by law (i) which are incurred in the ordinary course of business and (x) which do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of such Receivables or Restricted Shares or materially impair the use thereof in the operation of the business of the Borrower or (y) which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, which proceedings have the effect of preventing the forfeiture of sale of the Receivables or Restricted Shares subject to such Lien or (ii) which do not relate to material liabilities of the Borrower and do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of the Receivables or Restricted Shares of the Group taken as a whole; provided that no Lien permitted under this clause (b) may secure any obligation in an amount exceeding \$10,000,000; and
- (f) Any pledge of Receivables to a Federal Reserve Bank made in the ordinary course of business to secure advances or other transactions and manage the liquidity position of the Borrower.
- 21.6 Claims Pari Passu The Borrower shall ensure that at all times the claims of the Bank against it under each of the Finance Documents rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured creditors save those whose claims are preferred by any bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar laws of general application.
- 21.7 Notification of Events of Default The Borrower shall promptly after becoming aware of the same inform the Bank of the occurrence of any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default and upon receipt of a written request to that effect from the Bank acting reasonably in circumstances which give reasonable grounds for belief that an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default may have occurred, confirm to the Bank that, save as previously notified to the Bank or as notified in such confirmation, no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred.

22. Events of Default

Each of Clause 22.1 to Clause 22.17 describes circumstances which constitute an Event of Default for the purposes of this Agreement. Clause 22.18 and Clause 22.19 deal with the rights of the Bank after the occurrence of an Event of Default.

- 22.1 Failure to Pay The Borrower (a) fails to pay any principal of any Advance when due (whether at stated maturity or at mandatory or optional prepayment) or (b) fails to pay any other amount due from it under any Finance Document at the time, in the currency and in the manner specified therein and such failure is not remedied within five business days.
- 22.2 Cross Default Any financial indebtedness of any member of the Group in excess of an aggregate of \$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) is not paid when due, any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group is declared to be or otherwise becomes due and payable prior to its specified maturity, any commitment for, or underwriting of, any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group is cancelled or suspended or any creditor or creditors of any member of the Group become entitled to declare any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group due and payable prior to its specified maturity.
- 22.3 Misrepresentation Any representation or statement made or deemed to be made by the Borrower in any of the Finance Documents to which it is a party or in any notice or other document, certificate or statement delivered by it pursuant hereto is or proves to have been incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed to be made.
- 22.4 Specific Covenants The Borrower fails duly to perform or comply with any of the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in Clause 19 (Financial Information) or Clause 21 (Covenants) and, if such breach is capable of remedy, such breach has not been remedied within 30 days after notice of such breach has been given by the Bank to the Borrower.
- 22.5 Financial Condition At any time any of the requirements of Clause 20 (Financial Condition) is not satisfied.
- 22.6 Other Obligations The Borrower fails duly to perform or comply with any other obligation expressed to be assumed by it in any Finance Document and such failure, if capable of remedy, is not remedied within 30 days after the Bank has given notice thereof to the Borrower.
- 22.8 Bankruptcy and Insolvency The Borrower:
- (i) The Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall admit in writing its inability to, or be generally unable to, pay its debts as such debts become

- (ii) The Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall (a) apply for or consent to the appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a receiver, conservator, custodian, trustee, examiner or liquidator of itself or of all or a substantial part of its property, (b) make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (c) commence a voluntary case under the Federal Bankruptcy Code of 1978, as amended from time to time (the "Bankruptcy Code"), (d) file a petition seeking to take advantage of any other law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution, arrangement or winding-up, or composition or readjustment of debts, (e) fail to controvert in a timely and appropriate manner, or acquiesce in writing to, any petition filed against it in an involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code or (f) take any corporate action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or
- (iii) A proceeding or case shall be commenced, without the application or consent of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, in any court of competent jurisdiction, seeking (a) its reorganization, liquidation, dissolution, arrangement or winding-up, or the composition or readjustment of its debts, (b) the appointment of a receiver, conservator, custodian, trustee, examiner, liquidator or the like of the Borrower or such Subsidiary or of all or any substantial part of its property or (c) similar relief in respect of the Borrower or such Subsidiary under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding-up, or composition or adjustment of debts, and such proceeding or case shall continue undismissed, or an order, judgment or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered and continue unstayed and in effect, for a period of 60 or more days; or an order for relief against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall be entered in an involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code.

22.8 [Reserved]

- 22.9 Analogous Events Any event occurs which under the laws of any jurisdiction has a similar or analogous effect to any of those events mentioned in Clause 22.7 (Bankruptcy and Insolvency) or Clause 22.17 (Judgment Defaults).
- 22.10 Governmental Intervention By or under the authority of any government, (a) the management of the Borrower is wholly or partially displaced or the authority of the Borrower in the conduct of its business is wholly or partially curtailed which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or (b) all or a majority of the issued shares of the Borrower or the whole or any part (the book value of which is twenty percent or more of the book value of the whole) of its revenues or assets is seized, nationalised, expropriated or compulsorily acquired which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 22.11 Ownership of the Borrower Any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13 or 14 of the Exchange Act as amended) shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act) of 20% or more of the issued and outstanding shares of voting common stock issued by the Borrower or the Borrower shall at any time fail to own and control, beneficially and of record (free and clear of all encumbrances), at least 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each class of voting securities issued by Capital One Bank or the Borrower shall at any time fail to own and control, beneficially and of record (free and clear of all encumbrances), at least 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each class of voting securities issued by Capital One, F.S.B.

22.12 [Reserved]

- 22.13 The Borrower's Business The Borrower (i) ceases to carry on the business it carries on at the date hereof the cession of which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) enters into any unrelated business the entry into which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 22.14 Repudiation The Borrower repudiates any Finance Document.
- 22.15 Illegality At any time it is or becomes unlawful for the Borrower to perform or comply with any or all of its obligations under any of the Finance Documents or any of the obligations of the Borrower under any of the Finance Documents are not or cease to be legal, valid and binding.
- 22.16 Performance of Obligations The Borrower becomes unable to perform any of its obligations under any of the Finance Documents and such inability has a Material Adverse Effect on the ability of the Borrower to perform its payment obligations under any of the Finance Documents.
- 22.17 Judgment Defaults A final judgment or judgments for the payment of money of \$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies) or more in the aggregate shall be rendered by one or more courts, administrative tribunals or other bodies having jurisdiction against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and the same shall not be discharged (or provision shall not be made for such discharge), or a stay of execution thereof shall not be procured, within 30 days from the date of entry thereof and the Borrower or Subsidiary shall not, within said period of 30 days, or such longer period during which execution of the same shall have been stayed, appeal therefrom and cause the execution thereof to be stayed during such appeal.

22.18 Acceleration and Cancellation

- (i) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, other than one referred to in Clause 22.7 (ii) or (iii) (Bankruptcy and Insolvency), and at any time thereafter, the Bank may, by written notice to the Borrower:
 - (a) declare the Advances to be immediately due and payable (whereupon the same shall become so payable

together with accrued interest thereon and any other sums then owed by the Borrower hereunder) or declare the Advances to be due and payable on demand of the Bank; and/or

- (b) declare that the Facility shall be cancelled, whereupon the same shall be cancelled and the Commitment shall be reduced to zero.
- (ii) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default specified in Clause 22.7(ii) or (iii) (Bankruptcy and Insolvency), the Facility shall automatically be cancelled and the Commitment shall automatically be reduced to zero, and the Advances, and the accrued interest thereon, and all other amounts payable by the Borrower hereunder shall automatically become immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other formalities of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower.
- 22.19 Advances Due on Demand If, pursuant to Clause 22.18 (Acceleration and Cancellation), the Bank declares the Advances to be due and payable on demand of the Bank, then, and at any time thereafter, the Bank may by written notice to the Borrower require repayment of the Advances on such date as it may specify in such notice (whereupon the same shall become due and payable on such date together with accrued interest thereon and any other sums then owed by the Borrower hereunder) or withdraw its declaration with effect from such date as it may specify in such notice.

Part 8

DEFAULT INTEREST AND INDEMNITY

23. Default Interest and Indemnity

- 23.1 Default Interest Period If any sum due and payable by the Borrower under any Finance Document to which it is a party is not paid on the due date therefor in accordance with the provisions of Clause 25 (Payments) or if any sum due and payable by the Borrower under any judgment of any court in connection herewith is not paid on the date of such judgment, the period beginning on such due date or, as the case may be, the date of such judgment and ending on the date upon which the obligation of the Borrower to pay such sum (the balance thereof for the time being unpaid being herein referred to as an "unpaid sum") is discharged shall be divided into successive periods, each of which (other than the first) shall start on the last day of the preceding such period and the duration of each of which shall (except as otherwise provided in this Clause 23) be selected by the Bank.
- 23.2 Default Interest During each such period relating thereto as is mentioned in Clause 23.1 (Default Interest Period) an unpaid sum shall bear interest at the rate per annum which is the sum from time to time of one percent and the Prime Rate.
- 23.3 Payment of Default Interest Any interest which shall have accrued under Clause 23.2 (Default Interest) in respect of an unpaid sum shall be due and payable and shall be paid by the Borrower owing such unpaid sum at the end of the period by reference to which it is calculated or on such other date or dates as the Bank may specify by written notice to the Borrower.
- 23.4 Broken Periods If the Bank receives or recovers all or any part of an Advance made by the Bank otherwise than on the last day of the Term thereof, the Borrower shall pay to the Bank on demand an amount equal to the amount (if any) by which (i) the additional interest which would have been payable on the amount so received or recovered had it been received or recovered on the last day of the Term thereof exceeds (ii) the amount of interest which in the opinion of the Bank would have been payable to the Bank on the last day of the Term thereof in respect of a deposit in the currency of the amount so received or recovered equal to the amount so received or recovered placed by it with a prime bank in New York for a period starting on the first business day following the date of such receipt or recovery and ending on the last day of the Term thereof. In addition the Borrower shall also pay to the Bank a breakage fee in respect to any such receipt of all or any part of an Advance in accordance with the Bank's usual practice.

23.5 Indemnities

- (i) The Borrower hereby agrees to indemnify the Bank against any loss (other than any loss incurred as a result of the Bank's own wilful misconduct or gross negligence) it may suffer as a result of its funding an Advance requested by the Borrower hereunder but not made by reason of the operation of any one or more of the provisions hereof.
- (ii) The Borrower hereby agrees to indemnify the Bank and its affiliates, and its and their respective directors, officers, employees, attorneys and agents from, and hold each of them harmless against, any and all losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses incurred by any of them arising out of or by reason of any investigation or litigation or other proceedings (including any threatened investigation or litigation or other proceedings, and whether or not the Bank is a party to such litigation or other proceedings) relating to this Agreement or the Advances hereunder or any actual or proposed use by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of the proceeds of any of the Advances hereunder, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel, incurred in connection with any such investigation or litigation or other proceedings (but excluding any such losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses incurred by reason of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the person to be indemnified).
- 23.6 Unpaid Sums or Advances Any unpaid sum shall (for the purposes of this Clause 23 and Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances)) be treated as an Advance

and accordingly in this Clause 23 and Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) the term "Advance" includes any unpaid sum and "Term", in relation to an unpaid sum, includes each such period relating thereto as is mentioned in Clause 23.1 (Default Interest Periods).

Part 9

PAYMENTS

24. Currency of Account and Payment

- 24.1 Currency of Account United States Dollars is the currency of account and payment in respect of the Facility, for each and every sum at any time due from the Borrower under the Facility and, in connection therewith, in the other Finance Documents provided that:
 - (i) each payment pursuant to Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) shall be made in the currency specified by the party acting reasonably and claiming thereunder; and
 - (ii) any amount expressed to be payable in a currency other than United States Dollars shall be paid in that other currency.
- 24.2 Currency Indemnity If any sum due from the Borrower under the Finance Documents or any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto has to be converted from the currency (the "first currency") in which the same is payable thereunder or under such order or judgment into another currency (the "second currency") for the purpose of (i) making or filing a claim or proof against the Borrower, (ii) obtaining an order or judgment in any court or other tribunal or (iii) enforcing any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto, the Borrower shall indemnify and hold harmless each of the persons to whom such sum is due from and against any loss suffered as a result of any discrepancy between (a) the rate of exchange used for such purpose to convert the sum in question from the first currency into the second currency and (b) the rate or rates of exchange at which such person may in the ordinary course of business purchase the first currency with the second currency upon receipt of a sum paid to it in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of any such order, judgment, claim or proof.

25. Payments

25.1 Payments to the Bank On each date on which any Finance Document requires an amount to be paid by the Borrower under any of the Finance Documents in respect of the Facility or otherwise to the Bank, the Borrower shall make the same available to the Bank by payment in United States Dollars for value on the day in question to the Bank via:

Citibank, N.A.
ABA #021000089
for credit to account no. 40581356
reference Capital One
Attn: Carlos Lopez

(or such other account or bank as the Bank may have specified for this purpose).

- 25.2 Alternative Payment Arrangements If, at any time, it shall become impracticable (by reason of any action of any governmental authority or any change in law, exchange control regulations or any similar event) for the Borrower to make any payments hereunder in the manner specified in Clause 25.1 (Payments to the Bank), then the Borrower may agree with the Bank's alternative arrangements for the payment direct to the Bank of amounts due to the Bank hereunder provided that, in the absence of any such agreement with the Bank, the Borrower shall be obliged to make all payments due to the Bank in the manner specified herein.
- 25.3 No Set-off All payments required to be made by the Borrower under the Finance Documents shall be calculated without reference to any set-off or counterclaim and shall be made free and clear of and without any deduction for or on account of any set-off or counterclaim.
- 25.4 [Reserved]
- 25.5 [Reserved]
- 25.6 Non-Business Days In the event that any payment required to be made under any Finance Document falls to be made on a day which is not a business day it shall be made on the next business day.
- 26. Set-Off

The Borrower authorises the Bank to apply any credit balance to which the Borrower is entitled on any account of the Borrower with the Bank in satisfaction of any sum due and payable from the Borrower to the Bank hereunder but unpaid; for this purpose, the Bank is authorised to purchase with the moneys standing to the credit of any such account such other currencies as may be necessary to effect such application. The Bank shall not be obliged to exercise any right given to it by this Clause 26. Nothing in this Clause 26 shall constitute an encumbrance.

Part 10

FEES, COSTS AND EXPENSES

- 27. Facility Fee, Utilization Fee and Arranging Fee
- 27.1 Facility Fee The Borrower shall pay to the Bank, quarterly in arrears on the last day of each quarter or, if not a business day, the next business day immediately thereafter, a facility fee of 0.20 percent per annum on the amount of the Bank's Commitment from day to day during the period beginning on the date hereof and ending on the Termination Date.

- 27.2 Utilization Fee The Borrower shall pay to the Bank, quarterly in arrears on the last day of each quarter or, if not a business day, the next business day immediately thereafter, a utilization fee on the excess, if any, of (i) the average of the aggregate Outstandings over such quarter over (ii) 50% of the average of the aggregate amount of the Commitment hereunder in effect for such quarter, at a rate per annum equal to 0.10 percent from day to day during the period beginning on the date hereof and ending on the Termination Date.
- 27.3 Arrangement Fee The Borrower shall pay to the Bank an arrangement fee in respect to the Commitment in the amount of 0.20 percent of the Commitment (being \$140,000), which fee has been fully earned by the Bank as a result of the Bank entering into of this Agreement whether or not any Advance is made by the Bank hereunder and is payable at closing.

28. Costs and Expenses

- 28.1 Costs and Expenses The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees, not to exceed \$20,000 plus disbursements) incurred by it in connection with the negotiation, preparation and execution of the Finance Documents and the completion of the transactions therein contemplated except, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any transfer or assignment by the Bank of its rights or obligations hereunder.
- 28.2 Preservations and Enforcement of Rights The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees) reasonably incurred in or in connection with the preservation and/or enforcement of any of their rights under any of the Finance Documents except, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any transfer or assignment by the Bank of its rights or obligations hereunder.

28.3 [Reserved]

- 28.4 Waivers and Consents The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank (and without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 28.2 (Preservations and Enforcements of Rights) and Clause 34.2 (Amendment Costs) compensate the Bank for all reasonable costs and expenses (including telephone, fax, copying and travel costs) incurred by the Bank in connection with its taking such action as it may deem appropriate in complying with any request by the Borrower in connection with:
- (a) the granting or proposed granting of any waiver or consent requested hereunder by the Borrower;
- (b) any actual breach by the Borrower of its obligations hereunder;
- (c) the occurrence of any event which is an Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default; or
- (d) any amendment or proposed amendment hereto requested by the Borrower.

Part 11

ASSIGNMENTS AND TRANSFERS

29. Benefit of Agreement

This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of each party hereto and its or any subsequent successors and permitted Transferees and assigns.

30. Assignments and Transfers by the Borrower

The Borrower shall not be entitled to assign or transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder except pursuant to a Permitted Disposal.

- 31. Assignments and Transfers by Bank
- 31.1 Assignments and Transfers The Bank may assign all or any of its rights and benefits hereunder or transfer in accordance with Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank) all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder or transfer its Facility Office provided that (save in the case of an assignment of rights and benefits to any Affiliate of the Bank) no such assignment or transfer may be of an amount of less than \$5,000,000 or may be made without the prior written consent of the Borrower such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed (and, for the avoidance of doubt, it shall not be unreasonable for the Borrower to withhold or delay its consent in the case of an assignment of rights and benefits to any proposed assignee whose long-term debt obligations are then rated below Baa3 by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or below BBB- by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services). Notwithstanding the foregoing, no consent from the Borrower shall be required with respect to any such assignment or transfer at any time after any notice has been delivered pursuant to Clause 22.18 (Acceleration and Cancellation).
- 31.2 Transfers by Bank If the Bank wishes to transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and/or obligations hereunder as contemplated in Clause 31.1 (Assignments and Transfers), then such transfer may be effected by the delivery to the Bank of a duly completed and duly executed Transfer Certificate in which event, on the later of the Transfer Date specified in such Transfer Certificate and the fifth business day after (or such earlier business day endorsed by the Bank on such Transfer Certificate falling on or after) the date of delivery of such Transfer Certificate to the Bank:
- (i) to the extent that in such Transfer Certificate the Bank party thereto seeks to transfer its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder, the Borrower and the Bank shall be released from

further obligations towards one another hereunder and their respective rights against one another shall be cancelled (such rights, benefits and obligations being referred to in this Clause 31.2 as "discharged rights and obligations");

- (ii) the Borrower and the Transferee party thereto shall assume obligations towards one another and/or acquire rights against one another which differ from such discharged rights and obligations only insofar as the Borrower and such Transferee have assumed and/or acquired the same in place of the Borrower and the transferring Bank; and
- (iii) in addition to the transfers permitted under the foregoing provisions of this clause 31.2, the Bank may (without notice to the Borrower and without payment of any fee) assign and pledge all or any portion of its Advances to any Federal Reserve Bank as collateral security pursuant to Regulation A and any Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank.

32. Disclosure of Information

The Bank may disclose to any actual or potential assignee or Transferee or to any sub-participant in relation to any of the Finance Documents such information about the Borrower and the Group as the Bank shall consider appropriate provided that, prior to the disclosure of such information, it has obtained a duly completed confidentiality undertaking (substantially in the form set out in the Fifth Schedule (Form of Confidentiality Undertaking)) from such potential assignee, Transferee or sub-participant.

33. Calculations and Evidence of Debt

- 33.1 Basis of Accrual Interest and commitment commission shall accrue from day to day and shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days (or, in any case where market practice differs, in accordance with market practice) and the actual number of days elapsed. Each rate of interest stipulated as an annual rate of interest pursuant to any Finance Document which is calculated with reference to a period (the "deemed interest period") that is less than the actual number of days in the calendar year of calculation is equivalent to such annual rate multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year of calculation and divided by the number of days in the deemed interest period.
- 33.2 Evidence of Debt The Bank shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice accounts evidencing the amounts from time to time lent by and owing to it hereunder.
- 33.3 Prima Facie Evidence In any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with any of the Finance Documents, the entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to Clause 33.2 (Evidence of Debt) shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations of the Borrower therein recorded
- 33.4 Certificates of Bank A certificate of the Bank as to the amount for the time being required to indemnify it against any such cost, payment or liability as is mentioned in Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive for the purposes of any of the Finance Documents and prima facie evidence in any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with any of the Finance Documents. A certificate of the Bank as to the amount at any time due from the Borrower hereunder or the amount which, but for any of the obligations of the Borrower hereunder being or becoming void, voidable, unenforceable or ineffective, at any time would have been due from the Borrower hereunder shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive for the purposes of any of the Finance Documents.

34. Amendments and Waivers

- 34.1 Amendments and Waivers Save as otherwise provided herein, any provision of any of the Finance Documents may be amended or supplemented only if the Borrower and the Bank so agree in writing.
- 34.2 Amendment Costs If the Borrower requests any amendment, supplement, modification or waiver in accordance with Clause 34.1 (Amendments and Waivers) then the Borrower shall within five business days of demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all reasonable costs and expenses (including legal fees) incurred by the Bank in the negotiation, preparation and execution of any written instrument contemplated by Clause 34.1 (Amendments and Waivers).

35. Remedies and Waivers

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Bank any right or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy. The rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

Partial Invalidity

If, at any time, any provision of any Finance Document is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of the Finance Documents nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction shall in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

37. [Reserved]

38. Notices

- 38.1 Communications in writing Each communication to be made under any Finance Document shall, unless otherwise stated, be made in writing but, unless otherwise stated, may be made by fax, telex or letter.
- 38.2 Delivery Any communication or document to be made or delivered by one person to another pursuant to any of the Finance Documents shall (unless that other person has by fifteen days' written notice to the Borrower, as appropriate, specified another address) be made or delivered to that other person at the address identified with its signature below (or, in the case of a Transferee, at the end of the Transfer Certificate to which it is a party as Transferee) and shall be deemed to have been made or delivered when dispatched and the appropriate answer back received in the case of any communication made by telex) or (in the case of any communication made by telex) or (as the case may be) ten days after being deposited in the post postage prepaid in an envelope addressed to it at that address or (in the case of any communication made by fax) transmission has been completed and, in the case of the Bank, when received by the department or officer identified with the Bank's signature below (or such other department or officer as the Bank shall from time to time specify for this purpose).
- 38.3 English Language Each communication and document made or delivered by one party to another pursuant to any of the Finance Documents shall be in the English language or accompanied by a translation thereof into English certified (by an officer of the person making or delivering the same) as being a true and accurate translation thereof.

Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto on separate counterparts each of which, when executed and delivered, shall constitute an original, but all the counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

Part 12

LAW AND JURISDICTION

40. Lan

This Agreement shall be governed by and shall be construed in accordance $% \left(1\right) =1$ with the laws of the State of New York.

Jurisdiction

- 41.1 New York Courts Each of the parties hereto irrevocably agrees for the benefit of each other party hereto that any competent court in the State of New York shall have jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceeding, and to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with the Finance Documents (respectively "Proceedings" and "Disputes") and, for such purposes, irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts.
- 41.2 Appropriate Forum The Borrower irrevocably waives any objection which it might now or hereafter have to the courts referred to in Clause 41.1 (New York Courts) being nominated as the forum to hear and determine any Proceedings and to settle any Disputes and agrees not to claim that any such court is not a convenient or appropriate forum.
- 41.3 Consent to Enforcement The Borrower hereby consents generally in respect of any proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with such proceedings including, without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment which may be made or given in such proceedings.
- 41.4 Waiver of Immunity To the extent that the Borrower may in any jurisdiction claim for itself or its assets immunity from suit, execution, attachment (whether in aid of execution, before judgment or otherwise) or other legal process and to the extent that in any such jurisdiction there may be attributed to itself or its assets such immunity (whether or not claimed), the Borrower hereby irrevocably agrees not to claim and hereby irrevocably waives such immunity to the full extent permitted by the laws of such jurisdiction.
- 41.5 Waiver of Jury Trial THE BORROWER AND THE BANK EACH HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE NOTES OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

 $\,$ AS WITNESS the hands of the duly authorised representatives of the parties hereto the day and year first before written.

The Borrower

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By:

Address for Notices:

Director of Corporate Funding Capital One Services, Inc. 8000 Jones Branch Drive McLean, Virginia 22102 Fax: 703-875-1099

Email: Steve.Linehan@capitalone.com

The Bank

CITIBANK, N.A.

By:

Name: Robert Goldstein

Title:

Address for Notices:

Citibank N.A. 2 Penn's Way New Castle, Delaware 19720 Fax: (302) 894-6120

Attention: Carlos Lopez

THE FIRST SCHEDULE

Form of Transfer Certificate

To: Citibank, N.A.

TRANSFER CERTIFICATE

Relating to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 whereby a \$70,000,000 revolving credit facility was made available to Capital One Financial Corporation as borrower by Citibank, N.A.

- 1. Terms defined in the Facility Agreement shall, subject to any contrary indication, have the same meanings herein. The term Transferee is defined in the schedule hereto.
- 2. The Bank (i) confirms that the details in the schedule hereto under the heading "Commitment" and "Advance(s)" accurately summarises its Commitment and/or, as the case may be, the Term and Repayment Date of one or more existing Advances made by it and (ii) requests the Transferee to accept and procure the transfer to the Transferee of the portion specified in the schedule hereto of, as the case may be, its Commitment and/or such Advance(s) by counter-signing and delivering this Transfer Certificate to the Bank at its address for the service of notices specified in the Facility Agreement.
- 3. The Transferee hereby requests the Bank to accept this Transfer Certificate as being delivered to the Bank pursuant to and for the purposes of Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank) of the Facility Agreement so as to take effect in accordance with the terms thereof on the Transfer Date or on such later date as may be determined in accordance with the terms thereof.
- 4. The Transferee confirms that it has received a copy of the Facility Agreement together with such other information as it has required in connection with this transaction and that it has not relied and will not hereafter rely on the Bank to check or enquire on its behalf into the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy, accuracy or completeness of any such information and further agrees that it has not relied and will not rely on the Bank to assess or keep under review on its behalf the financial condition, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status or nature of the Borrower.
- 5. The Transferee hereby undertakes with the Bank and each of the other parties to the Facility Agreement that it will perform in accordance with their terms all those obligations which by the terms of the Facility Agreement will be assumed by it after delivery of this Transfer Certificate to the Bank and satisfaction of the conditions (if any) subject to which this Transfer Certificate is expressed to take effect.
- 6. The Bank makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of the Facility Agreement or any document relating thereto and assumes no responsibility for the financial condition of the Borrower or for the performance and observance by the Borrower of any of its obligations under the Facility Agreement or any document relating thereto and any and all such conditions and warranties, whether express or implied by law or otherwise, are hereby excluded.
- 7. The Bank hereby gives notice that nothing herein or in the Facility Agreement (or any document relating thereto) shall oblige the Bank to (i) accept a re-transfer from the Transferee of the whole or any part of its rights, benefits and/or obligations under the Facility Agreement transferred pursuant hereto or (ii) support any losses directly or indirectly sustained or incurred by the Transferee for any reason whatsoever including, without limitation, the nonperformance by the Borrower, or any other party to the Facility Agreement (or any document relating thereto) of its obligations under any such document. The Transferee hereby acknowledges the absence of any such obligation as is referred to in (i) or (ii) above.
- 8. This Transfer Certificate and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of State of New York.

THE SCHEDULE

- 1. Transferee:
- 2. Transfer Date:
- 3. Commitment Portion Transferred
- 4. Advance(s):

Term and Repayment Date Portion Transferred

Administrative Details of Transferee

Address:

Contact Name:

Account for Payments

Facsimile:

Telephone:

THE SECOND SCHEDULE

Condition Precedent Documents

- 1. A copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of the Borrower, of the Memorandum and Articles of Association (or equivalent documents) of the Borrower.
- 2. A copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of the Borrower, of a Board Resolution (or, as appropriate, a resolution of the Executive Committee, but in such case accompanied by the authorization of such Executive Committee so to act) of the Borrower approving the execution, delivery and performance of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and the terms and conditions hereof and authorising a named person or persons to sign the Finance Documents to which it is a party and any documents to be delivered by the Borrower pursuant hereto.
- 3. A certificate of a duly authorised officer of the Borrower setting out the names and signatures of the persons authorised to sign, on behalf of the Borrower, the Finance Documents to which it is a party and any documents to be delivered by the Borrower pursuant hereto.
- 4. An opinion of internal counsel to the Borrower, in substantially the form distributed to the Bank prior to the execution hereof.
- 5. A copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of the Borrower, of the Original Financial Statements of the Borrower.

THE THIRD SCHEDULE
Utilisation Request
Please see attached
[Intrader Printout]

THE FOURTH SCHEDULE

Form of Compliance Certificate

To:	[Bank]

Dear Sirs

(e)

Capital One - Compliance Certificate

We refer to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 and made between Capital One Financial Corporation as borrower and Citibank, N.A. as the Bank. Terms defined in the Facility Agreement shall bear the same meanings in this Certificate.

I, [], a duly authorized officer of Capital One Financial Corporation hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge, information and belief as at [insert date]:

A. the Borrower's Net Worth is as follows:

[amount of Net Worth] \$[]

B. The Borrower's:

(a) Delinquency Ratio is []%

(b) ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables is []

(c) Tangible Net Worth is []

(d) Leverage Ratio is []

Double Leverage Ratio is []

I confirm that to the best of my knowledge and belief, having made due enquiry no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred (which has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 33 (Amendments and Waivers) and the Borrower was in compliance with all of the covenants contained in Clause 19 (Financial Condition) of the Facility Agreement as at [].

Yours faithfully
......
Name:
Title:
Capital One Financial Corporation

THE FIFTH SCHEDULE

Form of Confidentiality Undertaking

From: Citibank, N.A.
[Address]
and
Capital One Financial Corporation
[Address]

To: [Prospective Recipient]

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

Capital One - Confidentiality Agreement

We refer to our conversations about the facility for Capital One Financial Corporation (the "Corporation") (the "Transaction") and to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 and made between the Corporation as borrower and Citibank, N.A. as the Bank. Following our receipt of a copy of this letter countersigned by you, we may give you certain structural concepts, information and documents relating to the Transaction (together the "Information").

In this letter, the "Bank Group" means Citibank, N.A. and its subsidiary undertakings, parent undertakings and fellow subsidiary undertaking and the "Capital One Group" means the Corporation and its subsidiaries and affiliates.

In return for us agreeing to provide you with certain Information, you agree as follows:

- (a) You shall hold in strict confidence all Information disclosed to you by us or on our behalf and agree that such Information is supplied solely to help you in deciding whether you want to participate in the Transaction and will solely be used by you for that purpose. Despite this obligation, you may disclose Information:
 - (i) to your advisers who need to know such Information for the purpose of evaluating the Transaction;
 - (ii) which, except through a failure by you or any adviser to comply with an undertaking as to confidentiality, is in the public domain; and
 - (iii) to bank supervisory authorities, statutory auditors or examining authorities, if you are obliged by law or regulation to disclose the Information to them.

If you have to disclose any Information under sub-paragraph (iii) above, you will give us such prior notice of that disclosure as is reasonably practicable.

- (b) You shall get your advisers to give us an undertaking in the form of this letter before letting them see any of the Information. You shall be responsible for any breach by your advisors of any such undertaking.
- (c) At our request, you shall provide us with details of all advisers to whom any Information has been, or is to be, disclosed.
- (d) You acknowledge that no member of the Bank Group is responsible for the accuracy and/or completeness of any Information. You shall be solely responsible for making your own independent appraisal and investigation of the Transaction and all parties connected with the Transaction (the "Transaction Parties"). You shall not rely upon any member of the Bank Group (now or hereafter) (1) to check the accuracy and/or completeness of any Information, or (2) to assess or review any aspect of the Transaction or any Transaction Party. Accordingly, except in the case of fraud, the Bank Group accepts no responsibility or liability to you (whether for negligence or otherwise).
- (e) You acknowledge that:
- (i) members of the Bank Group may, now and in the future, have other investment and commercial banking, trust and other relationships with Transaction Parties and with other parties ("Other Parties");
- (ii) as a result of these other relationships, members of the Bank Group may have or get information about Other Parties, Transaction Parties and/or the Transaction or which may be relevant to any of these. Despite this, no member of the Bank Group will have to disclose such information, or the fact that it is in possession of such information, to you;
- (iii) members of the Bank Group may, now and in the future, have fiduciary or other relationships under which it, or they, may exercise voting power over securities of various persons. Those securities may, from time to time, include securities of Transaction Parties; and
- (iv) each member of the Bank Group may exercise such voting powers, and otherwise perform its functions in connection with such fiduciary or other relationships, without regard to its relationship to the Transaction Parties and/or the Transaction.
- (f) You will return to us all documents evidencing the Information together with any copies of the Information, promptly upon either (1) your decision not to

participate in the Transaction or (2) a request by us to do so.

(g) You agree that the delivery to you of Information does not constitute any representation or warranty by Bank Group as to the accuracy or completeness of that Information.

This letter embodies the entire agreement between you and us relating to the Information. It supersedes any prior agreement or understanding (oral or in writing) relating to the Information. It may not be amended or waived except in writing.

You acknowledge that you have not relied on any representation other than those set out in this letter. We are not liable to you for any representation (other than any fraudulent representation) that is not set out in this letter.

You acknowledge that, except where otherwise indicated, your obligations under this letter are for the benefit of both the Capital One Group and the Bank Group (x,y)and can be enforced by either.

This letter and all claims arising from or in connection with it are governed the State of New New York courts is letter.

Letter to confirm

by, and are to be construed in accordance with the laws of York. You submit, for our benefit, to the jurisdiction of the for the resolution of any dispute arising in connection with this
Please sign, date and return to us the enclosed copy of this 1 your agreement to the above,
Yours faithfully
for and on behalf of Citibank, N.A.
for and on behalf of Capital One Financial Corporation
[On Copy]:
Agreed and Accepted
for and on behalf of [Prospective Recipient]
Dated []

Exhibit 10.4

\$30,000,000

REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY AGREEMENT

between

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION as borrower

and

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK as lender

August 10, 2000

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part 1		
1. Interpretation		
Part 2		
2. Grant of Facility2		
3. Purpose		
4. Conditions Precedent2		
Part 3		
5. Utilisation of Facility2		
Part 4		
6. Making of Advances2		
7. Payment of Interest		
8. Calculation of Interest		
9. Repayment of Advances		
Part 5		
10. Cancellation		
11. Prepayment		
Part 6		
12. Reserved		
13. [Reserved]		
14. [Reserved]		
15. Increased Costs		
16. Illegality		
17. Mitigation		
Part 7		
18. Representations		
19. Financial Information2		
20. Financial Condition2		
21. Covenants		
22. Events of Default2		
Part 8		
23. Default Interest and Indemnity		
Part 9		
24. Currency of Account and Payment		
25. Payments		
26. Set-Off		
Part 10		
27. Commitment Commission		
28. Costs and Expenses		
Part 11		
29. Benefit of Agreement		
30. Assignments and Transfers by the Borrower		
31. Assignments and Transfers by Bank		
32. Disclosure of Information		
33. Calculations and Evidence of Debt		
34. Amendments and Waivers		
35. Remedies and Waivers		
36. Partial Invalidity		
37. [Reserved]		
38. Notices		
39. Counterparts		
Part 12		
40. Law		
41. Jurisdiction		

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the 10th day of August, 2000

BETWEEN

- (1) CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION (the "Borrower"); and
- (2) FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK (the "Bank").

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows:

Part 1

INTERPRETATION

- Interpretation
- 1.1 Definitions In this Agreement:
- "Advance" means any advance made or to be made pursuant to the terms hereof;
- "Affiliate" means any person which, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, another person or any Subsidiary of such other person. The term "control" (including the terms "controlled by" or "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such person, whether through ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise;
- "Available Commitment" means, at any time, the Commitment less the Outstandings at such time;
- "Bank Regulatory Authority" shall mean the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and all other relevant bank regulatory authorities (including, without limitation, relevant state bank regulatory authorities);
- "Commitment" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 2 (Grant of Facility);
- "Compliance Certificate" means a certificate demonstrating compliance with the covenants set forth in Clause 20 (Financial Condition) as of the date specified in such certificate, substantially in the form set out in the Fourth Schedule (Form of Compliance Certificate);
- "Event of Default" means any of those events specified in Clause 22 (Events of Default);
- "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;
- "Facility" means the revolving credit facility granted to the Borrower hereunder;
- "Facility Office" means, in respect of the Bank, the office in the United States set forth opposite the Bank's name in the signature page below (or, in the case of a Transferee, at the end of the Transfer Certificate to which it is a party as Transferee) or such other office in United States as it may from time to time notify to the Borrower;
- "Final Maturity Date" means the day which is 364 days after the date hereof; provided that if the Final Maturity Date determined as aforesaid would fall on a day which is not a business day, it shall be the immediately preceding business day which is a business day in Charlotte, North Carolina and Falls Church, Virginia;
- "Finance Documents" means each of this Agreement, any Compliance Certificate, any notice delivered in connection herewith or therewith and any other agreement or document designated as such by the Bank and the Borrower;
- "Group" means, at any time, the Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries at such time;

 "LIBO Rate" means for the Term of each Advance, a per annum interest rate equal
- to the per annum rate determined by the Bank on the basis of the offered rates for deposits in dollars for a period of time corresponding to such Term (and commencing on the first day of such Term), which appear on the Reuters Screen LIBO Page as of 11:00 a.m. (London time) two (2) business days before the first day of such Term (provided that, if at least two such offered rates appear on the Reuters Screen LIBO Page, the rate in respect of such Term will be the arithmetic mean of such offered rates). As used herein, "Reuters Screen LIBO Page" means the display designated as page "LIBO" on the Reuters Monitor Money Rates Service (or such other page as may replace the LIBO page on that service for the purpose of displaying London interbank offered rates of major banks) ("RMMRS"). In the event the RMMRS is not then quoting such offered rates, "LIBO Rate" shall mean for the Term of each Advance, the average (rounded upward to the nearest one-sixteenth (1/16) of one percent) per annum rate of interest determined by the office of the Bank (each such determination to be conclusive and binding) as of two business days prior to the first day of such Term, as the effective rate at which deposits in immediately available funds in United States dollars are being, have been, or would be offered or quoted by the Bank to major banks in the applicable interbank market for dollar deposits at any time during the business day which is the second business day immediately preceding the first day of such Term, for a term comparable to such Term and in the amount of the requested Advance. If no such offers or quotes are generally available for such amount, then the Bank shall be entitled to determine the LIBO Rate by estimating in its reasonable judgment the per annum rate (as described above) that would be applicable if such quote or offers were generally available;

"Lien" means, with respect to the property of the Borrower, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such property:

"Managed Receivables" shall mean, on any date, all of the Borrower's (a) on-balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables, (b) on-balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables held for securitization and (c) securitized credit card loans and other finance receivables;

"Margin" means, at any time, 0.50% per annum;

"Margin Stock" means "margin stock" within the meaning of Regulations T, U and X;

"Material Adverse Effect" means with respect to the Borrower, a material adverse effect on (a) the property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalization of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the ability of the Borrower to perform its obligations under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (c) the validity or enforceability of the obligations of the Borrower under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (d) the rights and remedies of the Bank against the Borrower or (e) the timely payment of the principal of or interest on or in connection with any Advance or other amounts payable by the Borrower in connection therewith;

"Original Financial Statements" means, in relation to the Borrower, its audited consolidated financial statements for its financial year ended December 31, 1999 together with its consolidated management accounts for its financial period ended March 31, 2000;

"Outstandings" means, at any time, the aggregate of each outstanding Advance at

"Permitted Disposal" means any of the following:

- (vi) the merger or consolidation of any Affiliate of the Borrower with or into, or the transfer by such Affiliate of all or substantially all of its business or property to (x) the Borrower if the Borrower is the continuing, surviving or transferee corporation or (y) any other Affiliate of the Borrower;
- (vii) the merger or consolidation of the Borrower with or into, or the transfer by the Borrower of all or substantially all of its business or property, to any Affiliate of the Borrower if such Affiliate is the continuing, surviving or transferee entity, such Affiliate expressly assumes the obligations of the Borrower hereunder and such Affiliate, following such merger, consolidation or transfer, has a Tangible Net Worth (as defined in Clause 20.2 (Definitions of Financial Terms) at least equal to that of the Borrower immediately prior thereto;
- (viii) the merger or consolidation of any Affiliate of the Borrower with or into, or the transfer by any such person of all or substantially all of its business or property to any other person so long as no Event of Default (other than as permitted by Clause 21.4 (Disposals)) has occurred and is continuing immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or transfer or would result therefrom; and
- (ix) the sale by the Borrower or any Affiliate of the Borrower of credit card loans and other finance receivables pursuant to securitizations.

"Potential Event of Default" means any event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become an Event of Default;

"Prime Rate" means, in relation to any Advance or unpaid sum and any date, the rate of interest from time to time announced by the Bank at the Facility Office as its prime commercial lending rate;

"Receivables" means, with respect to the Borrower, any amount owing, from time to time, with respect to a credit card, consumer revolving or consumer installment loan account, home equity line of credit or residential mortgage loan account or other consumer receivable owned by the Borrower, including, without limitation, amounts owing for payment of goods and services, cash advances, convenience checks, annual membership fees, finance charges, late charges, credit insurance premiums and cash advance fees and fees relating to additional consumer products, and any other receivables arising out of financing transactions by the Borrower; provided that the term "Receivables" shall not include any of the foregoing that is subject to a securitization effected in the ordinary course of business;

"Regulations A, D, T, U and X" shall mean, respectively, Regulations A, D, T, U and X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor), as the same may be modified and supplemented and in effect from time to time;

"Repayment Date" means, in relation to any Advance, the last day of the Term thereof or, if such day is not a business day, the next business day following;

"Requested Amount" means, in relation to any Utilisation Request, the aggregate principal amount of the Advance requested;

"Restricted Shares" means, with respect to the Borrower, shares of stock of or other ownership interests in the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof engaged primarily in the extension of consumer credit to third parties or securitizations of receivables related to such extension of consumer credit, excluding without limitation any such ownership interests of the Borrower in

America One Communications, Inc.;

"Rollover Advance" means an Advance which is used to refinance an existing Advance and which is the same amount as such maturing Advance and is to be drawn on the day such maturing Advance is to be repaid;

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

"Subsidiary" of any corporation (the "Parent") means any other corporation of which more than 50% of the outstanding capital stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the Board of Directors of such other corporation (irrespective of whether or not at the time capital stock of any other class or classes of such corporation shall or might have voting power upon the occurrence of any contingency) is at the time directly or indirectly owned by the Parent or by the Parent and/or one or more Subsidiaries of the Parent, and shall include any corporation that is a direct or indirect Subsidiary of any such first mentioned Subsidiary;

"Term" means, in relation to any Advance, the period for which such Advance is borrowed as specified in the Utilisation Request relating thereto;

"Termination $\,$ Date" means the day falling one month prior to the Final $\,$ Maturity Date;

"Transfer Certificate" means a certificate substantially in the form set out in the First Schedule (Form of Transfer Certificate) signed by the Bank and a Transferee whereby:

- (i) the Bank seeks to procure the transfer to such Transferee of all or a part of the Bank's rights and obligations hereunder upon and subject to the terms and conditions set out in Clause 31 (Assignments and Transfers by Bank); and
- (ii) such Transferee undertakes to perform the obligations it will assume as a result of delivery of such certificate to the Bank as is contemplated in Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank);

"Transfer Date" means, in relation to any Transfer Certificate, the date for the making of the transfer as specified in the schedule to such Transfer Certificate;

"Transferee" means a bank or other financial institution to which the Bank seeks to transfer or, as the case may be, has transferred all or part of the Bank's rights and obligations hereunder;

"Utilisation" means a utilisation of the Facility hereunder;

"Utilisation Date" means the date of a Utilisation, being the date on which the Advance in respect thereof is to be made; and

"Utilisation Request" means a notice given to the Bank pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) in the form set out in the Third Schedule (Utilisation Request).

1.2 Interpretation. Any reference in this Agreement to:

the "Bank" shall be construed so as to include its and any subsequent successors, permitted Transferees and permitted assigns in accordance with their respective interests:

a document is in an "agreed form" when it has been initialled or signed by or on behalf of the Borrower and the Bank;

- a "business day" shall be construed as a reference to a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in Falls Church, Virginia or the jurisdiction where the Facility Office is located are authorized or required by law to close, excluding any day on which banks are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in the London interbank market;
- a "Clause" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a clause hereof; $\,$

- (i) obligations created, issued or incurred by such person for borrowed money (whether by loan, the issuance and sale of debt securities or the sale of property to another person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to repurchase such property from such person);
- (ii) obligations of such person to pay the deferred purchase or acquisition price of property or services, other than trade accounts payable (other than for borrowed money) arising, and accrued expenses incurred, in the ordinary course of business so long as such trade accounts payable are payable within 90 days of the date the respective goods are delivered or the respective services are rendered;
- (iii) indebtedness of others secured by an encumbrance on the property of such person, whether or not the respective indebtedness so secured has been assumed by such person;
- (iv) contingent and non-contingent obligations of such person in respect of letters of credit, bankers' acceptances or similar instruments issued or accepted by banks and other financial institutions for account of such person;
- (v) capital lease obligations of such person (being all obligations of such person to pay rent or other amounts under a lease of (or other agreement conveying the right to use) property to the extent such obligations are

required to be classified and accounted for as a capital lease on a balance sheet of such person under GAAP (as defined in Clause 20.2 (Definition of Financial Terms) or in any similar or equivalent manner under the relevant generally accepted accounting principles applicable to the preparation of such person's financial statements if these are other than GAAP) and, for the purposes of this Agreement, the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalised amount thereof, determined in accordance with GAAP (as so defined); and

- (vi) financial indebtedness of others guaranteed by such person;
- a "holding company" of a person shall be construed as a reference to any person of which the first-mentioned person is a Subsidiary;
- "indebtedness" shall be construed so as to include any obligation (whether incurred as principal or as surety) for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or contingent;
- a "Part" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a part hereof;
- a "person" shall be construed as a reference to any person, firm, company, corporation, government, state or province or agency of a state or province or any association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality) of two or more of the foregoing;
- a "Schedule" shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a schedule hereto;
- "tax" shall be construed so as to include any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge of a similar nature (including, without limitation, any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any delay in paying any of the same);
- a "wholly-owned subsidiary" of a person shall be construed as a reference to any person which has no other members or shareholders except that other person and that other person's wholly-owned Subsidiaries or persons acting on behalf of that other person or its wholly-owned Subsidiaries; and
- the "winding-up", "dissolution" or "administration" of a company or corporation shall be construed so as to include any equivalent or analogous proceedings under the law of the jurisdiction in which such company or corporation is incorporated or any jurisdiction in which such company or corporation carries on business including, without limitation, being subject to or the seeking of liquidation, bankruptcy, winding-up, reorganisation, dissolution, administration, arrangement, adjustment, protection or relief of debtors or compromise, arrangement or proposals with creditors.
- 1.6 "\$" and "United States Dollars" denote the lawful currency of the United States of America from time to time.
- 1.7 References Save where the contrary is indicated, any reference in this Agreement to:
- (i) this Agreement or any other agreement or document shall be construed as a reference to this Agreement or, as the case may be, such other agreement or document as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended, restated, varied, novated or supplemented;
- (ii) a statute shall be construed as a reference to such statute as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended or re-enacted;
- (iii) a time of day shall be construed as a reference to Falls Church, Virginia, time; and
- (iv) a person, shall mean that person's successor, permitted transferee or assignee.
- 1.5 Headings Clause, Part and Schedule headings are for ease of reference only.

Part 2

THE FACILITY

Grant of Facility

The Bank grants to the Borrower upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof, a revolving credit facility in a total aggregate amount of \$30,000,000\$ (the "Commitment").

- 3. Purpose
- $3.1\ \mathrm{Purpose}$ The Facility is intended for the general corporate purposes of the Borrower (in compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements, including, without limitation, Regulations T, U and X and the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the regulations thereunder) and, accordingly, the Borrower shall apply all amounts borrowed by it hereunder in or towards satisfaction of such purposes.
- 3.2 Application Without prejudice to the obligations of the Borrower under Clause 3.1 (Purpose), the Bank shall not be obliged to concern itself with the application of amounts raised by the Borrower hereunder.
- 4. Conditions Precedent
- 4.1 Save as the Bank may otherwise agree, the Bank shall be under no obligation hereunder unless the Bank has received (or waived receipt of) all of the documents listed in the Second Schedule (Condition Precedent Documents) and that each is, in form and substance, satisfactory to the Bank.

4.2 The Bank shall, on request by the Borrower, certify in writing whether or not it has received or waived receipt of any of the documents listed in the Second Schedule (Condition Precedent Documents) and whether each is in form and substance satisfactory to it.

Part 3

UTILISATION OF FACILITY

Utilisation of Facility

- 5.1 Delivery of a Utilisation Request The Borrower may from time to time utilise the Facility by delivering to the Bank, by no later than 10:30 a.m. on the proposed Utilisation Date, a duly completed Utilisation Request. The Bank shall, upon receipt of a duly completed Utilisation Request, advance the Requested Amount to the Borrower by no later than 3:00 p.m. on the Utilisation Date.
- 5.2 Utilisation Request Each Utilisation Request delivered to the Bank pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) shall be irrevocable and shall specify:
 - (i) the proposed Utilisation Date;
 - (ii) the Requested Amount (to be determined in accordance with Clause
- 5.3 (Requested Amount));
 - (iii) the Term in question which will begin on the proposed Utilisation Date and end on a business day, will not exceed 90 days in duration and will expire on or before the Final Maturity Date; and
- 5.3 Requested Amount The Requested Amount to be specified in a Utilisation Request delivered pursuant to Clause 5.1 (Delivery of a Utilisation Request) shall be in a minimum amount of \$100,000 and an integral multiple of \$100,000.

Part 4

THE ADVANCES

6. Making of Advances

If the Borrower notifies the Bank that it is to make an Advance, and if on the proposed Utilisation Date relating to such an Advance:

- (i) no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred and has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 34 (Amendments and Waivers); and
- (ii) each of the representations which are to be deemed repeated at any time after the date hereof in accordance with Clause 18.14 (Repetition of Representations) are true and correct on and as of such Utilisation Date by reference to the facts and circumstances existing at the time (or, if any such representation is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific date, as of such specific date), except to any extent waived pursuant to Clause 34 (Amendments and Waivers),

then, on such Utilisation Date, the Bank shall, subject to all the terms of this Agreement, make such Advance through its Facility Office.

7. Payment of Interest

On the Repayment Date relating to each Advance the Borrower shall pay to the Bank all unpaid accrued interest on that Advance.

Calculation of Interest

- 8.1 Interest Applicable to Advances The rate of interest applicable to an Advance from time to time during the Term of such Advance shall be the rate per annum determined by the Bank to be the sum of the LIBO Rate for such Advance and
- 8.2 Bank to Notify The Bank shall not later than the time specified in the applicable part of the Third Schedule notify the Borrower of each determination of the rate of interest made by it pursuant to Clause 8.1 (Interest Applicable to Advances).

9. Repayment of Advances

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Borrower shall repay each Advance made to it in full on the Repayment Date relating thereto and the Borrower shall not repay or prepay all or any part of any Advance outstanding hereunder except at the times and in the manner expressly provided herein.

Part 5

CANCELLATION

10. Cancellation

10.1 Cancellation At any time prior to the day falling one month before the Final Maturity Date the Borrower may, by giving to the Bank not less than 15 days' prior notice to that effect, cancel the whole or any part (being a minimum

amount of \$3,000,000, or equal to the amount of the Available Commitment, if less) of the Available Commitment.

10.2 Notice of Cancellation Any notice of cancellation given by the Borrower pursuant to Clause 10.1 (Cancellation) shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date upon which such cancellation is to be made and the amount of such cancellation.

11. Prepayment

The Borrower may, on any business day, prepay all (or any part thereof being in aggregate at least \$100,000 and an integral multiple of \$100,000) of any Advance made to it without premium or penalty but without prejudice to such Borrower's obligations under Clause 23.4 (Broken Periods), by giving to the Bank not less than 5 days' notice of the date of the prepayment. Any such notice shall be irrevocable and shall oblige the Borrower to make the prepayment on the date therein stated.

Part 6

CHANGES IN CIRCUMSTANCES

- 12. [Reserved]
- 13. [Reserved]
- 14. [Reserved]
- 15. Increased Costs
- 15.1 Changes in Circumstances If, by reason of (i) any change in law in any jurisdiction or in its interpretation or administration and/or (ii) compliance with any request from or requirement of any central bank or other fiscal, monetary or other authority (including, without limitation, a request or requirement (x) which affects the manner in which the Bank or any holding company of the Bank is required to or does maintain capital resources having regard to the Bank's obligations under any Finance Document and to amounts owing to it under any Finance Document but excluding the implementation, as contemplated on the signing of this Agreement, of any of the matters set out in the July 1988 report of the Basle Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices entitled "International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards" (the "Cooke Report"), (y) which implements any change after the signing of this Agreement in, or in the interpretation or application of, such matters or any increase in the requirements of the Cooke Report after the date hereof:
 - (a) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank incurs a cost as a result of the Bank's having entered into and/or performing its obligations under any Finance Document and/or assuming or maintaining a commitment under any Finance Document and/or its making one or more Advances;
 - (b) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank suffers a reduction in the rate of return on its overall capital (not being a reduction by reason of the imposition of, or increase in the rates of tax payable on its overall profits or net income) as a result of a change in the manner in which the Bank is required to allocate resources to its obligations under any Finance Document;
 - (c) there is any increase in the cost to the Bank or any holding company of the Bank of funding or maintaining all or any of the advances comprised in a class of advances formed by or including the Advances made or to be made by the Bank hereunder; or
 - (d) the Bank or any holding company of the Bank becomes liable to make any payment on account of tax or otherwise (not being a tax imposed on the net income of the Bank's Facility Office by the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or in which its Facility Office is located) on or calculated by reference to the amount of the Advances made or to be made by the Bank hereunder and/or to any sum received or receivable by it hereunder;

then the Borrower shall, provided that the Bank has notified the Borrower of such claim pursuant to Clause 15.2 (Increased Costs Claim), within 10 business days of receipt of a demand of the Bank, pay to the Bank amounts sufficient to indemnify the Bank or any such holding company against, as the case may be, (1) such cost, (2) such reduction in such rate of return (or such proportion of such reduction as is, in the opinion of the Bank, attributable to its obligations hereunder), (3) such increased cost (or such proportion of such increased cost as is, in the opinion of the Bank, attributable to its funding or maintaining Advances) or (4) such liability.

- 15.2 Increased Costs Claim If the Bank intends to make a claim pursuant to Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances), it shall notify the Borrower thereof by delivery of a certificate setting out in reasonable detail the basis and computation of such claim; provided that nothing herein shall require the Bank to disclose any confidential information relating to the organisation of its affairs.
- 15.3 Option to repay in relation to increased costs claim If the Borrower is required to pay any amount to the Bank under Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances), then subject to that Borrower giving the Bank not less than 10 days prior notice:
 - (i) the Borrower may prepay all, but not part, of Advances together with accrued interest on the amount prepaid. On any

such prepayment the Commitment shall be automatically
cancelled; and/or

(ii) the Borrower shall have the right at any time thereafter to locate a new lender to which all the rights and obligations of the Bank hereunder may be transferred. If such new lender has been located then the Bank and such new lender shall execute and deliver a Transfer Certificate pursuant to which all of the rights and obligations of the Bank hereunder shall be transferred to such new lender with effect from the Transfer Date specified in such Transfer Certificate.

16. Illegality

- If, at any time, it is unlawful for the Bank to make, fund or allow to remain outstanding all or any of the Advances made or to be made by it hereunder or for it, then the Bank shall, promptly after becoming aware of the same, deliver to the Borrower a certificate to that effect and, unless such illegality is avoided in accordance with Clause 17 (Mitigation), to the extent of such illegality:
- (i) the Bank shall not thereafter be obliged to participate in the making of such Advances and the amount of the Commitment shall be immediately reduced accordingly; and
- (ii) if the Bank so requires, the Borrower shall on such date as the Bank shall have specified as being necessary to comply with the relevant law repay such Advance together with accrued interest thereon and all other amounts owing to the Bank.
- 17. Mitigation
- If, in respect of the Bank, circumstances $\,$ arise which would, or would upon the giving of notice, result in:
- (i) the reduction of the Commitment to zero pursuant to Clause 16 (Illegality); or
- (ii) a claim for indemnification pursuant to Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances);

then, without in any way limiting, reducing or otherwise qualifying the obligations of the Borrower under any of the Clauses referred to in (i) or (ii) above, the Bank shall, in consultation with the Borrower, take such reasonable steps as the Bank acting in good faith considers appropriate to mitigate the effects of such circumstances including the transfer of its rights and obligations hereunder to another financial institution acceptable to the Borrower willing to participate in the Facility provided that the Bank shall be under no obligation to take any such action if, in the sole discretion of the Bank, to do so would or might have a material adverse effect upon its business, operations or financial condition.

Part 7

REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS AND EVENTS OF DEFAULT

18. Representations

The Borrower makes the representations and warranties set out in Clause $18.1\,\mathrm{to}$ Clause 18.14 and acknowledges that the Bank entered into this Agreement in reliance on those representations and warranties.

- 18.1 Status and Due Authorization The Borrower is a corporation duly organised, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Delaware, with all requisite corporate or other power to execute and deliver the Finance Documents to which it is a party and to exercise its rights and perform its obligations thereunder and all corporate and other action required to authorise its execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its performance of its obligations thereunder has been duly taken.
- 18.2 Validity and Admissibility in Evidence All acts, conditions and things required to be done, fulfilled and performed in order (a) to enable the Borrower lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights under and perform and comply with the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (b) to ensure that the obligations expressed to be assumed by the Borrower in each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party are legal, valid and binding and (c) to make each Finance Document to which the Borrower is a party admissible in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation have been done, fulfilled and performed and all material governmental licences, authorizations, consents and approvals under the laws of any jurisdiction necessary to own its assets and carry on its business as now being or as proposed to be conducted have been obtained.
- 18.3 Most Recent Financial Statements The most recent financial statements of the Borrower delivered in accordance with the terms of this Agreement were prepared in accordance with GAAP (as defined in Clause 20.2 (Definitions of Financial Terms)) and consistently applied and give (in conjunction with the notes thereto) a true and fair view of the financial condition of the Group at the date as of which they were prepared and the results of the Group's operations during the financial year then ended.
- 18.4 No Material Adverse Change Since publication of the Original Financial Statements of the Borrower, there has been no material adverse change in the property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalization of the Group taken as a whole.
- 18.5 No Undisclosed Liabilities As at the date as of which the Original Financial Statements of the Borrower were prepared no member of the Group had any liabilities (contingent or otherwise) which were not disclosed thereby (or by notes thereto) or reserved against therein nor any unrealised or anticipated

losses arising from commitments entered into by it which were not so disclosed or reserved against, in each case, as required under GAAP.

- 18.6 Litigation Other than as disclosed to the Bank prior to the date hereof, there are no legal or arbitral proceedings, or any proceedings by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, now pending or (to the knowledge of the Borrower) threatened against or affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries as to which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination that could (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 18.7 Execution of the Finance Documents The Borrower's execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its exercise of its rights and performance of its obligations thereunder do not and will not:
 - (i) conflict with any agreement, mortgage, bond or other instrument or treaty to which it is a party or which is binding upon it or any of its assets;
 - (ii) conflict with its charter, by-laws or any other constitutive documents and rules and regulations; or
 - (iii) conflict with any applicable law, regulation or official or judicial order, writ, injunction or decree,

which, in each case, is reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect and could subject the Bank to liability.

- 18.8 Full Disclosure All of the written information supplied by the Borrower to the Bank in connection herewith is true and accurate in all material respects.
- 18.9 Claims Pari Passu The claims of the Bank against the Borrower under the Finance Documents will rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured creditors save those whose claims are preferred solely by any bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar laws of general application.
- 18.10 No Winding-up The Borrower has not taken any corporate action nor have any other steps been taken or legal proceedings been started or (to the best of its knowledge and belief) threatened against it for its winding-up, dissolution, administration or re-organisation or for the appointment of a receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, trustee or similar officer of it or of any or all of its assets or revenues.
- 18.11 Liens Save as permitted by Clause 21.5 (Negative Pledge), no Lien exists over all or any of the Borrower's present or future revenues or assets.
- 18.12 No Obligation to Create Security The Borrower's execution and delivery of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and its exercise of its rights and performance of its obligations thereunder will not result in the existence of nor oblige it to create any encumbrance over all or any of its present or future revenues or assets.
- $18.13\ \mathrm{Use}$ of Credit No part of the proceeds of the Advances hereunder will be used to buy or carry any Margin Stock.
- 18.14 Repetition of Representations The representations contained in this Clause 18 (other than those made under Clauses 18.4, 18.5, 18.6, 18.8, 18.10, 18.11 and 18.12) shall be deemed to be repeated by the Borrower on each date upon which an Advance is made (other than Rollover Advances) by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing.
- 19. Financial Information

The Borrower shall deliver or cause to be delivered or otherwise made available through electronic media (provided that the Bank shall be given prior written notice of such availability) to the Bank the following financial statements and information:

- 19.1 Annual Statements The Borrower shall as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 120 days after the end of its financial year, deliver to the Bank the consolidated audited financial statements of the Group for such financial year.
- 19.2 Semi-annual and Quarterly Statements The Borrower shall as soon as the same become available, but in any event within 60 days after the end of each of its quarters ending three months, six months and nine months after the end of its financial years, deliver to the Bank its consolidated unaudited financial statements of the Group for such period.
- 19.3 Other Financial Information The Borrower shall from time to time on the request of the Bank, furnish the Bank with such information about the business and financial condition of the Group as the Bank may reasonably require.
- 19.4 Requirements as to Financial Statements The Borrower shall ensure that:
 - (i) each set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to this Clause 19 is prepared on the same basis as was used in the preparation of its Original Financial Statements and in accordance with GAAP and consistently applied;
 - (ii) each set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to Clause 19.1 is certified by a duly authorised officer of the Borrower as giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial condition as at the end of the period to which those financial statements relate and of the results of the Group's operations during such period;
 - (iii) each set of financial statements delivered pursuant to Clause

19.1 (Annual Statements) has been audited by an internationally recognised firm of independent auditors licensed to practise in the Borrower's jurisdiction of incorporation; and

(iv) each set of consolidated financial statements and accounts delivered to the Bank pursuant to Clause 19.1 (Annual Statements) or Clause 19.2 (Semi-annual and Quarterly Statements) shall be accompanied by a compliance certificate signed by a duly authorised officer of the Borrower, substantially in the form set out in the Fourth Schedule (Form of Compliance Certificate), together with any other information required to determine whether or not the financial condition of the Borrower satisfies the provisions of Clause 20 (Financial Condition).

20. Financial Condition

20.1 Financial Condition of the Borrower The Borrower shall ensure that, as evidenced by the most recent set of financial statements delivered by it pursuant to Clause 19 (Financial Information):

- (i) Maximum Delinquency Ratio $$\operatorname{Its}$$ Delinquency Ratio shall not on the last day of any calendar month be more than 6.0%.
 - (ii) Minimum Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio
 The ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables shall
 not on any date be less than 4.0 % and remain so for more than
 90 days and the ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed
 Receivables shall not on any date be less than 3.5%.
 - (iii) Minimum Tangible Net Worth
 The Tangible Net Worth of the Borrower shall not on any date
 be less than US\$1,250,000,000 plus 40% of Cumulative Net
 Income as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the
 Borrower most recently ended (being June 30, 2000) plus 40% of
 Cumulative Equity Proceeds as of such date of determination.
 - (iv) Leverage Ratio $\hbox{ Its Leverage Ratio shall not on any date exceed 10.0 to 1.}$
 - (v) Double Leverage Ratio
 Its Double Leverage Ratio shall not on any date exceed 1.25 to

20.2 Definitions of Financial Terms In this Agreement:

"Cumulative Equity Proceeds" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the aggregate amount of all cash received on or prior to such date of determination by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in respect of any Equity Issuance effected after June 30, 2000, net of reasonable expenses incurred by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in connection therewith;

"Cumulative Net Income" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the net income of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) for each fiscal quarter of the Borrower (a) commencing with the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2000 and (b) ending with the fiscal quarter most recently ended on or prior to such date of determination; provided that the Borrower's Cumulative Net Income shall be determined exclusive of any fiscal quarter of the Borrower for which the consolidated net income of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) is less than zero;

"Delinquency Ratio" shall mean, on any date and with respect to the Borrower, the ratio of (a) all Past Due Receivables with respect to the Borrower on such date to (b) the aggregate amount of all Managed Receivables with respect to the Borrower on such date;

"Double Leverage Ratio" shall mean, on any date, the ratio of (a) the sum of the Borrower's Intangibles calculated on an unconsolidated basis on such date plus the amount of the aggregate investment of the Borrower in the capital stock of its Subsidiaries to (b) the Borrower's Net Worth on such date;

"Equity" means on any date and with respect to any person, the aggregate at such time of such person's called up share capital, any credit balance on such person's share premium account or consolidated profit and loss account and such person's consolidated reserves less any debit balance on the consolidated profit and loss account of such person;

"Equity Issuance" shall mean (a) any issuance or sale by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of (i) any of its capital stock, (ii) any warrants or options exercisable in respect of its capital stock (other than any warrants or options issued to directors, officers or employees of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to employee benefit plans established in the ordinary course of business and any capital stock of the Borrower issued upon the exercise of such warrants or options) or (iii) any other security or instrument representing an equity interest (or the right to obtain any equity interest) in the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries from any person not a shareholder of the Borrower or any capital contribution (whether or not evidenced by any equity security issued by the recipient of such contribution); provided that Equity Issuance shall not include (i) any such issuance or sale by any Subsidiary of the Borrower to the Borrower or any wholly owned Subsidiary of the Borrower to any Subsidiary of the Borrower;

"GAAP" shall mean on any date and with respect to any person, generally accepted

accounting principles in the United States of America applied on a consistent basis with those used in the preparation of the latest annual or quarterly financial statements furnished by on behalf of such person to the Bank pursuant hereto;

"Intangibles" means as at any date and with respect to any person, the aggregate amount (to the extent reflected in determining the consolidated stockholders' equity of such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries) of (a) all write-ups (other than write-ups resulting from foreign currency translations and write-ups of assets of a going concern business made within 12 months after the acquisition of such business) subsequent to June 30, 2000 in the book value of any asset by any such person or any of its consolidated Subsidiaries, (b) all Investments in unconsolidated Subsidiaries and all equity investments in persons that are not Subsidiaries and (c) all unamortized debt discount and expense, unamortized deferred charges, goodwill, patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, anticipated future benefit of tax loss carry-forwards, copyrights, organisation or developmental expense and other intangible assets;

"Investments" means for any person (a) the acquisition (whether for cash, Property, services or securities or otherwise) of capital stock, bonds, notes, debentures, partnership or other ownership interests or other securities of any other person or any agreement to make any such acquisition (including, without limitation, any "short sale" or any sale of any securities at a time when such securities are not owned by the person entering into such sale); (b) the making of any deposit with, or advance, loan or other extension of credit to, any other person (including the purchase of Property from another person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to resell such Property to such person), but excluding any such advance, loan or extension of credit having a term not exceeding 90 days arising in connection with the sale of inventory or supplies by such person in the ordinary course of business; or (c) the entering into of any guarantee of, or other contingent obligation with respect to, indebtedness or other liability of any other person and (without duplication) any amount committed to be advanced, lent or extended to such person;

"Leverage Ratio" means on any date, the ratio of (a) the indebtedness (as determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of the Borrower with respect to the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries at such date minus the aggregate amount of all on-balance sheet loans held for securitization at such date to (b) the Borrower's Tangible Net Worth at such date:

"Managed Receivables" means on any date and with respect to any person, the sum for such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of (a) all on-balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables plus (b) all on balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables held for securitization plus (c) all securitized credit card loans and other finance receivables of such person; provided that, as the term "Managed Receivables" is used in the Tier I Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio calculation, clauses (a), (b) and (c) above shall be determined exclusive of securitized, non-revolving finance receivables;

"Net Worth" means on any date the consolidated stockholders' equity of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries, all determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP;

"Past Due Receivables" means on any date and with respect to any person, Managed Receivables contractually past due 90 days or more plus all other non performing assets provided however that receivables which are loans, whether or not contractually past due 90 days or more, shall not constitute Past Due Receivables to the extent of any cash balance of the account debtor on such loan on deposit with the creditor (but only to the extent such creditor is entitled under an agreement governing such loan to set-off such cash balances against the obligations of the account debtor under such loan and to the extent such cash balances are not subject to any other set-off or deduction by such creditor or any of its affiliates against a matured obligation owing by such debtor);

"Property" shall mean any right or interest in or to property of any kind whatsoever, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible;

"Tangible Net Worth" means on any date and with respect to any person, the consolidated stockholders' equity of such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries less Intangibles of such person and its consolidated Subsidiaries, all determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP;

"Tier 1 Capital" means on any date and with respect to any person, the amount, for such person and its Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis) on such date of "Tier 1 Capital", within the meaning given to such term in the Capital Adequacy Guidelines for State Member Banks published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 208, Appendix A, as amended, modified and supplemented, and in effect from time to time and any replacement thereof).

20.3 Accounting Terms All accounting expressions which are not otherwise defined herein shall be construed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

21. Covenants

21.1 Litigation The Borrower shall promptly give to the Bank notice of all legal or arbitral proceedings, and of all investigations or proceedings by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, and any material development in respect of such legal or other proceedings, against or affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except investigations or proceedings (a) as to which there is no reasonable possibility of an adverse determination or (b) that, if adversely determined, would not (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.

21.2 Maintenance of Legal Validity The Borrower shall obtain, comply with the

terms of and do all that is necessary to maintain in full force and effect all authorizations, approvals, licences and consents required in or by the laws and regulations of its jurisdiction of incorporation to enable it lawfully to enter into and perform its obligations under each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and to ensure the legality, validity, enforceability or admissibility in evidence in its jurisdiction of incorporation of each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party.

- 21.3 Insurance The Borrower shall maintain insurances on and in relation to its business and assets with reputable underwriters or insurance companies against such risks and to such extent as is usual for companies carrying on a business such as that carried on by the Borrower.
- 21.4 Disposals The Borrower shall not, without the prior written consent of the Bank, enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation or amalgamation or liquidate, wind-up or dissolve itself or convey, sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of, by one or more transactions or series of transactions (whether related or not), all or substantially all of its revenues or its assets other than by way of a Permitted Disposal.
- 21.6 Negative Pledge The Borrower shall not, without the prior written consent of the Bank, create or permit to subsist any Lien over any (1) Receivables of the Borrower or (2) Restricted Shares owned by it, in each case whether now owned or hereafter acquired, except:
- (d) Liens for taxes not yet due or Liens for taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves (in the good faith judgement of the management of the Borrower) have been established;
- (e) Liens imposed by law (i) which are incurred in the ordinary course of business and (x) which do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of such Receivables or Restricted Shares or materially impair the use thereof in the operation of the business of the Borrower or (y) which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, which proceedings have the effect of preventing the forfeiture of sale of the Receivables or Restricted Shares subject to such Lien or (ii) which do not relate to material liabilities of the Borrower and do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of the Receivables or Restricted Shares of the Group taken as a whole; provided that no Lien permitted under this clause (b) may secure any obligation in an amount exceeding \$10,000,000; and
- (f) Any pledge of Receivables to a Federal Reserve Bank made in the ordinary course of business to secure advances or other transactions and manage the liquidity position of the Borrower.
- 21.6 Claims Pari Passu The Borrower shall ensure that at all times the claims of the Bank against it under each of the Finance Documents rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured creditors save those whose claims are preferred by any bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar laws of general application.
- 21.7 Notification of Events of Default The Borrower shall promptly after becoming aware of the same inform the Bank of the occurrence of any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default and upon receipt of a written request to that effect from the Bank acting reasonably in circumstances which give reasonable grounds for belief that an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default may have occurred, confirm to the Bank that, save as previously notified to the Bank or as notified in such confirmation, no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred.

22. Events of Default

Each of Clause 22.1 to Clause 22.17 describes circumstances which constitute an Event of Default for the purposes of this Agreement. Clause 22.18 and Clause 22.19 deal with the rights of the Bank after the occurrence of an Event of Default.

- 22.1 Failure to Pay The Borrower (a) fails to pay any principal of any Advance when due (whether at stated maturity or at mandatory or optional prepayment) or (b) fails to pay any other amount due from it under any Finance Document at the time, in the currency and in the manner specified therein and such failure is not remedied within five business days.
- 22.2 Cross Default Any financial indebtedness of any member of the Group in excess of an aggregate of \$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) is not paid when due, any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group is declared to be or otherwise becomes due and

payable prior to its specified maturity, any commitment for, or underwriting of, any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group is cancelled or suspended or any creditor or creditors of any member of the Group become entitled to declare any such financial indebtedness of any member of the Group due and payable prior to its specified maturity.

- 22.3 Misrepresentation Any representation or statement made or deemed to be made by the Borrower in any of the Finance Documents to which it is a party or in any notice or other document, certificate or statement delivered by it pursuant hereto is or proves to have been incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed to be made.
- 22.4 Specific Covenants The Borrower fails duly to perform or comply with any of the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in Clause 19 (Financial Information) or Clause 21 (Covenants) and, if such breach is capable of remedy, such breach has not been remedied within 30 days after notice of such breach has been given by the Bank to the Borrower.
- 22.5 Financial Condition At any time any of the requirements of Clause 20 (Financial Condition) is not satisfied.

22.6 Other Obligations The Borrower fails duly to perform or comply with any other obligation expressed to be assumed by it in any Finance Document and such failure, if capable of remedy, is not remedied within 30 days after the Bank has given notice thereof to the Borrower.

22.7 Bankruptcy and Insolvency

- (i) The Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall admit in writing its inability to, or be generally unable to, pay its debts as such debts become due; or
- (ii) The Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall (a) apply for or consent to the appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a receiver, conservator, custodian, trustee, examiner or liquidator of itself or of all or a substantial part of its property, (b) make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (c) commence a voluntary case under the Federal Bankruptcy Code of 1978, as amended from time to time (the "Bankruptcy Code"), (d) file a petition seeking to take advantage of any other law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution, arrangement or winding-up, or composition or readjustment of debts, (e) fail to controvert in a timely and appropriate manner, or acquiesce in writing to, any petition filed against it in an involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code or (f) take any corporate action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or
- (iii) A proceeding or case shall be commenced, without the application or consent of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, in any court of competent jurisdiction, seeking (a) its reorganization, liquidation, dissolution, arrangement or winding-up, or the composition or readjustment of its debts, (b) the appointment of a receiver, conservator, custodian, trustee, examiner, liquidator or the like of the Borrower or such Subsidiary or of all or any substantial part of its property or (c) similar relief in respect of the Borrower or such Subsidiary under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding-up, or composition or adjustment of debts, and such proceeding or case shall continue undismissed, or an order, judgment or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered and continue unstayed and in effect, for a period of 60 or more days; or an order for relief against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall be entered in an involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code.

22.8 [Reserved]

- 22.9 Analogous Events Any event occurs which under the laws of any jurisdiction has a similar or analogous effect to any of those events mentioned in Clause 22.7 (Bankrputcy and Insolvency) or Clause 22.17 (Judgment Defaults).
- 22.10 Governmental Intervention By or under the authority of any government, (a) the management of the Borrower is wholly or partially displaced or the authority of the Borrower in the conduct of its business is wholly or partially curtailed which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or (b) all or a majority of the issued shares of the Borrower or the whole or any part (the book value of which is twenty percent or more of the book value of the whole) of its revenues or assets is seized, nationalised, expropriated or compulsorily acquired which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 22.11 Ownership of the Borrower Any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13 or 14 of the Exchange Act as amended) shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act) of 20% or more of the issued and outstanding shares of voting common stock issued by the Borrower or the Borrower shall at any time fail to own and control, beneficially and of record (free and clear of all encumbrances), at least 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each class of voting securities issued by Capital One Bank or the Borrower shall at any time fail to own and control, beneficially and of record (free and clear of all encumbrances), at least 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each class of voting securities issued by Capital One, F.S.B.

22.12 [Reserved]

- 22.13 The Borrower's Business The Borrower (i) ceases to carry on the business it carries on at the date hereof the cession of which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) enters into any unrelated business the entry into which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
 - 22.14 Repudiation The Borrower repudiates any Finance Document.
- 22.15 Illegality At any time it is or becomes unlawful for the Borrower to perform or comply with any or all of its obligations under any of the Finance Documents or any of the obligations of the Borrower under any of the Finance Documents are not or cease to be legal, valid and binding.
- 22.16 Performance of Obligations The Borrower becomes unable to perform any of its obligations under any of the Finance Documents and such inability has a Material Adverse Effect on the ability of the Borrower to perform its payment obligations under any of the Finance Documents.
- 22.17 Judgment Defaults A final judgment or judgments for the payment of money of \$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies) or more in the aggregate shall be rendered by one or more courts, administrative tribunals or other bodies having jurisdiction against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and the same shall not be discharged (or provision shall not be made for such discharge), or a stay of execution thereof shall not be procured, within 30 days from the date of entry thereof and the Borrower or Subsidiary shall not, within said period of 30 days, or such longer period during which execution of the same shall have been stayed, appeal therefrom and cause the execution thereof to be stayed during such appeal.

- (i) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, other than one referred to in Clause 22.7 (ii) or (iii) (Bankruptcy and Insolvency), the Bank may, by written notice to the Borrower:
 - a) declare the Advances to be immediately due and payable (whereupon the same shall become so payable together with accrued interest thereon and any other sums then owed by the Borrower hereunder) or declare the Advances to be due and payable on demand of the Bank; and/or
 - (b) declare that the Facility shall be cancelled, whereupon the same shall be cancelled and the Commitment shall be reduced to zero.
- (ii) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default specified in Clause 22.7(ii) or (iii) (Bankruptcy and Insolvency), the Facility shall automatically be cancelled and the Commitment shall be reduced to zero, and the Advances, and the accrued interest thereon, and all other amounts payable by the Borrower hereunder shall automatically become immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other formalities of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower.
- 22.19 Advances Due on Demand If, pursuant to Clause 22.18 (Acceleration and Cancellation), the Bank declares the Advances to be due and payable on demand of the Bank, then, and at any time thereafter, the Bank may by written notice to the Borrower require repayment of the Advances on such date as it may specify in such notice (whereupon the same shall become due and payable on such date together with accrued interest thereon and any other sums then owed by the Borrower hereunder) or withdraw its declaration with effect from such date as it may specify in such notice.

Part 8

DEFAULT INTEREST AND INDEMNITY

23. Default Interest and Indemnity

- 23.1 Default Interest Period If any sum due and payable by the Borrower under any Finance Document to which it is a party is not paid on the due date therefor in accordance with the provisions of Clause 25 (Payments) or if any sum due and payable by the Borrower under any judgment of any court in connection herewith is not paid on the date of such judgment, the period beginning on such due date or, as the case may be, the date of such judgment and ending on the date upon which the obligation of the Borrower to pay such sum (the balance thereof for the time being unpaid being herein referred to as an "unpaid sum") is discharged shall be divided into successive periods, each of which (other than the first) shall start on the last day of the preceding such period and the duration of each of which shall (except as otherwise provided in this Clause 23) be selected by the Bank.
- 23.2 Default Interest During each such period relating thereto as is mentioned in Clause 23.1 (Default Interest Period) an unpaid sum shall bear interest at the rate per annum which is the sum from time to time of one percent and the Prime Rate.
- 23.3 Payment of Default Interest Any interest which shall have accrued under Clause 23.2 (Default Interest) in respect of an unpaid sum shall be due and payable and shall be paid by the Borrower owing such unpaid sum at the end of the period by reference to which it is calculated or on such other date or dates as the Bank may specify by written notice to the Borrower.
- 23.4 Broken Periods If the Bank receives or recovers all or any part of an Advance made by the Bank otherwise than on the last day of the Term thereof, the Borrower shall pay to the Bank on demand an amount equal to the amount (if any) by which (i) the additional interest which would have been payable on the amount so received or recovered had it been received or recovered on the last day of the Term thereof exceeds (ii) the amount of interest which in the opinion of the Bank would have been payable to the Bank on the last day of the Term thereof in respect of a deposit in the currency of the amount so received or recovered equal to the amount so received or recovered placed by it with a prime bank in New York for a period starting on the first business day following the date of such receipt or recovery and ending on the last day of the Term thereof. In addition the Borrower shall also pay to the Bank a breakage fee in respect to any such receipt of all or any part of an Advance in accordance with the Bank's usual practice.

23.5 Indemnities

- (i) The Borrower hereby agrees to indemnify the Bank against any loss (other than any loss incurred as a result of the Bank's own wilful misconduct or gross negligence) it may suffer as a result of its funding an Advance requested by the Borrower hereunder but not made by reason of the operation of any one or more of the provisions hereof.
- (ii) The Borrower hereby agrees to indemnify the Bank and its affiliates, and its and their respective directors, officers, employees, attorneys and agents from, and hold each of them harmless against, any and all losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses incurred by any of them arising out of or by reason of any investigation or litigation or other proceedings (including any threatened investigation or litigation or other proceedings, and whether or not the Bank is a party to such litigation or other proceedings) relating to this Agreement or the Advances hereunder or any actual or proposed use by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of the proceeds of any of the Advances hereunder, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel, incurred in connection with any such investigation or litigation or other proceedings (but

excluding any such losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses incurred by reason of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the person to be indemnified).

23.6 Unpaid Sums or Advances Any unpaid sum shall (for the purposes of this Clause 23 and Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances)) be treated as an Advance and accordingly in this Clause 23 and Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) the term "Advance" includes any unpaid sum and "Term", in relation to an unpaid sum, includes each such period relating thereto as is mentioned in Clause 23.1 (Default Interest Periods).

Part 9

PAYMENTS

24. Currency of Account and Payment

- 24.1 Currency of Account United States Dollars is the currency of account and payment in respect of the Facility, for each and every sum at any time due from the Borrower under the Facility and, in connection therewith, in the other Finance Documents provided that:
 - (i) each payment pursuant to Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) shall be made in the currency specified by the party acting reasonably and claiming thereunder; and
 - (ii) any amount expressed to be payable in a currency other than United States Dollars shall be paid in that other currency.
- 24.2 Currency Indemnity If any sum due from the Borrower under the Finance Documents or any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto has to be converted from the currency (the "first currency") in which the same is payable thereunder or under such order or judgment into another currency (the "second currency") for the purpose of (i) making or filing a claim or proof against the Borrower, (ii) obtaining an order or judgment in any court or other tribunal or (iii) enforcing any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto, the Borrower shall indemnify and hold harmless each of the persons to whom such sum is due from and against any loss suffered as a result of any discrepancy between (a) the rate of exchange used for such purpose to convert the sum in question from the first currency into the second currency and (b) the rate or rates of exchange at which such person may in the ordinary course of business purchase the first currency with the second currency upon receipt of a sum paid to it in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of any such order, judgment, claim or proof.

25. Payments

- 25.1 Payments to the Bank On each date on which any Finance Document requires an amount to be paid by the Borrower under any of the Finance Documents in respect of the Facility or otherwise to the Bank, the Borrower shall make the same available to the Bank by payment in United States Dollars for value on the day in question to the Bank at the Facility Office unless the Bank has specified another address or account by written notice to the Borrower at least two business days prior to such payment.
- 25.2 Alternative Payment Arrangements If, at any time, it shall become impracticable (by reason of any action of any governmental authority or any change in law, exchange control regulations or any similar event) for the Borrower to make any payments hereunder in the manner specified in Clause 25.1 (Payments to the Bank), then the Borrower may agree with the Bank's alternative arrangements for the payment direct to the Bank of amounts due to the Bank hereunder provided that, in the absence of any such agreement with the Bank, the Borrower shall be obliged to make all payments due to the Bank in the manner specified herein.
- 25.3 No Set-off All payments required to be made by the Borrower under the Finance Documents shall be calculated without reference to any set-off or counterclaim and shall be made free and clear of and without any deduction for or on account of any set-off or counterclaim.
- 25.4 [Reserved]
- 25.5 [Reserved]
- 25.6 Non-Business Days In the event that any payment required to be made under any Finance Document falls to be made on a day which is not a business day it shall be made on the next business day.
- 26. Set-Off

The Borrower authorises the Bank to apply any credit balance to which the Borrower is entitled on any account of the Borrower with the Bank in satisfaction of any sum due and payable from the Borrower to the Bank hereunder but unpaid; for this purpose, the Bank is authorised to purchase with the moneys standing to the credit of any such account such other currencies as may be necessary to effect such application. The Bank shall not be obliged to exercise any right given to it by this Clause 26. Nothing in this Clause 26 shall constitute an encumbrance.

Part 10

FEES, COSTS AND EXPENSES

27. Commitment Commission

The Borrower shall pay to the Bank, quarterly in arrears on the last day of each quarter or, if not a business day, then the next business day immediately thereafter, a commitment commission of 0.15 percent per annum on the amount of the Bank's Commitment from day to day during the period beginning on the date hereof and ending on the Termination Date.

- 28.1 Costs and Expenses The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees, not to exceed \$20,000 plus disbursements) incurred by it in connection with the negotiation, preparation and execution of the Finance Documents and the completion of the transactions therein contemplated except, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any transfer or assignment by the Bank of its rights or obligations hereunder.
- 28.2 Preservations and Enforcement of Rights The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees) reasonably incurred in or in connection with the preservation and/or enforcement of any of their rights under any of the Finance Documents except, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any transfer or assignment by the Bank of its rights or obligations hereunder.

28.3 [Reserved]

- 28.4 Waivers and Consents The Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Bank (and without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 28.2 (Preservations and Enforcements of Rights) and Clause 34.2 (Amendment Costs) compensate the Bank for all reasonable costs and expenses (including telephone, fax, copying and travel costs) incurred by the Bank in connection with its taking such action as it may deem appropriate in complying with any request by the Borrower in connection with:
- (a) the granting or proposed granting of any waiver or consent requested hereunder by the Borrower;
- (b) any actual breach by the Borrower of its obligations hereunder;
- (c) the occurrence of any event which is an Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default; or
- (a) any amendment or proposed amendment hereto requested by the Borrower.

Part 11

ASSIGNMENTS AND TRANSFERS

29. Benefit of Agreement

This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of each party hereto and its or any subsequent successors and permitted Transferees and assigns.

- 30. Assignments and Transfers by the Borrower
- The Borrower shall not be entitled to assign or transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder except pursuant to a Permitted Disposal.
- 31. Assignments and Transfers by Bank
- 31.1 Assignments and Transfers The Bank may assign all or any of its rights and benefits hereunder or transfer in accordance with Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank) all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder or transfer its Facility Office provided that (save in the case of an assignment of rights and benefits to any Affiliate of the Bank) no such assignment or transfer may be of an amount of less than \$5,000,000 or may be made without the prior written consent of the Borrower such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed (and, for the avoidance of doubt, it shall not be unreasonable for the Borrower to withhold or delay its consent in the case of an assignment of rights and benefits to any proposed assignee whose long-term debt obligations are then rated below Baa3 by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or below BBB- by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services). Notwithstanding the foregoing, no consent from the Borrower shall be required with respect to any such assignment or transfer at any time after any notice has been delivered pursuant to Clause 22.18 (Acceleration and Cancellation).
- 31.2 Transfers by Bank If the Bank wishes to transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and/or obligations hereunder as contemplated in Clause 31.1 (Assignments and Transfers), then such transfer may be effected by the delivery to the Bank of a duly completed and duly executed Transfer Certificate in which event, on the later of the Transfer Date specified in such Transfer Certificate and the fifth business day after (or such earlier business day endorsed by the Bank on such Transfer Certificate falling on or after) the date of delivery of such Transfer Certificate to the Bank:
- (i) to the extent that in such Transfer Certificate the Bank party thereto seeks to transfer its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder, the Borrower and the Bank shall be released from further obligations towards one another hereunder and their respective rights against one another shall be cancelled (such rights, benefits and obligations being referred to in this Clause 31.2 as "discharged rights and obligations");
- (ii) the Borrower and the Transferee party thereto shall assume obligations towards one another and/or acquire rights against one another which differ from such discharged rights and obligations only insofar as the Borrower and such Transferee have assumed and/or acquired the same in place of the Borrower and the transferring Bank and
- (iii) In addition to the transfers permitted under the foregoing provisions of this clause 31.2, the Bank may (without notice to the Borrower and without payment of any fee) assign and

pledge all or any portion of its Advances to any Federal Reserve Bank as collateral security pursuant to Regulation A and any Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank

32. Disclosure of Information

The Bank may disclose to any actual or potential assignee or Transferee or to any sub-participant in relation to any of the Finance Documents such information about the Borrower and the Group as the Bank shall consider appropriate provided that, prior to the disclosure of such information, it has obtained a duly completed confidentiality undertaking (substantially in the form set out in the Fifth Schedule (Form of Confidentiality Undertaking)) from such potential assignee, Transferee or sub-participant.

33. Calculations and Evidence of Debt

- 33.1 Basis of Accrual Interest and commitment commission shall accrue from day to day and shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days (or, in any case where market practice differs, in accordance with market practice) and the actual number of days elapsed. Each rate of interest stipulated as an annual rate of interest pursuant to any Finance Document which is calculated with reference to a period (the "deemed interest period") that is less than the actual number of days in the calendar year of calculation is equivalent to such annual rate multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year of calculation and divided by the number of days in the deemed interest period.
- 33.2 Evidence of Debt The Bank shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice accounts evidencing the amounts from time to time lent by and owing to it hereunder.
- 33.3 Prima Facie Evidence In any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with any of the Finance Documents, the entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to Clause 33.2 (Evidence of Debt) shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations of the Borrower therein recorded
- 33.4 Certificates of Bank A certificate of the Bank as to the amount for the time being required to indemnify it against any such cost, payment or liability as is mentioned in Clause 15.1 (Changes in Circumstances) shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive for the purposes of any of the Finance Documents and prima facie evidence in any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with any of the Finance Documents. A certificate of the Bank as to the amount at any time due from the Borrower hereunder or the amount which, but for any of the obligations of the Borrower hereunder being or becoming void, voidable, unenforceable or ineffective, at any time would have been due from the Borrower hereunder shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive for the purposes of any of the Finance Documents.

34. Amendments and Waivers

- 34.1 Amendments and Waivers Save as otherwise provided herein, any provision of any of the Finance Documents may be amended or supplemented only if the Borrower and the Bank so agree in writing.
- 34.2 Amendment Costs If the Borrower requests any amendment, supplement, modification or waiver in accordance with Clause 34.1 (Amendments and Waivers) then the Borrower shall within five business days of demand of the Bank, reimburse the Bank for all reasonable costs and expenses (including legal fees) incurred by the Bank in the negotiation, preparation and execution of any written instrument contemplated by Clause 34.1 (Amendments and Waivers).

35. Remedies and Waivers

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Bank any right or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy. The rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

36. Partial Invalidity

If, at any time, any provision of any Finance Document is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of the Finance Documents nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction shall in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

37. [Reserved]

38. Notices

- 38.1 Communications in writing Each communication to be made under any Finance Document shall, unless otherwise stated, be made in writing but, unless otherwise stated, may be made by fax, telex or letter.
- 38.2 Delivery Any communication or document to be made or delivered by one person to another pursuant to any of the Finance Documents shall (unless that other person has by fifteen days' written notice to the Borrower, as appropriate, specified another address) be made or delivered to that other person at the address identified with its signature below (or, in the case of a Transferee, at the end of the Transfer Certificate to which it is a party as Transferee) and shall be deemed to have been made or delivered when dispatched and the appropriate answer back received in the case of any communication made by telex) or (in the case of any communication made by telex) or (as the case may be) ten days after being deposited in the post postage prepaid in an envelope addressed to it at that address or (in the case

of any communication made by fax) transmission has been completed and, in the case of the Bank, when received by the department or officer identified with the Bank's signature below (or such other department or officer as the Bank shall from time to time specify for this purpose).

38.3 English Language Each communication and document made or delivered by one party to another pursuant to any of the Finance Documents shall be in the English language or accompanied by a translation thereof into English certified (by an officer of the person making or delivering the same) as being a true and accurate translation thereof.

Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto on separate counterparts each of which, when executed and delivered, shall constitute an original, but all the counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

Part 12

LAW AND JURISDICTION

40. Law

This Agreement shall be governed by and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

41. Jurisdiction

- 41.1 New York Courts Each of the parties hereto irrevocably agrees for the benefit of each other party hereto that any competent court in the State of New York shall have jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceeding, and to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with the Finance Documents (respectively "Proceedings" and "Disputes") and, for such purposes, irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts.
- 41.2 Appropriate Forum The Borrower irrevocably waives any objection which it might now or hereafter have to the courts referred to in Clause 41.1 (New York Courts) being nominated as the forum to hear and determine any Proceedings and to settle any Disputes and agrees not to claim that any such court is not a convenient or appropriate forum.
- 41.3 Consent to Enforcement The Borrower hereby consents generally in respect of any proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with such proceedings including, without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment which may be made or given in such proceedings.
- 41.4 Waiver of Immunity To the extent that the Borrower may in any jurisdiction claim for itself or its assets immunity from suit, execution, attachment (whether in aid of execution, before judgment or otherwise) or other legal process and to the extent that in any such jurisdiction there may be attributed to itself or its assets such immunity (whether or not claimed), the Borrower hereby irrevocably agrees not to claim and hereby irrevocably waives such immunity to the full extent permitted by the laws of such jurisdiction.
- 41.5 Waiver of Jury Trial THE BORROWER AND THE BANK EACH HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE NOTES OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

 $\,$ AS WITNESS the hands of the duly authorised representatives of the parties hereto the day and year first before written.

The Borrower

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By:

Address for Notices:

Director of Corporate Funding Capital One Services, Inc. 8000 Jones Branch Drive McLean, Virginia 22102 Fax: 703-875-1099

Email: Steve.Linehan@capitalone.com

The Bank

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK

By:

Name: Leslie Cundiff Title: S. Vice President

Wiring Instructions:
First Union National Bank
ABA# 053000219
Org. 001 GL 145916
Commercial Loan
f/b/o Capital One Financial Corp.
OB #1300899240
Ref. Commitment Fee or Loan Payment

Contact: Marsha Belcher, Portfolio Management 804-771-7143

Address for Notices: 7 North 8th Street Richmond, VA 23219 Fax: (804) 343-6690

Attention: Martin Rust

THE FIRST SCHEDULE

Form of Transfer Certificate

First Union National Bank

To:

TRANSFER CERTIFICATE

Relating to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 whereby a \$30,000,000 revolving credit facility was made available to Capital One Financial Corporation as borrower by First Union National Bank.

- 1. Terms defined in the Facility Agreement shall, subject to any contrary indication, have the same meanings herein. The term Transferee is defined in the schedule hereto.
- 2. The Bank (i) confirms that the details in the schedule hereto under the heading "Commitment" and "Advance(s)" accurately summarises its Commitment and/or, as the case may be, the Term and Repayment Date of one or more existing Advances made by it and (ii) requests the Transferee to accept and procure the transfer to the Transferee of the portion specified in the schedule hereto of, as the case may be, its Commitment and/or such Advance(s) by counter-signing and delivering this Transfer Certificate to the Bank at its address for the service of notices specified in the Facility Agreement.
- 3. The Transferee hereby requests the Bank to accept this Transfer Certificate as being delivered to the Bank pursuant to and for the purposes of Clause 31.2 (Transfers by Bank) of the Facility Agreement so as to take effect in accordance with the terms thereof on the Transfer Date or on such later date as may be determined in accordance with the terms thereof.
- 4. The Transferee confirms that it has received a copy of the Facility Agreement together with such other information as it has required in connection with this transaction and that it has not relied and will not hereafter rely on the Bank to check or enquire on its behalf into the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy, accuracy or completeness of any such information and further agrees that it has not relied and will not rely on the Bank to assess or keep under review on its behalf the financial condition, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status or nature of the Borrower.
- 5. The Transferee hereby undertakes with the Bank and each of the other parties to the Facility Agreement that it will perform in accordance with their terms all those obligations which by the terms of the Facility Agreement will be assumed by it after delivery of this Transfer Certificate to the Bank and satisfaction of the conditions (if any) subject to which this Transfer Certificate is expressed to take effect.
- 6. The Bank makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of the Facility Agreement or any document relating thereto and assumes no responsibility for the financial condition of the Borrower or for the performance and observance by the Borrower of any of its obligations under the Facility Agreement or any document relating thereto and any and all such conditions and warranties, whether express or implied by law or otherwise, are hereby excluded.
- 7. The Bank hereby gives notice that nothing herein or in the Facility Agreement (or any document relating thereto) shall oblige the Bank to (i) accept a re-transfer from the Transferee of the whole or any part of its rights, benefits and/or obligations under the Facility Agreement transferred pursuant hereto or (ii) support any losses directly or indirectly sustained or incurred by the Transferee for any reason whatsoever including, without limitation, the nonperformance by the Borrower, or any other party to the Facility Agreement (or any document relating thereto) of its obligations under any such document. The Transferee hereby acknowledges the absence of any such obligation as is referred to in (i) or (ii) above.
- 8. This Transfer Certificate and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of State of New York.

THE SCHEDULE

- 1. Transferee:
- 2. Transfer Date:
- Commitment Portion Transferred
- 4. Advance(s):

 ${\tt Term} \ {\tt and} \ {\tt Repayment} \ {\tt Date} \ {\tt Portion} \ {\tt Transferred}$

Administrative Details of Transferee

Address:

Contact Name:

Account for Payments

Facsimile:

Telephone:

THE SECOND SCHEDULE

Condition Precedent Documents

- 1. A copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of the Borrower, of the Memorandum and Articles of Association (or equivalent documents) of the Borrower.
- 2. A copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of the Borrower, of a Board Resolution (or, as appropriate, a resolution of the Executive Committee, but in such case accompanied by the authorization of such Executive Committee so to act) of the Borrower approving the execution, delivery and performance of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and the terms and conditions hereof and authorising a named person or persons to sign the Finance Documents to which it is a party and any documents to be delivered by the Borrower pursuant hereto.
- 3. A certificate of a duly authorised officer of the Borrower setting out the names and signatures of the persons authorised to sign, on behalf of the Borrower, the Finance Documents to which it is a party and any documents to be delivered by the Borrower pursuant hereto.
- $4\,.$ An opinion of internal counsel to the Borrower, in substantially the form distributed to the Bank prior to the execution hereof.
- $5.\ \mbox{A}$ copy, certified to be a true copy by a duly authorised officer of the Borrower, of the Original Financial Statements of the Borrower.

THE THIRD SCHEDULE

Utilisation Request

Please see attached

[Intrader Printout]

THE FOURTH SCHEDULE

Form of Compliance Certificate

To:	[Bank]		
Dear	Sirs		

Capital One - Compliance Certificate

We refer to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 and made between Capital One Financial Corporation as borrower and First Union National Bank as the Bank. Terms defined in the Facility Agreement shall bear the same meanings in this Certificate.

I, [], a duly authorized officer of Capital One Financial Corporation hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge, information and belief as at [insert date]:

Α.	the Borrower's Net Worth is as follows:				
	[amount	of Net Worth] \$[]			
В.	The Borrower's:				
	(a)	Delinquency Ratio is []%			
	(b)	ratio of its Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables is []			
	(c)	Tangible Net Worth is []			
	(d)	Leverage Ratio is []			
	(e)	Double Leverage Ratio is []			

I confirm that to the best of my knowledge and belief, having made due enquiry no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred (which has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 33 (Amendments and Waivers) and the Borrower was in compliance with all of the covenants contained in Clause 19 (Financial Condition) of the Facility Agreement as at [].

Yours faithfully
.....
Name:
Title:
Capital One Financial Corporation

THE FIFTH SCHEDULE

Form of Confidentiality Undertaking

From: First Union National Bank

[Address]

and

Capital One Financial Corporation

[Address]

To: [Prospective Recipient]

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

Capital One - Confidentiality Agreement

We refer to our conversations about the facility for Capital One Financial Corporation (the "Corporation") (the "Transaction") and to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated August 10, 2000 and made between the Corporation as borrower and First Union National Bank as the Bank. Following our receipt of a copy of this letter countersigned by you, we may give you certain structural concepts, information and documents relating to the Transaction (together the "Information").

In this letter, the "Bank Group" means First Union National Bank and its subsidiary undertakings, parent undertakings and fellow subsidiary undertaking and the "Capital One Group" means the Corporation and its subsidiaries and affiliates.

In return for us agreeing to provide you with certain Information, you agree as follows:

- (a) You shall hold in strict confidence all Information disclosed to you by us or on our behalf and agree that such $\,$ Information is supplied solely to help you in deciding whether you want to participate in the Transaction and will solely be used by you for that purpose. Despite this obligation, you may disclose Information:
- (i) to your advisers who need to know such Information for the purpose of evaluating the Transaction;
- (ii) which, except through a failure by you or any adviser to comply with an undertaking as to confidentiality, is in the public domain; and
- (iii) to bank supervisory authorities, statutory auditors or examining authorities, if you are obliged by law or regulation to disclose the Information
- If you have to disclose any Information under sub-paragraph (iii) above, you will give us such prior notice of that disclosure as is reasonably practicable.
- (b) You shall get your advisers to give us an undertaking in the form of this letter before letting them see any of the Information. You shall be responsible for any breach by your advisors of any such undertaking.
- (c) At our request, you shall provide us with details of all advisers to whom any Information has been, or is to be, disclosed.
- (d) You acknowledge that no member of the Bank Group is responsible for the accuracy and/or completeness of any Information. You shall be solely responsible for making your own independent appraisal and investigation of the Transaction and all parties connected with the Transaction (the "Transaction Parties"). You shall not rely upon any member of the Bank Group (now or hereafter) (1) to check the accuracy and/or completeness of any Information, or (2) to assess or review any aspect of the Transaction or any Transaction Party. Accordingly, except in the case of fraud, the Bank Group accepts no responsibility or liability to you (whether for negligence or otherwise).
- (e) You acknowledge that:
- (i) members of the Bank Group may, now and in the future, have other investment and commercial banking, trust and other relationships with Transaction Parties and with other parties ("Other Parties");
- (ii) as a result of these other relationships, members of the Bank Group may have or get information about Other Parties, Transaction Parties and/or the Transaction or which may be relevant to any of these. Despite this, no member of the Bank Group will have to disclose such information, or the fact that it is in possession of such information, to you;
- (iii) members of the Bank Group may, now and in the future, have fiduciary or other relationships under which it, or they, may exercise voting power over securities of various persons. Those securities may, from time to time, include securities of Transaction Parties; and
- (iv) each member of the Bank Group may exercise such voting powers, and otherwise perform its functions in connection with such fiduciary or other relationships, without regard to its relationship to the Transaction Parties and/or the Transaction.
- (f) You will return to us all documents evidencing the Information together with any copies of the Information, promptly upon either (1) your decision not to

participate in the Transaction or (2) a request by us to do so.

(g) You agree that the delivery to you of $\mbox{ Information does not } \mbox{ constitute any representation or warranty by Bank Group as to the accuracy or <math>\mbox{ completeness of that Information.}$

This letter embodies the entire agreement between you and us relating to the Information. It supersedes any prior agreement or understanding (oral or in writing) relating to the Information. It may not be amended or waived except in writing.

You acknowledge that you have not relied on any representation other than those set out in this letter. We are not liable to you for any representation (other than any fraudulent representation) that is not set out in this letter.

You acknowledge that, except where otherwise indicated, your obligations under this letter are for the benefit of both the Capital One Group and the Bank Group and can be enforced by either.

This letter and all claims arising from or in connection with it are governed by, and are to be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York. You submit, for our benefit, to the jurisdiction of the New York courts for the resolution of any dispute arising in connection with this letter.

Please sign, date and return to us the enclosed copy of this letter to confirm your agreement to the above,

Yours faithfully

for and on behalf of First Union National Bank
for and on behalf of Capital One Financial Corporation
[On Copy]:
Agreed and Accepted
for and on behalf of [Prospective Recipient]
Dated []

capital one financial corporation as Original Guarantor

CAPITAL ONE BANK AS ORIGINAL BORROWER

chase manhattan plc as lead arranger and book manager

barclays bank plc as agent

AND

OTHERS

EURO 600,000,000 multicurrency credit agreement

		CONTENTS				
CLAUSE			PAGE			
1.	Definitions Ar	nd Interpretation	2			
2.	The Facilities	3	2			
3.	Utilisation Of	f The Facilities	2			
4.	Payment And Ca	alculation Of Interest On Advances	2			
5.	_					
6.		Extension				
7.		And Prepayment				
8.						
9.						
10.	Tax Undertakin	ng By Banks And Tax Refunds	2			
11.	Increased Cost	ts	2			
12.						
13.		tion				
14.						
15.		ns				
		ormation.				
16.						
17.						
18.	Events Of Defa	ault	2			
19.	Default Intere	est	2			
20.	Indemnities		2			
21.	Currency Of Ac	scount And Payment	2			
22.	-					
23.						
24.		n Of Payments				
25.						
26.		enses				
27.	The Agent, The	e Lead Arranger And The Banks	2			
28.	Assignments Ar	nd Transfers	2			
29.	Acceding And A	Additional Borrowers And Additional Guarantor	2			
30.		And Evidence Of Debt				
31.		d Waivers				
32.		Waivers				
33.		idity				
34.						
35.						
36.	Governing Law.		2			
37.	Jurisdiction.		2			
Sche	edule 1	The Banks	2			
Sche	edule 2	Form Of Transfer Certificate	2			
	edule 3	Conditions Precedent				
	edule 4	Notice Of Drawdown				
		Form Of Borrower Accession Memorandum				
	edule 5					
	Part A	Acceding Borrowers				
	Part B	Additional Borrowers				
Sche	edule 6	Additional Conditions Precedent	2			
I	Part A	Acceding Borrower	2			
E	Part B	Additional Borrowers	2			
Sche	edule 7	Mandatory Costs				
	edule 8	Form Of Confidentiality Undertaking				
	edule 9	Existing Proceedings				
	edule 10	Form Of Original Guarantee				
38.						
39.	The Guarantee		2			
40.	Representation	ns And Warranties	2			
41.	Covenants		2			
42.						
	edule 11	Form Of Cob Guarantee				
43.						
44.						
45.	-	ns And Warranties				
46.						
47. Miscellaneous						
Sche	edule 12	Form Of Resignation Notice	2			
Sche	edule 13	Form Of Commitment Increase Letter	2			

- (1)......CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION, a corporation organised under the laws of the State of Delaware, USA (the "Original Guarantor");
- (2) CAPITAL ONE BANK, a company organised under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia ("COB");
- (3) CAPITAL ONE BANK, a company organised under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, in its capacity as borrower hereunder (the "Original Borrower");
- (4) CHASE MANHATTAN PLC as arranger of the Facilities (the "Lead Arranger");
- (5) BARCLAYS BANK PLC as agent for the Banks (the "Agent"); and
- (6) THE BANKS (as defined below).

IT IS AGREED as follows.

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

Definitions

In this Agreement:

"Acceding Borrower" means COB plc after it has become a Borrower hereunder pursuant to Clause 0 (Acceding and Additional Borrowers and Additional Guarantor).

"Additional Borrower" means any company after it has become an Additional Borrower in accordance with Clause 0 (Acceding and Additional Borrowers and Additional Guarantor).

"Additional Borrower Memorandum" means a memorandum substantially in the form set out in Part B of Schedule 5 (Form of Borrower Accession Memorandum).

"Additional Guarantor" means COB after it has delivered the COB Guarantee.

"Advance" means, save as otherwise provided herein, any Tranche A Advance or Tranche B Advance made or to be made pursuant to the terms hereof.

"Authorised Signatory" means, in relation to an Obligor or proposed Obligor, any person who is duly authorised (in such manner as may be reasonably acceptable to the Agent) and in respect of whom the Agent has received a certificate signed by an officer authorised by a resolution of the directors of such Obligor or another Authorised Signatory of such Obligor or proposed Obligor setting out the name and signature of such person and confirming such person's authority to act.

"Available Commitment" means, in relation to a Bank at any time, the aggregate of its Available Tranche A Commitment and its Available Tranche B Commitment.

"Available Tranche A Commitment" means, in relation to a Bank at any time and save as otherwise provided herein, its Tranche A Commitment at such time less the aggregate of its share of the EURO Amount of the Tranche A Advances which are then outstanding provided that such amount shall not be less than zero.

"Available Tranche A Facility" means, at any time, the aggregate amount of the Available Tranche A Commitments adjusted, in the case of any proposed drawdown, so as to take into account:

any reduction in the Tranche A Commitment of a Bank on or before the proposed drawdown date pursuant to the terms hereof;

any Tranche A Advance which, pursuant to any other drawdown, is to be made; and

any Tranche A Advance $% \left(1\right) =\left(1\right) \left(1\right) =\left(1\right) \left(1\right) \left(1\right)$ which is due to be repaid, on or before the proposed drawdown date.

"Available Tranche B Commitment" means, in relation to a Bank at any time and save as otherwise provided herein, its Tranche B Commitment at such time less the aggregate of its share of the EURO Amount of the Tranche B Advances which are then outstanding provided that such amount shall not be less than zero.

"Available Tranche B Facility" means, at any time, the aggregate amount of the Available Tranche B Commitments adjusted, in the case of any proposed drawdown, so as to take into account:

(a) any reduction in the Tranche B Commitment of a Bank on or before the proposed drawdown date pursuant to the terms hereof;

any Tranche B Advance which, pursuant to any other drawdown, is to be made; and

any Tranche B Advance which is due to be repaid, on or before the proposed drawdown date.

"Available Facilities" means the aggregate amount of the Available Tranche A Facility and the Available Tranche B Facility.

"Bank" means any financial institution:

(b) named in Schedule 1 (The Banks); or

which has become a party hereto in accordance with Clause 0 (Assignments by Banks) or Clause 0 (Transfers by Banks),

and which has not ceased to be a party hereto in accordance with the terms

"Bank Regulatory Authority" shall mean the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and all other relevant bank regulatory authorities (including, without limitation, relevant state bank regulatory authorities).

"Bankruptcy Code" shall mean the US Federal Bankruptcy Code of 1978, as amended from time to time.

"Borrower" means, at any time, (a) the Original Borrower or after the Original Borrower has transferred its obligations as a Borrower pursuant to Clause 0 (Acceding and Additional Borrowers and Additional Guarantor), the Acceding Borrower and (b) any Additional Borrower, and "Borrower" shall be construed accordingly.

"Borrower Accession Memorandum" means a memorandum substantially in the form set out in Part A of Schedule 5 (Form of Borrower Accession Memorandum).

"Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) which is not a public holiday and on which banks are open for general business in London and the Commonwealth of Virginia, United States of America and:

(c) (in relation to any date for payment or purchase of a sum denominated in a currency other than the euro) the principal financial centre of the country of such currency; or

(in relation to any date for payment or purchase of a sum denominated in the euro) any financial centre or centres in one or more Participating Member States nominated by the Agent from time to time.

"Capital Lease Obligations" shall mean, for any person, all obligations of such person to pay rent or other amounts under a lease of (or other agreement conveying the right to use) Property to the extent such obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as a capital lease on a balance sheet of such person under GAAP, and, for purposes of this Agreement, the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalised amount thereof, determined in accordance with GAAP.

"COB Guarantee" means the guarantee substantially in the form set out in Schedule 11 (Form of COB Guarantee) executed by COB pursuant to Clause 0 (Acceding and Additional Borrowers and Additional Guarantor).

"COB plc" means Capital One Bank (Europe) plc, a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of COB, incorporated in the United Kingdom.

"Code" means the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

"COFC Cumulative Equity Proceeds" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the aggregate amount of all cash received on or prior to such date of determination by the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries in respect of any Equity Issuance effected after March 31, 2000, net of reasonable expenses incurred by the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries in connection therewith.

"COFC Cumulative Net Income" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the aggregate net operating income of the Original Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) for each fiscal quarter of the Original Guarantor (a) commencing with the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2000 and (b) ending with the fiscal quarter most recently ended on or prior to such date of determination; provided that COFC Cumulative Net Income shall be determined exclusive of any fiscal quarter of the Original Guarantor for which the net operating income of the Original Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) is less than zero.

"Commitment" means, in relation to a Bank at any time and save as otherwise provided herein, the aggregate of its Tranche A Commitment and its Tranche B Commitment.

"Commitment Increase Letter" means a letter substantially in the form set out in Schedule 13 (Form of Commitment Increase Letter) and executed by all the parties thereto.

"Debt Rating" shall mean, as of any date of determination thereof and with respect to any Obligor, the lower of the two highest ratings most recently published by the Rating Agencies relating to the unsecured, unsupported senior long-term debt obligations of such Obligor on the basis that BBB+ rating is equal to Baal rating, BBB rating is equal to Baa2 rating, BBB- rating is equal to Baa3, BB+ rating is equal to Bal rating and BB rating is equal to Ba2 rating.

"Debt to Capital Ratio" means, on any date and with respect to any Borrower, the ratio of (a) the sum (determined for such Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of the aggregate amount of Indebtedness outstanding (not including non-brokered deposit liabilities incurred by such Borrower in the ordinary course of business) to (b) the consolidated stockholders' equity and Subordinated Indebtedness of such Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP.

"Default" means an Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default.

"Delinquency Ratio" shall mean, on any date and with respect to any Obligor, the ratio of (a) all Past Due Receivables with respect to such Obligor on such date to (b) the aggregate amount of all Managed Receivables with respect to such Obligor on such date.

"Dispute" means any dispute referred to in Clause 0 (Jurisdiction).

"Double Leverage Ratio" shall mean, on any date, the ratio of (a) the sum of (i) Intangibles with respect to the Original Guarantor on such date plus (ii) the aggregate investment of the Original Guarantor on such date in the capital stock of its Subsidiaries as reported pursuant to sub-clauses 0 and 0 of Clause 0 (Financial Statements) hereof (including the Original Guarantor's interest in undistributed earnings of its Subsidiaries), to (b) Net Worth on such date.

"EMU" means Economic and Monetary Union as contemplated in the Treaty on European Union.

"EMU Legislation" means legislative measures of the European Union for the introduction of, changeover to or operation of the euro in one or more member states, being in part legislative measures to implement EMU.

"Environmental Law" means any and all present and future Federal, state, local and foreign laws, rules or regulations, any orders or decrees, in each case as now or hereafter in effect, relating to the regulation or protection of the environment or to emissions, discharges, releases or threatened releases of pollutants, contaminants, chemicals or toxic or hazardous substances or wastes into the indoor or outdoor environment, or otherwise relating to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of pollutants, contaminants, chemicals or toxic or hazardous substances or wastes.

"Equity Issuance" shall mean (a) any issuance or sale by the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries of (i) any of its capital stock, (ii) any warrants or options exercisable in respect of its capital stock (other than any warrants or options issued to directors, officers or employees of the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to employee benefit plans established in the ordinary course of business and any capital stock of the Original Guarantor issued upon the exercise of such warrants or options) or (iii) any other security or instrument representing an equity interest (or the right to obtain any equity interest) in the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries or (b) the receipt by the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries from any person not a shareholder of the Original Guarantor of any capital contribution (whether or not evidenced by any equity security issued by the recipient of such contribution); provided that Equity Issuance shall not include (i) any such issuance or sale by any Subsidiary of the Original Guarantor or (ii) any capital contribution by the Original Guarantor or any Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Original Guarantor or (ii) any capital contribution by the Original Guarantor or any Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Original Guarantor.

"ERISA" shall mean the US Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time.

"ERISA Affiliate" shall mean any corporation or trade or business that is a member of any group of organisations (i) described in Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code of which any Obligor is a member and (ii) solely for purposes of potential liability under Section 302(c)(11) of ERISA and Section 412(c)(11) of the Code and the lien created under Section 302(f) of ERISA and Section 412(n) of the Code, described in Section 414(m) or (o) of the Code of which any Obligor is a member.

"EURIBOR" means, in relation to any amount to be advanced to, or owing by, an Obligor under the Finance Documents in euro on which interest for a given period is to accrue:

(d)

the percentage rate per annum equal to the offered quotation which appears on the appropriate page of the Dow Jones Telerate Services which displays the rate of the Banking Federation of the European Union for the euro (being currently page 248) for such period as of 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the Quotation Date for such period or, if such page or such service shall cease to be available, such other page or such other service for the purpose of displaying an average rate of the Banking Federation of the European Union as the Agent, after consultation with the Banks and the Principal Borrower, shall select; or

if

no quotation for the euro for the relevant period is displayed and the Agent has not selected an alternative service on which a quotation is displayed, the arithmetic mean (rounded upwards to four decimal places) of the rates (as notified to the Agent) at which each of the Reference Banks was offering to prime banks in the European interbank market deposits in the euro of an equivalent amount and for such period as of 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the Quotation Date.

"EURO Amount" means:

(e) in relation to an Advance, its Original EURO Amount as reduced by the proportion (if any) of such Advance which has been repaid; and

in relation to the Loan, the aggregate of the EURO Amounts of the outstanding

"Event of Default" means any circumstance described as such in Clause 0 (Events of Default).

"Exchange Act" shall mean the US $\,$ Securities $\,$ Exchange Act of 1934, $\,$ as amended from time to time.

"Excluded Representations" means the representations and warranties made in (a) the last sentence of Clause 0 (Financial Condition) and (b) Clause 0 (Litigation) (but only so far as the representation and warranty in Clause 0 (Litigation) relates to proceedings that could have a Material Adverse Effect of

the type referred to in paragraph (a) of the definition of "Material Adverse Effect" in this Clause 0, but not of the type referred to in paragraphs (b), (c), (d) or (e) of such definition).

"Facilities" means the Tranche A Facility and the Tranche B Facility (and "Facility" means either of them).

"Facility Office" means, in relation to the Agent, the office identified with its signature below or such other office as it may select by notice to the Obligors and, in relation to any Bank, the office notified by it to the Agent and the Obligors in writing prior to the date hereof (or, in the case of a Transferee, at the end of the Transfer Certificate to which it is a party as Transferee) or such other office as it may from time to time select by notice to the Agent and the Obligors.

"FDIA" shall mean the US Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as amended from time to time.

"Finance Documents" means this Agreement, the Original Guarantee, the COB Guarantee (after it has been delivered pursuant to Clause 0 (Acceding and Additional Borrowers and Additional Guarantor)), any Borrower Accession Memorandum, any Additional Borrower Memorandum, any fee letter delivered pursuant to Clause 0 (Fees) and any other document designated as such by the Agent and the Principal Borrower.

"Finance Parties" means the Agent, the Lead Arranger and the Banks.

"FSB" means Capital One F.S.B., a Federal Savings Bank organised under the laws of the US.

"GAAP" means, in relation to any person, generally accepted accounting principals in the jurisdiction of incorporation of such person or, if relevant, in the identified jurisdiction.

"Group" means the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for the time being.

"Guarantee" shall mean a guarantee, an endorsement, a contingent agreement to purchase or to furnish funds for the payment or maintenance of, or otherwise to be or become contingently liable under or with respect to, the Indebtedness, other obligations, net worth, working capital or earnings of any person, or a guarantee of the payment of dividends or other distributions upon the stock or equity interests of any person, or an agreement to purchase, sell or lease (as lessee or lessor) Property, products, materials, supplies or services primarily for the purpose of enabling a debtor to make payment of such debtor's obligations or an agreement to assure a creditor against loss, and including, without limitation, causing a bank or other financial institution to issue a letter of credit or other similar instrument for the benefit of another person, but excluding endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business. The terms "Guarantee" and "Guaranteed" used as a verb shall have a correlative meaning.

"Guarantors" means the Original Guarantor and as from the date it delivers the COB Guarantee in a form acceptable to the Agent, COB, and "Guarantor" shall mean either of them.

"Indebtedness" shall mean, for any person: (a) obligations created, issued or incurred by such person for borrowed money (whether by loan, the issuance and sale of debt securities or the sale of Property to another person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to repurchase such Property from such person); (b) obligations of such person to pay the deferred purchase or acquisition price of Property or services, other than trade accounts payable (other than for borrowed money) arising, and accrued expenses incurred, in the ordinary course of business so long as such trade accounts payable are payable within 90 days of the date the respective goods are delivered or the respective services are rendered; (c) Indebtedness of others secured by a Lien on the Property of such person, whether or not the respective Indebtedness so secured has been assumed by such person; (d) non-contingent obligations of such person (and, for the purposes of Clauses 0 (Limitation on Liens) and Clause 0 (Cross Default) hereof, all contingent obligations of such person) in respect of letters of credit, bankers' acceptances or similar instruments issued or accepted by banks and other financial institutions for account of such person;

(e) Capital Lease Obligations of such person; and (f) Indebtedness of others Guaranteed by such person.

"Instructing Group" means:

(f) before any Advances have been made, a Bank or Banks whose Commitments amount in aggregate to more than fifty per cent. of the Total Commitments; and

thereafter, a Bank or Banks to whom in aggregate more than fifty per cent. of the EURO Amount of the Loan is (or, immediately prior to its repayment, was then) owed.

"Insured Subsidiary" shall mean any insured depositary institution (as defined in 12 U.S.C. ss.1813(c) (a US act) (or any successor provision), as amended, re-enacted or redesignated from time to time), that is controlled (within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. ss.1841 (a US act) (or any successor provision), as amended, re-enacted or redesignated from time to time) by an Obligor.

"Intangibles" shall mean, as at any date and with respect to any Obligor, the aggregate amount (to the extent reflected in determining the consolidated stockholders' equity of such Obligor and its consolidated Subsidiaries) of (a) all write-ups (other than write-ups resulting from foreign currency translations and write-ups of assets of a going concern business made within 12 months after the acquisition of such business) subsequent to June 30, 2000 in the book value of any asset by such Obligor or any of its consolidated Subsidiaries, (b) all Investments in unconsolidated Subsidiaries and all equity investments in persons that are not Subsidiaries and (c) all unamortised debt discount and expense,

unamortised deferred charges, goodwill, patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, anticipated future benefit of tax loss carry-forwards, copyrights, organisation or developmental expenses and other intangible assets.

"Interest Period" means, save as otherwise provided herein, in relation to an Advance, the period for which such Advance is borrowed, as specified in the Notice of Drawdown relating thereto and in relation to an Unpaid Sum, any of those periods mentioned in Clause O (Default Interest Period).

"Investment" shall mean, for any Person: (a) the acquisition (whether for cash, Property, services or securities or otherwise) of capital stock, bonds, notes, debentures, partnership or other ownership interests or other securities of any other Person or any agreement to make any such acquisition (including, without limitation, any "short sale" or any sale of any securities at a time when such securities are not owned by the Person entering into such sale); (b) the making of any deposit with, or advance, loan or other extension of credit to, any other Person (including the purchase of Property from another Person subject to an understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to resell such Property to such Person), but excluding any such advance, loan or extension of credit having a term not exceeding 90 days arising in connection with the sale of inventory or supplies by such Person in the ordinary course of business; or (c) the entering into of any Guarantee of, or other contingent obligation with respect to, Indebtedness or other liability of any other Person and (without duplication) any amount committed to be advanced, lent or extended to such Person.

"Leverage Ratio" shall mean, on any date and with respect to any Obligor, the ratio of (a) the sum (determined for such Obligor and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of (i) the aggregate amount of Indebtedness outstanding on such date (not including non-brokered deposit liabilities incurred by such Obligor in the ordinary course of business) minus (ii) the aggregate amount of all on-balance sheet loans held for securitisation on such date to (b) Tangible Net Worth with respect to such Obligor on such date.

"LIBOR" means, in relation to any amount to be advanced to, or owing by, an Obligor under the Finance Documents on which interest for a given period is to

(g)

the percentage rate per annum equal to the offered quotation which appears on the appropriate page of the Dow Jones Telerate Service which displays the British Bankers Association Interest Settlement Rate for the currency of the relevant amount for such period as of 11.00 a.m. on the Quotation Date for such period or, if such page or such service shall cease to be available, such other page or such other service for the purpose of displaying the British Bankers Association Interest Settlement Rate for such currency as the Agent, after consultation with the Banks and the Principal Borrower, shall select; or

if no quotation for the relevant currency and the relevant period is displayed and the Agent has not selected an alternative service on which a quotation is displayed, the arithmetic mean (rounded upwards to four decimal places) of the rates (as notified to the Agent) at which each of the Reference Banks was offering to prime banks in the London interbank market deposits in the currency of such amount and for such period as of 11.00 a.m. on the Quotation Date for such period.

"Lien" shall mean, with respect to any Property, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such Property. For purposes of this Agreement, a Person shall be deemed to own subject to a Lien any Property that it has acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or other title retention agreement (other than an operating lease) relating to such Property.

"Loan" and "Loans" $\,$ means, $\,$ at any time, the aggregate of the Tranche A Loan and the Tranche B Loan.

"Managed Receivables" shall mean, on any date and with respect to any Obligor, the sum for such Obligor and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of (a) all on-balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables plus (b) all on-balance sheet credit card loans and other finance receivables held for securitisation plus (c) all securitised credit card loans and other finance receivables; provided that, as the term "Managed Receivables" is used in the definition of "Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio", (a), (b) and (c) above shall be determined exclusive of securitised non-revolving finance receivables.

"Mandatory Cost Rate" means the rate $\,$ determined in accordance $\,$ with Schedule 7 (Mandatory Costs).

"Margin" means the Tranche A Margin or the Tranche B Margin.

"Margin Stock" means "margin stock" within the meaning of Regulation ${\tt U.}$

"Material Adverse Effect" means, with respect to an Obligor, a material adverse effect on (a) the Property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalisation of such Obligor and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the ability of such Obligor to perform its obligations under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (c) the validity or enforceability of the obligations of such Obligor under the Finance Documents to which it is a party, (d) the rights and remedies of the Finance Parties against such Obligor under the Finance Documents or (e) the timely payment of the principal of, or interest on, the Loan or other amounts payable by such Obligor in connection therewith.

"Multiemployer Plan" shall mean a multiemployer plan defined as such in Section

3(37) of ERISA to which contributions have been made by any Obligor or any ERISA Affiliate and that is covered by Title IV of ERISA.

"Net Worth" means, on any date, the consolidated stockholders' equity of the Original Guarantor and its consolidated subsidiaries, all determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP.

"Notice of Drawdown" means a notice substantially in the form set out in Schedule 4 (Notice of Drawdown).

"Obligors" means any Borrower, COB and the Guarantors.

"Optional Currency" means sterling, dollars or any other currency (except euro) which has been previously approved in writing by the Agent (acting on the instructions of all Banks) as an optional currency for the purpose of any utilisation, or denomination of any Advance during an Interest Period relating thereto, at least three Business Days prior to delivery of the Notice of Drawdown for such Advance and, at the time of drawdown or denomination of an Advance, the currency is:

- (h) freely transferable and freely convertible into euro; and
- (i) available to banks in the relevant interbank market.

"Original EURO Amount" means in relation to an Advance, the amount specified in the Notice of Drawdown relating thereto, as the same may be reduced pursuant to Clause 0 (Reduction of Available Commitment).

"Original Financial Statements" means:

(j) in relation to the Original Guarantor, its audited consolidated financial statements for its financial year ended December 31, 1999; and

in relation to COB, its unaudited financial statements for its financial year ended December 31, 1999; and

in relation to the Acceding Borrower or any Additional Borrower, its financial statements delivered pursuant to Schedule 6 (Additional Conditions Precedent).

"Original Guarantee" means the guarantee substantially in the form of Schedule 10 (Form of Original Guarantee) dated on or about the date hereof executed by the Original Guarantor.

"Original Obligors" means the Original Borrower, COB and the Original Guarantor.

"Participating Member State" means any member state which has adopted the euro as its lawful currency at the relevant time.

"Past-Due Receivables" shall mean, on any date with respect to any Obligor, the sum (determined with respect to such Obligor and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP) of (a) all Managed Receivables the minimum payments on which are at least 90 days overdue on such date plus (b) all other non-performing assets; provided that, Managed Receivables that are credit card loans, whether or not at least 90 days overdue, shall not constitute "Past-Due Receivables" to the extent of any cash balance of the account debtor on such loan on deposit with the creditor (but only to the extent such creditor is entitled under an agreement governing such credit card loan to set-off such cash balances against the obligations of the account debtor under such loan and to the extent such cash balances are not subject to any other set-off or deduction by such creditor or any of its affiliates against a matured obligation owing by such debtor).

"PBGC" shall mean the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any entity succeeding to any or all of its functions under ERISA.

"Plan" means an employee benefit or other plan established or maintained by any Obligor, any Subsidiary of an Obligor or any ERISA Affiliate and that is covered by Title IV of ERISA, other than a Multiemployer Plan.

"Potential Event of Default" means any event which may become (with the passage of time, the giving of notice, the making of any determination hereunder or any combination thereof) an Event of Default.

"Principal Borrower" means COB or, at any time after it becomes a Borrower hereunder, COB plc.

"Property" means any right or interest in or to property of any kind whatsoever, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible.

"Proportion" means, in relation to a Bank:

(k) whilst no Advances are outstanding, the proportion borne by its Commitment to the Total Commitments (or, if the Total Commitments are then zero, by its Commitment to the Total Commitments immediately prior to their reduction to zero); or

whilst at least one Advance is outstanding, the proportion borne by its share of the EURO Amount of the Loan to the EURO Amount of the Loan

"Quarterly Dates" shall mean the last Business Day of March, June, September and December in each year, the first of which shall be the first such day after the date hereof.

"Quotation Date" means, in relation to any period for which an interest rate is to be determined under the Finance Documents, the day on which quotations would ordinarily be given by prime banks in the relevant interbank market for deposits in the currency in relation to which such rate is to be determined for delivery

on the first day of that period, provided that, if, for any such period, quotations would ordinarily be given on more than one date, the Quotation Date for that period shall be the last of those dates.

"Rating" means, at any time, the Debt Rating of the Obligor with the highest Debt Rating.

"Rating Agencies" shall mean Moody's Investors Service, Inc., Standard & Poor's Ratings Services and Fitch IBCA or, in each case, any successor nationally recognised statistical rating organisation.

"Receivables" means, with respect to any Obligor, any amount owing, from time to time, with respect to a credit card, consumer revolving or consumer instalment loan account, home equity line of credit or residential mortgage loan account or other consumer receivable owned by such Obligor, including, without limitation, amounts owing for payment of goods and services, cash advances, convenience cheques, annual membership fees, finance charges, late charges, credit insurance premiums and cash advance fees and fees relating to additional consumer products, and any other receivables arising out of financing transactions by such Obligor; provided that the term "Receivables" shall not include any of the foregoing that is subject to a securitisation effected in the ordinary course of business.

"Reference Banks" means the principal London offices of Barclays Bank Plc, The Chase Manhattan Bank and Deutsche Bank AG or such other bank or banks as may from time to time be agreed between the Principal Borrower and the Agent acting on the instructions of an Instructing Group.

"Regulations A, D, T, U and X" shall mean, respectively, Regulations A, D, T, U and X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor), as the same may be modified and supplemented and in effect from time to time.

"Repayment Date" means, in relation to any Advance, the last day of the Interest Period thereof.

"Repeated Representations" means each of the representations set out in Clause 0 (Corporate Existence) to Clause 0 (Pari Passu Ranking) save for the Excluded Representations.

"Resignation Notice" means a notice completed by COB and the Original Guarantor substantially in the form set out in Schedule 12 (Form of Resignation Notice).

"Restricted Shares" means, with respect to any Obligor, shares of stock of or other ownership interests in such Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof engaged primarily in the extension of consumer credit to third parties or securitisations of receivables related to such extension of consumer credit, excluding without limitation any such ownership interests of any Obligor in America One Communications, Inc.

"Risk Adjusted Assets" shall mean, on any date and with respect to any Obligor, the amount, for such Obligor and its consolidated subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis) on such date, of "weighted risk assets", within the meaning given to such term in the Capital Adequacy Guidelines for State Member Banks published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 208, Appendix A, as amended, modified and supplemented and in effect from time to time or any replacement thereof).

"SEC" shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any successor agency charged with the administration and enforcement of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act.

"Securities $\,$ Act" shall mean the US Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time.

"Subordinated Indebtedness" means, in relation to any Borrower, any payment obligations in respect of any Indebtedness of such Borrower which is unsecured and subordinated to the payment obligations of such Borrower under the Finance Documents.

"Subsequent Participant" means a member state that adopts the euro as its lawful currency after 1 January 1999.

"Subsidiary" shall mean, with respect to any person, any corporation, partnership or other entity of which at least a majority of the Voting Securities issued by such corporation, partnership or other entity is at the time directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such person or one or more Subsidiaries of such person or by such person and one or more Subsidiaries of such person (and "Subsidiaries" shall be construed accordingly).

"Swap Agreement" shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 101(53B) of the Bankruptcy Code (as in effect on the date hereof).

"Tangible Net Worth" shall mean, on any date and with respect to any Obligor, the consolidated stockholders' equity of such Obligor and its consolidated Subsidiaries less Intangibles of such Obligor and its consolidated Subsidiaries, all determined as of such date on a consolidated basis without duplication in accordance with GAAP.

"Tier 1 Capital" shall mean, on any date and with respect to any Original Obligor, the amount, for such Original Obligor and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis) on such date, of "Tier 1 capital", within the meaning given to such term in the Capital Adequacy Guidelines for State Member Banks published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 208, Appendix A, as amended, modified and supplemented and in effect from time to time or any replacement thereof).

"Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio" shall mean, on any date and with respect to any Original Obligor, the ratio of (a) Tier 1 Capital (determined,

for the purposes of this definition, in accordance with GAAP) with respect to such Original Obligor on such date to (b) Managed Receivables with respect to such Original Obligor on such date.

"Tier 1 Capital to Risk Adjusted Assets Ratio" shall mean, on any date and with respect to the Original Borrower, the ratio of (a) Tier 1 Capital with respect to the Original Borrower on such date to (b) Risk Adjusted Assets with respect to the Original Borrower on such date.

"Tier 1 Leverage Ratio" shall mean, on any date and with respect to COB, the ratio of (a) Tier 1 Capital with respect to COB on such date to (b) Total Assets with respect to COB on such date.

"Total Assets" shall mean, on any date and with respect to any Obligor, the amount, for such Original Obligor and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis) on such date, of "average total consolidated assets", within the meaning given to such term in the Capital Adequacy Guidelines for State Member Banks published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 208, Appendix A, as amended, modified and supplemented and in effect from time to time or any replacement thereof).

"Total Capital" shall mean, on any date and with respect to any Original Obligor, the amount, for such Original Obligor and its consolidated Subsidiaries (determined on a consolidated basis) on such date, of "total capital", within the meaning given to such term in the Capital Adequacy Guidelines for State Member Banks published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 208, Appendix A, as amended, modified and supplemented and in effect from time to time or any replacement thereof).

"Total Capital to Risk Adjusted Assets Ratio" shall mean, on any date and with respect to COB, the ratio of (a) Total Capital with respect to COB on such date to (b) Risk Adjusted Assets with respect to COB on such date.

"Total Commitments" means, at any time, the aggregate of the Banks' Commitments.

"Tranche A Advance" means an advance $\,$ made or to be made by the Banks under the $\,$ Tranche A Facility.

"Tranche A Commitment" means, in relation to a Bank at any time and save as otherwise provided herein, the amount set opposite its name under the heading "Tranche A Commitment" in Schedule 1 (The Banks).

"Tranche A Facility" means the 364 day multicurrency revolving loan facility granted to the Borrowers in this Agreement.

"Tranche A Loan" means, at any time, the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Tranche A Advances.

"Tranche A Margin" means:

- (1) at any time the Rating is BBB+ or Baal or better, 0.165 per cent. per
- (m) at any time the Rating is BBB or Baa2, 0.25 per cent. per annum;
- (n) at any time the Rating is BBB- or Baa3, 0.30 per cent. per annum;
- (o) at any time the Rating is BB+ or Bal, 0.55 per cent. per annum; and
- (p) at any time the Rating is BB or Ba2 or worse, 0.80 per cent. per annum.

"Tranche A Termination Date" means, subject to the operation of Clause 0 (Repayment and Extension), the day which is 364 days after the date hereof.

"Tranche B Advance" means an advance $\,$ made or to be made by the Banks under the Tranche B Facility.

"Tranche B Commitment" means, in relation to a Bank at any time and save as otherwise provided herein, the amount set opposite its name under the heading "Tranche B Commitment" in Schedule 1 (The Banks).

"Tranche B Facility" means the 48 month $\,$ multicurrency $\,$ revolving loan facility $\,$ granted to the Borrowers in this Agreement.

"Tranche B Loan" means, at any time, the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Tranche B Advances.

"Tranche B Margin" means:

- (q) at any time the Rating is BBB+ or Baal or better, 0.225 per cent. per annum;
- (r) at any time the Rating is BBB or Baa2, 0.350 per cent. per annum;
- (s) at any time the Rating is BBB- or Baa3, 0.450 per cent. per annum;
- (t) at any time the Rating is BB+ or Ba1, 0.750 per cent. per annum; and
- (u) at any time the Rating is BB or Ba2 or worse, 1.125 per cent. per annum

"Tranche B Termination Date" means the day which is 48 months after the date hereof.

"Transfer Certificate" means a certificate substantially in the form set out in Schedule 2 (Form of Transfer Certificate) or in such other form as may be agreed between the Principal Borrower and the Agent signed by a Bank and a Transferee under which:

(v) such Bank seeks to procure the transfer to such Transferee of

all or a part of such Bank's rights, benefits and obligations under the Finance Documents upon and subject to the terms and conditions set out in Clause O (Assignments and Transfers); and

such Transferee undertakes to perform the obligations it will assume as a result of delivery of such certificate to the Agent as contemplated in Clause 0 (Transfers by Banks).

"Transfer Date" means, in relation to any Transfer Certificate, the date for the making of the transfer as specified in such Transfer Certificate.

"Transferee" means a person to which a Bank seeks to transfer by novation all or part of such Bank's rights, benefits and obligations under the Finance Documents.

"Treaty on European Union" means the Treaty of Rome of 25 March 1957, as amended by the Single European Act 1986 and the Maastricht Treaty (which was signed at Maastricht on 7 February 1992 and came into force on 1 November 1993).

"Unpaid Sum" means the unpaid balance of any of the sums referred to in Clause 0 (Default Interest Period).

"US" means the United States of America.

"Voting Securities" shall mean, with respect to any person, securities or other ownership interests having by the terms thereof ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions of such person (irrespective of whether or not at the time securities or other ownership interests of any other class or classes of such person shall have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency).

"Wholly Owned Subsidiary" means, with respect to any person, any corporation, partnership or other entity of which all of the Voting Securities issued by such corporation, partnership or other entity (other than, in the case of a corporation, directors' qualifying shares) are directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such person or one or more Wholly Owned Subsidiaries of such person or by such person and one or more Wholly Owned Subsidiaries of such person.

Interpretation

Any reference in this Agreement to:

the "Agent" or any "Bank" shall be construed so as to include its and any subsequent successors and permitted transferees in accordance with their respective interests;

"continuing", in relation to an Event of Default, shall be construed as a reference to an Event of Default which has not been waived in accordance with the terms hereof and, in relation to a Potential Event of Default, one which has not been remedied within the relevant grace period or waived in accordance with the terms hereof;

the "equivalent" on any date in one currency (the "first currency") of an amount denominated in another currency (the "second currency") is a reference to the amount of the first currency which could be purchased with the amount of the second currency at the spot rate of exchange quoted by the Agent at or about 11.00 a.m. on such date for the purchase of the first currency with the second currency;

- a "holding company" of a company or corporation shall be construed as a reference to any company or corporation of which the first-mentioned company or corporation is a subsidiary;
- "indebtedness" shall be construed so as to include any obligation (whether incurred as principal or as surety) for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or contingent;
- a "law" shall be construed as any law (including common or customary law), statute, constitution, decree, judgment, treaty, regulation, directive, by-law, order or any other legislative measure of any government, supranational, local government, statutory or regulatory body or court;
- a "member state" shall be construed as a reference to a member state of the European Union;
- a "month" is a reference to a period starting on one day in a calendar month and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the next succeeding calendar month save that:
- if any such numerically corresponding day is not a Business
 Day, such period shall end on the immediately succeeding
 Business Day to occur in that next succeeding calendar month
 or, if none, it shall end on the immediately preceding
 Business Day; and
 - if there is no numerically corresponding day in that next succeeding calendar month, that period shall end on the last Business Day in that next succeeding calendar month,

(and references to "months" shall be construed accordingly);

a "person" shall be construed as a reference to any individual, corporation, company, voluntary association, partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality) limited liability company, joint venture, trust, unincorporated organisation or government (or any agency, instrumentality or political subdivision thereof).

the "relevant interbank market" is a reference to:

- in relation to the euro, the European interbank market; or (x)
- in relation to any other currency, the London interbank market;

the "relevant interbank rate" is a reference to:

- (z) in relation to the euro, EURIBOR; or
- (aa) in relation to any other currency, LIBOR;

"repay" (or any derivative form thereof) shall, subject to any contrary indication, be construed to include "prepay" (or, as the case may be, the corresponding derivative form thereof);

a "successor" shall be construed so as to include an assignee or successor in title of such party and any person who under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation or domicile has assumed the rights and obligations of such party under this Agreement or to which, under such laws, such rights and obligations have been transferred;

"tax" shall be construed so as to include any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge of a similar nature (including any penalty or interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or any delay in paying any of the same);

"VAT" shall be construed as a reference to value added tax including any similar tax which may be imposed in place thereof from time to time; and

the "winding-up", "dissolution" or "administration" of a company or corporation shall be construed so as to include any equivalent or analogous proceedings under the law of the jurisdiction in which such company or corporation is incorporated or any jurisdiction in which such company or corporation carries on business including the seeking of liquidation, winding-up, reorganisation, dissolution, administration, arrangement, adjustment, protection or relief of

Currency Symbols and Definitions

"\$" and "dollars" denote lawful currency of the United States of America and "sterling" denotes lawful currency of the United Kingdom.

"EURO" and "euro" means the single currency unit of the European Union as constituted by the Treaty on European Union as referred to in EMU Legislation and "euro unit" means the currency unit of the euro as defined in EMU Legislation.

Agreements and Statutes Any reference in this Agreement to:

this Agreement or any other agreement or document shall be construed as a reference to this Agreement or, as the case may be, such other agreement or document as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended, varied, novated or supplemented; and

a statute or treaty shall be construed as a reference to such statute or treaty as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended or, in the case of a statute, re-enacted.

Headings

Clause and Schedule headings are for ease of reference only.

Any reference in this Agreement to a time of day shall, unless a contrary indication appears, be a reference to London time.

Third Party Rights

A person who is not a party to this Agreement has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Agreement.

Accounting Terms and Determinations

Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all accounting terms used herein shall be interpreted, and all financial statements and certificates and reports as to financial matters required to be delivered to the Banks hereunder shall (unless otherwise disclosed to the Banks in writing at the time of delivery thereof in the manner described in subsection (b) below) be prepared, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the US in the case of the Original Obligors and, in the case of any other Obligor, the country of incorporation of such Obligor, in each case applied on a basis consistent with those used in the preparation of the latest financial statements furnished to the Banks hereunder (which, prior to the delivery of the first financial statements under Clause 0 or 0 of Clause 0 (Financial Statements) hereof, shall mean the audited and unaudited financial statements as at December 31, 1999 referred to in Clause 0 (Financial Condition) hereof). All calculations made for the purposes of determining compliance with this Agreement shall (except as otherwise expressly provided herein) be made by application of generally accepted accounting principles in the US (or, if in relation to an accounting principals in the jurisdiction of incorporation of such Obligor) applied on a basis consistent with those used in the preparation of the latest annual or quarterly financial statements furnished to the Banks pursuant to Section 0 (Financial Statements) hereof (or, prior to the delivery of the first financial statements under Clause 0 or 0 of Clause 0 (Financial Statements), used in the preparation of the audited and unaudited financial statements as at December 31, 1999 referred to in Clause 0 (Financial Condition) hereof) unless (i) any Obligor shall have objected to determining such compliance on such basis at the time of delivery of such financial statements or (ii) an Instructing Group shall so object in writing within 30 days after delivery of such financial statements, in either of which events such calculations shall be made on a basis

consistent with those used in the preparation of the latest financial statements as to which such objection shall not have been made (which, if objection is made in respect of the first financial statements delivered under Clause 0 or 0 of Clause 0 (Financial Statements), shall mean the audited financial statements referred to in Clause 0 (Financial Condition)). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the accounting terms "Risk Adjusted Assets", "Tier 1 Capital", "Total Assets" and "Total Capital" defined in Clause 0 (Definitions) hereof shall be interpreted by reference to the statutes or regulations referred to in said definitions, as such statutes or regulations are amended, modified, supplemented or replaced and in effect from time to time.

The Original Guarantor shall deliver to the Banks at the same time as the delivery of any annual or quarterly financial statement under Clause O (Financial Statements) (i) a description in reasonable detail of any material variation between the application of accounting principles in the US employed in the preparation of such statement and the application of accounting principles in the US employed in the preparation of the next preceding annual or quarterly financial statements as to which no objection has been made in accordance with the last sentence of sub-clause O and (ii) reasonable estimates of the difference between such statements arising as a consequence thereof.

To enable the ready and consistent determination of compliance with the covenants set forth in Clause 0 (Covenants) hereof, no Obligor will change the last day of its fiscal year from December 31 of each year, or the last days of the first three fiscal quarters in each of its fiscal years from March 31, June 30 and September 30 of each year, respectively.

THE FACILITIES

Grant of the Facilities

The Banks grant to the Borrowers, upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof:

a multicurrency 364 day revolving facility in an aggregate amount of euro 300,000,000 or its equivalent from time to time in Optional Currencies (the Tranche A Facility); and

a multicurrency 48 month revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount of euro 300,000,000 or its equivalent from time to time in Optional Currencies (the Tranche B Facility).

Purpose and Application

The Tranche A Facility is intended for general corporate purposes and, accordingly, each Borrower shall apply all amounts raised by it hereunder in or towards satisfaction of its general corporate financing requirements and none of the Finance Parties shall be obliged to concern themselves with such application.

The Tranche B Facility is intended to replace and extend certain existing credit facilities available to the Group and, accordingly, each Borrower shall apply all amounts raised by it hereunder in or towards satisfaction of such purpose and none of the Finance Parties shall be obliged to concern themselves with such application.

Conditions Precedent

Save as the Banks may otherwise agree none of the Banks shall be under any obligation to make any Advance hereunder unless the Agent has confirmed to COB and the Banks that it has received (or waived receipt of) all of the documents listed in Schedule 3 (Conditions Precedent) and that each is, in form and substance, satisfactory to the Agent.

The Agent shall, on request by COB, certify in writing whether or not it has received or waived receipt of any of the documents listed in Schedule 3 (Conditions Precedent) and whether each is in form and substance satisfactory to it.

Nature of Banks' Obligations

The obligations of each Bank hereunder are several and the failure by a Bank to perform its obligations hereunder shall not affect the obligations of any Obligor towards any other party hereto nor shall any other party be liable for the failure by such Bank to perform its obligations hereunder nor shall the failure by any Bank to perform its obligations hereunder affect the obligations of any other Bank towards any Obligor hereunder.

Banks' Rights Several

The rights of each Bank are several and any debt arising hereunder at any time from an Obligor to any of the other parties hereto shall be a separate and independent debt. Each such party shall be entitled to protect and enforce its individual rights arising out of this Agreement independently of any other party (so that it shall not be necessary for any party hereto to be joined as an additional party in any proceedings for this purpose).

UTILISATION OF THE Facilities

Drawdown Conditions for Advances

An Advance will be made by the Banks to a Borrower in accordance with the provisions hereof if:

no later than 10.00 a.m. (London time) and not more than ten nor less than three Business Days before the proposed date for the making of such Advance, the Agent has received a completed Notice of Drawdown from such Borrower;

the proposed date for the making of such Advance is (a) in the case of a Tranche A Advance, a Business Day falling one month or more before the Tranche A Termination Date or, (b) in the case of a Tranche B Advance, a Business Day falling one month or more before the Tranche B Termination Date;

no more than one Tranche A Advance and one Tranche B Advance shall be made on the proposed date for the making of such Advance and after the making of such Advance there will be no more than 20 Advances outstanding;

in the case of a Tranche A Advance, the proposed Original EURO Amount of such Advance is (a) (if less than the Available Tranche A Facility) an amount equal to or greater than euro 25,000,000 and an integral multiple of euro 5,000,000 or (b) equal to the amount of the Available Tranche A Facility;

in the case of a Tranche B Advance, the proposed Original EURO Amount of such Advance is (a) (if less than the Available Tranche B Facility) an amount equal to or greater than euro 25,000,000 and an integral multiple of euro 5,000,000 or (b) equal to the amount of the Available Tranche B Facility; and

the proposed Interest Period of the Advance requested is a period of one, two, three or six months or such other period as the Agent may, with the consent of all of the Banks to participate in such Advance, agree (a) in the case of a Tranche A Advance ending on or before the Tranche A Termination Date and (b) in the case of a Tranche B Advance, ending on or before the Tranche B Termination Date.

Conditions for Drawing an Advance in an Optional Currency

If a Borrower $\,$ requests that an Advance be denominated $\,$ in an Optional Currency but:

no later than one hour after the time at which the rate is to be determined on the Quotation Date for such Advance, the Agent notifies the relevant Borrower and the Banks that the Agent is of the opinion that it is not feasible for such Advance to be denominated in such Optional Currency; or

to give effect to such request would cause the Loan to be denominated in more than four Optional Currencies, the Agent shall notify the relevant Borrower and the Banks and such Advance shall be denominated in euro or, if so requested in writing by such Borrower, promptly and no more than one hour after the time it is notified by the Agent pursuant to sub-clause 0, such Advance shall be cancelled.

Each Bank's Participation in Advances

Each Bank will participate through its Facility Office in each Advance made pursuant to this Clause 0, (a) in the case of a Tranche A Advance, in the proportion borne by its Available Tranche A Commitment to the Available Tranche A Facility immediately prior to the making of that Tranche A Advance, and (b) in the case of a Tranche B Advance, in the proportion borne by its Available Tranche B Commitment to the Available Tranche B Facility immediately prior to the making of that Tranche B Advance.

Reduction of Available Commitment

If a Bank's Tranche A Commitment or Tranche B Commitment is reduced in accordance with the terms hereof after the Agent has received the Notice of Drawdown for an Advance and such reduction was not taken into account in the Available Tranche A Facility or Available Tranche B Facility, then both the Original EURO Amount and the amount of that Advance shall be reduced accordingly.

PAYMENT AND CALCULATION OF INTEREST ON ADVANCES

Payment of Interest

On the Repayment Date relating to each Advance (and, if the Interest Period of such Advance exceeds six months, on the expiry of each period of six months during such Interest Period) the Borrower to which such Advance has been made shall pay accrued interest on that Advance.

Calculation of Interest

The rate of interest applicable to an Advance from time to time during its Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which is the sum of:

in respect of a Tranche A Advance, the Tranche A Margin at such time and in respect of a Tranche B Advance, the Tranche B Margin at such time;

the Mandatory Cost Rate (if applicable); and

the relevant interbank rate set out below:

in relation to an Advance denominated in the euro, EURIBOR; or

in relation to an Advance denominated in any other currency, LIBOR.

NOTIFICATION

Advances

Not less than three Business Days before the first day of an Interest Period, the Agent shall notify each Bank of the Facility that is to be utilised, the proposed EURO Amount of the relevant Advance, the proposed length of the relevant Interest Period, whether or not such Advance is to be denominated in an Optional Currency (and, if so, the amount of such Advance in the relevant Optional Currency) and the aggregate principal amount of the relevant Advance allocated to such Bank pursuant to Clause O (Each Bank's Participation in Advances).

Interest Rate Determination

The Agent shall promptly notify the relevant Borrower and the Banks of each determination of an interbank rate, the Mandatory Cost Rate and the Margin.

Changes to Advances or Interest Rates

The Agent shall promptly notify the relevant Borrower and the Banks of any change to (a) the proposed currency of an Advance occasioned by the operation of Clause 0 (Conditions for Drawing an Advance in an Optional Currency), (b) the proposed length of an Interest Period or (c) any interest rate occasioned by the operation of Clause 0 (Market Disruption).

Repayment

Each Borrower to which an Advance has been made shall repay the Advance made to it in full on the Repayment Date relating thereto.

Extension Request

The Principal Borrower shall be entitled to request one or more extensions of the Tranche A Facility, for additional periods of 364 days, by giving notice to the Agent (the "Extension Request") not more than 60 nor less than 30 days before the Tranche A Termination Date at such time (in this Clause 0, the "Original Tranche A Termination Date") provided that the Principal Borrower may not request an extension of the Tranche A Termination Date if the Tranche A Termination Date would as a result of such extension be later than the day falling sixty months from the date hereof. Such notice shall be made in writing, be unconditional and binding on the Obligors except as set out in Clause 0 (Extension Date).

Notification of Extension Request

The Agent shall forward a copy of the Extension Request to the Banks as soon as practicable after receipt of it.

Banks' Response to Extension Request

If a Bank, in its individual and sole discretion, agrees to the extension requested by the Principal Borrower, it shall give notice to the Agent (a "Notice of Extension") no later than 30 days after receipt of such Extension Request by the Agent or 20 days prior to the Original Tranche A Termination Date (whichever is the earlier). If a Bank does not give such Notice of Extension by such date, then such Bank shall be deemed to have refused such extension.

Lender's Discretion

Nothing shall oblige a Bank to agree to an Extension Request.

Extension Date

The Original Tranche A Termination Date shall be extended if and when a group of Banks for whom the aggregate of their Tranche A Commitments $\,$ on the date of the Extension Request is equal to or greater than fifty per cent. of the aggregate of the Tranche A Commitments deliver a Notice of Extension to the Agent. The Original Tranche A Termination then be extended to the day which is 364 days from (and including) the Original Tranche A Termination Date provided that, if less than all the Banks give a Notice of Extension, then the Tranche A Commitments and the share of any outstanding Tranche A Advances of each of the Banks not so extending shall (a) be transferred to any new lender the Principal Borrower may have located to the extent that such lender shall have executed a Transfer Certificate in respect of such Bank's Tranche A Commitment or (b) to the extent not transferred, be reduced to zero on the Original Tranche A Termination Date (and, if such Original Tranche A Termination Date is a day after the Tranche B Termination Date, such Banks shall cease thereafter to be Banks under this Agreement) and the amount of the Tranche A Facility shall be reduced accordingly.

Notification of Extension

The Agent shall promptly inform the Principal Borrower and the Banks which will continue to remain party to this Agreement of the size of the Tranche A Facility if reduced.

Increase of Commitments

At any time on or after the first anniversary of the date hereof, the Principal Borrower may by notice to the Agent request the Banks to agree to increase the aggregate amount of the Tranche A Commitments or, as the case may be, the Tranche B Commitments hereunder to an amount not to exceed the equivalent at such time of euro 750,000,000 by having one or more banks or other financial institutions become a "Bank" under this Agreement (an "Acceding Bank") or (in the case of a Bank already party to this Agreement) by an increase in the Commitment of all or any of the existing Banks; provided that the Commitment of an Acceding Bank and any increase in the amount of the Commitment of any existing Bank, shall be in an amount equal to an integral multiple of euro 1,000,000 and not less than the equivalent of euro 5,000,000.

Increases Effective

Any increase in the amount of the Commitments pursuant to Clause 0 (Increase of Commitments) hereof shall be effective only upon the execution of a Commitment Increase Letter not less than five business days prior to the date such increase is to become effective (the "Commitment Increase Date") and shall specify (i) the amount of the Commitment (and the Facility) of the Acceding Bank or the amount of any increase in the amount of the Commitment under any Facility of any existing Bank and (ii) the Commitment Increase Date.

Conditions to Effectiveness

Any increase in the aggregate amount of the Commitments pursuant to Clause 0 (Increase of Commitments) shall not be effective unless:

- (i) there has been no prior Commitment Increase Date;
- (ii) no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the Commitment Increase Date;
- (iii) each of the representations which are to be deemed repeated at any time after the date hereof in accordance with Clause 0 (Repetition of Representations) shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of the Commitment Increase Date with the same force and effect as if made on and as of such date by reference to the facts and circumstances existing at the time (or, if any such representation is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific date, as of such specific date) except to any extent waived pursuant to Clause 0 (Amendments and Waivers):

- (iv) immediately after giving effect to such increase in the amount of the Commitments, no Bank would hold a Commitment in an aggregate amount exceeding twenty-five per cent. of the Total Commitments of all the Banks at such time;
- (v) the Agent shall have received (with sufficient copies for each of the Banks) each of (x) a certificate of a duly authorised officer of each of the Obligors as to the taking of any corporate action necessary in connection with such increase and (y) an opinion or opinions of counsel to each of the Obligors as to their corporate power and authority to borrow and guarantee hereunder after giving effect to such increase in a form acceptable to the Agent; and
- (vi) the Commitment Increase Date is the Repayment Date for each outstanding Advance.
- 1.1 No Obligation on a Bank to Agree to Increase its Commitment
 No Bank shall at any time be obliged to agree to a request of the Borrowers to
 increase its Commitment or obligations hereunder and where an existing Bank does
 not so agree, its Commitment shall not be increased and its Available Tranche A
 Commitment and its Available Tranche B Commitment shall each be calculated on
 the basis of its existing Commitment.

CANCELLATION AND PREPAYMENT

Cancellation of the Facility

The Principal Borrower may, by giving to the Agent not less than fifteen Business Days' prior notice to that effect, cancel the whole or any part (such part being an amount of euro 10,000,000 or more) of the Available Tranche A Facility or Available Tranche B Facility.

Prepayment of Advances

The Borrower to which an Advance has been made may, by giving to the Agent not less than ten Business Days prior notice to that effect, prepay the whole or any part of an Advance (such part being an amount such that the EURO Amount of such Advance will be reduced by an amount of euro 10,000,000 or more).

Notice of Cancellation or Prepayment

Any notice of cancellation or prepayment given by a Borrower or the Principal Borrower pursuant to this Clause 0 shall be irrevocable, shall specify the date upon which such cancellation or prepayment is to be made and the amount of such cancellation or prepayment and, in the case of a notice of prepayment, shall oblige the relevant Borrower to make such prepayment on such date together with all interest accrued on the Advance to which such prepayment relates.

Repayment of a Bank's Share of the Loan τ_f .

any sum payable to any Bank by an Obligor is required to be increased pursuant to Clause 0 (Tax Gross-up); or

any Bank claims indemnification under Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity) or Clause 0 (Increased Costs); or

the Borrower is required to treat any payment of interest to a Bank as a distribution for tax purposes, the Principal Borrower may, whilst such circumstance continues, give the Agent at least ten Business Days notice (which notice shall be irrevocable) of its intention to procure the repayment of such Bank's share of the Loan. On the last day of each then current Interest Period, the relevant Borrower shall repay such Bank's portion of the Advance to which such Interest Period relates together with all accrued interest thereon and any other amount owed to such Bank hereunder.

No Further Advances

A Bank for whose account a repayment is to be made under Clause 0 (Repayment of a Bank's Share of the Loan) shall not be obliged to participate in the making of Advances on or after the date upon which the Agent receives the Principal Borrower's notice of its intention to procure the repayment of such Bank's share of the Loan, and such Bank's Available Tranche A Commitment and Available Tranche B Commitment shall be reduced to zero.

No Other Repayments

No Borrower shall repay all or any part of the Loan except at the times and in the manner expressly provided for in this Agreement.

Taxes

Tax Gross-up

All payments to be made by any of the Obligors to any person under any Finance Document shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for or on account of tax unless such Obligor is required to make such a payment subject to the deduction or withholding of tax, in which case the sum payable by such Obligor in respect of which such deduction or withholding is required to be made shall be increased to the extent necessary to ensure that, after the making of the required deduction or withholding, such person receives and retains (free from any liability in respect of any such deduction or withholding) a net sum equal to the sum which it would have received and so retained had no such deduction or withholding been made or required to be made, provided however that if on the due date of an interest payment to a Bank, that Bank is not a UK Qualifying Lender and as a result the relevant Obligor is required to deduct or withhold United Kingdom income tax from that payment of interest, the relevant Obligor

shall not be so required to pay an additional amount in respect of that deduction or withholding unless it results from the introduction of or any change in, or in the interpretation or application of, any relevant law or any relevant published practice of the Inland Revenue, as the case may be, after this Agreement is entered into or such Obligor would have been required to make a deduction or withholding on account irrespective of whether such Bank is or is not a UK Qualifying Lender.

For the purposes of this Clause, "UK Qualifying Lender" means any of the following:

any person which is a bank for the purposes of Section 349 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and beneficially entitled to interest payable by a Borrower to it under this Agreement and within the charge to UK corporation tax in respect thereof;

any Bank which is an assignee of a Bank falling within (a) and is beneficially entitled to the interest payable by the relevant Borrower and within the charge to UK corporation tax in respect thereof; or

any Bank which, pursuant to the terms of a double tax treaty is entitled to an exemption from any UK taxation in respect of interest and which at the time of the relevant interest payment has validly made all appropriate filings and declarations in order to obtain the benefit of such entitlement.

Tax Indemnity

Without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 0 (Tax Gross-Up), if any person or the Agent on its behalf is required to make any payment on account of tax (not being a tax imposed on the overall net income including profits and gains of its Facility Office by the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or in which its Facility Office is located) or otherwise on or in relation to any sum received or receivable under any Finance Document by such person or the Agent on its behalf (including, without limitation, any sum received or receivable under this Clause 0) or any liability in respect of any such payment is asserted, imposed, levied or assessed against such person or the Agent on its behalf, the Obligor by whom such sum is paid or payable shall, upon demand of the Agent, promptly indemnify such person against such payment or liability, together penalties and reasonable expenses payable or incurred in connection therewith but not to the extent that such liability, interest, penalties and reasonable expenses have arisen as a result of undue delay in all the circumstances by any person or any agent on its behalf in the filing or the submission of tax returns, computations or claims or the default of any person or any agent on its behalf in doing any thing contemplated by the Finance Documents.

US Tax Forms

Any Bank that is not a "United States Person" (as such term is defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code) shall, to the extent that it is able to do so, provide a valid and completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-8ECI or W-8BEN or such other or successor form as may be required to claim such exemption and if such forms are not provided to the extent such Bank is able to do so, the provisions of Clause 0 (Tax Gross-Up) and Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity) shall not be applicable in relation to payments of interest to such Bank.

${\tt Notification}$

A Finance Party will notify the relevant Obligor through the Agent as soon as it is reasonably practicable of any circumstances arising as a result of which it is reasonably likely that it will be making a claim under Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity) and if it intends to make a claim under such Clause it shall notify the relevant Obligor of the event by reason of which it is entitled to do so and shall deliver to the relevant Obligor through the Agent a certificate to that effect setting out in reasonable detail the basis and computation of such claim provided that nothing herein shall require such Finance Party to disclose any confidential information relating to the organisation of its affairs.

Double Taxation Relief

If, and to the extent that, the effect of Clause 0 (Tax Gross-up) or Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity) can be mitigated by virtue of the provisions of any applicable double tax convention entered into between the United Kingdom or the US and the relevant Bank's jurisdiction of incorporation (whether by a claim to repayment of any taxes referred to in Clause 0 (Tax Gross-up) or Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity) or otherwise) each Bank agrees to co-operate with the Borrowers with a view to filing or providing any tax claims, forms, affidavits, declarations or other like documents which the relevant Borrower has requested and which are required for the purpose of ensuring the application of such double tax convention so far as relevant. To the extent that the effect of Clause 0 (Tax Gross-up) or Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity) can be mitigated and any Bank fails to co-operate to the extent required hereby to so mitigate the effect of such clauses, the provisions of Clause 0 (Tax Gross-up) or Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity) shall not be applicable in relation to payments of interest to such Bank provided that nothing in this Clause 8.5 shall affect the right of a Bank to arrange its tax affairs as it sees fit (in its sole discretion) or shall require a Bank to disclose any information concerning its tax affairs.

Banks' Tax Status Confirmation

Each Bank confirms in favour of the Agent (on the date hereof or, in the case of a Bank which becomes a party hereto pursuant to a transfer or assignment, on the date on which the relevant transfer or assignment becomes effective) that either:

it is not resident for tax $\,$ purposes in the United $\,$ Kingdom and is $\,$ beneficially entitled to its share of the Loan and the interest thereon; or

it is a bank as defined for the purposes of Section 349 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and is beneficially entitled to its share of the Loan and the interest thereon, and each Bank shall promptly notify the Agent if there is any change in its position from that set out above.

Notification of Requirement to Deduct Tax

If, at any time, any of the Obligors is required by law to make any deduction or withholding from any sum payable by it under any Finance Document (or if thereafter there is any change in the rates at which or the manner in which such deductions or withholdings are calculated), such Obligor shall as soon as reasonably practicable after becoming aware of the same, notify the Agent.

Evidence of Payment of Tax

If any of the Obligors makes any payment under any Finance Document in respect of which it is required to make any deduction or withholding, it shall pay or otherwise account for the full amount required to be deducted or withheld to the relevant taxation or other authority within the time allowed for such payment under applicable law and shall deliver to the Agent for each relevant Finance Party, within thirty days after the due date of such payment, withholding or deduction, evidence satisfactory to the Agent, or as the case may be, the relevant Finance Party of that deduction, withholding or payment and (where remittance is required) of the remittance thereof to the relevant taxing or other authority.

Tax Undertaking by Banks and Tax Refunds

Bank Undertaking

Each Bank undertakes, promptly upon its Facility Office becoming aware of the same, to notify (through the Agent) the Principal Borrower if it shall cease to be a UK Qualifying Lender.

Tax Credit Clawback

an Obligor makes a payment under Clause O (Tax Gross-Up) (a "Tax Payment") in respect of a payment to a Finance Party under this Agreement; and

that Finance Party determines in its absolute discretion and in good faith that it has obtained a refund of tax or obtained and used a credit against tax on its overall net income (a "Tax Credit") which that Finance Party in its absolute discretion and in good faith is able to identify as attributable to that Tax Payment, then, if in its absolute discretion and in good faith it can do so without prejudicing the amount of any Tax Credit for that Finance Party, that Finance Party shall reimburse the relevant Obligor such amount as that Finance Party in its absolute discretion determines, but in good faith, to be such proportion of that Tax Credit as will leave that Finance Party (after that reimbursement) in no better or worse position than it would have been in if no Tax Payment had been required. A Finance Party shall not be obliged to arrange its business or tax affairs in any particular way in order to be eligible for a Tax Credit (and, if it does make a claim, shall have absolute discretion as to the extent, order and manner in which it does so) and whether any amount is due from it under this Clause 0 (and, if so, what amount and when). No Finance Party shall be obliged to disclose any information regarding its tax affairs and computations.

Increased Costs

Changes in Circumstances

If, by reason of any change in law in any jurisdiction or in its interpretation or administration and/or compliance with any request from or requirement of any central bank or other fiscal, monetary or other authority (including, without limitation, a request or requirement (x) which affects the manner in which a Finance Party or any holding company of such Finance Party is required to or does maintain capital resources having regard to such Finance Party's obligations under any Finance Document and to amounts owing to it under any Finance Document but excluding the implementation, as contemplated on the signing of this Agreement, of any of the matters set out in the July 1988 report of the Basle Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices entitled "International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards" (the "Cooke Report"), (y) which implements any change after the signing of this Agreement in, or in the interpretation or application of, such matters or any increase in the requirements of the Cooke Report after the date hereof; or (z) relating to the adoption of the euro:

- a Finance Party or any holding company of such Finance Party incurs a cost as a result of such Finance Party's having entered into and/or performing its obligations under any Finance Document and/or assuming or maintaining a commitment under any Finance Document and/or making one or more Advances;
- a Finance Party or any holding company of such Finance Party suffers a reduction in the rate of return on its overall capital (not being a reduction by reason of the imposition of, or increase in the rates of tax payable on its overall profits or net income) as a result of a change in the manner in which such Finance Party is required to allocate resources to its obligations under any Finance Document;

there is any increase in the cost to a Finance Party or any holding company of such Finance Party of funding or maintaining all or any of the advances comprised in a class of advances formed by or including the Advances made or to be made by such Finance Party hereunder; or

a Finance Party or any holding company of such Finance Party becomes liable to make any payment on account of tax or otherwise (not being a tax imposed on the net income of such Finance Party's Facility Office by the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or in which its Facility Office is located) on or calculated by reference to the amount of the Advances made or to be made by such Finance Party hereunder and/or to any sum received or receivable by it hereunder, then the relevant Borrower shall, provided that the Agent has notified such Borrower of such claim pursuant to Clause O (Increased Costs Claim), within 10 Business Days of receipt of a demand of the Agent, pay to the Agent for the account of that Finance Party amounts sufficient to indemnify that Finance Party or any such holding company against, as the case may be, (1) such

cost, (2) such reduction in such rate of return (or such proportion of such reduction as is, in the opinion of that Finance Party, attributable to its obligations hereunder), (3) such increased cost (or such proportion of such increased cost as is, in the opinion of that Finance Party, attributable to its funding or maintaining Advances) or (4) such liability (save and to the extent that such Finance Party has been compensated for such liability pursuant to Clause 0 (Taxes)).

Increased Costs Claim

A Finance Party intending to make a claim pursuant to Clause 0 (Changes in Circumstances) shall notify the Agent of the event by reason of which it is entitled to do so within 90 days after becoming aware of the circumstances giving rise to the claim, whereupon the Agent shall notify the Principal Borrower thereof by delivery of a certificate setting out in reasonable detail the basis and computation of such claim provided that nothing herein shall require such Finance Party to disclose any confidential information relating to the organisation of its affairs.

Option to repay in relation to increased costs claim

If a Borrower is required to pay any amount to a Bank under Clause 0 (Changes in Circumstances), then subject to such Borrower giving the Agent and that Bank not less than 10 days prior notice:

such Borrower may prepay all, but not part, of that Bank's share in the Advances together with accrued interest on the amount prepaid and any other amount owed to such Bank hereunder. On any such prepayment the relevant Commitment of the relevant Bank shall be automatically cancelled; and/or

such Borrower shall have the right at any time thereafter to locate a new lender to which all the rights and obligations of such Bank hereunder may be transferred. If such new lender has been located then such Bank and such new lender shall execute and deliver a Transfer Certificate pursuant to which all of the rights and obligations of such Bank hereunder shall be transferred to such new lender with effect from the Transfer Date specified in such Transfer Certificate.

Illegality

If, at any time, it is unlawful for a Finance Party to make, fund or allow to remain outstanding all or any of the Advances made or to be made by it hereunder, then that Finance Party shall, promptly after becoming aware of the same, deliver to the Principal Borrower through the Agent a certificate to that effect and, unless such illegality is avoided in accordance with Clause 0 (Mitigation), to the extent of such illegality:

such Finance Party shall not thereafter be obliged to participate in the making of such Advances and the amount of its Commitment shall be immediately reduced accordingly; and

if the Agent on behalf of such Finance Party so requires, the Borrower to whom such Advance was made shall on such date as the Agent shall have specified as being necessary to comply with the relevant law repay such Finance Party's share of such Advance together with accrued interest thereon and all other amounts owing to such Finance Party.

MARKET DISRUPTION

Market Disruption If, in relation to any Advance:

the relevant interbank rate is to be determined by reference to Reference Banks and at or about the time at which the rate is to be determined on the Quotation Date for the relevant Interest Period none or only one of the Reference Banks supplies a rate for the purpose of determining the relevant interbank rate for the relevant Interest Period; or

before 12pm (Brussels time) in the case of an Advance denominated in euro, or 12pm (London time) in the case of an Advance in a currency other than euro, on the Quotation Date for such Advance the Agent has been notified by a Bank or each of a group of Banks to whom in aggregate forty per cent. or more of such Advance is owed (or, in the case of an undrawn Advance, if made, would be owed) that relevant interbank rate does not accurately reflect the cost of funding its participation in such Advance, then, the Agent shall at such time notify the relevant Borrower and the Banks of such event and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Clause 0 (Substitute Interest Period and Interest Rate) shall apply to such Advance unless the relevant Borrower shall have notified the Agent within one hour of receipt of such notification that it wishes to cancel such Advance, in which case such Advance shall be cancelled without penalty.

Substitute Interest Period and Interest Rate

If sub-clause 0 of Clause 0 (Market Disruption) applies to an Advance, the duration of the relevant Interest Period shall be one month or, if less, such that it shall end on the Tranche A Termination Date (in the case of a Tranche A Advance) or the Tranche B Termination Date (in the case of a Tranche B Advance). If either sub-clause 0 or 0 of Clause 0 (Market Disruption) applies to an Advance the rate of interest applicable to each Bank's portion of such Advance during the relevant Interest Period shall (subject to any agreement reached pursuant to Clause 0 (Alternative Rate)) be the rate per annum which is the sum of:

in $\$ respect of a Tranche A Advance, the Tranche A Margin at such time and, in respect of a Tranche B Advance, the Trance B Margin at such time;

the Mandatory Cost Rate, if any, in respect thereof at such time; and

the rate per annum notified to the Agent by such Bank before the last day of the then current Interest Period to be that which expresses as a percentage rate per annum the cost to such Bank of funding from whatever sources it may select its portion of such Advance or Unpaid Sum during such Interest Period.

Alternative Rate

If (a) either of those events mentioned in sub-clauses 0 and 0 of Clause 0 (Market Disruption) occurs in relation to an Advance or (b) by reason of circumstances affecting the London interbank market during any period of three consecutive Business Days EURIBOR is not available for euro to prime banks in the London interbank market, then if the Agent or the relevant Borrower so requires, the Agent and the relevant Borrower shall enter into negotiations with a view to agreeing a substitute basis (i) for determining the rates of interest from time to time applicable to the Advances and/or (ii) upon which the Advances may be maintained (whether in euros or some other currency) thereafter and any such substitute basis that is agreed shall take effect in accordance with its terms and be binding on each party hereto, provided that the Agent may not agree any such substitute basis without the prior consent of each Bank.

Mitigation

If, in respect of any Bank, circumstances $\,$ arise which would, or would upon the giving of notice, result in:

the reduction of its Commitment to zero pursuant to Clause 0 (Illegality);

an increase in the amount of any payment to be made to it or for its account pursuant to Clause 0 (Tax Gross-Up); or

a claim for indemnification pursuant to Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity) or 0 (Changes in Circumstances), then, without in any way limiting, reducing or otherwise qualifying the rights of such Bank or the obligations of any Borrower under any of the Clauses referred to in sub-clause 0, 0 or 0, such Bank shall notify the Agent thereof as provided in Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity), 0 (Changes in Circumstances) or 0 (Illegality), as the case may be, and, in consultation with the Agent and the Principal Borrower, take such reasonable steps as such Bank acting in good faith considers appropriate to mitigate the effects of such circumstances including the transfer of its Facility Office to another jurisdiction or the transfer of its rights and obligations hereunder to another financial institution acceptable to the Principal Borrower willing to participate in the Facility; provided that such Bank shall be under no obligation to take any such action if, in the bona fide opinion of such Bank, to do so would or might have an adverse effect upon its business, operations or financial condition.

REPRESENTATIONS

Each Obligor makes the representations and warranties in respect of itself only set out in Clause 0 (Corporate Existence) to Clause 0 (Pari Passu Ranking). The Original Obligors acknowledge that the Finance Parties have entered into this Agreement in reliance on those representations and warranties.

Corporate Existence

Each of such Obligor and its Subsidiaries: (a) is a corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other entity duly organised, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organisation; (b) has all requisite corporate or other power, and has all material governmental licences, authorisations, consents and approvals necessary to own its assets and carry on its business as now being conducted; and (c) is qualified to do business and is in good standing in all jurisdictions in which the nature of the business conducted by it makes such qualification necessary and where failure so to qualify could (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect. COB is a member in good standing with the Federal Reserve System, and COB's deposit accounts are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and no proceedings for the termination or revocation of such insurance are pending or, to the knowledge of COB, threatened.

Financial Condition

The Original Guarantor has pursuant hereto furnished to each of the Banks a consolidated balance sheet of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as at December 31, 1999 and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Original Guarantor and its stockholders' Subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended on said date, with the opinion thereon of Ernst & Young LLP, and the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as at March 31, 2000 and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for the three-month period ended on such date. All such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as at said dates and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the fiscal year and three-month period, respectively, ended on said dates (subject, in the case of such financial statements as at March 31, 2000, to normal year-end audit adjustments), all in accordance with GAAP and practices applied on a consistent basis. Since December 31, 1999, there has been no material adverse change in the Property, business, operations, financial condition, prospects or capitalisation of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole from that set forth in said financial statements as at said date.

Litigation

Except as set out in Schedule 9 (Existing Proceedings), there are no legal or arbitral proceedings, or any proceedings by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, now pending or (to its knowledge) threatened against or affecting the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries as to which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination that could (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.

No Breach

None of the execution and delivery of the Finance Documents, the consummation of the transactions herein contemplated or compliance with the terms and provisions hereof will conflict with or result in a breach of, or require any consent under, the charter or by-laws or constitutional documents of any Obligor, or any applicable law or regulation, or any order, writ, injunction or decree of any court or governmental authority or agency, or any agreement or instrument to which the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them or any of their Property is bound or to which any of them is

subject, or constitute a default under any such agreement or instrument, except for any such conflict, breach or default that, or consent that if not obtained, could not (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect and could not subject the Agent or any Bank to liability.

Action

Each Obligor has all necessary corporate power, authority and legal right to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated thereby; the execution, delivery and performance by each Obligor of each of the Finance Documents to which it is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby have been duly authorised by all necessary corporate action on its part (including, without limitation, any required shareholder approvals); and this Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by each Obligor and constitutes, and each of the other Finance Documents to which it is a party when executed and delivered for value will constitute, its legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against such Obligor in accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by (a) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, conservatorship, reorganisation, moratorium or similar laws of general applicability affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights and (b) such enforceability may be limited by the application of general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

Approvals

No authorisations, approvals or consents of, and no filings or registrations with, any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, or any securities exchange, are necessary for the execution, delivery or performance by any Obligor of this Agreement or any of the other Finance Documents to which any Obligor is a party or for the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or for the legality, validity or enforceability hereof or thereof.

Use of Credit

No part of the proceeds of the Loan hereunder will be used to buy or carry any Margin Stock or to extend credit any person for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any Margin Stock in contravention of Regulation T, U or X.

EDICY.

Each Plan, and, to the knowledge of each Obligor, each Multiemployer Plan, is in compliance in all material respects with, and has been administered in all material respects in compliance with, the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and the US Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended, and no event or condition has occurred and is continuing as to which any Obligor would be under an obligation to furnish a report to the Banks under sub-clause 0 of Clause 0 (Financial Statements).

Taxes

The Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries are members of an affiliated group of corporations filing consolidated returns for US income tax purposes, of which the Original Guarantor is the "common parent" (within the meaning of Section 1504 of the Code) of such group. The Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries have filed all US income tax returns and all other material tax returns that are required to be filed by them and have paid all taxes due pursuant to such returns or pursuant to any assessment received by the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries. The charges, accruals and reserves on the books of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries in respect of taxes and other governmental charges are, in the opinion of the Obligors, adequate. No Obligor has given or been requested to give a waiver of the statute of limitations relating to the payment of any US, state, local and foreign taxes or other impositions.

Investment Company Act

Neither the Original Guarantor nor any of its Subsidiaries is an "investment company", or a company "controlled" by an "investment company", within the meaning of the US Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

Public Utility Holding Company Act

Neither the Original Guarantor nor any of its Subsidiaries is a "holding company", or an "affiliate" of a "holding company" or a "subsidiary company" of a "holding company", within the meaning of the US Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended.

Environmental Matters

Each of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries has obtained all environmental, health and safety permits, licences and other authorisations required under all Environmental Law to carry on its business as now being or as proposed to be conducted, except to the extent failure to have any such permit, licence or authorisation would not (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect. Each of such permits, licences and authorisations is in full force and effect, and each of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries is in compliance with the terms and conditions thereof, and is also in compliance with all other limitations, restrictions, conditions, standards, prohibitions, requirements, obligations, schedules and timetables contained in any applicable Environmental Law or in any regulation, code, plan, order, decree, judgment, injunction, notice or demand letter issued, entered, promulgated or approved thereunder, except to the extent failure to comply therewith would not (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.

True and Complete Disclosure

The information, reports, financial statements, exhibits and schedules furnished in writing by or on behalf of any Obligor to the Agent or any Bank in connection with the negotiation, preparation or delivery of this Agreement or included herein or delivered pursuant hereto, when taken as a whole, do not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements herein or therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. All written information furnished after the date hereof by or on behalf of any Obligor to the Agent and the Banks in

connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby will be true, complete and accurate in every material respect, or (in the case of projections) based on reasonable estimates, on the date as of which such information is stated or certified.

Liabilities

As at the date as of which the most recent financial statements of each Obligor were prepared such Obligor had no, or, in the case of the Original Guarantor, no member of the Group had any, liabilities (contingent or otherwise) which were not disclosed thereby (or by notes thereto) or reserved against therein nor any unrealised or anticipated losses arising from commitments entered into by it which were not so disclosed or reserved against, in each case, as required under GAAP

Ownership

Each Borrower is a Subsidiary of the Original Guarantor.

Liens

No Liens exist upon any assets of any Obligor save for Liens which are not prohibited under Clause 0 (Limitations on Liens).

Governing law and enforcement

The choice of English law as the governing law of the Finance Documents will be recognised and enforced in its jurisdiction of incorporation.

Any judgment obtained in England in relation to a Finance Document will be recognised and enforced in its jurisdiction of incorporation.

Deduction of Tax

It is not required under the law of its jurisdiction of incorporation to make any deduction for or on account of tax from any payment it may make under any Finance Document.

No filing or stamp taxes

Under the law of its jurisdiction of incorporation it is not necessary that the Finance Documents be filed, recorded or enrolled with any court or other authority in that jurisdiction or that any stamp, registration or similar tax be paid on or in relation to the Finance Documents or the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents.

No default

No Event of Default is continuing.

Insolvency

No Obligor or Subsidiary of an Obligor has taken any corporate action nor have any other steps been taken or legal proceedings been started or threatened against any Obligor or Subsidiary of an Obligor for its winding up, dissolution, administration or re-organisation (whether by voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement or otherwise) or for the appointment of a receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, conservator, custodian, trustee or similar officer of it or of any or all of its assets or revenues.

Pari Passu Ranking

Its payment obligations under the Finance Documents rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other unsecured and unsubordinated creditors, except for obligations mandatorily preferred by law applying to companies generally.

Repetition of Representations

The Repeated Representations shall be deemed to be repeated by the relevant Obligor by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing on each day a Notice of Drawdown is delivered to the Agent, on each date on which an Advance is or is to be made and on the date on which any company becomes (or it is proposed that a company becomes) a Borrower.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Covenants

Each Obligor covenants and agrees (with respect to itself only) with the Finance Parties that, so long as any Commitment or Loan is outstanding and until payment in full of all amounts payable by each Obligor hereunder it shall comply with the covenants set out in this Clause 0:

Financial Statements

Each Obligor shall deliver or cause to be delivered or otherwise made available through electronic media (which term shall include e-mail), provided that the Obligors shall give prior written notice to each Bank of such availability:

as soon as available and in any event within 60 days after the end of each of the first three quarterly fiscal periods of each fiscal year of the Original Guarantor, consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for such period and for the period from the beginning of the respective fiscal year to the end of such period, and the related consolidated balance sheet of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such period, setting forth in each case in comparative form the corresponding consolidated figures for the corresponding periods in the preceding fiscal year (except that, in the case of balance sheets, such comparison shall be to the last day of the prior fiscal year), accompanied by a certificate of a senior financial officer of the Original Guarantor, which certificate shall state that said financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the US, consistently applied, as at the end of, and for, such period (subject to normal year-end audit adjustments) (or, in lieu thereof, copies of the Original Guarantor's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the SEC containing such financial statements and information);

as soon as available and in any event within 120 days after the end of each

fiscal year of the Original Guarantor, consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows of the Original Guarantor and the Original Guarantor's Subsidiaries for such fiscal year and the related consolidated and consolidating balance sheets of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the corresponding consolidated figures as of the end of and for the preceding fiscal year, and accompanied by an opinion thereon of independent certified public accountants of recognised international standing, which opinion shall state that said financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of operations and cash flows of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as at the end of, and for, such fiscal year in accordance with GAAP (or, in lieu thereof, copies of the Original Guarantor's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the SEC containing such financial statements and information);

as soon as available and in any event within 60 days after the end of each of the first three quarterly fiscal periods of each fiscal year of COB, consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows of COB and its Subsidiaries for such period and for the period from the beginning of the respective fiscal year to the end of such period, and the related consolidated balance sheet of COB and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such period, setting forth in each case in comparative form the corresponding consolidated figures for the corresponding periods in the preceding fiscal year (except that, in the case of balance sheets, such comparison shall be to the last day of the prior fiscal year), accompanied by a certificate of a senior financial officer of COB, which certificate shall state that said financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of COB and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied, as at the end of, and for, such period (subject to normal year-end audit adjustments);

as soon as available and in any event within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year of COB, consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows of COB and its Subsidiaries for such fiscal year and the related consolidated and consolidating balance sheets of COB and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the corresponding consolidated figures as of the end of and for the preceding fiscal year, accompanied by a certificate of a senior financial officer of COB, which certificate shall state that said financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of operations and cash flows of COB and its Subsidiaries as at the end of, and for, such fiscal year in accordance with GAAP;

as soon as available and in any event within 60 days after the end of each of the first three quarterly fiscal periods of each fiscal year of the Acceding Borrower and each Additional Borrower, consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows of the Acceding Borrower and each Additional Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period and for the period from the beginning of the respective fiscal year to the end of such period, and the related consolidated balance sheet of the Acceding Borrower and each Additional Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such period, setting forth in each case in comparative form the corresponding consolidated figures for the corresponding periods in the preceding fiscal year (except that, in the case of balance sheets, such comparison shall be to the last day of the prior fiscal year), accompanied by a certificate of a senior financial officer of the Acceding Borrower and each Additional Borrower, which certificate shall state that said financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of the Acceding Borrower and each Additional Borrower and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied, as at the end of, and for, such period (subject to normal year-end audit adjustments);

as soon as available and in any event within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Acceding Borrower and each Additional Borrower, consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows of the Acceding Borrower and each Additional Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such fiscal year and the related consolidated and consolidating balance sheets of the Acceding Borrower and each Additional Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the corresponding consolidated figures as of the end of and for the preceding fiscal year, and accompanied by a certificate of a senior financial officer of the Acceding Borrower and each Additional Borrower, which certificate shall state that said financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of operations and cash flows of the Acceding Borrower and each Additional Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at the end of, and for, such fiscal year in accordance with GAAP;

as soon as available and in any event within 60 days after the end of each quarterly fiscal period of each fiscal year of COB, the "Consolidated Reports of Condition and Income" for COB and its Insured Subsidiaries, all prepared in accordance with regulatory accounting principles prescribed by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Counsel;

promptly upon their becoming available, copies of all registration statements (excluding exhibits to such registration statements, and other than registration statements filed on Form S-8 or any successor form) and regular periodic reports filed on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q or Form 8-K (or any successor form), if any, that any Obligor shall have filed with the SEC or any national securities exchange;

promptly upon the mailing thereof to the shareholders of the Original Guarantor generally, copies of all financial statements, reports and proxy statements so mailed;

as soon as possible, and in any event within ten days after any Obligor knows or has reason to believe that any of the events or conditions specified below with respect to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan has occurred or exists, a statement signed by a senior financial officer of such Obligor setting forth details respecting such event or condition and the action, if any, that such Obligor or its ERISA Affiliate proposes to take with respect thereto (and a copy of any

report or notice required to be filed with or given to the PBGC by such Obligor or an ERISA Affiliate with respect to such event or condition, except that a copy of any notice required to be filed for an event described in sub-clause 0 of this sub-clause 0 may be provided at a later date (to be no later than the date such notice is filed) if it has not been filed as of the date of the signed statement described above):

any reportable event, as defined in Section 4043(c) of ERISA and the regulations issued thereunder, with respect to a Plan, as to which the requirement to provide 30 days' notice to the PBGC under Section 4043(a) or Section 4043(b) of ERISA applies, other than a reportable event for which the requirement to provide such notice has been waived by regulation or for which the PBGC has announced in Technical Update 95-3 (or any subsequent administrative guideline) that it will not apply a penalty for failure to provide such notice (provided that a failure to meet the minimum funding standard of Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, including, without limitation, the failure to make on or before its due date a required instalment under Section 412(m) of the Code or Section 302(e) of ERISA, shall be a reportable event regardless of the issuance of any waivers in accordance with Section 412(d) of the Code); and any request for a waiver under Section 412(d) of the Code for any Plan;

the distribution under Section 4041(c) of ERISA of a notice of intent to terminate any Plan or any action taken by any Obligor or an ERISA Affiliate to terminate any Plan under Section 4041(c) of ERISA;

the institution by the PBGC of proceedings under Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Plan, or the receipt by any Obligor or any ERISA Affiliate of a notice from a Multiemployer Plan that such action has been taken by the PBGC with respect to such Multiemployer Plan;

the complete or partial withdrawal from a Multiemployer Plan by any Obligor or any ERISA Affiliate that results in liability under Section 4201 or 4204 of ERISA (including the obligation to satisfy secondary liability as a result of a purchaser default) or the receipt by any Obligor or any ERISA Affiliate of notice from a Multiemployer Plan that it is in reorganisation or insolvency pursuant to Section 4241 or 4245 of ERISA or that it intends to terminate or has terminated under Section 4041A of ERISA;

the institution of a proceeding by a fiduciary of any Multiemployer Plan against any Obligor or any ERISA Affiliate to enforce Section 515 of ERISA, which proceeding is not dismissed within 30 days; and

the adoption of an amendment to any Plan that, pursuant to Section 401(a)(29) of the Code or Section 307 of ERISA, would result in the loss of tax-exempt status of the trust of which such Plan is a part if any Obligor or an ERISA Affiliate fails to timely provide security to such Plan in accordance with the provisions of said Sections;

within five days after any executive officer of any Obligor obtains knowledge of the occurrence of any Default, if such Default is continuing, a notice of such Default describing the same in reasonable detail and, together with such notice or as soon thereafter as possible, a description of the action that the Obligors have taken or propose to take with respect thereto;

promptly after any Obligor knows that a change in any rating assigned by any Rating Agency has occurred, a notice describing the same;

at the time any set of financial statements is furnished pursuant to sub-clauses 0, 0, 0, 0, 0 or 0 of Clause 0 (Financial Statements), a certificate of a senior financial officer of each Obligor (a) to the effect that no Default has occurred and is continuing (or, if any Default has occurred and is continuing, describing the same in reasonable detail and describing the action that the Obligors have taken or propose to take with respect thereto) and (b) setting forth in reasonable detail (including, without limitation, as to the component parts of relevant definitions of accounting terms included in Clause 0 (Definitions)) the computations necessary to determine whether such Obligor is in compliance with its obligations under Clause 0 (Financial Covenants) and Clause 0 (Regulatory Capital) hereof as of the end of the respective quarterly fiscal period or fiscal year; and

from time to time such other information regarding the financial condition, operations, business or prospects of any Obligor or any Subsidiary thereof as any Bank or the Agent may reasonably request.

Covenants

Covenants

Each Obligor covenants and agrees with the Finance Parties (in respect of itself only) that, so long as any Commitment or Loan is outstanding and until payment in full of all amounts payable by each Obligor hereunder it shall comply with the covenants set out in this Clause 0.

Litigation

Each Obligor will promptly give to each Bank notice of all legal or arbitral proceedings, and of all investigations or proceedings by or before any governmental or regulatory authority or agency, and any material development in respect of such legal or other proceedings, against or affecting such Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries, except investigations or proceedings (a) as to which there is no reasonable possibility of an adverse determination or (b) that, if adversely determined, would not (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.

Existence, Etc

Each Obligor will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to:

preserve and maintain its legal existence and all of its rights, privileges, licences and franchises necessary or desirable in the normal conduct

of its business (provided that nothing in this Clause 0 shall prohibit any transaction expressly permitted under Clause 0 (Prohibition of Fundamental Changes));

comply with the requirements of all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders of governmental or regulatory authorities (including, without limitation, the US Federal Reserve Bank, ERISA, the Financial Services Authority, Bank of England, all Environmental Law and the FDIA and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder) if failure to comply with such requirements could (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect;

pay and discharge all taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed on it or on its income or profits or on any of its Property prior to the date on which penalties attach thereto, except for any such tax, assessment, charge or levy the payment of which is being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings and against which adequate reserves are being maintained in accordance with GAAP;

maintain all of its Properties used or useful in its business in good working order and condition ordinary wear and tear excepted, except to the extent that the failure to maintain any such Property in good working order and condition would not (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect and would not interfere in the ordinary conduct of its business or operations;

keep adequate records and books of account, in which complete entries will be made in accordance with GAAP consistently applied; and

permit representatives of any Bank or the Agent, during normal business hours, to examine, copy and make extracts from its books and records, to inspect any of its Properties, and to discuss its business and affairs with its officers, all to the extent reasonably requested by such Bank or the Agent (as the case may be); provided that no Obligor shall be required to provide (a) the names of, or other information that could be used to identify, account holders, (b) any proprietary strategic insights or statistical models concerning account holders or potential account holders, (c) information regarding the specific nature or application of any of the information-based strategies employed by the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries in the conduct of their business or (d) any proprietary plans or other proprietary information relating to the development of the business of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries.

Insurance

Each Obligor will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain (either in its own name or in the name of an Obligor) with financially sound and responsible insurance companies, insurance on all their respective properties in at least such amounts and against at least such risks (and with such risk retention) as are usually insured against in the same general area by companies of established repute engaged in the same or a similar business; and will furnish to the Banks, upon request from the Agent, information presented in reasonable detail as to the insurance so carried.

Prohibition of Fundamental Changes

No Obligor will, nor will it permit any of its Subsidiaries to: (a) enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation or amalgamation, or liquidate, wind up or dissolve itself (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution); or (b) convey, sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of, in one transaction or a series of transactions (a "Transfer"), all or substantially all of its business or Property; provided that:

any Subsidiary of COB may be merged or consolidated with or into, or Transfer all or substantially all of its business or Property to, (x) COB if COB is the continuing, surviving or transferee corporation or (y) any other Subsidiary of COB;

the restriction set forth in sub-clause $0\,(b)$ shall apply, in the case of COB, only to a Transfer of Managed Receivables;

any Subsidiary of the Original Guarantor (other than any Obligor or any of their respective Subsidiaries) may be merged or consolidated with or into, or Transfer all or substantially all of its business or Property to, (x) the Original Guarantor if the Original Guarantor is the continuing, surviving or transferee corporation or (y) any other Subsidiary of the Original Guarantor;

the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries (other than COB) may be merged or consolidated with or into, or transfer all or substantially all of its business or Property to COB provided that COB is the sole Borrower or a Guarantor hereunder; or the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries (other than FSB) may be merged or consolidated with or into, or transfer all or substantially all of its business or Property to FSB provided that if the company merged into FSB is a Guarantor hereunder, FSB has delivered to the Agent a guarantee in a form similar to the Original Guarantee and guaranteeing the same obligations as the Original Guarantee guarantees and in a form acceptable to the Agent with such other supporting documentation as the Agent may reasonably request;

any Subsidiary of the Original Guarantor (other than COB) may merge or consolidate with or into, or Transfer all or substantially all of its business or Property to, any person (other than the Original Guarantor or the Original Guarantor's Subsidiaries) so long as (x) the continuing, surviving or transferee corporation is a Subsidiary of the Original Guarantor and (y) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or Transfer or would result therefrom; and

nothing in this Clause 0 shall prohibit the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries from the sale of credit card loans and other finance receivables pursuant to securitisations.

Limitation on Liens

No Obligor will, nor will it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, create, incur,

assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any (a) Receivables of any Obligor or (b) Restricted Shares owned by it, in each case whether now owned or hereafter acquired, except:

Liens for taxes not yet due or Liens for taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves (in the good faith judgment of the management of the relevant Obligor) have been established;

Liens imposed by law (a) which are incurred in the ordinary course of business and (x) which do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of such Receivables or Restricted Shares or materially impair the use thereof in the operation of the business of the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries or (y) which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, which proceedings have the effect of preventing the forfeiture or sale of the Receivables or Restricted Shares subject to such Lien or (b) which do not relate to material liabilities of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries and do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of the Receivables or Restricted Shares of the Original Guarantor and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; provided that no Lien permitted under this sub-clause 0 may secure any obligations in an amount exceeding \$10,000,000 (or its equivalent); and

any pledge of Receivables to a Federal Reserve Bank made in the ordinary course of business to secure advances or other transactions and manage the liquidity position of an Obligor or related Subsidiary.

Financial Covenants

The Acceding Borrower shall, at all times, ensure that it has a Tangible Net Worth greater than (pound) 75,000,000 (or the equivalent thereof).

The Acceding Borrower will not permit its Debt to Capital Ratio at any time to exceed 10 to 1.

No Original Obligor shall permit its Delinquency Ratio on the last day of any calendar month to exceed 6.0%.

No Original Obligor will permit its Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio on any date to be less than 4.0%; provided that the Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio of any Original Obligor may be less than 4.0% during any period of 90 days so long as (a) on the last day of the fiscal quarter ending on or immediately prior to such 90-day period, the Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio of such Original Obligor was not less than 4.0% and (b) at no time during such 90-day period is the Tier 1 Capital to Managed Receivables Ratio of such Original Obligor less than 3.5%.

The Original Guarantor will not permit its Tangible Net Worth on any date of determination to be less than the sum of (a) \$875,000,000 plus (b) 40% of the COFC Cumulative Net Income as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Original Guarantor ended 31 March 1999 plus (c) 40% of the COFC Cumulative Equity Proceeds as of such date of determination.

The Original Guarantor will not permit its Double Leverage Ratio on any date of determination to exceed 1.25 to 1.

COB will not permit its $\,$ Tangible Net Worth on any date of $\,$ determination $\,$ to be less than \$550,000,000.

No Original Obligor will permit its Leverage Ratio at any time to exceed $10.0\ \text{to}\ 1.$

COB will not permit its Tier 1 Leverage Ratio on any date to be less than 4.0%.

COB will not permit the Tier 1 Capital to Risk Adjusted Assets Ratio on any date to be less than 5.0%.

COB will not permit its Total Capital to Risk Adjusted $\,$ Assets Ratio on any date to be less than 8.0%.

Regulatory Capital

Each Obligor will cause each of its Insured Subsidiaries to be (and COB so long as it is an Insured Subsidiary will be) at all times "adequately capitalized" for purposes of 12 U.S.C. ss.1831o, as amended, re-enacted or redesignated from time to time, and at all times to maintain (and COB so long as it is an Insured Subsidiary will maintain) such amount of capital as may be prescribed from time to time, whether by regulation, agreement or order, by each Bank Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction over such Insured Subsidiary.

Lines of Business

COB will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage to any extent in any line or lines of business activity other than as permitted by its charter or constitutional documents and as necessary to conduct the business of a limited purpose credit card bank.

No Obligor will, nor will it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage to any material extent in any line or lines of business activity other than consumer-oriented or consumer-related business activities and database marketing activities, and other business activities to the extent such other business activities are direct applications of the information-based strategies and related proprietary strategies used by such Obligor or its Subsidiaries in the conduct of its business on the date of this Agreement.

Pari Passu Ranking

The Obligors shall ensure that all payment obligations under the Finance Documents rank at least pari passu with claims of all their other unsecured and unsubordinated creditors, except for those whose claims are preferred by any bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar law of general application.

Notwithstanding anything in this Clause 0 to the contrary, COB shall have no obligation (a) to cause the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries (other than COB or any of its Subsidiaries) to take or refrain from taking any action or (b) to cause or prevent any event or circumstance from occurring with respect to the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries (other than COB and any of its Subsidiaries).

Events of Default

If one or more of the following events (herein called "Events of Default") shall occur and be continuing:

Payments Default

Any Obligor shall: (a) default in the payment of any principal of any Advance when due (whether at stated maturity or at mandatory or optional prepayment); or (b) default in the payment of any interest on any Advance, any fee or any other amount payable by it hereunder or pursuant to any Finance Document when due and such default shall have continued unremedied for three or more Business Days.

Cross Default

The Obligors or any of their Subsidiaries shall default in the payment when due of any principal of or interest on any of its other Indebtedness aggregating \$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies) or more; or any event specified in any note, agreement, indenture or other document evidencing or relating to any such Indebtedness shall occur if the effect of such event is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such Indebtedness (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) to cause, such Indebtedness to become due, or to be prepaid in full (whether by redemption, purchase, offer to purchase or otherwise), prior to its stated maturity; or the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries shall default in the payment or delivery when due (whether upon termination or liquidation or otherwise), under one or more Swap Agreements, of amounts or property required to be paid or delivered having an aggregate fair market value of \$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies) or more.

Representations True

Any representation, warranty or certification made or deemed made herein (or in any modification or supplement hereto) by any Obligor, or any certificate furnished to any Bank or the Agent pursuant to the provisions hereof, shall prove to have been false or misleading as of the time made, deemed made or furnished in any material respect.

Other Obligations

Any Obligor shall default in the performance of any of its obligations under any of sub-clauses 0 or 0 of Clause 0 (Financial Statements), Clause 0 (Prohibition of Fundamental Changes), Clause 0 (Limitation on Liens), Clause 0 (Financial Covenants), Clause 0 (Regulatory Capital), Clause 0 (Lines of Business) and Clause 0 (Pari Passu Ranking) hereof; or any Obligor shall default in the performance of any of its other obligations in this Agreement and such default shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 or more days after notice thereof to such Obligor by the Agent or any Bank (through the Agent).

Unable to pay Debts

Any Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries shall admit in writing its inability to, or be generally unable to, pay its debts as such debts become due.

Insolvency

Any Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries shall (a) apply for or consent to the appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a receiver, conservator, administrator, administrative receiver, custodian, trustee, examiner or liquidator of itself or of all or a substantial part of its Property, (b) make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (c) commence a voluntary case under the Bankruptcy Code, (d) file a petition seeking to take advantage of any other law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganisation (whether by way of voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement or otherwise) other than a solvent reorganisation, liquidation, dissolution, administration, arrangement or winding-up, or composition or readjustment of debts, (e) fail to controvert in a timely and appropriate manner, or acquiesce in writing to, any petition filed against it in an involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code or (f) take any corporate action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing.

Proceedings

A proceeding or case shall be commenced, without the application or consent of any Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries, in any court of competent jurisdiction, seeking (a) its reorganisation, (whether by way of voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement or otherwise) other than a solvent reorganisation, liquidation, dissolution, administration, arrangement or winding-up, or the composition or readjustment of its debts, (b) the appointment of a receiver, administrator, administrative receiver, conservator, custodian, trustee, examiner, liquidator or the like of such Obligor or Subsidiary or of all or any substantial part of its Property or (c) similar relief in respect of such Obligor or Subsidiary under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganisation (whether by way of voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement or otherwise) other than a solvent reorganisation, winding-up, or composition or adjustment of debts, and such proceeding or case shall continue undismissed, or an order, judgment or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered and continue unstayed and in effect, for a period of 60 or more days; or an order for relief against any Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries shall be entered in an involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code.

Insured Subsidiaries

Any Insured Subsidiary shall cease accepting deposits or making commercial loans on the instruction of any Bank Regulatory Authority with authority to give such instruction other than pursuant to an instruction generally applicable to banks organised under the jurisdiction of organisation of such Insured Subsidiary.

FDIA

Any Insured Subsidiary shall cease to be an insured bank under the FDIA and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Capital Restoration

Any Insured Subsidiary shall be required (whether or not the time allowed by the appropriate Bank Regulatory Authority for the submission of such plan has been established or elapsed) to submit a capital restoration plan of the type referred to in 12 U.S.C. ss.1831o(b)(2)(C), as amended, re-enacted or redesignated from time to time.

Guarantee of Insured Subsidiary

The Original Guarantor shall Guarantee in writing the capital of any Insured Subsidiary as part of or in connection with any agreement or arrangement with any Bank Regulatory Authority.

Judgment

A final judgment or judgments for the payment of money of \$50,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies) or more in the aggregate shall be rendered by one or more courts, administrative tribunals or other bodies having jurisdiction against the Obligors or any of their Subsidiaries and the same shall not be discharged (or provision shall not be made for such discharge), or a stay of execution thereof shall not be procured, within 30 days from the date of entry thereof and the relevant Obligor or Subsidiary shall not, within said period of 30 days, or such longer period during which execution of the same shall have been stayed, appeal therefrom and cause the execution thereof to be stayed during such appeal.

Plans

An event or condition specified in sub-clause 0 of Clause 0 (Financial Statements) hereof shall occur or exist with respect to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan and, as a result of such event or condition, together with all other such events or conditions, any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate shall incur or in the opinion of an Instructing Group shall be reasonably likely to incur a liability to a Plan, a Multiemployer Plan or the PBGC (or any combination of the foregoing) that, in the determination of an Instructing Group, would (either individually or in the aggregate) have a Material Adverse Effect.

Repudiation

An Obligor $\,$ repudiates any Finance Document or does or causes to be done any act or thing evidencing an intention to repudiate any Finance Document.

Illegality

At any time it is or becomes unlawful for an Obligor to perform or comply with any or all of its obligations under the Finance Documents or any of the obligations of an Obligor under the Finance Documents are not or cease to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable.

Ownership

The Original Guarantor shall at any time fail to own and control, beneficially and of record (free and clear of all Liens and other encumbrances), at least 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each class of Voting Securities issued by COB; or the Original Guarantor shall at any time while COB plc is a Borrower hereunder fail to own and control, directly or indirectly beneficially and of record (free and clear of all Liens and other encumbrances), at least 95% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each class of Voting Securities issued by COB plc.

Board

During any period of 25 consecutive calendar months, a majority of the Board of Directors of the Original Guarantor shall no longer be composed of individuals (a) who were members of said Board on the first day of such period, (b) whose election or nomination to said Board was approved by individuals referred to in (a) constituting at the time of such election or nomination at least a majority of said Board, or (c) whose election or nomination to said Board was approved by individuals referred to in (a) and (b) constituting at the time of such election or nomination at least a majority of said Board.

Exchange Act

Any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13 or 14 of the Exchange Act, as amended) shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act) of 20% or more of the issued and outstanding shares of voting common stock issued by the Original Guarantor.

THEREUPON: (1) in the case of an Event of Default other than one referred to in Clauses 0 (Insolvency) or 0 (Proceedings) with respect to any Obligor, (A) upon request of an Instructing Group, the Agent will, by notice to the Principal Borrower, terminate the Commitments and they shall thereupon terminate, and (B) upon request of Banks holding more than 50% of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Loan owing by the Obligors, the Agent will, by notice to the Principal Borrower declare the principal amount then outstanding of, and the accrued interest on, the Loan and all other amounts payable by the Obligors hereunder to be forthwith due and payable, whereupon such amounts shall be immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other formalities of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by the Obligors; and (2) in the case of the occurrence of an Event of Default referred to in Clauses 0 (Insolvency) or 0 (Proceedings) with respect to any Obligor, the Commitments shall automatically be terminated and the principal amount then outstanding of, and the accrued interest on, the Loan and all other amounts payable by the Obligors hereunder shall automatically become immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other formalities of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by each Obligor.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Event of Default under Clause 0 (Events of Default) with respect to the Original Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries (other than COB and its Subsidiaries) shall;

(bb) not in and of itself permit the Agent or the Banks (i) to declare the principal amount then outstanding of, and the accrued interest on, the Loans owing by the Borrowers or any

other amounts payable by the Borrowers hereunder to be forthwith due and payable or (ii) to terminate the Commitments; and

entitle

the Agent to serve a notice on COB requiring it to deliver to the Agent, as soon as possible and in any event within 120 days of the end of each of its fiscal years, audited consolidated financial statements audited by a firm of independent certified public accountants of recognised international standing for COB and its Subsidiaries except in respect of any fiscal year for which the Original Guarantor has already delivered to the Agent the documents required under sub-clause 16.2.2 of Clause 16.2 (Financial Information).

DEFAULT INTEREST

Default Interest Period

If any sum due and payable by any of the Obligors under any Finance Document to which it is a party is not paid on the due date therefor in accordance with the provisions of Clause 0 (Payments) or if any sum due and payable by any of the Obligors under any judgment of any court in connection herewith is not paid on the date of such judgment, the period beginning on such due date or, as the case may be, the date of such judgment and ending on the date upon which the obligation of such Obligor to pay such sum (the balance thereof for the time being unpaid being herein referred to as an "unpaid sum") is discharged shall be divided into successive periods, each of which (other than the first) shall start on the last day of the preceding such period and the duration of each of which shall (except as otherwise provided in this Clause 0) be selected by the Agent.

Default Interest

An Unpaid Sum shall bear interest during each Interest Period in respect thereof at the rate per annum which is one per cent. per annum above the percentage rate which would apply if such Unpaid Sum had been a Tranche B Advance in the amount and currency of such Unpaid Sum and for the same Interest Period, provided that if such Unpaid Sum relates to an Advance which became due and payable on a day other than the last day of an Interest Period relating thereto:

the first Interest Period applicable to such Unpaid Sum shall be of a duration equal to the unexpired portion of the current Interest Period relating to that Advance; and

the percentage rate of interest applicable thereto from time to time during such period shall be that which exceeds by one per cent. the rate which would have been applicable to it had it not so fallen due.

Payment of Default Interest

Any interest which shall have accrued under Clause 0 (Default Interest Period) in respect of an Unpaid Sum shall be due and payable and shall be paid by the Obligor owing such Unpaid Sum on the last day of each Interest Period in respect thereof or on such other dates as the Agent may specify by written notice to such Obligor.

Broken Periods

If any Bank or the Agent on its behalf receives or recovers all or any part of an Advance made by such Bank otherwise than on the last day of the Interest Period thereof, the Borrower to whom such Advance was made shall pay to the Agent on demand for account of such Bank an amount equal to the amount (if any) by which (i) the additional interest which would have been payable on the amount so received or recovered had it been received or recovered on the last day of the Interest Period thereof exceeds (ii) the amount of interest which in the opinion of the Agent would have been payable to the Agent on the last day of the Interest Period thereof in respect of a deposit in the currency of the amount so received or recovered equal to the amount so received or recovered placed by it with a prime bank in London, as the case may be, for a period starting on the first Business Day following the date of such receipt or recovery and ending on the last day of the Interest Period thereof.

INDEMNITIES

Each Obligor undertakes to indemnify:

each of the Agent, the Lead Arranger and the Banks and each of their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, and delegates against any cost, claim, loss, expense (including legal fees) or liability (other than any cost, claim, loss, expense or liability incurred as a result of the Agent, Lead Arranger or Bank's own wilful misconduct or gross negligence) together with any VAT thereon, which any of them may reasonably sustain or incur as a consequence of the occurrence of any Event of Default or any default by any of the Obligors in the performance of any of the obligations expressed to be assumed by it in the Finance Documents (or any of them); and

each Bank against any loss (other than any loss incurred as a result of such Bank's own wilful misconduct or gross negligence) it may suffer as a result of its funding an Advance requested by any of the Borrowers hereunder but not made by reason of the operation of any one or more of the provisions hereof.

CURRENCY OF ACCOUNT AND PAYMENT

Currency of Account

The euro is the currency of account and payment for each and every sum at any time due from an Obligor hereunder, provided that:

each repayment of an Advance or Unpaid Sum or a part thereof shall be made in the currency in which such Advance or Unpaid Sum is denominated at the time of that repayment;

each payment of interest shall be made in the currency in which the sum in respect of which such interest is payable is denominated;

each payment in respect of costs and expenses shall be made in the currency in which the same were incurred;

each payment pursuant to Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity), Clause 0 (Increased Costs) or Clause 0 (Indemnities) shall be made in the currency specified by the party acting reasonably and claiming thereunder; and

any amount expressed to be payable in a currency other than euro shall be paid in that other currency. If after the date of this Agreement a member state becomes a Subsequent Participant, all obligations under this Agreement (including any obligation in respect of any Bank's Available Tranche A Commitment or Available Tranche B Commitment) to make a payment in its national currency unit shall be redenominated into the euro unit on the date on which it becomes a Subsequent Participant (but otherwise in accordance with EMU Legislation).

Currency Indemnity

If any sum due from any of the Obligors under the Finance Documents or any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto has to be converted from the currency (the "first currency") in which the same is payable thereunder or under such order or judgment into another currency (the "second currency") for the purpose of (i) making or filing a claim or proof against such Obligor, (ii) obtaining an order or judgment in any court or other tribunal or (iii) enforcing any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto, such Obligor shall indemnify and hold harmless each of the persons to whom such sum is due from and against any loss suffered as a result of any discrepancy between (a) the rate of exchange used for such purpose to convert the sum in question from the first currency into the second currency and (b) the rate or rates of exchange at which such person may in the ordinary course of business purchase the first currency with the second currency upon receipt of a sum paid to it in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of any such order, judgment, claim or proof.

PAYMENTS

Payments to the Agent

On each date on which any Finance Document requires an amount to be paid by any of the Obligors or any of the Banks, such Obligor or, as the case may be, such Bank shall make the same available to the Agent for value on the due date at such time and in such funds and to such account with such bank as the Agent shall specify in writing from time to time.

Payments by the Agent

Save as otherwise provided herein, each payment received by the Agent pursuant to Clause 0 (Payments to the Agent) shall:

in the case of a payment received for the account of a Borrower, be made available by the Agent to such Borrower by application:

first, in or towards payment (on the date, and in the currency and funds, of receipt) of any amount then due from such Borrower hereunder to the person from whom the amount was so received or in or towards the purchase at the Agent's spot rate then prevailing of any amount of any currency to be so applied; and

secondly, in or towards payment (on the date, and in the currency and funds, of receipt) to such account with such bank in the principal financial centre of the country of the currency of such payment (or, in the relation to the euro in the financial centre in a Participating Member State) as such Borrower shall have previously notified to the Agent for this purpose, but nothing in this sub-clause 0(a) shall constitute an encumbrance; and

in the case of any other payment, be made available by the Agent to the person entitled to receive the payment in accordance with this Agreement (in the case of a Bank, for the account of its Facility Office) for value as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt by the Agent by transfer to the account of the person with a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of the currency of such payment (or, in relation to the euro, in the financial centre in a Participating Member State) as that person has previously notified to the Agent.

Payments by the Agent to the Banks

Any amount payable by the Agent to the Banks under this Agreement in the currency of a Participating Member State shall be paid in the euro unit.

No Set-off

All payments required to be made by an Obligor under the Finance Documents shall be calculated without reference to any set-off or counterclaim and shall be made free and clear of and without any deduction for or on account of any set-off or counterclaim.

Clawback

Where a sum is to be paid hereunder to the Agent for account of another person, the Agent shall not be obliged to make the same available to that other person or to enter into or perform any exchange contract in connection therewith until it has been able to establish to its satisfaction that it has actually received such sum, but if it does make such payment and it proves to be the case that it had not actually received such sum, then the person to whom such sum or the proceeds of such exchange contract was so made available shall on request refund the same to the Agent together with an amount sufficient to indemnify the Agent against any cost or loss (other than any cost or loss incurred as a result of the Agent's own wilful misconduct or gross negligence) it may have suffered or incurred by reason of its having paid out such sum or the proceeds of such exchange contract prior to its having received such sum. The Agent may not request any Borrower to refund any sum made available to it by the Agent except to the extent that the Agent has still not received that sum from the Bank(s) in question by close of business in the principal financial centre of the country

of the currency to be paid (or, if there is more than one such centre, one of those centres as reasonably selected by the Agent) on the second Business Day after the date on which the Agent made that sum available to such Borrower.

Partial Payments

If and whenever a payment is made by an Obligor hereunder and the Agent receives an amount less than the due amount of such payment the Agent may apply the amount received towards the obligations of the Obligors under this Agreement in the following order:

first, in or towards payment of any unpaid costs and expenses of the Agent;

secondly, in or towards payment pro rata of any accrued interest due but unpaid;

thirdly, in or towards payment pro rata of any principal due but unpaid; and

fourthly, in or towards payment pro rata of any other sum due but unpaid.

Variation of Partial Payments

The order of payments set out in Clause 0 (Partial Payments) shall override any appropriation made by the Obligor to which the partial payment relates but the order set out in sub-clauses 0, 0 and 0 of Clause 0 (Partial Payments) may be varied if agreed by all the Banks.

Non-Business Days

In the event that any payment required to be made under any Finance Document falls to be made on a day which is not a Business Day it shall be made on the next business day.

Deemed Payments

It is agreed between the Agent and the Banks that a payment to the Banks will be deemed to have been made by the Agent on the date on which it is required to be made under this Agreement if the Agent has, on or before that date, taken steps to make that payment in accordance with the regulations or operating procedures of the clearing or settlement system used by the Agent in order to make the payment.

Set-Off

Each of the Obligors authorises each Bank to apply any credit balance to which such Obligor is entitled on any account of such Obligor with that Bank in satisfaction of any sum due and payable from such Obligor to such Bank hereunder but unpaid; for this purpose, each Bank is authorised to purchase with the moneys standing to the credit of any such account such other currencies as may be necessary to effect such application. No Bank shall be obliged to exercise any right given to it by this Clause 0. Nothing in this Clause 0 shall constitute an encumbrance.

Redistribution of Payments

Sharing

Subject to Clause 0 (Recoveries through Legal Proceedings), if, at any time, the proportion which any Bank (a "Recovering Bank") has received or recovered, determined by reference to the Euro Amount thereof on the date of receipt or recovery, (whether by payment, the exercise of a right of set-off or combination of accounts or otherwise) in respect of its portion of the Euro Amount (determined on the due date therefor) of any payment (a "relevant payment") to be made under any Finance Document by any of the Obligors for account of such Recovering Bank and one or more other Banks in relation to the same Facility is greater (the portion of such receipt or recovery giving rise to such excess proportion being herein called an "excess amount") than the proportion thereof so received or recovered by the Bank or Banks so receiving or recovering the smallest proportion thereof, then:

such Recovering Bank shall pay to the Agent an amount equal to such excess amount;

there shall thereupon fall due from such Obligor to such Recovering Bank an amount equal to the amount paid out by such Recovering Bank pursuant to sub-clause 0, the amount so due being, for the purposes hereof, treated as if it were an unpaid part of such Recovering Bank's portion of such relevant payment; and

the Agent shall treat the amount received by it from such Recovering Bank pursuant to sub-clause 0 as if such amount had been received by it from such Obligor in respect of such relevant payment and shall pay the same to the persons entitled thereto (including such Recovering Bank) pro rata to their respective entitlements thereto in relation to the same Facility, provided that to the extent that any excess amount is attributable to a payment to a Bank pursuant to Clause 0 (Payments by the Agent) such portion of such excess amount as is so attributable shall not be required to be shared pursuant hereto.

Repayable Recoveries

If any sum (a "relevant sum") received or recovered by a Recovering Bank in respect of any amount owing to it by any of the Obligors becomes repayable and is repaid by such Recovering Bank, then:

each Bank which has received a share of such relevant sum by reason of the implementation of Clause 0 (Sharing) shall, upon request of the Agent, pay to the Agent for account of such Recovering Bank an amount equal to its share of such relevant sum; and

there shall thereupon fall due from such Obligor to each such Bank an amount equal to the amount paid out by it pursuant to sub-clause 0, the amount so due being, for the purposes hereof, treated as if it were the sum payable to such Bank against which such Bank's share of such relevant sum was applied.

Recoveries through Legal Proceedings

No Bank shall commence any action or proceeding in any court to enforce its rights hereunder without consulting with the other Banks and with the consent of

an Instructing Group (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld). If as a result of taking such action or proceeding a Bank shall receive any excess amount (as defined in Clause 0 (Sharing)), then such Bank shall not be required to share any portion of such excess amount with any Bank which has the legal right to, but does not, join in such action or proceeding or commence and diligently prosecute a separate action or proceeding to enforce its rights in another court.

FEES

Facility Fee on the Tranche A Facility

The Principal Borrower shall pay to the Agent for account of each Bank a facility fee on the amount of such Bank's Tranche A Commitment from day to day during the period beginning on the date hereof and ending on the Tranche A Termination Date, such facility fee to be calculated at the rate of:

at any time the Rating is BBB+ or Baal or better, 0.085 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BBB or Baa2, 0.10 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BBB- or Baa3, 0.125 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BB+ or Bal, 0.20 per cent. per annum; and

at any time the Rating is BB or Ba2 or worse, 0.30 per cent. per annum, and payable in arrear on each Quarterly Date during such period and on the Tranche A Termination Date.

Facility Fee on the Tranche B Facility

The Principal Borrower shall pay to the Agent for account of each Bank a facility fee on the amount of such Bank's Tranche B Commitment from day to day during the period beginning on the date hereof and ending on the Tranche B Termination Date, such facility fee to be calculated at the rate of:

at any time the Rating is BBB+ or Baal or better, 0.125 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BBB or Baa2, 0.150 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BBB- or Baa3, 0.175 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BB+ or Bal, 0.250 per cent. per annum; and

at any time the Rating is BB or Ba2 or worse, 0.375 per cent. per annum, and payable in arrear on each Quarterly Date during such period and on the Tranche B Termination Date.

Tranche A Facility Utilisation Fee

The Relevant Borrower shall pay to the Agent for account of each Bank a utilisation fee to be calculated on the amount by which the average aggregate amount of the Tranche A Advances exceed 50 per cent. of the aggregate amount of the Tranche A Commitments during each consecutive period from the next Quarterly Date to the following Quarterly Date therefrom (except in the case of the last such period which shall end on the Tranche A Termination Date) beginning on the date hereof up to and ending on the Tranche A Termination Date, such utilisation fee to be calculated at the rate of:

at any time the Rating is BBB+ or Baal or better, 0.05 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BBB or Baa2, 0.10 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BBB- or Baa3, 0.125 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BB+ or Ba1, 0.20 per cent. per annum; and

at any time the Rating is BB or Ba2 or worse, $0.50~\rm per$ cent. per annum, and payable in arrear on each Quarterly Date and on the Tranche A Termination Date.

Tranche B Facility Utilisation Fee

The Relevant Borrower shall pay to the Agent for account of each Bank a utilisation fee to be calculated on the amount by which the average aggregate amount of the Tranche B Advances exceed 50 per cent. of the aggregate amount of the Tranche B Commitments during each consecutive period from the next Quarterly Date to the following Quarterly Date therefrom (except in the case of the last such period which shall end on the Tranche B Termination Date) beginning on the date hereof up to and ending on the Tranche B Termination Date, such utilisation fee to be calculated at the rate of:

at any time the Rating is BBB+ or Baal or better, 0.05 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BBB or Baa2, 0.10 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BBB- or Baa3, 0.125 per cent. per annum;

at any time the Rating is BB+ or Ba1, 0.25 per cent. per annum; and

at any time the Rating is BB or Ba2 or worse, 0.50 per cent. per annum,

and payable in arrears on each $\,$ Quarterly $\,$ Date and on the Tranche B Termination Date.

Arrangement Fee

The Principal Borrower shall pay to the Lead Arranger the fees specified in the letter of even date herewith from the Lead Arranger to COB at the times, and in the amounts, specified in such letter.

Agency Fee

The Principal Borrower shall pay to the Agent for its own account the agency

fees specified in the letter of even date herewith from the Agent to the Principal Borrower at the times, and in the amounts, specified in such letter.

Costs and Expenses

Costs and Expenses

The Principal Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Agent, reimburse each of the Agent and the Lead Arranger for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including legal fees) together with any VAT thereon incurred by it in connection with the negotiation, preparation and execution of the Finance Documents and the completion of the transactions therein contemplated except, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any transfer or assignment by any Bank of its rights or obligations hereunder.

Preservations and Enforcement of Rights

The Principal Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Agent, reimburse the Agent, the Lead Arranger and the Banks for all costs and expenses (including legal fees) together with any VAT thereon reasonably incurred in or in connection with the preservation and/or enforcement of any of their rights under any of the Finance Documents except, for the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any transfer or assignment by any Bank or its rights or obligations hereunder.

Stamp Taxes

The Principal Borrower shall pay all stamp, registration and other taxes to which any of the Finance Documents or any judgment given in connection therewith is or at any time may be subject and shall, from time to time on demand of the Agent, indemnify the Agent, the Lead Arranger and the Banks against any liabilities, costs, claims and expenses resulting from any failure to pay or any delay in paying any such tax.

Banks' Liabilities for Costs

If any Obligor fails to perform any of its obligations under this Clause 0, each Bank shall, in its Proportion, indemnify the Agent and the Lead Arranger against any loss incurred by any of them as a result of such failure, and the relevant Obligor shall forthwith reimburse each Bank for any payment made by it pursuant to this Clause 0.

Waivers and Consents

The Principal Borrower shall, from time to time on demand of the Agent (and without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 0 (Preservations and Enforcement of Rights) and Clause 0 (Amendment Costs) compensate the Agent for all reasonable costs, and expenses (including telephone, fax, copying and travel costs) incurred by the Agent in connection with its taking such action as it may deem appropriate in complying with any instructions from an Instructing Group or any request by any Obligor in connection with:

the granting or proposed granting of any waiver or consent requested hereunder by any Obligor;

any actual breach by any Obligor of its obligations hereunder;

the occurrence of any event which is an Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default; or

any amendment or proposed amendment hereto requested by any Obligor.

THE AGENT, THE LEAD ARRANGER AND THE BANKS

Appointment of the Agent

Each of the Lead Arranger and the Banks hereby appoints the Agent to act as its agent in connection herewith and authorises the Agent to exercise such rights, powers, authorities and discretions as are specifically delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof together with all such rights, powers, authorities and discretions as are reasonably incidental thereto.

Agent's Discretions
The Agent may:

assume, unless it has, in its capacity as agent for the Banks, received notice to the contrary from any other party hereto, that (a) any representation made or deemed to be made by an Obligor in connection with the Finance Documents is true, (b) no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred, (c) no Obligor is in breach of or default under its obligations under the Finance Documents and (d) any right, power, authority or discretion vested herein upon an Instructing Group, the Banks or any other person or group of persons has not been exercised;

assume that (a) the Facility Office of each Bank is that notified to it by such Bank in writing and (b) the information provided by each Bank pursuant to Clause 0 (Notices), Clause 0 (Banks' Mandatory Cost Details) and Schedule 7 (Mandatory Costs) is true and correct in all respects until it has received from such Bank notice of a change to the Facility Office or any such information and act upon any such notice until the same is superseded by a further notice;

engage and pay for the advice or services of any lawyers, accountants, surveyors or other experts whose advice or services may to it seem necessary, expedient or desirable and rely upon any advice so obtained;

rely upon any communication or document believed by it to be genuine;

refrain from exercising any right, power or discretion vested in it as agent hereunder unless and until instructed by an Instructing Group as to whether or not such right, power or discretion is to be exercised and, if it is to be exercised, as to the manner in which it should be exercised;

refrain from acting in accordance with any instructions of an Instructing Group to begin any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement until it shall have received such security as it may require (whether by way of payment in advance or otherwise) for all costs, claims, losses, expenses (including legal fees) and liabilities together with any VAT thereon which it will or may expend or incur in complying with such instructions; and

assume (unless it has specific notice to the contrary) that any notice or request made by any Obligor is made on behalf of and with the consent and knowledge of all the Obligors.

Agent's Obligations
The Agent shall:

promptly inform each Bank of the contents of any notice or document received by it in its capacity as Agent from an Obligor under the Finance Documents;

promptly notify each Bank of the occurrence of any Event of Default or any default by an Obligor in the due performance of or compliance with its obligations under the Finance Documents of which the Agent has notice from any other party hereto;

save as otherwise provided herein, act as agent hereunder in accordance with any instructions given to it by an Instructing Group, which instructions shall be binding on the Lead Arranger and the Banks; and

if so instructed by an Instructing Group, refrain from exercising any right, power or discretion vested in it as agent hereunder. The Agent's duties under the Finance Documents are solely mechanical and administrative in nature.

Excluded Obligations

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary expressed or implied herein, neither the Agent nor the Lead Arranger shall:

be bound to enquire as to (a) whether or not any representation made or deemed to be made by an Obligor in connection with the Finance Documents is true, (b) the occurrence or otherwise of any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default, (c) the performance by an Obligor of its obligations under the Finance Documents or (d) any breach of or default by an Obligor of or under its obligations under the Finance Documents;

be bound to account to any Bank for any sum or the profit element of any sum received by it for its own account;

be bound to disclose to any other person any information relating to any member of the Group if (a) such person, on providing such information, expressly stated to the Agent or, as the case may be, the Lead Arranger, that such information was confidential or (b) such disclosure would or might in its opinion constitute a breach of any law or be otherwise actionable at the suit of any person;

be under any obligations other than those for which express provision is made herein; or

be or be deemed to be a fiduciary for any other party hereto.

${\tt Indemnification}$

Each Bank shall, in its Proportion, from time to time on demand by the Agent, indemnify the Agent against any and all costs, claims, losses, expenses (including legal fees) and liabilities together with any VAT thereon which the Agent may incur, otherwise than by reason of its own gross negligence or wilful misconduct, in acting in its capacity as agent hereunder (other than any which have been reimbursed by an Obligor pursuant to Clause 0 (Indemnities)).

Exclusion of Liabilities

Except in the case of gross negligence or wilful default, none of the Agent and the Lead Arranger accepts any responsibility:

for the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness of the Information Memorandum or any other information supplied by the Agent or the Lead Arranger, by an Obligor or by any other person in connection with the Finance Documents or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, pursuant to or in connection with the Finance Documents;

for the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of the Finance Documents or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, pursuant to or in connection with the Finance Documents; or

for the exercise of, or the failure to exercise, any judgement, discretion or power given to any of them by or in connection with the Finance Documents or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, pursuant to or in connection with the Finance Documents. Accordingly, neither of the Agent and the Lead Arranger shall be under any liability (whether in negligence or otherwise) in respect of such matters, save in the case of gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

No Actions

Each of the Banks agrees that it will not assert or seek to assert against any director, officer or employee of the Agent or any Lead Arranger any claim it might have against any of them in respect of the matters referred to in Clause 0 (Exclusion of Liabilities).

Business with the Group

The Agent and the Lead Arranger may accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of banking or other business with any member of the Group.

Resignation

The Agent may resign its appointment hereunder at any time without assigning any reason therefor by giving not less than thirty days' prior written notice to that effect to each of the other parties hereto, provided that no such resignation shall be effective until a successor for the Agent is appointed in accordance with the succeeding provisions of this Clause 0.

Removal of Agent

An Instructing Group may remove the Agent from its role as agent hereunder by giving notice to that effect to each of the other parties hereto. Such removal shall take effect only when a successor to the Agent is appointed in accordance with the terms hereof.

Successor Agent

If the Agent gives notice of its resignation pursuant to Clause 0 (Resignation) or it is removed pursuant to Clause 0 (Removal of Agent) then any reputable and experienced bank or other financial institution approved by the Principal Borrower may be appointed as a successor to the Agent by an Instructing Group during the period of such notice but, if no such successor is so appointed, the Agent may appoint a successor approved by the Principal Borrower (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

Rights and Obligations

If a successor to the Agent is appointed under the provisions of Clause 0 (Successor Agent), then (a) the retiring or departing Agent shall be discharged from any further obligation hereunder but shall remain entitled to the benefit of the provisions of this Clause 0 and (b) its successor and each of the other parties hereto shall have the same rights and obligations amongst themselves as they would have had if such successor had been a party hereto.

Own Responsibility

It is understood and agreed by each Bank that at all times it has itself been, and will continue to be, solely responsible for making its own independent appraisal of and investigation into all risks arising under or in connection with the Finance Documents including, but not limited to:

the financial condition, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status and nature of each member of the Group;

the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy and enforceability of the Finance Documents and any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, pursuant to or in connection with the Finance Documents;

whether such Bank has recourse, and the nature and extent of that recourse, against an Obligor or any other person or any of their respective assets under or in connection with the Finance Documents, the transactions therein contemplated or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, pursuant to or in connection with the Finance Documents; and

the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness of the Information Memorandum and any other information provided by the Agent or the Lead Arranger, an Obligor, or by any other person in connection with the Finance Documents, the transactions contemplated therein or any other agreement, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, pursuant to or in connection with the Finance Documents. Accordingly, each Bank acknowledges to the Agent and the Lead Arranger that it has not relied on and will not hereafter rely on the Agent and the Lead Arranger or any of them in respect of any of these matters.

Banks' Mandatory Cost Details

Each Bank will supply the Agent with such information and in such detail as the Agent may require in order to calculate the Mandatory Cost Rate in accordance with Schedule 7 (Mandatory Costs).

Agency Division Separate

In acting as agent hereunder for the Banks, the Agent shall be regarded as acting through its agency division which shall be treated as a separate entity from any other of its divisions or departments and, notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Clause 0, any information received by some other division or department of the Agent may be treated as confidential and shall not be regarded as having been given to the Agent's agency division.

ASSIGNMENTS AND TRANSFERS

Benefit of Agreement

This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of each party hereto and its or any subsequent successors and permitted Transferees and assigns.

Assignments and Transfers by the Obligors

None of the Obligors shall be entitled to assign or transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder except in accordance with Clause 0 (Acceding and Additional Borrowers and Additional Guarantor).

Assignments and Transfers

Any Bank may assign all or any of its rights and benefits hereunder or transfer in accordance with Clause 0 (Transfers by Banks) all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder or transfer its Facility Office provided that (save in the case of an assignment of rights and benefits to any Affiliate of such Bank) no such assignment or transfer may be of an amount of less than euro 10,000,000 or may be made without the prior written consent of the Principal Borrower such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed (and, for the avoidance of doubt, it shall not be unreasonable for the Principal Borrower to withhold or delay their consent in the case of an assignment of rights and benefits to any proposed assignee whose long-term debt obligations are then rated below Baa3 by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or below BBB- by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services).

Assignments by Banks

If any Bank assigns all or any of its rights and benefits hereunder in accordance with Clause 0 (Assignments and Transfers), then, unless and until the assignee has agreed with the Agent and the Lead Arranger and the other Banks that it shall be under the same obligations towards each of them as it would have been under if it had been an original party hereto as a Bank, the Agent and the Lead Arranger and the other Banks shall not be obliged to recognise such assignee as having the rights against each of them which it would have had if it had been such a party hereto.

Transfers by Banks

If any Bank wishes to transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and/or obligations hereunder as contemplated in Clause O (Assignments and Transfers), then such transfer may be effected by the delivery to the Agent of a duly completed and duly executed Transfer Certificate in which event, on the later of the Transfer Date specified in such Transfer Certificate and the fifth Business Day after (or such earlier Business Day endorsed by the Agent on such Transfer Certificate falling on or after) the date of delivery of such Transfer Certificate to the Agent:

to the extent that in such Transfer Certificate the Bank party thereto seeks to transfer its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder, each of the Obligors and such Bank shall be released from further obligations towards one another hereunder and their respective rights against one another shall be cancelled (such rights, benefits and obligations being referred to in this Clause 0 as "discharged rights and obligations");

each of the Obligors and the Transferee party thereto shall assume obligations towards one another and/or acquire rights against one another which differ from such discharged rights and obligations only insofar as such Obligor and such Transferee have assumed and/or acquired the same in place of such Obligor and such Bank; and

the Agent, the Lead Arranger, such Transferee and the other Banks shall acquire the same rights and benefits and assume the same obligations between themselves as they would have acquired and assumed had such Transferee been an original party hereto as a Bank with the rights, benefits and/or obligations acquired or assumed by it as a result of such transfer.

Transfer Fees

On the date upon which a transfer takes effect pursuant to Clause 0 (Transfers by Banks), the Transferee in respect of such transfer shall pay to the Agent for its own account a transfer fee of euro 3,500.

Assignments to a Federal Reserve Bank

In addition to the assignments and transfers permitted in this Clause 28, any Bank may (without notice to any Borrower, the Agent or any other Bank and without payment of any fee) assign and pledge all or any portion of any Advance made by it hereunder to any Federal Reserve Bank as collateral security pursuant to Regulation A and any operating circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank.

Disclosure of Information

Any Bank may, disclose to any actual or potential assignee or Transferee or to any sub-participant in relation to any of the Finance Documents such information about the Obligors and the Group as such Bank shall consider appropriate Provided that, prior to the disclosure of such information it has obtained a duly completed confidentiality undertaking (substantially in the form set out in Schedule 8 (Form of Confidentiality Undertaking)) from such potential assignee, Transferee or sub-participant.

Acceding and Additional Borrowers and Additional Guarantor

Transfer by the Original Borrower

If the Agent has confirmed to COB that the conditions set forth in Schedule 3 (Conditions Precedent) have been satisfied and no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred (which has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 0 (Amendment and Waivers)), and subject to:

the terms and conditions of this Agreement; and

the Agent confirming to COB that it has received, in form satisfactory to it, all of the documents set out in Part A of Schedule 6 (Additional Conditions Precedent), the Original Borrower may transfer in accordance with Clause 0 (Conditions Precedent for Acceding Borrower) all of its rights, benefits and obligations as a Borrower hereunder to COB plc.

Conditions Precedent for Acceding Borrower

If the Original Borrower wishes to transfer all of its rights, benefits and obligations as a Borrower hereunder as contemplated in Clause 0 (Transfer by the Original Borrower), then such transfer may be effected by the delivery to the Agent of a duly completed and duly executed Borrower Accession Memorandum in which event, on the Transfer Date specified in such Borrower Accession Memorandum, and if the conditions in Clause 0 (Transfer by the Original Borrower) are satisfied, then:

each of the Finance Parties and the Original Borrower shall be released from further obligations (so far as such obligations relate to the Original Borrower in its capacity as a Borrower) towards one another under this Agreement and their respective rights against one another shall be cancelled (such rights, benefits and obligations being referred to in this Clause 0 as "discharged rights and obligations");

each of the Finance Parties and COB plc shall assume obligations towards one another and/or acquire rights against one another which differ from such discharged rights and obligations only insofar as such Finance Parties and COB plc have assumed and/or acquired the same in place of such Finance Party and the Original Borrower; and

the Original Borrower shall become a Guarantor hereunder and shall be bound by

the terms and conditions of the COB Guarantee.

Request for Additional Borrower

If the Agent has confirmed to the Original Guarantor that COB is a Guarantor hereunder, the Principal Borrower may request that any Subsidiary of the Original Guarantor become an Additional Borrower for the purposes of utilising the Facilities by delivering, or procuring the delivery to, the Agent of an Additional Borrower Memorandum duly executed by the Guarantors and such Subsidiary.

Additional Borrower Conditions Precedent

A Subsidiary, in respect of which the Principal Borrower has delivered an Additional Borrower Memorandum to the Agent, shall become an Additional Borrower and assume all the rights, benefits and obligations of a Borrower as if it had been the Original Borrower on the date on which the Agent notifies the Principal Borrower that:

an Instructing Group accepts the Principal Borrower's request in respect of such Subsidiary; and

the Agent has received, in form and substance satisfactory to it, all documents and other evidence listed in Part B of Schedule 6 (Additional Conditions Precedent) in relation to such Subsidiary, unless on such date an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default is continuing or would occur as a result of such Subsidiary becoming an Additional Borrower.

Resignation of a Borrower

If at any time a Borrower (other than COB or the Acceding Borrower) is under no actual or contingent obligation under or pursuant to any Finance Document, COB may request that such Borrower shall cease to be a Borrower by delivering to the Agent a Resignation Notice. Such Resignation Notice shall be accepted by the Agent on the date on which it notifies COB that it is satisfied that such Borrower is under no actual or contingent obligation under or pursuant to any Finance Document and such Borrower shall immediately cease to be a Borrower and shall have no further rights, benefits or obligations hereunder save for those which arose prior to such date.

CALCULATIONS AND EVIDENCE OF DEBT

Basis of Accrual

Any interest, commission or fee accruing hereunder will accrue from day to day and is calculated on the basis of actual number of days elapsed and a year of 360 days (or, in the case of any Advance denominated in sterling, 365 days) or, in any case where the relevant interbank market practice differs, in accordance with the relevant interbank market practice.

Proportionate Reductions

Any repayment of an Advance denominated in an Optional Currency shall reduce the amount of such Advance by the amount of such Optional Currency repaid and shall reduce the EURO Amount of such Advance proportionately.

Ouotations

If on any occasion a Reference Bank or Bank fails to supply the Agent with a quotation required of it under the foregoing provisions of this Agreement, the rate for which such quotation was required shall be determined from those quotations which are supplied to the Agent.

Evidence of Debt

Each Bank shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice accounts evidencing the amounts from time to time lent by and owing to it hereunder.

Control Accounts

The Agent shall maintain on its books a control account or accounts in which shall be recorded (a) the amount of any Advance or any Unpaid Sum and each Bank's share therein, (b) the amount of all principal, interest and other sums due or to become due from an Obligor and each Bank's share therein and (c) the amount of any sum received or recovered by the Agent hereunder and each Bank's share therein.

Prima Facie Evidence

In any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with any of the Finance Documents, the entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to Clause O (Evidence of Debt) and Clause O (Control Accounts) shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the specified obligations of the Obligors therein recorded.

Rounding and Other Consequential Changes

Without prejudice and in addition to any method of conversion or rounding prescribed by any EMU Legislation and without prejudice to (a) the liabilities for Indebtedness of the Obligors to the Banks under or pursuant to the Finance Documents or (b) the Available Tranche A Facility or the Available Tranche B Facility, any reference in the Finance Documents to a minimum amount (or an integral multiple thereof) in a national currency of a Subsequent Participant to be paid to or by the Agent shall, immediately upon it becoming a Subsequent Participant, be replaced by a reference to such reasonably comparable and convenient amount (or an integral multiple thereof) in the euro unit as the Agent may specify.

Save as expressly provided in this Clause 0, the Finance Documents shall be subject to such reasonable changes of construction as the Agent may at the relevant time specify to be appropriate to reflect the adoption of the euro in any Participating Member State and any relevant market conventions or practices relating to the euro. provided that this Clause shall not reduce or increase any actual or contingent liability arising under this Agreement.

Certificates of Banks

A certificate of a Bank as to (a) the amount by which a sum payable to it hereunder is to be increased under Clause 0 (Tax Gross-up) or (b) the amount for

the time being required to indemnify it against any such cost, payment or liability as is mentioned in Clause 0 (Tax Indemnity) or Clause 0 (Changes in Circumstances) shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive for the purposes of any of the Finance Documents and prima facie evidence in any legal action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with any of the Finance Documents.

Agent's Certificates

A certificate of the Agent as to the amount at any time due from any Obligor hereunder or the amount which, but for any of the obligations of such Obligor hereunder being or becoming void, voidable, unenforceable or ineffective, at any time would have been due from such Obligor hereunder shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive for the purposes of the Original Guarantee and COB Guarantee

Amendments and Waivers

Amendments and Waivers

Save as otherwise provided herein, any provision of any of the Finance Documents may be amended or supplemented only if the Principal Borrower and an Instructing Group so agree in writing and any Event of Default, Potential Event of Default, provision or breach of any provision of any of the Finance Documents may be waived by an Instructing Group before or after it occurs but:

Provided that:

no such waiver or amendment shall subject any party hereto to any new or additional obligations without the consent of such party;

without the prior written consent of all the Banks, no such amendment or waiver shall:

amend or waive any provision of Clause 0 (Redistribution of Payments) or this Clause 0:

reduce the proportion of any amount received or recovered (whether by way of set-off, combination of accounts or otherwise) in respect of any amount due from any of the Obligors under any of the Finance Documents to which any Finance Party is entitled;

change the principal amount of or currency of any Advance, or defer the term of the Facility or the Interest Period of any Advance;

change the Margin, change the amount or currency or defer the date for any payment of interest, commitment commission, fees or any other amount payable hereunder to all or any of the Agent, the Lead Arranger and the Banks under any of the Finance Documents;

amend the definition of Instructing Group, Tranche A Termination Date or Tranche B Termination Date;

waive, in relation to any Notice of Drawdown, the conditions set out in Clause 0 (Drawdown Conditions for Advances) if (i) an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default which related to Clause 0 (Representations), Clause 0 (Financial Covenants) or Clause 0 (Limitation on Liens) has occurred and is continuing and (ii) the Loan (or any Bank's portion of the Loan) hereunder would increase as a result of such Notice of Drawdown or Advance;

amend or waive any provision which contemplates the need for the consent or approval of all the Banks; or

release the Original Guarantee or the COB Guarantee or amend or waive any material provision of the Original Guarantee or the COB Guarantee; and

notwithstanding any other provisions hereof, the Agent shall not be obliged to agree to any such amendment or waiver if the same would:

amend or waive any provision of this Clause 0, Clause 0 (Costs and Expenses) or Clause 0 (The Agent, the Lead Arranger and the Banks); or

otherwise amend or waive any of the Agent's rights under any of the Finance Documents or subject the Agent or the Lead Arranger to any additional obligations thereunder.

Amendment Costs

If any Obligor requests any amendment, supplement, modification or waiver in accordance with Clause 0 (Amendments and Waivers) then that Obligor shall within five Business Days of demand of the Agent, reimburse the Agent for all reasonable costs and expenses (including legal fees) together with any VAT thereon incurred by the Agent in the negotiation, preparation and execution of any written instrument contemplated by Clause 0 (Amendments and Waivers).

Remedies and Waivers

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Agent, the Lead Arranger and the Banks or any of them, any right or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy. The rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

Partial Invalidity

If, at any time, any provision of any Finance Document is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of the Finance Documents nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction shall in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

Communications in writing

Each communication to be made under any Finance Document shall, unless otherwise stated, be made in writing but, unless otherwise stated, may be made by fax, telex or letter.

Delivery

Any communication or document to be made or delivered by one person to another pursuant to any of the Finance Documents shall (unless that other person has by fifteen days' written notice to the Agent specified another address) be made or delivered to that other person at the address identified with its signature below (or, in the case of a Transferee, at the end of the Transfer Certificate to which it is a party as Transferee) (or, in the case of an Additional Borrower, in the Additional Borrower Memorandum to which it is a party) (or, in the case of the Acceding Borrower, in the Borrower Accession Memorandum to which it is a party) and shall be deemed to have been made or delivered when despatched and the appropriate answerback received (in the case of any communication made by telex) or (in the case of any communication made by letter) when left at that address or (as the case may be) ten days after being deposited in the post postage prepaid in an envelope addressed to it at that address or (in the case of any communication made by fax) transmission has been completed and, in the case of the Agent, when received by the department or officer identified with the Agent's signature below (or such other department or officer as the Agent shall from time to time specify for this purpose).

English language

Each communication and document made or delivered by one party to another pursuant to any of the Finance Documents shall be in the English language or accompanied by a translation thereof into English certified (by an officer of the person making or delivering the same) as being a true and accurate translation thereof.

Notices Effective

Each communication or document to be made or delivered to any Obligor hereunder shall be effective if made or delivered to the Principal Borrower.

Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto on separate counterparts each of which, when executed and delivered, shall constitute an original, but all the counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement and all matters arising from or connected with it are governed by English law.

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction of English and New York courts

The courts of England have jurisdiction to settle any dispute (a "Dispute") arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement (including a dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of this Agreement or the consequences of its nullity).

The courts of the State of New York and the courts of the United States of America, in each case sitting in the County of New York, New York have jurisdiction to settle any Dispute.

The Parties agree that the courts of England or the courts of the State of New York or the United States of America sitting in the County of New York, New York are the most appropriate and convenient courts to settle Disputes and accordingly no Party will argue to the contrary.

This Clause 0 is for the benefit of the Finance Parties only. As a result no Finance Party shall be prevented from taking proceedings relating to a Dispute in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, the Finance Parties may take concurrent proceeding in any number of jurisdictions.

Service of Process

Without prejudice to any other mode of service allowed under any relevant law:

in connection with any proceedings in England:

DB hereby irrevocably confirms to the Finance Parties that any service of process in relation to proceedings before the English Courts in connection with Finance Documents may take place at its address at 18 Hanover Square, Third Floor, London W1R 9DA; and

the Original Guarantor and each other Obligor irrevocably appoints COB or, as the case may be COB plc at 18 Hanover Square, Third Floor, London W1R 9DA as its agent for service of process in relation to any proceedings before the English courts in connection with any Finance Document; and

each Obligor agrees that failure by a process agent to notify the relevant Obligor of the process will not invalidate the proceedings concerned.

Waiver of jury trial

EACH OF THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT AGREES TO WAIVE IRREVOCABLY ITS RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED IN THIS AGREEMENT. This waiver is intended to apply to all Disputes. Each party acknowledges that (a) this waiver is a material inducement to enter into the Finance Documents, (b) it has already relied on this waiver in entering into the Finance Documents and (c) it will continue to rely on this waiver in future dealings. Each party represents that it has reviewed this waiver with its legal

advisers and that it knowingly and voluntarily waives its jury trial rights after consultation with its legal advisers. In the event of litigation, this Agreement may be filed as a written consent to a trial by the court.

The Banks				
Bank	Tranche A Commitment	Tranche B Commitment		
	EURO	EURO		
The Chase Manhattan Bank	20,000,000	20,000,000		
Barclays Bank PLC	17,000,000	17,000,000		
Citibank N.A.	17,000,000	17,000,000		
Credit Suisse First Boston	17,000,000	17,000,000		
Deutsche Bank AG London	17,000,000	17,000,000		
Lloyds TSB Bank plc	17,000,000	17,000,000		
ABN AMRO Bank N.V., London Branch	13,000,000	13,000,000		
Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena S.p.A., London Branch	13,000,000	13,000,000		
Banca Popolare di Novara S.C.a.R.L. , London Branch	13,000,000	13,000,000		
Bank of America N.A.	13,000,000	13,000,000		
Credit Lyonnais	13,000,000	13,000,000		
First Union National Bank, London Branch	13,000,000	13,000,000		
HSBC Bank plc	13,000,000	13,000,000		
ING Bank N.V.	13,000,000	13,000,000		
KBC Bank N.V. , London Branch	13,000,000	13,000,000		
Landesbank Baden-Wuerttemberg, London Branch	13,000,000	13,000,000		
Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York	13,000,000	13,000,000		
The Royal Bank of Scotland plc	13,000,000	13,000,000		
Societe Generale	13,000,000	13,000,000		
The Sumitomo Bank, Limited	13,000,000	13,000,000		
Westdeutsche Landesbank Girozentrale	13,000,000	13,000,000		
TOTAL	300,000,000	300,000,000		

Form Of Transfer Certificate
To: Barclays Bank Plc

TRANSFER CERTIFICATE

relating to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Credit Agreement") dated [] 2000 whereby multicurrency revolving loan facilities were made available to Capital One Bank as original borrower and Capital One Financial Corporation as original guarantor by a group of banks on whose behalf Barclays Bank Plc acted as agent in connection therewith. 1. Terms defined in the Credit Agreement shall, subject to any contrary indication, have the same meanings

herein. The terms Bank, $\,$ Transferee and Portion $\,$ Transferred are defined in the schedule hereto.

The Bank (i) confirms that the details in the schedule hereto under the heading "Bank's Participation in the Tranche A Facility", "Bank's Participation in the Tranche B Facility" and "Advances" accurately summarises its participation in the Credit Agreement and the Interest Period or Term of any existing Advances and (ii) requests the Transferee to accept and procure the transfer by novation to the Transferee of the Portion Transferred (specified in the schedule hereto) of its Tranche A Commitment and/or Tranche B Commitment and/or its participation in such Advance(s) by counter-signing and delivering this Transfer Certificate to the Agent at its address for the service of notices specified in the Credit Agreement.

Transferee hereby requests the Agent to accept this Transfer Certificate as being delivered to the Agent pursuant to and for the purposes of Clause 0 (Transfers by Banks) of the Credit Agreement so as to take effect in accordance with the terms thereof on the Transfer Date or on such later date as may be determined in accordance with the terms thereof

Transferee confirms that it has received a copy of the Credit Agreement together with such other information as it has required in connection with this transaction and that it has not relied and will not hereafter rely on the Bank to check or enquire on its behalf into the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy, accuracy or completeness of any such information and further agrees that it has not relied and will not rely on the Bank to assess or keep under review on its behalf the financial condition, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status or nature of the Obligors.

- Transferee hereby undertakes with the Bank and each of the other parties to the Credit Agreement that it will perform in accordance with their terms all those obligations which by the terms of the Finance Documents will be assumed by it after delivery of this Transfer Certificate to the Agent and satisfaction of the conditions (if any) subject to which this Transfer Certificate is expressed to take effect.
- The Bank makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of the Finance Documents or any document relating thereto and assumes no responsibility for the financial condition of the Obligors or for the performance and observance by the Obligors of any of its obligations under the Finance Documents or any document relating thereto and any and all such conditions and warranties, whether express or implied by law or otherwise, are hereby excluded.
- The Bank hereby gives notice that nothing herein or in the Finance Documents (or any document relating thereto) shall oblige the Bank to (a) accept a re-transfer from the Transferee of the whole or any part of its rights, benefits and/or obligations under the Finance Documents transferred pursuant hereto or (b) support any losses directly or indirectly sustained or incurred by the Transferee for any reason whatsoever including the non-performance by an Obligor or any other party to the Finance Documents (or any document relating thereto) of its obligations under any such document. The Transferee hereby acknowledges the absence of any such obligation as is referred to in (a) or (b) above.

This Transfer Certificate and the rights, benefits and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law.

THE SCHEDULE

Bank:

Transferee:

Transfer Date:

Bank's Participation in the Tranche A Facility:

Bank's Tranche A Commitment

Portion Transferred

Tranche A Advance(s):

Amount of Bank's Participation Interest Period and

Portion Transferred

Repayment Date

Bank's Participation in the Tranche B Facility:

Bank's Revolving Commitment

Portion Transferred

Tranche B Advance(s): Interest Period and Portion Transferred Amount of Bank's Participation Repayment Date

[Transferor Bank] [Transferee Bank]

Bv: By: Date: Date:

ADMINISTRATIVE DETAILS OF TRANSFEREE

Address: Contact Name: Account for Payments in euro: Fax: Telephone:

Conditions Precedent

3. In relation to each Original Obligor:

- a copy, certified as at the date of this Agreement a true and up-to-date copy by an Authorised Signatory of such Original Obligor, of the constitutional documents of such Original
 - copy, certified as at the date of this Agreement a true and up-to-date copy by an Authorised Signatory of such Original Obligor, of a board resolution of such Original Obligor approving the execution, delivery and performance of the Finance Documents and the terms and conditions thereof and authorising officers of such Obligor to sign the Finance Documents and any documents to be delivered by such Original Obligor pursuant thereto; and
 - certificate of an Authorised Signatory of such Original Obligor setting out the names and signatures of the persons authorised to sign, on behalf of such Original Obligor, the Finance Documents and any documents to be delivered by such Original Obligor pursuant thereto.
- opinion of the local in-house Counsel to each Original Obligor incorporated in a jurisdiction other than England and Wales in Αn substantially the form distributed to the Banks prior to the signing of this Agreement.
- opinion of the Banks' local Counsel in the jurisdiction of incorporation Αn of each Original Obligor which is incorporated in a jurisdiction other than England and Wales in substantially the form distributed to the Banks prior to the signing of this Agreement.
- opinion of Clifford Chance Limited Liability Partnership, solicitors to An the Agent, in substantially the form distributed to the Banks prior to

the signing of this Agreement.

- Evidencethat the fees, costs and expenses required to be paid by the Original Guarantor pursuant to Clause 0 (Arrangement Fee), Clause 0 (Agency Fee), Clause 0 (Costs and Expenses) and Clause 0 (Stamp Taxes) have been paid.
- A copy, certified a true copy by an Authorised Signatory of each Original Obligor, of the Original Financial Statements of such Original Obligor.
- Evidencethat the party or parties specified in Clause 0 (Service of Process) have agreed to act as the agents of each Original Obligor incorporated in a jurisdiction other than England and Wales for the service of process in England.
- Evidencethat the credit facility for Capital One Finance Company and Capital One Inc. provided pursuant to the credit facility agreement dated 29 August 1997 has been repaid in full and cancelled.

The Original Guarantee duly executed by the Original Guarantor.

Evidence that each Obligor has appointed a person to act as its agent for the service of process in New York.

Notice of Drawdown

From: [Insert name of Borrower]

To: Barclays Bank Plc

Dated:

Dear Sirs,

4. We refer to the agreement (the "Credit Agreement") dated [] 2000 and made between Capital One Financial Corporation as original guarantor and Capital One Bank as original borrower, Barclays Bank Plc as agent, the financial institutions named therein as Banks and others. Terms defined in the Credit Agreement shall have the same meaning in this notice.

We hereby give you notice that, pursuant to the Credit Agreement and on [date of proposed Advance], we wish to borrow a [Tranche A]/[Tranche B]
Advance having an Original EURO Amount of euro[] upon the terms and subject to the conditions contained therein.

We would like this Advance to be denominated in [currency].

We would like this Advance to have a first Interest Period of [] months duration.

We confirm that the representations which are deemed to be repeated at any time after the date hereof in accordance with Clause 0 (Repetition of Representations) of the Credit Agreement are true and correct as of the date hereof by reference to the facts and circumstances existing at the time (or, if any such representation is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific date, as of such specific date), except to any extent waived pursuant to Clause 0 (Amendments and Waivers) and, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made due enquiry no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred which has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 0 (Amendments and Waivers).

The proceeds of this drawdown should be credited to [insert account details].

Yours faithfully
.....
Authorised Signatory
for and on behalf of
[Name of Borrower]

Form of Borrower Accession Memorandum Part A $\,$

Acceding Borrowers

To: Barclays Bank Plc as Agent From: Capital One Bank (Europe) plc and Capital One Financial Corporation and Capital One Bank.

Dated:

Dear Sirs,

Capital One - Borrower Accession Memorandum

5. We refer to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated [] 2000 and made between Capital One Finance Corporation as original guarantor and Capital One Bank as original borrower, Chase Manhattan plc as lead arranger, Barclays Bank Plc as agent and the financial institutions named therein as banks.

Terms defined in the Facility Agreement shall bear the same meaning herein.

The Original Borrower hereby requests the Agent to accept this Borrower Accession Memorandum as being delivered to the Agent pursuant to and for the purposes of Clause 0 (Acceding and Additional Borrowers and Additional Guarantor) of the Facility Agreement so as to take effect in accordance with the terms thereof on the Transfer Date provided that the conditions referred to in Clause 0 (Transfer by the Original Borrower) of the Facility Agreement have been satisfied. The Original Borrower requests COB plc to accept and procure the transfer to COB plc of all of its rights, benefits and obligations as a Borrower under the Facility Agreement by counter-signing and delivering this Borrower Accession Memorandum to the Agent at its address for the service of notices specified in the Facility Agreement.

The Transfer Date shall be the first date upon which (i) the Agent has confirmed that the documents set forth in the Schedule 3 (Conditions Precedent) to the Facility Agreement have been delivered in a form acceptable to the Agent; (ii) no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred (which has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 0 (Amendments and Waivers); and (iii) the Agent has confirmed that the conditions set forth in the Part A of Schedule 6 (Additional Conditions Precedent) to the Facility Agreement in relation to COB plc and COB have been delivered in a form acceptable to the Agent.

COB plc hereby undertakes with the Original Borrower and each of the other parties to the Facility Agreement that with effect from the Transfer Date it will perform in accordance with their terms all those obligations which by the terms of the Facility Agreement will be assumed

The Original Guarantor confirms that it will guarantee in accordance with the Original Guarantee all the obligations of COB plc under the Finance Documents in all respects in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement and COB confirms that it will guarantee in accordance with the COB Guarantee all of the obligations of COB plc under the Finance Documents in all respects in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement.

COB undertakes that, upon its becoming a Guarantor, to perform all of the obligations expressed to be assumed by it under the Facility Agreement by a Guarantor and agrees that it shall be bound by the Facility Agreement in all respects as if it had been an original party thereto as a Guarantor.

The Original Guarantor and COB (each on behalf of itself and the Borrower);

(dd) hereby makes, for the benefit of the Agent and each of the Banks, each of the representations which are to be deemed repeated at any time after the date hereof in accordance with Clause 0 (Repetition of Representations) of the Facility Agreement are true and correct as of the date hereof by reference to the facts and circumstances existing at the time (or, if such representation is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific date, as of such specific date), except to any extent waived pursuant to Clause 0 (Amendments and Waivers); and

(ee) confirms that no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred and has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause O (Amendments and Waivers).

COB plc's administrative details are as follows:

Address:

Fax No.:

This Memorandum shall be governed by and construed in all respects in accordance with English law.

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL

CORPORATION CAPITAL ONE BANK

By: By:

CAPITAL ONE BANK (EUROPE) plc

By:

Part B

Additional Borrowers

To: Barclays Bank Plc as Agent

From: [Subsidiary] and Capital One Financial Corporation Capital One Bank and Capital One Bank (Europe) plc.

Dated:

Dear Sirs,

Capital One - Additional Borrower Memorandum

6. We refer to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated [] 2000 and made between Capital One Finance Corporation as original guarantor and Capital One Bank as original borrower, Chase Manhattan plc as lead arranger, Barclays Bank Plc as agent and the financial institutions named therein as banks.

Terms defined in the Facility Agreement shall bear the same meaning herein.

COB plc hereby requests that [Subsidiary] become an Additional Borrower pursuant to Clause 0 (Request for Additional Borrower) of the Facility Agreement.

[Subsidiary] undertakes to deliver the documents listed in Part B of Schedule 6 (Additional Conditions Precedent) to the Facility Agreement.

[Subsidiary] hereby agrees to such request and accordingly undertakes, upon its becoming a Borrower, to perform all the obligations expressed to be undertaken under the Facility Agreement by a Borrower in all respects as if it had been an original party thereto as an Original Borrower.

The Guarantors confirm that they will guarantee in accordance with the Original Guarantee or the COB Guarantee (as the case may be) all the obligations of [Subsidiary] under the Finance Documents in all respects in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement.

 $\hbox{\tt Each Guarantor (on behalf of itself, the other Borrowers and Guarantors);} \\$

(vii) hereby makes, for the benefit of the Agent and each of the Banks, each of the representations which are to be deemed repeated at any time after the date hereof in accordance with Clause 0 (Repetition of Representations) of the Facility Agreement are true and correct as of the date hereof by reference to the facts and circumstances existing at the time

(or, if such representation is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific date, as of such specific date), except to any extent waived pursuant to Clause 0 (Amendments and Waivers); and

confirms that no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred and has not been remedied or waived pursuant to Clause 0 (Amendments and Waivers).

[Subsidiary's] administrative details are as follows:

Address:

(wiii)

Fax No.:

Process Agent*

[Subsidiary] agrees that the documents which start any Proceedings and any other documents required to be served in relation to those Proceedings may be served on it at [address of Subsidiary's place of business in England] or at any address in Great Britain at which process may be served on it in accordance with Part XXIII of the Companies Act 1985/[on name of process agent in England at address of process agent or, if different, its registered office. If [[Subsidiary] ceases to have a place of business in Great Britain]/[the appointment of the person mentioned above ceases to be effective], [Subsidiary] shall immediately appoint another person in England to accept service of process on its behalf in England. If it fails to do so (and such failure continues for a period of not less than fourteen days), the Agent shall be entitled to appoint such a person by notice. Nothing contained herein shall restrict the right to serve process in any other manner allowed by law. This applies to Proceedings in England and to Proceedings elsewhere.]

This Memorandum shall be governed by and construed in all respects in accordance with English law.

CORPORATION	CAPITAL ONE BANK (EUROPE) PLC
Ву:	Ву:
CAPITAL ONE BANK	
Ву:	
[SUBSIDIARY]	
Ву:	

Additional Conditions Precedent

Part A

Acceding Borrower

- 7. A copy, certified as at the date of the Borrower Accession Memorandum a true and up-to-date copy by an Authorised Signatory of the proposed Acceding Borrower, of the constitutional documents of the Acceding Borrower.
- A copy, certified as at the date of the COB Guarantee a true and up-to-date copy by an Authorised Signatory of COB, of the constitutional documents of such proposed Additional Guarantor.
- A copy, certified as at the date of the Borrower Accession Memorandum a true and up-to-date copy by an Authorised Signatory of the Acceding Borrower, of a board resolution of such proposed Acceding Borrower approving the execution and delivery of a Borrower Accession Memorandum, the accession of such proposed Acceding Borrower to this Agreement and the performance of its obligations under the Finance Documents and authorising named persons or officers to sign such Borrower Accession Memorandum, any other Finance Document and any other documents to be delivered by the Acceding Borrower pursuant thereto.
- A copy, certified as at the date of the COB Guarantee a true and up-to-date copy by an Authorised Signatory of COB, of a board resolution of COB approving the execution and delivery of the COB Guarantee and the performance of its obligations under the Finance Documents and authorising named persons or officers to sign the COB Guarantee, any other Finance Document and any other documents to be delivered by COB pursuant thereto.
- A certificate of an Authorised Signatory of the Acceding Borrower setting out the names and signatures of the person or persons authorised to sign, on behalf of such proposed Acceding Borrower, the Borrower Accession Memorandum, any other Finance Documents and any other documents to be delivered by such proposed Acceding Borrower pursuant thereto.
- A certificate of an Authorised Signatory of COB setting out the names and signatures of the person or persons authorised to sign, on behalf of COB, the COB Guarantee, any other Finance Documents and any other documents to be delivered by COB pursuant thereto.
- A copy, certified a true copy by an Authorised Signatory of the Acceding Borrower, of its latest financial statements.

An opinion of COB's in-house $\,$ counsel in form and substance $\,$ satisfactory to the Agent (acting reasonably).

- An opinion of Clifford Chance Limited Liability Partnership, solicitors to the Agent, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent.
- An opinion of the Agent's New York law legal counsel, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent confirming, inter alia, that the Original Guarantee shall guarantee the obligations of the Acceding Borrower under the Agreement.

Evidence that COB plc has been authorised to carry on deposit taking business in the United Kingdom.

 $\ensuremath{\mathtt{A}}$ duly executed original copy of the COB Guarantee.

Part B

Additional Borrowers

- 8. A copy, certified as at the date of the relevant Additional Borrower Memorandum a true and up-to-date copy by an Authorised Signatory of the proposed Additional Borrower, of the constitutional documents of such proposed Additional Borrower.
- A copy, certified as at the date of the relevant Additional Borrower Memorandum a true and up-to-date copy by an Authorised Signatory of the proposed Additional Borrower, of a board resolution of such proposed Additional Borrower approving the execution and delivery of an Additional Borrower Memorandum, the accession of such proposed Additional Borrower to this Agreement and the performance of its obligations under the Finance Documents and authorising a named person or persons to sign such Additional Borrower Memorandum, any other Finance Document and any other documents to be delivered by such proposed Additional Borrower pursuant thereto.
- A certificate of an Authorised Signatory of the proposed Additional Borrower setting out the names and signatures of the person or persons authorised to sign, on behalf of such proposed Additional Borrower, the Additional Borrower Memorandum, any other Finance Documents and any other documents to be delivered by such proposed Additional Borrower pursuant thereto.
- A certificate of an Authorised Signatory of the proposed Additional Borrower confirming that the utilisation of the Facilities would not breach any restriction of its borrowing powers.
- If the proposed Additional Borrower is incorporated in a jurisdiction other than England and Wales, a copy, certified a true copy by or on behalf of the proposed Additional Borrower, of each such law, decree, consent, licence, approval, registration or declaration as is, in the opinion of counsel to the Banks, necessary to render the relevant Additional Borrower Memorandum legal, valid, binding and enforceable, to make such Additional Borrower Memorandum admissible in evidence in the proposed Additional Borrower's jurisdiction of incorporation and to enable the proposed Additional Borrower to perform its obligations thereunder and under the other Finance Documents.
- A copy, certified a true copy by an Authorised Signatory of the proposed Additional Borrower, of its latest financial statements.
- If the proposed Additional Borrower is incorporated in a jurisdiction other than England and Wales, an opinion of the Banks' local counsel in the relevant jurisdiction in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent.
- An opinion of Clifford Chance Limited Liability Partnership, solicitors to the Agent, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent.
- An opinion of the Agent's New York law legal counsel, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent confirming, inter alia, that the Original Guarantee and COB Guarantee shall both guarantee the obligations of the Additional Borrower under the Agreement.
- If the proposed Additional Obligor is incorporated in a jurisdiction other than England and Wales, evidence that the process agent specified in the relevant Additional Borrower Memorandum has agreed to act as its agent for the service of process in England.

Evidence that each Obligor has appointed a person to act as its agent for the service of process in New York.

Mandatory Costs

- 9. The Mandatory Cost Rate is an addition to the interest rate to compensate Banks for the cost of compliance with the requirements of the Bank of England and/or the Financial Services Authority (or, in either case, any other authority which replaces all or any of its functions).
- On the first day of each Interest Period, as the case may be, (or as soon as possible thereafter) the Agent shall calculate, as a percentage rate, a rate (the "additional costs rate") for each Bank, in accordance with the formulae set out below. The Mandatory Cost Rate will be calculated by the Agent as a weighted average of the Banks' additional costs rates (weighted in proportion to the percentage participation of each Bank in the relevant Advance) and will be expressed as a percentage rate per annum.
- The additional costs rate for any Bank lending from a Facility Office in a Participating Member State will be the percentage notified by the Bank to the Agent as the cost of complying with the minimum reserve requirement of the European Central Bank.
- The additional cost rate for each Bank lending from a Facility Office in the United Kingdom will be calculated by the Agent as follows:
- (ff) in relation to sterling Advances:

[OBJECT OMITTED]per cent. per annum

in relation to Advances in any currency other than sterling:

[OBJECT OMITTED]per cent. per annum.

- A is the percentage of eligible liabilities (assuming these to be in excess of any stated minimum) which that Bank is from time to time required to maintain as an interest free cash ratio deposit with the Bank of England to comply with cash ratio requirements.
- B is the percentage rate of interest (excluding the Margin and the Mandatory Cost Rate) payable for the relevant Interest Period, as the case may be, on the Advance.
- C is the percentage (if any) of eligible liabilities which that Bank is required from time to time to maintain as interest bearing special deposits with the Bank of England.
- D is the percentage rate per annum payable by the Bank of England to the Agent on interest bearing special deposits.
- E is the rate of charge payable by that Bank to the Financial Services Authority pursuant to the Fee Regulations (but, for this purpose, ignoring any minimum fee required pursuant to the Fee Regulations) and expressed in pounds per (pound)1,000,000 of the Fee Base of that Bank.

For the purposes of this Schedule:

(gg) "eligible liabilities" and "special deposits" have the meanings given to them from time to time under or pursuant to the Bank of England Act 1998 or (as may be appropriate) by the Bank of England;

"Fee Regulations" means the Banking Supervision (Fees) Regulations 1999 or such other law as may be in force from time to time in respect of the payment of fees for banking supervision; and

"Fee Base" has the meaning given to it, and will be calculated in accordance with, the Fee Regulations.

- In application of the above formulae, A, B, C and D will be included in the formulae as percentages (i.e. 5 per cent. will be included in the formula as 5 and not as 0.05). A negative result obtained by subtracting D from B shall be taken as zero. The resulting figures shall be rounded to four decimal places.
- Each Bank shall supply any information required by the Agent for the purpose of calculating the above formulae. In particular, but without limitation, each Bank shall supply the following information in writing on or prior to the date on which it becomes a Bank:
- (hh) its jurisdiction of incorporation and the jurisdiction of its Facility Office; and

such other information that the Agent may reasonably require for such purpose. $% \left(1\right) =\left(1\right) \left(1\right) +\left(1\right) \left(1\right) \left(1\right) +\left(1\right) \left(1\right)$

Each Bank shall promptly notify the Agent in writing of any change to the information provided by it pursuant to this paragraph.

The percentages or rates of charge of each Bank for the purpose of A, C and E above shall be determined by the Agent based upon the information supplied to it pursuant to paragraph 7 above and on the assumption that, unless a Bank notifies the Agent to the contrary, each Bank's obligations in relation to cash ratio deposits, special deposits and the Fee Regulations are the same as those of a typical bank from its jurisdiction of incorporation with a Facility Office in the same jurisdiction as its Facility Office.

The Agent shall have no liability to any person if such determination results in an additional costs rate which over or under compensates any Bank and shall be entitled to assume that the information provided by any Bank pursuant to paragraph 7 above is true and correct in all respects.

- The Agent shall distribute the additional amounts received pursuant to the Mandatory Cost Rate to the Banks on the basis of the additional costs rate for each Bank, in accordance with the above formulae and based on the information provided by each Bank pursuant to paragraph 6 above.
- Any determination by the Agent pursuant to this Schedule in relation to a formula, the Mandatory Cost Rate, an additional costs rate or any amount payable to a Bank shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all of the parties hereto.
- The Agent may from time to time, after consultation with the Principal Borrower and the Banks, determine and notify to all parties any amendments or variations which are required to be made to any of the formulae set out above in order to comply with any change in law or any requirements from time to time imposed by the Bank of England or the Financial Services Authority (or, in either case, any other authority which replaces all or any of its functions) and any such determination shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all the parties hereto.

Form of Confidentiality Undertaking
From: [Disclosing Bank]
 [Address]
 and
 Capital One Financial Corporation
 [Address]

[Prospective Recipient]

To:

Dear Sirs,

Capital One - Confidentiality Agreement

We refer to our conversations about the facility for certain members of the Capital One Group (the "Transaction") and to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated [] 2000 and made between Capital One Finance Corporation as original guarantor and Capital One Bank as original borrower, Chase Manhattan plc as lead arranger, Barclays Bank Plc as agent and the financial institutions named therein as banks. Following our receipt of a copy of this letter countersigned by you, we may give you certain structural concepts, information and documents relating to the Transaction (together the "Information"). In this letter, the [Disclosing Bank] Group means [Disclosing Bank] and its subsidiary undertakings, parent undertakings and fellow subsidiary undertaking (each as defined in Sections 258 and 259 of the Companies Act 1985) and the "Capital One Group" means Capital One Financial Corporation and its subsidiaries and affiliates. In return for us agreeing to provide you with certain Information, you agree as follows: (b) You shall hold in strict confidence all Information disclosed to you by us or on our behalf and agree that such Information is supplied solely to help you in deciding whether you want to participate in the Transaction and will solely be used by you for that purpose. Despite this obligation, you may disclose Information (to the extent permitted by law):

- (ix) to your advisers who need to know such Information for the purpose of evaluating the Transaction;
- (\mathbf{x}) which, except through a failure by you or any adviser to comply with an undertaking as to confidentiality, is in the public domain; and
- (xi) to bank supervisory authorities, statutory auditors or examining authorities, if you are obliged by law or regulation to disclose the Information to them
- If you have to disclose any Information under sub-paragraph (iii) above, you will give us such prior notice of that disclosure as is reasonably practicable.
- You shall get your advisers to give us an undertaking in the form of this letter before letting them see any of the Information. You shall be responsible for any breach by your advisors of any such undertaking.
- At our request, you shall provide us with details of all advisers to whom any Information has been, or is to be, disclosed.
- You acknowledge that no member of the [Disclosing Bank] Group is responsible for the accuracy and/or completeness of any Information. You shall be solely responsible for making your own independent appraisal and investigation of the Transaction and all parties connected with the Transaction (the "Transaction Parties"). You shall not rely upon any member of the [Disclosing Bank] Group (now or hereafter) (1) to check the accuracy and/or completeness of any Information, or (2) to assess or review any aspect of the Transaction or any Transaction Party. Accordingly, except in the case of fraud, the [Disclosing Bank] Group accepts no responsibility or liability to you (whether for negligence or otherwise).

You acknowledge that:

- (xiii) as a result of these other relationships, members of the [Disclosing Bank] Group may have or get information about Other Parties, Transaction Parties and/or the Transaction or which may be relevant to any of these. Despite this, no member of the [Disclosing Bank] Group will have to disclose such information, or the fact that it is in possession of such information, to you;
- (xiv) members of the [Disclosing Bank] Group may, now and in the future, have fiduciary or other relationships under which it, or they, may exercise voting power over securities of various persons. Those securities may, from time to time, include securities of Transaction Parties; and
- (xv) each member of the [Disclosing Bank] Group may exercise such voting powers, and otherwise perform its functions in connection with such fiduciary or other relationships, without regard to its relationship to the Transaction Parties and/or the Transaction.
- You will return to us all documents evidencing the Information together with any copies of the Information, promptly upon either (1) your decision not to participate in the Transaction or (2) a request by us to do so, in each case, save as required by law.
- You agree that the delivery to you of Information does not constitute any representation or warranty by [Disclosing Bank] as to the accuracy or completeness of that Information.

This letter embodies the entire agreement between you and us relating to the Information. It supersedes any prior agreement or understanding (oral or in writing) relating to the Information. It may not be amended or waived except in writing. You acknowledge that you have not relied on any representation other than those set out in this letter. We are not liable to you for any representation (other than any fraudulent representation) that is not set out in this letter. You acknowledge that, except where otherwise indicated, your obligations under this letter are for the benefit of both the Capital One Group

and the [Disclosing Bank] Group and can be enforced by either. This letter and
all claims arising from or in connection with it are governed by, and are to be
construed in accordance with, English law. You submit, for our benefit, to the
jurisdiction of the English courts for the resolution of any dispute arising in
connection with this letter. Please sign, date and return to us the enclosed
copy of this letter to confirm your agreement to the above. Yours faithfully

for and on behalf of [Disclosing Bank]

for and on behalf of Capital One Financial Corporation

greed and Accepted
for and on behalf of
Prospective Recipient]
Dated []

Existing Proceedings

[On Copyl:

In connection with the transfer of substantially all of Signet Bank's credit card business to Capital One Bank (the "Bank") in November 1994, Capital One Financial Corporation (the "Company") and the Bank agreed to indemnify Signet Bank (which was acquired by First Union Bank on November 30, 1997) for certain liabilities incurred in litigation arising from that business, which may include liabilities, if any, incurred in the purported class action case described below.

During 1995, the Company and the Bank became involved in a purported class action suit relating to certain collection practices engaged in by Signet Bank and, subsequently, by the Bank. The complaint in this case alleges that Signet Bank and/or the Bank violated a variety of California state statutes and constitutional and common law duties by filing collection lawsuits, obtaining judgements and pursuing garnishment proceedings in the Virginia state courts against defaulted credit card customers who were not residents of Virginia. This case was filed in the Superior Court of California in the County of Alameda, Southern Division, on behalf of a class of California residents. The complaint in this case seeks unspecified statutory damages, compensatory damages, punitive damages, restitution, attorneys' fees and costs, a permanent injunction and other equitable relief.

In early 1997, the California court entered judgement in favor of the Bank on all of the plaintiffs' claims. The plaintiffs appealed the ruling to the California Court of Appeals First Appellate District Division 4. In early 1999, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling in favor of the Bank on six counts, but reversed the trial court's ruling on two counts of the plaintiffs' complaint. The California Supreme Court rejected the Bank's Petition for Review of the remaining two counts and remitted them to the trial court for further proceedings. In August 1999, the trial court denied without prejudice plaintiffs' motion to certify a class on the one remaining common law claim. In November 1999, the United States Supreme Court denied the Bank's writ of certiorari on the remaining two counts, declining to exercise its discretionary power to review these issues.

Subsequently, the Bank moved for summary judgement on the two remaining counts and for a ruling that a class cannot be certified in this case. These motions are pending.

Because no specific measure of damages is demanded in the complaint of the California case and the trial court entered judgement in favor of the Bank before the parties completed any significant discovery, an informed assessment of the ultimate outcome of this case cannot be made at this time. Management believes, however, that there are meritorious defenses to this lawsuit and intends to defend it vigorously.

The Company is commonly subject to various other pending and threatened legal actions arising from the conduct of its normal business activities. In the opinion of management, the ultimate aggregate liability, if any, arising out of any pending or threatened action will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition of the Company. At the present time, however, management is not in a position to determine whether the resolution of pending or threatened litigation will have a material effect on the Company's results of operations in any future reporting period.

Form of Original Guarantee

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION
THE GUARANTOR

BARCLAYS BANK PLC AS AGENT

CHASE MANHATTAN PLC AS ARRANGER

AND

THE BANKS AS LENDERS

GUARANTEE

GUARANTEE dated as of [, 2000] made by CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Guarantor"), in favor of BARCLAYS BANK PLC, as Agent, CHASE MANHATTAN plc as Arranger and THE BANKS named in the First Schedule to the Facility Agreement (as hereinafter defined) (including any and all branches or offices thereof, the "Banks"), as lenders (collectively, the "Beneficiaries"). WHEREAS, the Guarantor and Capital One Bank, a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Guarantor, have entered into a Multicurrency Credit Agreement dated as of the date hereof (as from time to time amended, the "Facility Agreement") providing credit facilities by the Banks to the Borrowers (as defined in the Facility Agreement) (the "Facilities") in a principal amount up to but not exceeding EUR 750,000,000; and WHEREAS, the Guarantor has determined that the making of the Facilities to the Borrowers will be financially beneficial to the Borrowers and the Guarantor; NOW, THEREFORE, to induce the Banks and the other Beneficiaries to enter into the Facility Agreement and to participate in the Facilities, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Guarantor agrees as follows.

1. Definitions Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, terms defined in the Facility Agreement are used herein as defined therein.

The Guarantee

The Guarantor hereby:

guarantees to the Beneficiaries and their successors and assigns the prompt payment in full when due of all obligations of the Borrowers now or hereafter existing under the Facility Agreement, whether for principal, interest, fees, expenses or otherwise (such obligations being the "Guaranteed Obligations"); and

agrees as a primary obligation to indemnify each Beneficiary from time to time on demand from and against any loss incurred by it as a result of the Facility Agreement being or becoming void, voidable or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, whether or not known to such Beneficiary, the amount of such loss being the amount which such Beneficiary would otherwise have been entitled to recover from the Borrowers.

Obligations Unconditional

The Guarantor acknowledges that the obligations undertaken by it under this Guarantee are absolute, irrevocable and unconditional under any and all circumstances. In full recognition and in furtherance of the foregoing, the Guarantor agrees as follows:

Without affecting the enforceability or effectiveness of this Guarantee in accordance with its terms and without affecting, limiting, reducing, discharging or terminating the liability of the Guarantor, or the rights, remedies, powers and privileges of the Beneficiaries under this Guarantee, the Beneficiaries may, at any time and from time to time and without notice or demand of any kind or nature whatsoever except as expressly required by applicable law:

amend, supplement, modify, extend, renew, waive, accelerate or otherwise change the time for payment or performance of, or the terms of, all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (including any increase or decrease in the rate or rates of interest on all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations);

amend, supplement, modify, extend, renew, waive or otherwise change, or enter into or give, any Finance Document or any agreement, security document, guarantee, approval, consent or other instrument with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, any Finance Document or any such other instrument or any term or provision of the foregoing;

accept or enter into new or additional agreements, security documents, guarantees (including letters of credit) or other instruments in addition to, any Finance Document, any existing security in relation to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any collateral now or in the future constituting security for the Guaranteed Obligations;

accept or receive (including from any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, if any) partial payments or performance of the Guaranteed Obligations (whether as a result of the exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege or otherwise);

settle, compromise, release, liquidate or enforce upon such terms and in such manner as the Beneficiaries may determine or as applicable law may dictate all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any collateral for or guarantee of (including without limitation any letter of credit, if any, issued with respect to) all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;

consent to the merger or consolidation of, the sale of substantial assets by, or other restructuring or termination of the corporate existence of the Borrowers or any other person (including without limitation any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, if any);

proceed against the Borrowers or the Guarantor or any collateral in such order and such manner as the Beneficiaries may, in their discretion, determine;

enter into such other transactions or business dealings with the Borrowers, any Subsidiary or affiliate of the Borrowers or the Guarantor or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations as the Beneficiaries may desire; and

do all or any combination of the actions set forth in this Section 2.21 or take any other actions or fail to take any actions to the fullest extent permissible under applicable law in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations.

The enforceability and effectiveness of this Guarantee and the liability of the Guarantor, and the rights, remedies, powers and privileges of the Beneficiaries, under this Guarantee shall not be affected, limited, reduced, discharged or

terminated, and the Guarantor hereby expressly waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any defense now or in the future arising, by reason of:

the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, any Finance Document or any other agreement relative to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;

any disability or other defense with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations of the Borrowers or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (including without limitation any issuer of any letter of credit), including the effect of any statute of limitations that may bar the enforcement of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or the obligations of any such other guarantor;

the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of any security or guarantee (including without limitation any letter of credit) for all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or the lack of perfection or continuing perfection or failure of the priority of any lien on any collateral for all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations:

the cessation, for any cause whatsoever, of the liability of the Borrowers or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (other than, subject to Section 2.5 hereof, by reason of the full payment and performance of all Guaranteed Obligations);

any failure of the Beneficiaries to pursue or exhaust any right, remedy, power or privilege it may have against the Borrowers or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any other person or to take any action whatsoever to mitigate or reduce such or any other guarantor's liability under this Guarantee, the Beneficiaries being under no obligation to take any such action notwithstanding the fact that all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations may be due and payable and that the Borrowers may be in default of their obligations under any Finance Document;

any counterclaim, set-off or other claim which the Guarantor or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations has or alleges to have with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;

any failure of the Beneficiaries to file or enforce a claim in any bankruptcy or other proceeding with respect to any person;

any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, readjustment of debt, liquidation or dissolution proceeding commenced by or against any Obligor, including any discharge of, or bar or stay against collecting, all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (or any interest on all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations) in or as a result of any such proceeding;

any action taken by the Beneficiaries that is authorized by this Section 2.2 or otherwise in this Guarantee or by any other provision of any Finance Document or any omission to take any such action;

any change in the direct or indirect ownership or control of the Borrowers or of any shares or ownership interests thereof; or

any other circumstance whatsoever that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations.

The Guarantor expressly waives, for the benefit of the Beneficiaries, all set-offs and counterclaims and all diligence, presentment, demand for payment or performance, notices of nonpayment or nonperformance, protest, notices of protest, notices of dishonor and all other notices or demands of any kind or nature whatsoever, and any requirement that the Beneficiaries, exhaust any right, power or remedy or proceed against the Borrowers under the Facility Agreement or any other agreement referred to herein or therein, or against any other person under any other guarantee of, or security for, any of the Guaranteed Obligations, and all notices of acceptance of this Guarantee or of the existence, creation, incurring or assumption of new or additional Guaranteed Obligations. The Guarantor further expressly waives the benefit of any and all statutes of limitation to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.

The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Beneficiaries that it has established adequate means of obtaining financial and other information pertaining to the business, operations and condition (financial and otherwise) of the Borrowers and their properties on a continuing basis and that the Guarantor is now and will in the future remain fully familiar with the business, operations and condition (financial and otherwise) of the Borrowers and their properties. The Guarantor further represents and warrants that it has reviewed and approved each of the Finance Documents and is fully familiar with the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents and that it will in the future remain fully familiar with such transaction and with any new agreements relating to the Facilities. The Guarantor hereby expressly waives and relinquishes any duty on the part of the Beneficiaries (should any such duty exist) to disclose to such or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations any matter of fact or other information related to the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrowers or their properties or to any Finance Document or the transactions undertaken pursuant to, or contemplated by, any such Finance Document, whether now or in the future known by the Banks.

The Guarantor intends that its rights and obligations shall be those expressly set forth in this Guarantee and that its obligations shall not be affected, limited, reduced, discharged or terminated by reason of any principles or provisions of law which conflict with the terms of this Guarantee.

Understanding With Respect to Waivers and Consents
The Guarantor represents, warrants and agrees that each of the waivers and
consents set forth in this Guarantee is made voluntarily and unconditionally.
If, notwithstanding the intent of the parties that the terms of this Guarantee

shall control in any and all circumstances, any such waivers or consents are determined to be unenforceable under applicable law, such waivers and consents shall be effective to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Taxes

The provisions of Clauses 8, 9 and 10 of the Facility Agreement shall apply mutatis mutandis to this Guarantee to the extent that such provisions relate to payment obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee.

Reinstatement

The obligations of the Guarantor under this Section 2 shall be automatically reinstated if and to the extent that for any reason any payment by or on behalf of the Borrowers in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations is rescinded or must be otherwise restored by any holder of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, whether as a result of any proceedings in bankruptcy or reorganization or otherwise, and the Guarantor agrees that it will indemnify the Beneficiaries on demand for all reasonable costs and expenses (including, without limitation, fees of counsel) incurred by the Beneficiaries in connection with such rescission or restoration, including any such costs and expenses incurred in defending against any claim alleging that such payment constituted a preference, fraudulent transfer or the like under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law.

Subrogation

The Guarantor hereby agrees that, until the final payment and satisfaction in full of all Guaranteed Obligations and the expiration or termination of the Commitment of the Banks under the Facility Agreement, it shall not exercise any right or remedy arising by reason of any performance by it of the guarantee in Section 2.1 hereof, whether by subrogation or otherwise, against the Borrowers or any other guarantor of any of the Guaranteed Obligations or any security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations.

Remedies

The Guarantor agrees that, as between the Guarantor and the Banks, the obligations of the Borrowers under the Facility Agreement may be declared to be forthwith due and payable as provided in Clause 18 of the Facility Agreement (and shall be deemed to have become automatically due and payable in the circumstances provided in said Clause 18) for purposes of Section 2.1 hereof notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such declaration (or such obligations from becoming automatically due and payable) as against the Borrowers and that, in the event of such declaration (or such obligations being deemed to have become automatically due and payable), such obligations (whether or not due and payable by the Borrowers) shall forthwith become due and payable by the Guarantor for purposes of said Section 2.1.

Manner of Payment

The Guarantor shall make any payment required to be made hereunder in lawful money as specified in Clause 21 of the Facility Agreement and in same day funds to the Banks at the place specified for payments in the Facility Agreement, without set-off, counterclaim or other defense and free and clear of and without deduction for any present or future income, stamp or other taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, fees, withholdings, liabilities, restrictions or conditions of any nature whatsoever now or hereafter imposed, levied, collected, assessed or withheld by any jurisdiction or by any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein (whether pursuant to Delaware law, New York law or otherwise).

Representations and Warranties

The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Beneficiaries that all of the representations and warranties pertaining to the Guarantor contained in the Facility Agreement are true and correct as of the date the same are deemed to be made or repeated under Clause 15.23 of the Facility Agreement by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing.

Covenants

General Covenants

The Guarantor agrees that until the final payment in full of the Guaranteed Obligations it will comply with each of the covenants pertaining to the Guarantor under the Facility Agreement.

Regulatory Capital

The Guarantor will cause each of its respective Insured Subsidiaries (if any) to be at all times "adequately capitalized" for purposes of 12 U.S.C. ss. 1831o, as amended, re-enacted or redesignated from time to time, and at all times to maintain such amount of capital as may be prescribed from time to time, whether by regulation, agreement or order, by each Bank Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction over such Insured Subsidiary.

Further Assurances

The Guarantor shall from time to time upon the written request of an Instructing Group, execute and deliver such further documents and do such other acts and things as an Instructing Group may reasonably request in order fully to effect the purposes of this Agreement.

Miscellaneous

Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction

This Guarantee $\,$ shall be governed by, and construed in accordance $\,$ with, the law of the State of New York.

The Guarantor hereby submits to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and of any New York state court sitting in New York City for the purposes of all legal proceedings arising out of or relating to this Guarantee or the transactions contemplated hereby. The Guarantor hereby irrevocably appoints CFC the United States Corporation Company of 375 Hudson Street, New York, NY 10014 (the "Process Agent") as its true and lawful attorney-in-fact to receive service of all writs, summons and other process in connection with any such legal proceedings in New

York and agrees that the failure of the Process Agent to convey any such process to the Guarantor shall not impair or affect the validity thereof or of any judgment based thereon.

The Guarantor irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such proceeding brought in such a court and any claim that any such proceeding brought in such a court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

Waiver of Jury Trial

THE GUARANTOR AND THE BENEFICIARIES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS GUARANTEE OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

Notices

All notices, requests, consents and demands hereunder shall be in writing and telecopied or delivered to the intended recipient at the "Address for Notices" specified beneath its name on the signature pages hereof or, as to any party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a notice to each other party. Except as otherwise provided in this Guarantee, all such communications shall be deemed to have been duly given when transmitted by telex or telecopier or personally delivered or, in the case of a mailed notice, upon receipt, in each case given or addressed as aforesaid.

Waivers, Etc.

The terms of this Guarantee may be waived, altered or amended only by an instrument in writing duly executed by the Guarantor and the Beneficiaries.

Successors and Assigns

This Guarantee shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns (provided, however, that the Guarantor shall not assign or transfer any of its rights hereunder without the prior written consent of the Beneficiaries).

Counterparts

This Guarantee may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument and any of the parties hereto may execute this Guarantee by signing any such counterpart.

Severability

Attention:

If any provision hereof is invalid and unenforceable in any jurisdiction, then, to the fullest extent permitted by law, (i) the other provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect in such jurisdiction and shall be liberally construed in favor of the Beneficiaries in order to carry out the intentions of the parties hereto as nearly as may be possible and (ii) the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision hereof in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, $\,$ the Guarantor has caused this Guarantee to be duly executed and delivered as of the day and year first above written.

CAPITAL	ONE	FINANCIAL	CORP	ORATIO	N		
By:							
Name:							
Title:							
Address	for	Notices:		2980	Fairview	Park	Driv
				Falls	Church,	VA	22042

[

]

CAPITAL ONE bank
THE GUARANTOR

BARCLAYS BANK PLC AS AGENT

CHASE MANHATTAN PLC AS ARRANGER

AND

THE BANKS AS LENDERS

GUARANTEE

.----

GUARANTEE dated as of [, 2000] made by CAPITAL ONE BANK, a Virginia corporation (the "Guarantor"), in favor of BARCLAYS BANK PLC, as Agent, CHASE MANHATTAN plc as Arranger and THE BANKS named in the First Schedule to the Facility Agreement (as hereinafter defined) (including any and all branches or offices thereof, the "Banks"), as lenders (collectively, the "Beneficiaries"). WHEREAS, the Guarantor and Capital One Financial Corporation, its parent corporation, have entered into a Multicurrency Credit Agreement dated as of [______, 2000] (as from time to time amended, the "Facility Agreement") providing credit facilities by the Banks to the Borrowers (as defined in the Facility Agreement) (the "Facilities") in a principal amount up to but not exceeding EUR 750,000,000; and WHEREAS, the Guarantor wishes Capital One Bank (Europe) plc to accede to the Facility Agreement as a Borrower and has determined that the making of the Facilities to the Borrowers will be financially beneficial to the Borrowers and the Guarantor; NOW, THEREFORE, to induce the Banks and the other Beneficiaries to enter into the Facility Agreement and to participate in the Facilities, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Guarantor agrees as follows. 2. Definitions Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, terms defined in the Facility Agreement are used herein as defined therein.

The Guarantee

The Guarantor hereby:

guarantees to the Beneficiaries and their successors and assigns the prompt payment in full when due of all obligations of the Borrowers now or hereafter existing under the Facility Agreement, whether for principal, interest, fees, expenses or otherwise (such obligations being the "Guaranteed Obligations"); and

agrees as a primary obligation to indemnify each Beneficiary from time to time on demand from and against any loss incurred by it as a result of the Facility Agreement being or becoming void, voidable or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, whether or not known to such Beneficiary, the amount of such loss being the amount which such Beneficiary would otherwise have been entitled to recover from the Borrowers.

Obligations Unconditional

The Guarantor acknowledges that the obligations undertaken by it under this Guarantee are absolute, irrevocable and unconditional under any and all circumstances. In full recognition and in furtherance of the foregoing, the Guarantor agrees as follows:

Without affecting the enforceability or effectiveness of this Guarantee in accordance with its terms and without affecting, limiting, reducing, discharging or terminating the liability of the Guarantor, or the rights, remedies, powers and privileges of the Beneficiaries under this Guarantee, the Beneficiaries may, at any time and from time to time and without notice or demand of any kind or nature whatsoever except as expressly required by applicable law:

amend, supplement, modify, extend, renew, waive, accelerate or otherwise change the time for payment or performance of, or the terms of, all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (including any increase or decrease in the rate or rates of interest on all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations);

amend, supplement, modify, extend, renew, waive or otherwise change, or enter into or give, any Finance Document or any agreement, security document, guarantee, approval, consent or other instrument with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, any Finance Document or any such other instrument or any term or provision of the foregoing;

accept or enter into new or additional agreements, security documents, guarantees (including letters of credit) or other instruments in addition to, any Finance Document, any existing security in relation to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any collateral now or in the future constituting security for the Guaranteed Obligations;

accept or receive (including from any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, if any) partial payments or performance of the Guaranteed Obligations (whether as a result of the exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege or otherwise);

settle, compromise, release, liquidate or enforce upon such terms and in such manner as the Beneficiaries may determine or as applicable law may dictate all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any collateral for or guarantee of (including without limitation any letter of credit, if any, issued with respect to) all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;

consent to the merger or consolidation of, the sale of substantial assets by, or other restructuring or termination of the corporate existence of the Borrowers or any other person (including without limitation any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, if any);

proceed against the Borrowers or the Guarantor or any collateral in such order and such manner as the Beneficiaries may, in their discretion, determine;

enter into such other transactions or business dealings with the Borrowers, any Subsidiary or affiliate of the Borrowers or the Guarantor or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations as the Beneficiaries may desire; and

do all or any combination of the actions set forth in this Section 2.21 or take any other actions or fail to take any actions to the fullest extent permissible under applicable law in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations.

The enforceability and effectiveness of this Guarantee and the liability of the

Guarantor, and the rights, remedies, powers and privileges of the Beneficiaries, under this Guarantee shall not be affected, limited, reduced, discharged or terminated, and the Guarantor hereby expressly waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any defense now or in the future arising, by reason of:

the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations, any Finance Document or any other agreement relative to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;

any disability or other defense with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations of the Borrowers or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (including without limitation any issuer of any letter of credit), including the effect of any statute of limitations that may bar the enforcement of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or the obligations of any such other guarantor;

the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of any security or guarantee (including without limitation any letter of credit) for all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or the lack of perfection or continuing perfection or failure of the priority of any lien on any collateral for all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;

the cessation, for any cause whatsoever, of the liability of the Borrowers or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (other than, subject to Section 2.5 hereof, by reason of the full payment and performance of all Guaranteed Obligations);

any failure of the Beneficiaries to pursue or exhaust any right, remedy, power or privilege it may have against the Borrowers or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or any other person or to take any action whatsoever to mitigate or reduce such or any other guarantor's liability under this Guarantee, the Beneficiaries being under no obligation to take any such action notwithstanding the fact that all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations may be due and payable and that the Borrowers may be in default of their obligations under any Finance Document;

any counterclaim, set-off or other claim which the Guarantor or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations has or alleges to have with respect to all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations;

any failure of the Beneficiaries to file or enforce a claim in any bankruptcy or other proceeding with respect to any person;

any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, readjustment of debt, liquidation or dissolution proceeding commenced by or against any Obligor, including any discharge of, or bar or stay against collecting, all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations (or any interest on all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations) in or as a result of any such proceeding;

any action taken by the Beneficiaries that is authorized by this Section 2.2 or otherwise in this Guarantee or by any other provision of any Finance Document or any omission to take any such action;

any change in the direct or indirect ownership or control of the Borrowers or of any shares or ownership interests thereof; or

any other circumstance whatsoever that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations.

The Guarantor expressly waives, for the benefit of the Beneficiaries, all set-offs and counterclaims and all diligence, presentment, demand for payment or performance, notices of nonpayment or nonperformance, protest, notices of protest, notices of dishonor and all other notices or demands of any kind or nature whatsoever, and any requirement that the Beneficiaries, exhaust any right, power or remedy or proceed against the Borrowers under the Facility Agreement or any other agreement referred to herein or therein, or against any other person under any other guarantee of, or security for, any of the Guaranteed Obligations, and all notices of acceptance of this Guarantee or of the existence, creation, incurring or assumption of new or additional Guaranteed Obligations. The Guarantor further expressly waives the benefit of any and all statutes of limitation to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.

The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Beneficiaries that it has established adequate means of obtaining financial and other information pertaining to the business, operations and condition (financial and otherwise) of the Borrowers and their properties on a continuing basis and that the Guarantor is now and will in the future remain fully familiar with the business, operations and condition (financial and otherwise) of the Borrowers and their properties. The Guarantor further represents and warrants that it has reviewed and approved each of the Finance Documents and is fully familiar with the transactions contemplated by the Finance Documents and that it will in the future remain fully familiar with such transaction and with any new agreements relating to the Facilities. The Guarantor hereby expressly waives and relinquishes any duty on the part of the Beneficiaries (should any such duty exist) to disclose to such or any other guarantor of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations any matter of fact or other information related to the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrowers or their properties or to any Finance Document or the transactions undertaken pursuant to, or contemplated by, any such Finance Document, whether now or in the future known by the Banks.

The Guarantor intends that its rights and obligations shall be those expressly set forth in this Guarantee and that its obligations shall not be affected, limited, reduced, discharged or terminated by reason of any principles or provisions of law which conflict with the terms of this Guarantee.

Understanding With Respect to Waivers and Consents

The Guarantor represents, warrants and agrees that each of the waivers and

consents set forth in this Guarantee is made voluntarily and unconditionally. If, notwithstanding the intent of the parties that the terms of this Guarantee shall control in any and all circumstances, any such waivers or consents are determined to be unenforceable under applicable law, such waivers and consents shall be effective to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Tavae

The provisions of Clauses 8, 9 and 10 of the Facility Agreement shall apply mutatis mutandis to this Guarantee to the extent that such provisions relate to payment obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee.

Reinstatement

The obligations of the Guarantor under this Section 2 shall be automatically reinstated if and to the extent that for any reason any payment by or on behalf of the Borrowers in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations is rescinded or must be otherwise restored by any holder of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, whether as a result of any proceedings in bankruptcy or reorganization or otherwise, and the Guarantor agrees that it will indemnify the Beneficiaries on demand for all reasonable costs and expenses (including, without limitation, fees of counsel) incurred by the Beneficiaries in connection with such rescission or restoration, including any such costs and expenses incurred in defending against any claim alleging that such payment constituted a preference, fraudulent transfer or the like under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law.

Subrogation

The Guarantor hereby agrees that, until the final payment and satisfaction in full of all Guaranteed Obligations and the expiration or termination of the Commitment of the Banks under the Facility Agreement, it shall not exercise any right or remedy arising by reason of any performance by it of the guarantee in Section 2.1 hereof, whether by subrogation or otherwise, against the Borrowers or any other guarantor of any of the Guaranteed Obligations or any security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations.

Remedies

The Guarantor agrees that, as between the Guarantor and the Banks, the obligations of the Borrowers under the Facility Agreement may be declared to be forthwith due and payable as provided in Clause 18 of the Facility Agreement (and shall be deemed to have become automatically due and payable in the circumstances provided in said Clause 18) for purposes of Section 2.1 hereof notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such declaration (or such obligations from becoming automatically due and payable) as against the Borrowers and that, in the event of such declaration (or such obligations being deemed to have become automatically due and payable), such obligations (whether or not due and payable by the Borrowers) shall forthwith become due and payable by the Guarantor for purposes of said Section 2.1.

Manner of Payment

The Guarantor shall make any payment required to be made hereunder in lawful money as specified in Clause 21 of the Facility Agreement and in same day funds to the Banks at the place specified for payments in the Facility Agreement, without set-off, counterclaim or other defense and free and clear of and without deduction for any present or future income, stamp or other taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, fees, withholdings, liabilities, restrictions or conditions of any nature whatsoever now or hereafter imposed, levied, collected, assessed or withheld by any jurisdiction or by any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein (whether pursuant to Virginia law, New York law or otherwise).

Representations and Warranties

The Guarantor represents and warrants to the Beneficiaries that all of the representations and warranties pertaining to the Guarantor contained in the Facility Agreement are true and correct as of the date the same are deemed to be made or repeated under Clause 15.23 of the Facility Agreement by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing.

Covenants

General Covenants

The Guarantor agrees that until the final payment in full of the Guaranteed Obligations it will comply with each of the covenants pertaining to the Guarantor under the Facility Agreement.

Regulatory Capital

The Guarantor will cause its Insured Subsidiaries (if any) to be at all times "adequately capitalized" for purposes of 12 U.S.C. ss. 1831o, as amended, re-enacted or redesignated from time to time, and at all times to maintain such amount of capital as may be prescribed from time to time, whether by regulation, agreement or order, by each Bank Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction over such Insured Subsidiary.

Further Assurances

The Guarantor shall from time to time upon the written request of an Instructing Group, execute and deliver such further documents and do such other acts and things as an Instructing Group may reasonably request in order fully to effect the purposes of this Agreement.

Miscellaneous

Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction

This Guarantee $\,$ shall be governed by, and construed in accordance $\,$ with, the law of the State of New York.

The Guarantor hereby submits to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and of any New York state court sitting in New York City for the purposes of all legal proceedings arising out of or relating to this Guarantee or the transactions contemplated hereby. The Guarantor hereby irrevocably appoints CFC the United States Corporation Company of 375 Hudson Street, New York, NY 10014 (the "Process

Agent") as its true and lawful attorney-in-fact to receive service of all writs, summons and other process in connection with any such legal proceedings in New York and agrees that the failure of the Process Agent to convey any such process to the Guarantor shall not impair or affect the validity thereof or of any judgment based thereon.

The Guarantor irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such proceeding brought in such a court and any claim that any such proceeding brought in such a court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

Waiver of Jury Trial

THE GUARANTOR AND THE BENEFICIARIES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS GUARANTEE OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

Notices

All notices, requests, consents and demands hereunder shall be in writing and telecopied or delivered to the intended recipient at the "Address for Notices" specified beneath its name on the signature pages hereof or, as to any party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a notice to each other party. Except as otherwise provided in this Guarantee, all such communications shall be deemed to have been duly given when transmitted by telex or telecopier or personally delivered or, in the case of a mailed notice, upon receipt, in each case given or addressed as aforesaid.

Waivers, Etc.

The terms of this Guarantee may be waived, altered or amended only by an instrument in writing duly executed by the Guarantor and the Beneficiaries.

Successors and Assigns

This Guarantee shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns (provided, however, that the Guarantor shall not assign or transfer any of its rights hereunder without the prior written consent of the Beneficiaries).

Counterparts

This Guarantee may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument and any of the parties hereto may execute this Guarantee by signing any such counterpart.

Severability

If any provision hereof is invalid and unenforceable in any jurisdiction, then, to the fullest extent permitted by law, (i) the other provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect in such jurisdiction and shall be liberally construed in favor of the Beneficiaries in order to carry out the intentions of the parties hereto as nearly as may be possible and (ii) the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision hereof in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantor has caused this Guarantee to be duly executed and delivered as of the day and year first above written.

CHLITH	OIVE	DEMINIC							
By:				 	 	 	 	 	
Name:									
Title:									
Address	for	Notice	s:						
7+++				ſ	1				
Attentio	on:			L	J				

Form of Resignation Notice
To: Barclays Bank Plc

From: Capital One Financial Corporation and Capital One Bank

Dated: Dear Sirs,

10. We refer to an agreement (the "Credit Agreement") dated [], 2000 and made between Capital One Financial Corporation as original guarantor, Capital One Bank as the original borrower, Barclays Bank Plc as agent, Chase Manhattan plc as lead arranger and the financial institutions defined therein as Banks and others.

Terms defined in the Credit Agreement shall bear the same meaning herein.

declare that [name of Borrower] is under no actual or contingent obligation under any Finance Document in its capacity as a Borrower.

Pursuantto Clause 0 (Resignation of a Borrower) we hereby request that [name of Borrower] shall cease to be a Borrower under the Credit Agreement.

Yours faithfully

CAPITAL ONE BANK
CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Form of Commitment Increase Letter Capital One Financial Corporation [Address] and Capital One Bank [Address]

Barclays Bank PLC as Agent [Address]

Dear Sirs

Capital One - Commitment Increase Letter

We refer to the agreement (as from time to time amended, varied, novated or supplemented, the "Facility Agreement") dated [] 2000 and made between Capital One Financial Corporation as original quarantor and Capital One Bank as original borrower, Chase Manhattan plc as lead arranger, Barclays Bank Plc as agent and the financial institutions named therein as banks. Terms used but not defined herein have the respective meanings given to such terms in the Facility This Commitment Increase Letter is delivered pursuant to Clause 0 Agreement. (Increases Effective) of the Facility Agreement. If, prior to the execution and delivery of this Commitment Increase Letter, the undersigned is a Bank already party to the Facility Agreement, then the undersigned hereby agrees that, from the Commitment Increase Date referred to below, the Commitment of such Bank under the Facility referred to below is increased by an amount equal to the Commitment Increase Amount referred to below. If, prior to the execution and delivery of this Commitment Increase Letter, the undersigned is not a Bank already party to the Facility Agreement, then the undersigned hereby agrees that, from the Commitment Increase Date referred to below, the undersigned shall have a Commitment under the Facility referred to below in an amount equal to the Commitment Increase Amount referred to below. Commitment Increase Date: [] Facility: Facility [A/B] Commitment Increase Amount: euro [] The undersigned agrees with the Agent, the Lead Arranger, the Banks and the Obligors that the undersigned will, from and after the Commitment Increase Date, be a "Bank" for the purposes of the Facility Agreement (if not already a "Bank" thereunder) and be under the same obligations towards each of them in respect of the Commitment Increase Amount as it would have been had it been an original party thereto as a Bank. This Commitment Increase Letter and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law. Yours faithfully

[Acceding]/[Existing] Bank
for and on behalf of Capital One Financial Corporation
For and on behalf of Capital One Bank
for and on behalf of Barclays Bank PLC
for and on behalf of Chase Manhattan plc
for and on behalf of

for and on behalf of

[Tranche A Banks]

for and on behalf of [Tranche B Banks] SIGNATURES

The Original Guarantor

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By: Stephen Linehan

Address: c/o Capital One Services, Inc.

8000 Jones Branch Drive

McLean, VA 22102

Fax: (703) 875-1099

The Original Borrower and COB CAPITAL ONE BANK

Stephen Linehan c/o Capital One Services, Inc. 8000 Jones Branch Drive McLean, VA 22102 (703) 875-1099 Address:

Fax:

The Lead Arranger
CHASE MANHATTAN PLC
By: Neville Crow
Address: 125 London Wall
London EC2Y 5AJ
Telephone: 020 7777 1161
Fax: 020 7777 4783 Attention: Elizabeth McAlpine

The Agent

BARCLAYS BANK PLC By: Address: John Loomes

5 The North Colonnade

Canary Wharf
London E14 4BB
Telephone: 020 7773 2362
Fax: 020 7773 1840 Attention: Roger Cosby

The Banks

THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK Neville Crow 125 London Wall Address:

London EC2Y 5AJ
Telephone: 020 7777 1161
Fax: 020 7777 4783 Attention: Elizabeth McAlpine BARCLAYS BANK PLC Bv:

John Loomes 5 The North Colonnade Address:

Canary Wharf London E14 4BB Telephone: 020 7773 2362

Fax: 020 7773 1840 Attention: Roger Cosby

CITIBANK N.A.

Toby Reid By: Address: Citigroup Centre 33 Canada Square

Canary Wharf London E14 5LB Telephone: 020 7986 5367 Fax: 020 7986 2605 Attention: Charles Legrand

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON

Matthew Vyle

Paloma San Valontin Address: Credit Products Group

Credit Suisse First Boston Five Cabot Square

London E14 4QJ Telephone: 020 7888 5794 020 7888 8391 Fax: Attention: Christopher Lally

DEUTSCHE BANK AG LONDON Bv: Jonathan Morford Address: Winchester House

1 Great Winchester Street

London EC2N 2DB Telephone: 020 7545 4827 020 7545 4414 Fax: Attention: Jonathan Morford

LLOYDS TSB BANK PLC Bv: Noshir Desai

Financial Institutions Address:

St Georges House PO Box 787 6-8 Eastcheap London EC3M 1AE

Telephone: 020 7661 4958/020 7661 4962 Fax: 020 7661 4790

Attention: John Roberts/Simon Diver

ABN AMRO BANK N.V., LONDON BRANCH

Nick Jukes 250 Bishopsgate Address: London EC2M 4AA

Telephone: 020 7678 5050 020 7678 5196 Fax: Attention: Chris Rogers

BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA S.p.A., LONDON BRANCH

Jonathan Morford Address: 122 Leadenhall Street London EC3V 4RH Telephone: 020 7645 7800 Fax: 020 7645 7900

Attention: Mark Dalligan/Antonio Cini

BANCA POPOLARE DI NOVARA S.C.a.R.L., LONDON BRANCH

Jonathan Morford Address: Bucklersbury House Walbrook

London EC4N 8EL Telephone: 020 7489 0404 Fax: 020 7236 2033 Attention: Peter Soulsby

BANK OF AMERICA N.A.

Jonathan Morford Bv: 901 Main Street Address:

66th Floor, Dallas TX 75205

USA

Telephone: + 214 209 0567 Fax: + 214 209 0604 Attention: Shelly Harper

CREDIT LYONNAIS

By: J Hunphreys-Davies
Address: PO Box 81

Broadwalk House 5 Appold Street London EC2A 2JP

Telephone: 020 7214 7089
Fax: 020 7214 7098
Attention: Jeremy Humphreys-Davies

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK, LONDON BRANCH

By: Ian Morrison
Address: 3 Bishopsgate
London EC2N 3AB
Telephone: 020 7216 1602
Fax: 020 7929 4644
Attention: Richard Morley

HSBC BANK PLC

By: Colin Richards
Address: Financial Services Sector

3rd Floor, 27-32 Poultry
London EC2P 2BX
Telephone: 020 7260 8657
Fax: 020 7260 7393
Attention: Phil Baines

ING BANK N.V.

Jonathan Morford Bv: Address: Financial Institutions

ING Bank N.V. Bijlmerplein 888 1102 MG Amsterdam Netherlands

Telephone: + 31 205 63 5308 Fax: + 31 205 63 5448 Attention: Mr Gerard Peeters

KBC BANK N.V., LONDON BRANCH

Justin Chittock

7th Floor, Exchange House

Primrose Street London EC2A 2HQ

Telephone: 020 7256 4815 020 7256 4846 Attention: Justin Chittock

LANDESBANK BADEN-WUERTTEMBERG, LONDON BRANCH

Jonathan Morford Address: Bucklersbury House 83 Cannon Street London EC4N 8TJ Telephone: 020 7634 1861

Fax: 020 7634 1892

Attention: Diane Howie/Ulrike Kaes

MORGAN GUARANTY TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK

Jonathan Morford Address: 60 Wall Street 5th Floor, New York NY 10260-0060

USA

Telephone: + 212 648 1537 Fax: + 212 648 5018 Attention: Maria Dell'Aquila

THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND PLC Hugh Riddlesdell Bv:

Corporate & Institutional Banking Address:

4th Floor, Waterhouse Square

138-142 Holborn

London EC1N 2TH Telephone: 020 7375 8593/8591 Fax: 020 7375 8555

Attention: Hugh Riddlesdell/Spencer Goss

SOCIETE GENERALE

Jonathan Morford By:

SG House 41 Tower Hill

London EC3N 4DG

Telephone: 020 7676 6421 020 7676 6432 Attention: Frances Williams

THE SUMITOMO BANK, LIMITED Sarah Quinlan Address: Temple Court

11 Queen Victoria Street

London EC4N 4TA

Telephone: 020 7786 1163 Fax: 020 7248 3187 Attention: Sarah Quinlan

WESTDEUTSCHE LANDESBANK GIROZENTRALE

Martin Fiddaman Address: 51 Moorgate London EC2R 4AE Telephone: 020 7638 6141

020 7374 8546 Fax: Attention: Credit Admin

```
9
                            0000927628
                          COFC
                    1,000
                      US Dollars
              3-mos
Dec-31-2000
Jul-01-2000
Sep-30-2000
                          81,403
         128,377
         12,688
               0
   1,652,330
0
0
                  12,331,088
(457,000)
16,378,825
                    6,323,924
2,820,533
            1,339,879
                   4,119,101
                   0
1,997
                    1,773,391
16,378,825
              606,872
23,367
               1,474
             631,713
90,197
218,843
          216,0
412,870
193,409
             0
                818,957
                 196,973
    0
                     0
                    122,123
                  0.62
                  0.58
                  18.28
                    0
                    885,564
                0
                0
              407,000
(211,099)
68,340
457,000
           0
           0
```

0